# This electronic thesis or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/



### Bile acid receptors

### role in susceptibility to and novel treatments for gestational diabetes mellitus

Fan, Hei Man

Awarding institution: King's College London

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENCE AGREEMENT



Unless another licence is stated on the immediately following page this work is licensed

under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International

licence. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

You are free to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

# Bile acid receptors: role in susceptibility to and novel treatments for gestational diabetes mellitus

# Hei Man Fan

## 1315510

Thesis submitted to King's College London for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Supervisors

Professor Catherine Williamson

Dr James Bowe

Dr Gavin Bewick

Department of Women and Children's Health

School of Life Course Sciences

Faculty of Life Sciences and Medicine

King's College London

### Abstract

Numerous changes occur during pregnancy to accommodate the demands for fetal growth and development, including alterations in glucose, lipid and bile acid metabolism. Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is a pathological condition that is becoming increasingly prevalent every year, increasing in frequency worldwide and affecting people of all backgrounds. There is limited understanding of the pathophysiology and progression of GDM, and improved treatments are needed.

This thesis hypothesises that the metabolites progesterone sulphates and bile acids influence glucose metabolism, thereby having a role in the development of GDM. Serum samples from four cohorts of women were used to assess this. Three cohorts (Cohorts 1, 2, 4) were derived from the third trimester and were either GDM or non-GDM, with cohort 4 also being separated by ethnicity (European or South Asian) and BMI (normal and obese). Cohort 3 comprised serum samples obtained from women in the first trimester who either went onto develop GDM or have uncomplicated pregnancies. Cohort 3 was also divided into low ( $\leq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) and high ( $\geq 35 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) BMI. Additional experiments using *in vitro* studies of islets obtained from mouse and humans were performed to assess how glucose stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS) is affected by metabolites that were altered in GDM, and calcium signalling experiments further evaluated mechanisms of action.

Compared to non-GDM women, some progesterone sulphates were lowered in women diagnosed with GDM in the third trimester. Epiallopregnanolone sulphate (PM5S) was also reduced in the first trimester of women that subsequently developed GDM in the third trimester. *In vitro* islet experiments demonstrated that PM5S increases GSIS in mouse and human islets via transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily melastatin member 3 (TRPM3), an ion channel which allows influx of calcium ions into cells. This was further corroborated when HEK293 cells transfected with TRPM3 displayed concentration dependent increase in calcium concentration with PM5S. These findings demonstrate a link between progesterone sulphates and the development of GDM.

Using cohort 4, we assessed serum bile acid concentrations in GDM. Obese GDM European women displayed the most significant changes, showing an increase in primary, secondary, conjugated, unconjugated and  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids. In contrast, obese GDM south Asian women have reduced serum concentrations of secondary bile acids. Furthermore our *in vitro* data demonstrate that TCA and TCDCA induce increased GSIS in mouse and human islets, although the mechanism of action remains inconclusive. Our data suggests that bile acids have a role in glucose metabolism and consequently the progression of GDM.

Takeda G-protein receptor 5 (TGR5), a bile acid receptor with the highest affinity to secondary bile acids, is known to be expressed in the gut, with the highest expression being at the terminal ileum and colon. TGR5 activity is implicated in the development of GDM and is a valuable therapeutic target. Work presented in this thesis addressed the hypothesis that bile acids and progesterone sulphates alter enteroendocrine signalling and GLP-1 secretion through TGR5 signalling in the gut. Mouse and human models of the colon were isolated and cultured to examine GLP-1 secretion in the presence of progesterone sulphates and bile acids. Both secondary bile acids and progesterone sulphates were shown to activate TGR5 to cause GLP-1 secretion in mouse crypt cultures and human colonoids. GLP-1 secretion is important in regulating and reducing glucose intolerance which in turn will improve GDM. These findings suggest that targeting bile acids, progesterone sulphates and TGR5 could improve glycaemic control in GDM.

# **COVID-19 Impact Statement**

The pandemic had initially prevented my ability to carry out further experimental research. When KCL start to allow students back into the labs, it was a gradual process and had severe restrictions, which limited opportunities to complete my experimental work to an efficient standard and so did not complete all experiments I had planned. During the time I could not carry out experimental work, I focused my efforts on writing up a literature review, which has been published, and a scientific paper which is due to be published at the end of 2021. I also sought to put more emphasis on the clinical data I was beginning to generate and expand on this analysis. The pandemic had also severely impacted my mental well-being and I had struggled to cope with continuing my research and meeting my milestones, though I sought help for this to try and carry on as normal.

# Statement of originality

The work described in this thesis was carried out by myself unless otherwise stated in the text.

Part of the introduction in Chapter 1 has been published as a review in: *Fan, H., Mitchell, A. and Williamson, C., 2021. ENDOCRINOLOGY IN PREGNANCY: Metabolic impact of bile acids in gestation. European Journal of Endocrinology,* 184(3), pp.R69-83. Please see Appendix 1 for full author accepted manuscript version. The definitive version is now freely available at DOI: 10.1530/EJE-20-1101. (2021).

### Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor, Professor Catherine Williamson for giving me the opportunity to work in her lab and undertake a PhD. From our initial meeting based on my enquiry about the project, to the non-stop support and guidance in ensuring I progress. Her constant enthusiasm, patience, and trust in me helped me through this journey and I will forever be grateful. I have to also thank my other supervisors, Dr James Bowe and Dr Gavin Bewick, for their help and guidance during my time here, giving additional specialist support for my PhD studies.

Secondly, I would like to thank all members of the group, past and present, who have been here on my PhD journey, given me advice and helped me on my way. These include Saraid, Vanessa, Tharni, Pete and Caroline at the start where I was finding my feet and kept me grounded with my work. Also, special mention to Alice, who guided me much in my second half of my PhD with her immense knowledge and skill. Special thanks to the other members, Haggie, Aliya, Jenny, Jenna, Aleck and Sian who all contributed in keeping my sanity and making my time in the lab enjoyable. All mentioned have been incredibly supportive and fun to be around and will cherish the friendships made.

I would also like to give a huge thank you to all my friends who would listen to my PhD and helped me through various stages of my studies. Through either drinks, food or working out together, they made me realise there is more to life than a PhD, and watching you all on your own successful paths inspired me to do the same. Special thank you to my flatmates, Sam, Dan, Mike who were there for my whole 4 years and kept me entertained, even when I had my bad days and seen me at my lowest points (and were there for the more memorable high points!). Even the WhatsApp group chats helped me through some tough times, particularly during the COVID lockdowns. My friends are a big part of my life and I would not be motivated here in London if it was not for them.

Lastly, I have to thank the support my family has given. My sister, brother, father, and most importantly my mother. All supported my move to London back in 2013 for the beginning of my undergraduate degree and continued supporting me throughout the years. I would not have been able to make it out here without them. Thank you for having continued faith and belief in me, even when I thought I didn't, and encourage me to pursue a PhD when others advised me not to. Thank you, mum, for being my biggest cheerleader, you are an inspiration that I can only ever hope to achieve.

# Table of Contents

Abstract	2
COVID-19 Impact Statement	4
Statement of originality	5
Acknowledgements	6
Table of Figures	
Table of tables	13
List of Abbroviations	14
	14
Chapter 1: Introduction	
1.1 Overview	
1.2 Bile acids	
1.2.1 Synthesis and function	
1.2.2 Homeostasis and enterohepatic circulation of bile acids	19
1.2.3 Metabolic actions	23
1.2.4 Bile acids in Pregnancy	23
1.3 Progesterone Sulphates	24
1.4 Glucose Metabolism	27
1.4.1 Glucose production and homeostasis	27
<b>1.4.2</b> Pancreatic β-cell function and insulin signalling	27
1.4.3 Gestational changes to glucose metabolism	
1.5 Lipid Metabolism	
1.5.1 Gestational changes to lipid metabolism	
1.6 Bile acid receptors	
1.6.1 FXR	
1.6.2 TGR5	
1.6.3 Other receptors	
1.7 TRPM3	
1.7.1 Prevalence and Role	38
172 Progesterone Sulnhate Metabolic canabilities	41
1.8 Gestational Diabetes Mellitus (GDM)	л1
181 Enidemiology	л1
1.8.2 Screening and diagnostics	
1.9.2 Actiology	
1.0.3 ACUUIUSY	

1.8.4	4 Pathophysiology and complications of GDM	44
1.8.	5 Glucose Metabolism in GDM	45
1.8.	6 Lipid Metabolism in GDM	45
1.8.	7 Management	48
1.9	Intrahepatic Cholestasis of Pregnancy and the link with GDM	49
1.10	Bile acids and Progesterone Sulphates in GDM	51
1.10	0.1 Clinical studies	52
1.10	0.2 FXR and TGR5 impact in GDM	53
1.11	Gut hormones	54
1.11	<b>Gut physiology and changes in Pregnancy</b>	54
1.11	L.2 GLP-1 and TGR5	55
1.11		56
1.12	Hypothesis and aims	57
Chapter 2	2: Methods	58
2.1	Materials	
2.1.:	1 Chemicals and reagents	
2.1.2	2 Cell lines and plasmids	61
2.1.3	3 Primers	61
2.1.4	4 Kits	61
2.1.	5 Equipment and analytical software	61
2.2	Methods	65
2.2.	1 Study samples and design	65
2.2.2	2 Quantification of bile acids and progesterone sulphates by UPLC-MS/MS	68
2.2.3	3 Mouse colonies and maintenance	71
2.2.4	4 Mouse genotyping	71
2.2.	5 Mouse islet isolation	71
2.2.	6 Human islet isolation	72
2.2.3	7 Islet static incubations	73
2.2.3	8 Radioimmunoassay for insulin	73
Chapter 3	3: Investigation of progesterone sulphates in GDM	75
3.1.	Introduction	75
3.2.	Materials and Methods	77
3.2.3	1. Human studies	77
3.2.2	2. Islet studies	77
3.2.3	3. Cell Culture of HEK-293 cells	77

	3.2.4.	Intracellular calcium assays	77
	3.2.5.	Homology modelling and ligand binding modelling	78
	3.2.6.	Statistical analysis	79
3	.3. Res	ults	80
	3.3.1.	Serum progesterone sulphate concentrations from three GDM Cohorts	80
	3.3.2.	Logistic regression and correlations	83
	3.3.3.	Effect of progesterone sulphates in islets	85
	3.3.4.	Effects of calcium concentrations in transfected HEK293 cells in response to	
	progeste	erone sulphates	88
	3.3.5.	Computational TRPM3 modelling and binding models	91
3	.4. Dise	cussion	99
Cha	pter 4: In	vestigation of bile acids in GDM	103
4	.1 Intr	oduction	103
4	.2 Ma	terials and Methods	106
	4.2.1	Human samples assayed	106
	4.2.2	Islet studies	106
	4.2.3	Statistical analysis	106
4	.3 Res	ults	107
	4.3.1	Fasting plasma individual bile acid profiles	107
	4.3.2.	Analysing differences in fasting bile acid concentrations	112
	4.3.3.	Analysing differences in fasting bile acid concentrations in pregnant women	with
	normal o	or high BMI	115
	4.3.4.	Analysing differences in ethnicity in fasting bile acid concentrations	117
	4.3.5.	Women with GDM have different concentrations of specific bile acid species.	119
	4.3.6.	Analysis of serum bile acids in first trimester women	123
4.3.7.		Effect of bile acids in islets	127
	4.3.8.	Effect of UDCA in islets	129
4	.4 Dise	cussion	131
Cha	pter 5: In	vestigation of bile acids and progesterone sulphates in the gut	142
5	.1 Intr	oduction	142
5	.2 Ma	terials and Methods	144
	5.2.1.	Isolation and cell culture of murine crypts	144
	5.2.2.	Cell culture and differentiation of human colonoids	144
	5.2.3.	Murine crypt GLP-1 secretion experiments	145
	5.2.4.	Human colonoid GLP-1 secretion experiments	146
	5.2.5.	Quantification of GLP-1	147

5.2.6.	Statistical analysis	147
5.3 Res	ults	148
5.3.1.	Effect of bile acids and progesterone sulphates in crypt cultures	
5.3.2.	Effect of progesterone sulphates and bile acids in human colonoids	150
5.4 Dise	cussion	152
Chapter 6: Ov	verall summary and conclusions	158
References		
Appendix 1		
Appendix 2		242

# Table of Figures

Figure 1.1: Enterohepatic Circulation of Bile Acids.	21
Figure 1.2: Bile acid structures	22
Figure 1.3: Progesterone sulphate structures.	26
Figure 1.4: Order of potency of bile acids for FXR and TGR5	33
Figure 1.5: TGR5 effects at site of action	36
Figure 1.6: TRPM3 structure.	40
Figure 1.7: Insulin signalling in normal and GDM pregnancy.	47
Figure 3.1: Progesterone sulphates are reduced in GDM.	82
Figure 3.2: PM5S increases GSIS in murine and human islets via TRPM3	87
Figure 3.3: Ca2+ concentration is altered by some progesterone sulphates.	
Figure 3.4: Computational structure of TRPM3.	92
Figure 3.5: Ramachandran plot of human TRPM3.	93
Figure 3.6: Cholesterol hemisuccinate binding.	94
Figure 3.7: 3D images of PM $\Delta$ 5S and PM5S binding to first 2 sites	95
Figure 3.8: Ligand interactions with PM $\Delta$ 5S and PM5S in sites 1 and 2	96
Figure 4.1: Total conjugated and unconjugated forms of each bile acid in European wome	<b>n.</b> 113
Figure 4.2: Total conjugated and unconjugated forms of each bile acid in South Asian wor	<b>nen.</b> 114
Figure 4.3: Analysing changes in BMI in total conjugated and unconjugated forms of each	bile acid.
	116
Figure 4.4: Analysing changes in ethnicity in total conjugated and unconjugated forms of	each bile
acid	118
Figure 4.5: Differences in concentrations of conjugated and unconjugated bile acids	120
Figure 4.6: Differences in concentrations of primary and secondary bile acids.	121
Figure 4.7: Differences in 12 $\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids	122
Figure 4.8: Bile acid concentrations in blood samples from women at 11-13 weeks' gestat	<b>ion.</b> 125
Figure 4.9: Analysing changes in total conjugated and unconjugated forms of each bile ac	id
between different BMI in the first trimester.	126
Figure 4.10: Bile acids alter GSIS in murine and human islets.	128
Figure 4.11: UDCA does not alter GSIS in murine or human islets.	130
Figure 5.1: Bile acids and progesterone sulphates increase GLP-1 secretion in murine cryp	t cultures
via TGR5.	149
Figure 5.2: Bile acids and progesterone sulphates increase GLP-1 secretion in human colo	<b>noids.</b> 151

igure 6.1: Schematic proposing how bile acids change in GDM pregnancy in obese European	
vomen1	61
upplementary Figure 1: Total conjugated and unconjugated forms of each bile acid in the first 3	
ohorts2	48
upplementary Figure 2: Differences in concentrations of conjugatd and unconjugated bile acids	in
ohorts 1 and 22	49
supplementary Figure 3: Differences in concentrations of primary and secondary bile acids in	
ohorts 1 and 22	50
Supplementary Figure 4: Differences in 12 $\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids in cohorts 1 and 22	51

# Table of tables

Table 2-1: Clinical and demographic characteristics of each patient cohort.	63
Table 2-2: Details of each donor human islets used in Chapter 3.	64
Table 2-3: Details of each donor human islets used in Chapter 5.	64
Table 2-4: Retention times of bile acids measured by UPLC-MS/MS	70
Table 3-1: Progesterone sulphates are reduced in Cohort 1: HAPO study.	81
Table 3-2: BMI Correlations with progesterone sulphates in women with GDM (Cohort 2)	84
Table 3-3: Logistic regression analysis of PM5S, PM3S and PM3S/PM5S ratio as predictor	s of GDM
at 11-13 weeks gestation.	84
Table 3-4: TRPM3 response upon activation by progesterone sulphates in transfected HE	<b>K cells.</b> . 90
Table 3-5: Table detailing the affinity of the poses the progesterone sulphates form at ea	ch
docking site	97
Table 4-1: Individual and total bile acids in European women with BMI <25 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	
Table 4-2: Individual and total bile acids in European women with BMI >30 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	109
Table 4-3: Individual and total bile acids in South Asian with BMI <23 kg/m <sup>2</sup> .	110
Table 4-4: Individual and total bile acids in South Asian with BMI >27 kg/m².	111
Table 5-1: Components of WENRAS and differentiation medium.	145
Table 5-2: Components of secretion buffer.	146
Table 5-3: Components of lysis buffer.	147
Table 6-1: Impact of progesterone sulphate changes in GDM pregnancy.	160
Supplementary Table 1: Individual and total bile acids in Cohort 1.	244
Supplementary Table 2: Individual and total bile acids in Cohort 2.	245
Supplementary Table 3: Individual and total bile acids in Cohort 3 with BMI $\leq$ 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	246
Supplementary Table 4: Individual and total bile acids in Cohort 3 with BMI ≥35 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	247

# List of Abbreviations

αΜCΑ	α-Muricholic acid
βΜCΑ	β-Muricholic acid
ABCG5/8	ATP-Binding Cassette Transporters G5/8
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ASBT	Apical Sodium-Dependent Bile Acid Transporter
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
ВАТ	Brown Adipose Tissue
BMI	Body Mass index
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
BSEP/ABCB11	Bile Salt Export Pump
BSU	Biological Services Unit
CA	Cholic Acid
cAMP	Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate
CDCA	Chenodeoxycholic Acid
ChREBP	Carbohydrate Response Element-binding Protein
cpm	Counts per minute
CTL	Control
CYP27A1	Sterol 27-hydroxylase
CYP7A1	Cholesterol 7α-hydroxylase
CYP8B1	Sterol 12α-hydroxylase
DCA	Deoxycholic Acid
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl Sulfoxide
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent assay
F/I	Forskolin/IBMX
FCS	Fetal Calf serum
FGFR4	Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor 4

FGF19/15	Fibroblast Growth Factor 19/15
FPG	Fasting Plasma Glucose
FXR	Farnesoid X receptor
GCA	Glyco cholic acid
GCDCA	Glyco chenodeoxycholic acid
GDCA	Glyco deoxycholic acid
GDM	Gestational Diabetes Mellitus
GIP	Glucose-dependent Insulinotropic Polypeptide
GLCA	Glyco lithocholic acid
GLP-1	Glucagon-like-peptide 1
GLP-2	Glucagon-like-peptide 2
GLUT2	Glucose transporter type 2
GLUT4	Glucose transporter type 4
GOCA	Glyco obeticholic acid
GSIS	Glucose-Stimulated Insulin Secretion
GUDCA	Glyco ursodeoxycholic acid
НАРО	Hyperglycaemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes
HCA	Hyocholic Acid
HDCA	Hyodeoxycholic Acid
HDL	High Density Lipoprotein
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HTRF	Homogeneous Time-Resolved Fluorescence
IADPSG	The International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups
IBMX	3-Isobutyl-1-Methylxanthine
ICP	Intrahepatic Cholestasis of Pregnancy
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IRS1	Insulin Receptor Substrate 1
ISO	Isosakuranetin
КО	Knockout
LCA	Lithocholic Acid
LDL	Low-density lipoproteins

LGA	Large for Gestational Age
LXR	Liver X Receptor
MDR3/ABCB4	Multidrug Resistance Protein 3
MEM	Minimum Essential Medium
MeOH	Methanol
MiG	Metformin in Gestational Diabetes
MOE	Molecular Operating Environment
NCS	Newborn Calf Serum
NICE	The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NS	No significance
NTCP	Sodium Taurocholate Co-Transporting Polypeptide
ΟΑΤΡ	Organic Anion Transporting Polypeptides
OCA	Obeticholic Acid
OGTT	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test
ΟST α/β	Organic Solute Transporter $\alpha/\beta$
OW	Overweight
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PC	Phosphatidylcholine
PEG	Polyethylene Glycol
РІЗК	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
РКА	Protein Kinase A
РКВ	Protein Kinase B
PM2DiS	Allopregnandiol disulphate; $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ - $20\alpha$ -diol- $3$ ,20-disulphate
PM3DiS	Pregnandiol disulphate; 5 $\beta$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ -20 $\alpha$ -diol-3,20-disulphate
PM3S	Pregnandiol sulphate; 5 $\beta$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ -20 $\alpha$ -diol-sulphate
PM4S	Allopregnanolone sulphate; $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol- $20$ -one-sulphate
PM5S	Epiallopregnanolone sulphate; $5\alpha$ -pregnan-3 $\beta$ -ol-20-one-sulphate
ΡΜΔ5S	Pregnenolone sulphate; 5-pregnen-3β-ol-20-one-sulphate
PXR	Pregnane X receptor
RIA	Radioimmunoassay
RMSD	Root-mean-square deviation of atomic positions

ROC	Receiver Operating Characteristic
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
S1PR2	Sphingosine-1 phosphate receptor subtype 2
SD	Standard Deviation
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SHP	Small Heterodimer Protein
SREBP-1c	Sterol Regulatory Element Binding protein 1c
Τ-αΜCΑ	Tauro α-muricholic acid
Τ-βΜCΑ	Tauro β-muricholic acid
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
ТВА	Total bile acids
ТСА	Tauro cholic acid
TCDCA	Tauro chendeoxycholic acid
TDCA	Tauro deoxycholic acid
TGR5	Takeda G-protein receptor, also known as GPBAR1
TLCA	Tauro lithocholic acid
ΤΝFα	Tumour Necrosis Factor-α
ТОСА	Tauro obeticholic acid
TRP	Transient Receptor Potential
TRPM3	Transient Receptor Potential Melastatin-3
TUDCA	Tauro ursodeoxycholic acid
UCP-1	Uncoupling protein 1
UDCA	Ursodeoxycholic Acid
UPLC-MS/MS	Ultra-performance Liquid Chromatography-tandem Mass Spectrometry
UW	University of Wisconsin solution
VDR	Vitamin D receptor
WAT	White Adipose Tissue
WHO	World Health Organization
WT	Wildtype

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### 1.1 Overview

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is a condition occurring during pregnancy that affects a significant proportion of pregnant women worldwide. Many of the complications are related to metabolic dysfunction, and the aetiology of many of the metabolic alterations that occur during GDM are not fully understood. The absence of a detailed understanding of underlying pathophysiological mechanisms present challenges for correct diagnosis and prediction of the onset of GDM, and for provision of the best treatments for prevention of the disease.

Bile acids are signalling molecules that play a significant role in normal physiology; metabolic bile acid changes during healthy pregnancy are necessary for normal fetal growth and development. Currently, there are few studies evaluating the effects of bile acids in GDM. A more thorough understanding of the metabolic gestational alterations that occur in bile acid homeostasis maybe key to further understand the progression of GDM, and possibly inform the development of therapeutic targets to treat GDM. Two of these targets include the bile acid receptors Farnesoid X receptor (FXR) and Takeda G-protein receptor 5 (TGR5). Both receptors are key in modulating normal metabolism and understanding how they affect GDM could be pivotal. Another group of hormones called progesterone sulphates have emerged as potential targets for influencing GDM; although studies exploring how progesterone sulphates interact with GDM are limited.

The work presented in this thesis explores the relationship between bile acids, progesterone sulphates and GDM. This includes looking at the mechanistic actions of the bile acid receptors, FXR and TGR5 as well as the changes in bile acid and progesterone sulphate serum concentrations in normal vs GDM pregnancies. Parts of this introduction draw upon a published review (Fan, Mitchell, & Williamson, 2021) included in appendix 1.

#### 1.2 Bile acids

#### 1.2.1 Synthesis and function

Bile acids are a group of cholesterol-derived steroids with an aliphatic side chain that are synthesised in the liver and exported into the bile. Before secretion, bile acids are conjugated with either glycine or taurine, increasing hydrophilicity and reducing cytotoxicity (Šarenac & Mikov, 2018). The primary functions of bile acids is to solubilise lipids by forming micelles to aid emulsification and facilitate absorption of fat by the gut (Ahmad & Haeusler, 2019). Recent research has demonstrated that bile acids also have hormonal and metabolic functions, particularly in glucose and lipid regulation, and that they signal through the receptors FXR and TGR5 (Kiriyama & Nochi, 2019) in numerous cell types throughout the body.

#### 1.2.2 Homeostasis and enterohepatic circulation of bile acids

Bile components, including bile salts are synthesised in the liver, exported into bile ducts and stored in the gallbladder until meal ingestion. High concentrations of bile acids are toxic and therefore production and excretion are tightly regulated. There are two main pathways for bile acid synthesis: the classical and alternative pathway.

In humans, the classical bile acid synthesis pathway results in the conversion of cholesterol into the primary bile acids cholic acid (CA) and chenodeoxycholic acid (CDCA), and accounts for approximately 90% of bile acid synthesis. This hepatic-specific pathway involves at least 17 separate steps, and activity of the rate-limiting enzyme cholesterol  $7\alpha$ -hydroxylase (CYP7A1) determines the size of the bile acid pool (Chiang & Ferrell, 2018), while sterol  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylase (CYP8B1) increases CA synthesis and the CA:CDCA ratio (Chiang & Ferrell, 2018). The alternative bile acid synthesis pathway starts with hydroxylation of cholesterol by sterol 27-hydroxylase (CYP27A1) in extrahepatic sites to form 27-hydroxylcholesterol, which is then taken up by the liver and the majority converted to CDCA (Kiriyama & Nochi, 2019). Bile salts are formed by conjugation of bile acids with either taurine or glycine at a ratio of approximately 1:3 (Chiang & Ferrell, 2018), and transported into the bile canaliculi through the bile salt export pump (BSEP)(Kullak-Ublick, Stieger, Hagenbuch, & Meier, 2000). Other membrane-residing transporters that influence bile components include multidrug resistance protein (MDR3), a phosphatidylcholine (PC) floppase that transports PC from the inner to the outer canalicular membrane (and into the bile), and ATP-binding cassette transporters G5/8 heterodimer (ABCG5/8), which transport cholesterol into the bile canaliculi (Graf et al., 2003; Oude Elferink & Paulusma, 2007). From here, bile is transported to the gallbladder for storage. Figure 1.1 summarises the role of these hepatic pathways within the enterohepatic circulation of bile acids.

Ingestion of food stimulates release of bile from the gallbladder which facilitates the digestion and absorption of lipids and lipid-soluble vitamins. The gut microbiota in the ileum and colon deconjugate the primary bile acids, and further modify them through 7-dehydroxylation to produce secondary bile acids; lithocholic acid (LCA) is formed from CDCA whereas deoxycholic acid (DCA) is derived from CA (Figure 1.2). The gut microbiota can further modify bile acids by  $7\alpha/\beta$ -epimerisation to make ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA), and more rarely by  $3\alpha/\beta$ -epimerisation,  $5\alpha/\beta$ -epimerisation or oxidation to produce iso-, allo-, or oxo-bile acids, respectively (Wahlström, Sayin, Marschall, &

Bäckhed, 2016). The bile acid pool in the terminal ileum comprises approximately 30% CA, 40% CDCA, 20-30% DCA and below 5% LCA (Šarenac & Mikov, 2018), although this varies between individuals as it is influenced by factors including nutrient availability and gut microbiota composition. Approximately 95% of the bile salts are reabsorbed, either through the apical sodium-dependent bile acid transporter (ASBT) at the distal ileum and colon, or through passive absorption of deconjugated or protonated uncharged conjugated bile acids along the length of the intestine (Dawson & Karpen, 2015). The remaining 5% is excreted in the faeces, and this loss is compensated by approximately 500mg/day *de novo* bile acid synthesis (Šarenac & Mikov, 2018). Reabsorbed bile acids are exported from ileal enterocytes into the enterohepatic circulation by the heterodimeric organic solute transporter  $\alpha/\beta$  (OST  $\alpha/\beta$ ) on the basolateral membrane of the cells (Šarenac & Mikov, 2018). The bile acids are transported via the portal vein back to the hepatocytes through the sodium taurocholate co-transporting polypeptide (NTCP) or organic anion transporting polypeptides (OATP) (Šarenac & Mikov, 2018), reconjugated, and again exported into the bile duct (Figure 1.1).



#### Figure 1.1: Enterohepatic Circulation of Bile Acids.

Schematic detailing the formation and export of bile acids into the intestinal tract. Bile acids are modified from primary to secondary forms by and deconjugation and 7 $\alpha$ -dehydroxylase produced by gut bacteria. The majority of bile acids are reabsorbed through enterocytes (approximately 95%), with the remainder (~5%) excreted in the faeces. Reabsorbed bile acids in the L-cells activate TGR5 on the basolateral side which potentiates GLP-1 release. The reabsorbed bile acids are transported back to the liver via the portal vein, completing the enterohepatic cycle. FXR, Farnesoid X receptor; TGR5, Takeda G-protein coupled receptor 5; GLP-1, Glucagon-like peptide-1; ASBT, Apical sodium-dependent bile acid transporter; OST  $\alpha/\beta$ , Organic solute transporter  $\alpha/\beta$ ; NTCP, Taurocholate co-transporting polypeptide; OATP, Organic anion transporting polypeptides; FGFR4, Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4; CYP7A1, Cholesterol 7 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase; MDR3, Multidrug resistance protein; BSEP, Bile salt export pump; ABCG5/8, ATP-binding cassette transporters G5/G8 heterodimer; FGF19/15, Fibroblast growth factor 19/15.



### Figure 1.2: Bile acid structures.

Pathways displaying the formation and structures of primary and secondary bile acids in their unconjugated form, derived from cholesterol.

#### 1.2.3 Metabolic actions

The emerging role of bile acids in the homeostasis of metabolic substrates has shifted the focus of bile acid research into looking at cellular targets of bile acids. Bile acids have been found to have multi-organ targets and a variety of receptors (Vítek & Haluzík, 2016). The two most notable, and those towards which the bile acids have the greatest affinity, are FXR and TGR5.

FXR plays an essential role in not only bile acid metabolism, but also in lipid and glucose metabolism (Ahmad & Haeusler, 2019). FXR is expressed in key metabolic organs like the liver, intestine and pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, enabling its involvement in the control in metabolism (Ahmad & Haeusler, 2019). Likewise, TGR5, a G-protein-coupled receptor that is widely expressed contributes most notably to glucagon-like-peptide 1 (GLP-1) secretion via activation in the gut, influencing glucose homeostasis by promoting insulin secretion (Christiansen et al., 2019; Kuhre et al., 2018; Pathak et al., 2018). Bile acid activation of these receptors could be key targets for modulation of metabolism and may also help explain the pathogenesis of metabolic diseases. Their influence in glucose and lipid metabolism is further detailed later in this chapter.

#### 1.2.4 Bile acids in Pregnancy

Pregnancy is associated with a number of metabolic adaptations to facilitate fetal growth. Serum bile acid concentrations are raised in pregnancy compared to non-pregnant adults, resulting in a gestational hypercholanaemia. There is also a gradual increase in serum bile acids as gestation progresses, although for most women this remains within the normal reference range (McIlvride, Dixon, & Williamson, 2017). The concentrations of CA and CDCA are also reported to change as gestation advances (Carter, 1991; Dai et al., 2018; Fulton, Douglas, Hutchon, & Beckett, 1983; Larsson, Palm, Hansson, & Axelsson, 2008; B. Zhu et al., 2019). Conjugated bile acids, in particular taurine conjugated, have also been reported to be higher in pregnant women (Castaño et al., 2006; Fulton et al., 1983). The composition of the maternal gut microbiome may also provide some answers to the bile acid alterations in gestation with some studies reporting a gradual reduction of Bacteroidetes and increase in Firmicutes as pregnancy progresses, similar to the changes in microbes reported in obesity (Collado, Isolauri, Laitinen, & Salminen, 2008; Koren et al., 2012). In a separate study, advancing gestation was associated with enhanced microbial bile acid deconjugation (secondary to an increase in Bacteroidetes-encoded bile salt hydrolase), reduced ileal bile acid uptake and therefore lowered FXR induction in enterocytes (Ovadia, Perdones-Montero, et al., 2019), resulting in increased hepatic bile acid synthesis. Along with reduced ileal FXR activity, studies of pregnant mice showed reduced FGF15 and reduced expression of bile acid transporters late in

gestation (Moscovitz et al., 2016; Ovadia, Perdones-Montero, et al., 2019). More detailed studies that take account of individual variation in gestational phenotypes are required to delineate the alterations in specific enterotypes with advancing gestation.

Pregnancy hormones have also been shown to influence bile acid homeostasis. Studies in mice demonstrated that, as serum bile acid levels increase during gestation, FXR expression is suppressed. This was associated with the downregulation of bile acid transporters such as BSEP, NTCP and OATP, particularly exemplified in the late state of pregnancy (Aleksunes, Yeager, Wen, Cui, & Klaassen, 2012; Milona, Owen, Cobbold, et al., 2010). Hormones such as progesterone and oestrogen, whose concentrations increase as gestation progresses, contribute to the changes in bile acid metabolism. Oestrogen and its metabolites inhibit FXR and BSEP, and increase CYP7A1 activity in animal studies (Chen et al., 2015; Milona, Owen, Cobbold, et al., 2010; Parini et al., 2000) Similarly, BSEP and NTCP are inhibited by sulphated progesterone metabolites and whilst progesterone sulphates exert partial agonism towards FXR, this prevents bile acid binding and reduces overall activation of FXR (AbuHayyeh et al., 2010, 2013; Vallejo, Briz, Serrano, Monte, & Marin, 2006) Therefore, both oestrogen, progesterone and their metabolites contribute to raised bile acids during normal pregnancy.

Bile acid composition and concentration may also differ in gestational disease states compared to uncomplicated pregnancies, particularly in the metabolic disorders intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP) and GDM which will be later discussed in this chapter.

#### **1.3 Progesterone Sulphates**

Recently, there has been a rise in the interest of sulphated progesterone metabolites and their interaction with bile acid metabolism and transport. Structurally, they are similar to bile acids, in that progesterone sulphates have a steroid backbone and side chains primarily coming from carbon rings A and D. Their similar structure allows similar interactions to the receptors that bile acids can interact with. Progesterone sulphates have been shown to competitively inhibit Na+-dependent bile acid uptake and prevent bile acid efflux by inhibiting BSEP in hepatocytes, which may be a contributing factor to the pathogenesis of hypercholanemia in normal pregnancy (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2010; Vallejo et al., 2006). Levels of progesterone and its metabolites have been found to significantly increase during pregnancy (Kancheva et al., 2007). More notably, progesterone sulphates are usually circulating at very low concentrations in non-pregnant individuals. There is an 80-fold increase in the third trimester in total allopregnanolone sulphate (PM4S) and epiallopregnanolone sulphate (PM5S) to concentrations that have a greater physiological impact in pregnant compared to

24

non-pregnant individuals (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2010; Sjövall, 1970). These findings have prompted recent research to evaluate how progesterone sulphates impact gestational diseases and the possible metabolic effects of these hormones. Figure 1.3 shows the different structures of the progesterone sulphates discussed in this thesis.

#### PM3S Pregnandiol sulphate

 $5\beta$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ ,- $20\alpha$ -diol-3-sulphate



PM4S

 $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one-sulfate

Allopregnanolone sulphate

PM2DiS Allopregnandiol disulphate

 $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ ,- $20\alpha$ -diol-3,20-disulphate



PM5S Epiallopregnanolone sulphate

5α-pregnan-3β-ol-20-one-sulphate



PM3DiS Pregnandiol disulphate

 $5\beta$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ ,  $20\alpha$ -diol-3, 20-disulphate



PM∆5S Pregnenolone sulphate

5-pregnen-3β-ol-20-one-sulphate



Figure 1.3: Progesterone sulphate structures.

#### 1.4 Glucose Metabolism

#### 1.4.1 Glucose production and homeostasis

Circulating plasma glucose concentrations are maintained tightly; it is necessary to prevent elevation of glucose to high, and potentially toxic, levels, whilst also maintaining sufficient glucose to be available for use by organs such as the brain as a constant energy source. Glucose levels are increased through either dietary sources, through the production by gluconeogenesis in the liver or converting stored glycogen stores into glucose by glycogenolysis. When plasma glucose concentrations become too high, it is taken up into adipose and skeletal cells. The hormones insulin and glucagon are key in these processes. Glucagon increases glucose production whilst insulin suppresses glucose production if levels become too high, in addition to promoting uptake into cells.

Both insulin and glucagon are released from the islets of Langerhans. Islets of Langerhans are groups of cell located and randomly distributed within the pancreatic tissue, with the total number estimated between 3.2 and 14.7 million islets in human pancreas (Da Silva Xavier, 2018). Islets consist of  $\alpha$  cells (glucagon producing),  $\beta$  cells (insulin producing),  $\delta$  cells (somatostatin producing),  $\gamma$ or PP cells (pancreatic polypeptide producing) and  $\epsilon$  cells (ghrelin producing) (Da Silva Xavier, 2018). These cells function to have distinct regulatory roles in energy homeostasis and are crucial to ensuring normal metabolic processes. The inability of islets to produce insulin, or make sufficient amounts, to control blood glucose are the causes of diabetes mellitus. Inter-species differences have also been noted, with both murine and human islets having differing cellular composition and architecture (Kim et al., 2009), which is key to note for the translatable applicability of studies using rodent islets.

#### 1.4.2 Pancreatic $\beta$ -cell function and insulin signalling

Both insulin and glucagon are released from the pancreas. Insulin is produced and stored in the βcells and is released when glucose enters β-cells. β-cells are highly sensitive to glucose concentrations and any changes in glucose homeostasis affect β-cell function. Glucose enters the cells through the glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2) where it is turned to pyruvate through glycolysis. The pyruvate enters the mitochondria to produce ATP through the Krebs cycle. The increase in ATP production closes potassium channels preventing potassium leaving cells and as a result, causing membrane depolarisation and an influx of calcium ions through the now open voltage gated calcium channels. The increase in intracellular calcium stimulates the release of insulin from the secretory granules into the circulatory system, allowing insulin to act at various organs to lower systemic glucose levels. Though glucose is the main stimulus for insulin secretion, other biochemical metabolites such as amino acids and fatty acids can also cause insulin secretion (Fu, R. Gilbert, & Liu, 2012).

The primary function of insulin is to stimulate the uptake of glucose into adipose and muscle whilst also inhibiting hepatic gluconeogenesis. Once absorbed, the glucose is either converted into triglycerides via lipogenesis or glycogen via glycogenesis. When insulin is bound to the insulin receptor, a tyrosine kinase receptor, autophosphorylation of the tyrosine residues is triggered which in turn phosphorylates and activates the insulin receptor substrate. Subsequently, this cascades and activates phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), inducing the activation of protein kinase B (PKB). Activated PKB facilitates the transport of glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT4) to the cell membrane and permits the diffusion of glucose into muscle and adipose cells (Saltiel & Kahn, 2001). PKB also starts the process of glycogenesis by phosphorylating and inhibiting glycogen synthase kinase which allows glycogen synthase to stay active and continue synthesising glycogen from glucose (X. Fang et al., 2000). Lipogenesis is also promoted by insulin in adipose tissue by increasing the transcription factor of sterol regulatory element binding protein 1c (SREBP-1c), whereby SREBP-1c promotes expression of lipogenic genes (Wang, Viscarra, Kim, & Sul, 2015). Expression of SREBP-1c also leads to increased expression of glucokinase thereby promoting glycolysis (Foretz, Guichard, Ferré, & Foufelle, 1999).

#### 1.4.3 Gestational changes to glucose metabolism

Metabolic changes also occur during pregnancy to accommodate the demands of the fetus. Glucose metabolism during normal pregnancy is characterised by enhanced hepatic gluconeogenesis and impaired insulin sensitivity, resulting in higher circulating glucose concentrations during the third trimester. Insulin resistance is normally compensated for by an increase in the size and number of pancreatic islets, thereby enhancing glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS) (Hill & Szlapinski, 2020) and preventing the pregnant individual from going into a diabetic state.

These changes in glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity in the third trimester are a result of the rising hormones during pregnancy. Pregnancy hormones such as progesterone and oestrogen are at their highest during the third trimester, although the precise mechanisms by which these hormones influence glucose metabolism remain elusive. Oestradiol acts on the  $\beta$ -cells to enhance GSIS, and is also believed to be involved in developing maternal insulin resistance and glucose intolerance (Masuyama & Hiramatsu, 2011; Nadal, Alonso-Magdalena, Soriano, Ropero, & Quesada, 2009). Another suggested mechanisms of action is oestradiol binding directly to insulin and the insulin receptor to cause insulin resistance (Root-Bernstein, Podufaly, & Dillon, 2014). Elevated levels of

progesterone have also been implicated in contributing to decreased insulin sensitivity, increased insulin resistance and glucose intolerance (Masuyama & Hiramatsu, 2011). One mechanism through which this occurs is through inhibition of insulin induced GLUT4 translocation. Progesterone prevents GLUT4 translocation by suppressing the phosphoinositide 3-kinase-mediated pathway inhibiting Akt phosphorylation and decreasing insulin-induced phosphorylation of CbI signalling proteins, causing reduced cellular glucose uptake (Wada et al., 2010). Human placental lactogen, also increased throughout pregnancy, also induces insulin release and causes peripheral insulin resistance (Barbour et al., 2007). Other hormones such as adiponectin and leptin have also been suggested to contribute to insulin resistance during pregnancy, suggesting that the reduction in insulin sensitivity is multifactorial (Skvarca, Tomazic, Blagus, Krhin, & Janez, 2013).

#### 1.5 Lipid Metabolism

The metabolic process of lipogenesis to generate and store as fats is a key function of insulin as previously mentioned. Activation of SREBP-1c by insulin drives the production of lipids and upregulates genes involving fatty acid synthesis, thereby promoting lipogenesis. Lipogenesis encompasses both fatty acid and triglyceride synthesis where a majority of this process occurs at adipose and liver tissues. The liver also contributes to the synthesis and metabolism of cholesterol. Fatty acids are produced primarily from excess carbohydrates. Much like glucose metabolism, a series of reactions occur from the breakdown of glucose to fatty acids. Pyruvate is produced from glycolysis, converted to acetyl-CoA, and then to citrate in the Krebs cycle in the mitochondria. Acetyl-CoA can be carboxylated to malonyl-CoA by acetyl-CoA carboxylase before fatty acid synthase converts the malonyl-CoA into long- and short chain fatty acids (Wakil, Stoops, & Joshi, 1983). Triglycerides are formed from the esterification of three fatty acids to a glycerol backbone, also produced from glycolysis (Kersten, 2001). Triglycerides are stored in the liver and adipose tissue until the body requires fatty acids as an energy source, which the triglycerides then break down via lipolysis (Wallace & Metallo, 2020). Cholesterol is also synthesised from acetyl-CoA and through a series of enzymatic reactions, the rate-limiting step being the catalytic effects of 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl-CoA reductase. Excess cholesterol is stored as cholesteryl esters by acyl-CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase (Chang, Li, Chang, & Urano, 2009).

#### 1.5.1 Gestational changes to lipid metabolism

Lipid metabolism also changes during normal pregnancy. Serum lipids, particularly triglycerides, and low-density lipoproteins (LDL)-cholesterol increase as pregnancy progresses. Lipid storage through

29

increased *de novo* lipogenesis and inhibition of lipolysis is promoted in the early stages of pregnancy (Dathan-Stumpf et al., 2019; Zheng et al., 2018). Serum plasma concentrations of triglycerides, free fatty acids and cholesterol peak in the third trimester, at which point lipolysis is also increased (Diderholm, Stridsberg, Ewald, Lindeberg-Nordén, & Gustafsson, 2005). Insulin resistance is typically seen in pregnancy, which contributes to the stimulation of fatty acid synthesis, and increased lipid release into the serum, including free fatty acids, triglycerides, cholesterol and phospholipids. The increase in free fatty acids contributes to the insulin resistance and enhances lipolysis (Zeng, Liu, & Li, 2017). These changes are necessary to meet the physiological demands of fetal development and for energy storage for labour and lactation (Di Cianni, Miccoli, Volpe, Lencioni, & Del Prato, 2003).

Many aspects of the changes in lipid metabolism during gestation are yet to understood. Several hormones have been identified to contribute to key mechanisms for the changes seen in pregnancy. High oestrogen levels in the third trimester of pregnancy stimulate hepatic lipogenesis and reduce clearance of circulating triglyceride-rich lipoproteins by decreasing the lipase enzymes which would normally hydrolyse triglycerides (Zeng et al., 2017). The increasing progesterone concentrations during pregnancy also stimulates the deposition of fats (Kalkhoff, 1982). Human placental lactogen is also elevated in late pregnancy which also enhances lipolysis in adipocytes (Freemark, 2010). Much like the changes in glucose metabolism seen in pregnancy, the metabolic changes in lipids and fat storage are multifactorial.

#### 1.6 Bile acid receptors

Bile acid activation of FXR and TGR5 is well documented and both receptors have roles in bile acid, lipid and glucose metabolism. The regulation of cholesterol by bile acids is also most notable. Daily synthesis of bile acids regulates the plasma cholesterol concentration, thereby ensuring this does not become too high. Catabolism of cholesterol to bile acids is regulated by CYP7A1 expression (Figure 1.1); high CYP7A1 expression leads to depletion of hepatic cholesterol and increased hepatic LDL receptor expression to replace the lost cholesterol by harvesting the circulatory cholesterol (Kalaany & Mangelsdorf, 2006). Further examples of how bile acid at a molecular level affect metabolism through the bile acid receptors have been well-documented. Understanding bile acid activation of FXR and TGR5 may provide key insights into the pathogenesis of metabolic disease states.

#### 1.6.1 FXR

FXR is a nuclear receptor expressed mainly in the liver, intestine and kidneys, and is essential to regulating the metabolism and synthesis of bile acids. The primary bile acid CDCA is the most potent FXR ligand (CDCA>LCA=DCA>CA; Figure 1.4) (Kalaany & Mangelsdorf, 2006). Hepatic FXR activation promotes transcription of small heterodimer protein (SHP), which represses transcription of CYP7A1, thereby reducing hepatic synthesis of bile acids (Šarenac & Mikov, 2018) (Figure 1.1). FXR also upregulates the expression of MDR3 and BESP, promoting efflux of bile acids to further prevent bile acid build-up within hepatocytes. Intestinal FXR activation via transintestinal bile acid flux, induces the expression of fibroblast growth factor 19 (FGF19/FGF15 in mice) which is secreted by the intestinal epithelial cells. FGF19 is transported in the portal vein and binds hepatocyte fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4)/beta-Klotho to cause repression of CYP7A1 transcription, further downregulating bile acid synthesis (Ahmad & Haeusler, 2019) (Figure 1.1).

FXR also influences in lipid and glucose metabolism. Through transcriptional regulation, FXR activation stimulates  $\beta$ -oxidation of fatty acids and decreases lipid levels in the serum and liver (Savkur, Bramlett, Michael, & Burris, 2005). Activation of hepatic FXR with agonists in diabetic/obese mice or rats fed a high-fat diet, reduced serum and liver triglycerides and lipids. Hepatic expression of genes involving fatty acid synthesis, lipogenesis and gluconeogenesis were also reduced (Cipriani, Mencarelli, Palladino, & Fiorucci, 2010; S. Y. Han et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2018). This demonstrates the importance in lipid metabolism and that use of FXR agonists has the potential to improve metabolic abnormalities.

Studies have also shown that activation of FXR has a beneficial effect on glucose metabolism. At a molecular level, FXR has been shown to interact with carbohydrate response element-binding protein (ChREBP) and regulate its transcriptional activity. ChREBP is a key regulator of metabolism and activation stimulates several genes involving both glucose and lipid metabolism in several tissues such as liver, adipose tissue and pancreatic β-cells (Herman et al., 2012; Iizuka, Bruick, Liang, Horton, & Uyeda, 2004; Noordeen et al., 2010). FXR binds to ChREBP and transrepresses the expression of genes involved in glycolysis in human hepatocytes (Caron et al., 2013). *In vivo* experiments show FXR agonistic treatment or FXR overexpression lowered blood glucose levels in diabetic mice (Zhang et al., 2006). Pathak and colleagues demonstrated that FXR agonists improve glycaemia and reduce diet-induced weight gain in mice (Pathak et al., 2018), and another study demonstrated that bile acid activation of FXR in mice repressed gluconeogenic gene expression (Ma, Saha, Chan, & Moore, 2006). Through FXR activation, mice fed a CA diet had a reduced expression of phosphenolpyruvate carboxykinase, the rate-limiting enzyme in gluconeogenesis (De Fabiani et al., 2003). FXR-null mice develop elevated serum free fatty acids, alongside impaired glucose and insulin

31

tolerance, and elevated serum glucose levels. Activation of FXR with agonists in wild-type (WT) mice decreased serum glucose and Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed impaired GSIS and are glucose intolerant (Bellafante et al., 2020; Ma et al., 2006; Popescu et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2006). Other studies, however, have shown beneficial effects of inhibition or deletion of FXR (Jiang et al., 2015; Li et al., 2013). Mice with intestine-specific FXR knockout (KO) had improved oral glucose tolerance and lower body weight (Li et al., 2013; Xie et al., 2017). These contradictions could be explained by the differential effects of FXR activation in the liver versus the intestine. Activation in the intestine appears to hamper glycaemic control, recent studies have shown that FXR inhibits GLP-1 production using murine colonic biopsies, colonoids of WT and FXR KO and GLP-1 secreting L-cell lines. FXR KO mice also displayed elevated plasma GLP-1 levels (Ducastel et al., 2020; Trabelsi et al., 2015). It is also important to note that FXR expression is found in peripheral tissues including adipose tissue, islets of Langerhans and adrenal glands (Lefebvre, Cariou, Lien, Kuipers, & Staels, 2009), and could contribute to glucose and lipid metabolism via actions in these tissues. In vivo and in vitro experiments involving animal islets demonstrated activation of FXR by bile acid stimulated insulin secretion (Düfer et al., 2012; Schittenhelm et al., 2015). In adipocytes, FXR appears to play a role in differentiation, promotes adipogenesis and lipogenesis (Rizzo et al., 2006; Shinohara & Fujimori, 2020; Van Zutphen et al., 2019).

Due to their involvement in glucose and lipid metabolism, it is plausible that a reduced activity in FXR activity during pregnancy could impact the changes in metabolism during pregnancy. Targeting FXR could be key for therapeutics or further understanding the pathophysiology of metabolic gestational diseases.

### FXR order of potency



#### Figure 1.4: Order of potency of bile acids for FXR and TGR5.

Potency of bile acids to FXR and TGR5. CDCA and LCA most potent to FXR and TGR5 respectively, with CA being least potent for both receptors. 3D structures created using PerkinElmer, Chemdraw. EC50 refers to the concentration that gives half-maximal response.

#### 1.6.2 TGR5

Bile acids also bind and activate TGR5, a cell surface G-protein-coupled receptor widely expressed in humans and animals. However, the most potent bile acid ligands for TGR5 differ to those that activate FXR (LCA>DCA>CDCA>CA; Figure 1.4) (Kawamata et al., 2003). When activated, TGR5 stimulates adenylyl cyclase to increase concentrations of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), activating protein kinase A (PKA) and exerting cytosolic effects including calcium mobilisation and activating cellular signalling cascades such as nuclear factor KB, extracellular signal-regulated kinases and Akt/protein kinase B pathways (Chávez-Talavera, Tailleux, Lefebvre, & Staels, 2017; Guo, Chen, & Wang, 2016). Often, the signalling pathways of TGR5 are influenced by cell type and conditions. Figure 1.5 details the different actions of TGR5. Most notable is its expression in the enteroendocrine L cells. As previously mentioned, TGR5 activation causes secretion of gut hormone GLP-1 and PYY in the small intestine and colon, which promotes insulin secretion and reduce appetite (Bala et al., 2014; Christiansen et al., 2019; Kuhre et al., 2018; Pathak et al., 2018)(Figure 1.1). TGR5 activation of glucagon-like-peptide 2 (GLP-2) has also been demonstrated, with GLP-2 primary effects being implicated in growth and repair of the intestinal mucosa and gut motility (Parker et al., 2012). Activation of TGR5 receptors at the pancreatic islets causes release of insulin and improves insulin sensitivity and glycaemic control (Kumar et al., 2016, 2012; Maczewsky et al., 2019).

TGR5 activation also plays a role in lipid metabolism and energy expenditure. White and brown adipose tissue (WAT and BAT, respectively) are two major adipose tissues in the body. WAT is adapted for storage of surplus fatty acids derived from the diet in the form of triglycerides and for subsequent release under conditions of negative energy balance in the body. WAT is also known to contribute to the inflammatory response that occurs in obesity (Hirosumi et al., 2002; Hotamisligil, Shargill, & Spiegelman, 1993) In contrast, BAT is a highly vascularised, mitochondria-rich organ containing uncoupling protein 1 (UCP-1), which generates heat by uncoupling the mitochondrial proton gradient (Symonds, Aldiss, Pope, & Budge, 2018). TGR5 agonism causes remodelling of white adipocytes to give a more brown adipocyte-like phenotype, thus increasing  $\beta$ -oxidation and energy expenditure (Velazquez-Villegas et al., 2018; Zietak & Kozak, 2016). The expression of TGR5 on BAT has also demonstrated that when bile acids activate TGR5 on BAT in mice and in human BAT in vitro, increased thermogenic activity occurs thereby increasing energy expenditure (Broeders et al., 2015; Watanabe et al., 2006). Improved glucose metabolism and energy consumption are induced by the cAMP/PKA pathway in TGR5-activated skeletal muscle, alongside promoting muscle cell differentiation and hypertrophy to increase muscle strength and function (Huang et al., 2019; Kobayashi et al., 2017). Overexpression in skeletal muscle-specific TGR5 mice also improved glucose

34

clearance in glucose-intolerant mice (Sasaki et al., 2021). TGR5 expression is also found in several immune cells such as monocytes, macrophages and Kupffer cells; its activation exerts antiinflammatory activities including inhibition of the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and induction of differentiation of anti-inflammatory immune cells (Chávez-Talavera et al., 2017; Ichikawa et al., 2012; Yoneno et al., 2013) Many metabolic diseases have an inflammatory component, including diabetes; thus TGR5-mediated regulation of immune cell function warrants further investigation.

Much like FXR, a reduced TGR5 activity during pregnancy could result in metabolic changes causing gestational diseases. TGR5 could be a key target for therapeutics and understanding the mechanisms of the pathology of metabolic gestational diseases.


# Figure 1.5: TGR5 effects at site of action.

Figure displaying some of the tissues TGR5 is expressed on and the effects it causes when activated by bile acids or other TGR5 agonists.

#### 1.6.3 Other receptors

Other receptors have been reported to have affinity towards bile acids and have potential metabolic effects. The primary function of the pregnane X receptor (PXR) is to detect foreign substance and protects the body by promoting transcription of genes involved in removing and metabolising toxic substances. PXR is highly expressed in the liver and intestine, with the most potent bile acid ligand being LCA (Juřica, Dovrtělová, Nosková, & Zendulka, 2016). Strong evidence exists for ligand-activated PXR playing a role in lipid and glucose metabolism (Jie Gao & Xie, 2012), though there are contradictory outcomes. Whilst some studies have shown PXR activation mediates lipogenesis, suppresses β-oxidation and induces hyperglycaemia (Hakkola, Rysä, & Hukkanen, 2016; Zhou et al., 2006), others have reported that PXR activation improves glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity (Sultana et al., 2018). Species and gender-specific differences are thought to explain these variable results. However, research on metabolic regulation through bile acid bound PXR activation is limited, and further investigations may reveal new roles for bile acids acting on PXR.

The vitamin D receptor (VDR), when bound to vitamin D, mediates calcium and bone metabolism, innate and adaptive immune system and cardiovascular function. LCA can agonise VDR in the lower intestine, particularly in the ileum (Ishizawa, Akagi, & Makishima, 2018). However, the physiological relevance of LCA modulation of VDR function remains unclear. Recent research has pointed towards the ability of LCA to provide an immune protective effect at the epithelium via VDR activation (Yao et al., 2019). VDR has also been reported to have a role in maintaining glycaemia and lipid metabolism. A recent *in vitro* study demonstrated that an LCA derivative, LCA propionate, protects pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells from dedifferentiation (Neelankal John et al., 2018). Another study also reported activation of VDR, using 1,25[OH]<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>, represses hepatic SHP, increasing CYP7A1 in mouse and humans which in turn reduces cholesterol (Chow et al., 2014). It remains to be seen whether LCA can regulate glucose metabolism via VDR.

The liver X receptor (LXR) is a nuclear receptor which has two isoforms: LXRα, which is highly expressed in tissues with high metabolic activity, including the liver, small intestine and adipocytes, and LXRβ, which is expressed ubiquitously (Juřica et al., 2016). Unlike FXR, activation of LXR increases transcription and activity of CYP7A1, increasing bile acid formation and reverse cholesterol transport, thus decreasing plasma cholesterol levels (Juřica et al., 2016). FXR and LXR activation thus finely tune lipid, glucose and bile acid metabolism (Kalaany & Mangelsdorf, 2006). Though primary bile acids are not regarded as agonists for LXR, some minor secondary bile acids have agonistic properties, such as hyocholic acid (HCA) and hyodeoxycholic acid (HDCA) (De Marino et al., 2017; Song, Hiipakka, & Liao, 2000). Both HCA and HDCA are found at low levels in the serum and the

intestinal tract, which raises questions as to whether their activation of LXR is of physiological relevance.

Alongside TGR5, other G-protein coupled receptors have also been documented to be activated by bile acids. Bile acids are known to interact with the muscarinic receptors,  $M_1$ - $M_5$  (Kiriyama & Nochi, 2019). Muscarinic receptors are responsible for the physiological effects of acetylcholine, which acts as a neurotransmitter in the brain or neuromuscular junctions and also mediates the parasympathetic system (Kiriyama & Nochi, 2019). There is increasing evidence that positive allosteric modulation of  $M_3$  muscarinic receptors improves glucose homeostasis and promotes insulin release (Gautam et al., 2006; Hauge-Evans et al., 2014; L. Zhu et al., 2019), and mice lacking  $M_3$  in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells displayed impaired glucose control and reduced insulin release, producing a diabetic phenotype (Gautam et al., 2006).

Sphingosine-1 phosphate receptor subtype 2 (S1PR2), expressed in a variety of tissues, is another Gprotein coupled receptor (Kiriyama & Nochi, 2019) for which bile acids are also ligands. When activated, S1PR2 mediates numerous cell functions including increasing cell permeability, promoting immune cell function, muscle contraction and neuron migration (Adada, Canals, Hannun, & Obeid, 2013). Research into the role of S1PR2 in metabolic function has demonstrated that its activation lowers glucose levels and upregulates lipid metabolism (Adada et al., 2013; Nagahashi et al., 2015).

These receptors have all been detailed with the potential of influencing metabolism by bile acids. However, our studies primarily will focus on the metabolic effects of FXR and TGR5 due to the greater effect bile acids have on these receptors.

# 1.7 TRPM3

#### 1.7.1 Prevalence and Role

Transient receptor potential melastatin-3 (TRPM3) is a cation channel belonging to the melastatin family, a subgroup of the transient receptor potential (TRP) superfamily. Much like the other TRP channels, TRPM3, structurally, has six transmembrane domains and a pore domain, which is located between the fifth and sixth domain (Thiel et al., 2017). The structure of TRPM3 can be seen in Figure 1.6. TRPM3 is highly permeable to calcium (Nilius & Flockerzi, 2014), though TRPM3 has also been found to be permeable to Mg<sup>2+</sup> and Zn<sup>2+</sup> (Oberwinkler et al., 2005; Wagner et al., 2010). Agonists like pregnenolone sulphate (PMΔ5S) or CIM0216 can stimulate TRPM3 to allow an influx of calcium into cells, influencing calcium cell signalling and homeostasis (Drews et al., 2014; Lesch, Rubil, & Thiel, 2014; Majeed et al., 2010; Thiel et al., 2017; Wagner et al., 2008). Splice variants of TRPM3 exist, which they mainly differ from their Ca<sup>2+</sup> permeabilities, with most of the studies carried out on the variants which are more permeable to calcium (Frühwald et al., 2012; Grimm et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2003). TRPM3 is expressed in various tissues, including kidney, liver, brain, nervous system, reproductive organs, smooth muscle and pancreas (Fonfria et al., 2006; Grimm et al., 2003). The channel likely has tissue-specific roles, though TRPM3 still remains poorly characterised, with the Ca<sup>2+</sup> permeable properties of TRPM3 investigated the most. To date, no research investigating TRPM3 and pregnancy has been carried out. TRPM3 is expressed in the ovaries and remains to be seen if the hormones, which are increased during pregnancy, can influence TRPM3 activation and upregulation.



# Figure 1.6: TRPM3 structure.

Structure of TRPM3 showing the 6 transmembrane domains and pore domain, which allows the flow of calcium into the cell when activated by agonists such as pregnenolone sulphate.

#### 1.7.2 Progesterone Sulphate Metabolic capabilities

The progesterone sulphate PM $\Delta$ 5S is a well-established activator of TRPM3 (Drews et al., 2014; Majeed et al., 2010; Thiel et al., 2017). TRPM3 expression in numerous tissues is likely to display tissue-specific roles and its metabolic capabilities have begun to unravel. Pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells have been shown to express TRPM3 in humans (Marabita & Islam, 2017). TRPM3 has therefore been shown to enhance glucose-stimulated insulin secretion by pregnenolone sulphate in numerous in vitro models (Becker et al., 2020; Thiel, Müller, & Rössler, 2013; Wagner et al., 2008). This mechanism of action is most likely through Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx through TRPM3 causing an intracellular signalling cascade and membrane depolarisation (Becker et al., 2020; Thiel et al., 2013). However not all progesterone sulphates can activate TRPM3. The structural differences between the progesterone sulphates dictate their ability to bind to TRPM3. The three key structural parts in showing the highest affinity for TRPM3 are: the orientation of the hydrogen on carbon 5, whether there is a hydroxyl or keto group at carbon 20 position, and the orientation of the sulphate group on carbon 3 (Drews et al., 2014; Majeed et al., 2010). These differences can be seen in Figure 1.3. Majeed et al., and Drews et al., have suggested for strong TRPM3 stimulation, the  $\beta$  configuration of the sulphate group on carbon 3 is required. Establishing which progesterone sulphates activate TRPM3 strongly and correlating this with the differences in serum levels of specific sulphated progesterone metabolites in healthy and individuals with metabolic disorders could be key to understanding the role of progesterone sulphates in gestational diseases.

We are interested in seeing how the other progesterone sulphates affect the activation of TRPM3, particularly ones that are significantly raised or decreased in gestational diseases and may help explain the pathophysiology of metabolic disorders. Further investigations are also needed to establish whether TRPM3 channels participate in GSIS in humans, which maybe key to understanding gestational diseases like GDM.

# 1.8 Gestational Diabetes Mellitus (GDM)

# 1.8.1 Epidemiology

GDM is characterised by the pathological development of insulin and hyperglycaemia during pregnancy, which resolves following delivery. Due to the lack of consensus and diagnostic standard for GDM worldwide, there is a large variation in the prevalence of GDM which makes it challenging to compare across countries and regions. Some regions, such as South America and Africa, have fewer studies available to estimate GDM prevalence, which warrant further research in these areas making further comparative assessment difficult. With many women choosing to have children at a later stage of their life and maternal obesity rates increasing worldwide every year, the prevalence has been rising, regardless of the diagnostic criteria with current figures ranging from 1 to >30% depending on the country (McIntyre et al., 2019). The last 20 years has seen an increase in GDM prevalence by 10-100% in multiple race and ethnic groups (Ferrara, 2007), which continues to rise. The international diabetes federation suggests 1 in 6 (16.8%) are affected by diabetes during pregnancy in the world (Egan & Dunne, 2020). The largest prevalence seen is in the middle east, north African (median 15.2%; range 8.8-20%), south east Asian (median 15%; range 9.6-18.3%) and east Asian (median 10.3%; range 4.5-20.3%) countries. The region with the lowest GDM prevalence, though also having the widest, is Europe (median 6.1%; range 1.8-31%) (McIntyre et al., 2019). Within these regions there is also considerable variation observed; an explanation of these variations within a region could be due to the different GDM diagnostic criteria applied.

#### 1.8.2 Screening and diagnostics

As previously mentioned, multiple screening and diagnostic tests exist which normally examine concentrations of glucose in the plasma or serum in defined circumstances, giving different degrees of maternal hyperglycaemia and maternal/fetal risk. Oral glucose tolerance tests (OGTT) remain the standard test for GDM. The UK does not routinely check for GDM and OGTT is usually carried out at 24-28 weeks gestation in individuals identified as high risk, which is based on factors such as body mass index (BMI), ethnicity and family history of diabetes. Current guidelines from The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) state a standardised one-step OGTT approach which initially involves an overnight fast, with blood drawn at fasting in the morning. This is followed by an ingestion of 75-g of glucose and blood drawn at 120 minutes post-prandially, blood is sometimes drawn at the 60 minutes mark if using other criteria such as those from The International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy study Groups (IADSPG) (American Diabetes Association, 2020; NICE, 2015). Diagnoses of GDM is made when either the fasting or 120 minutes plasma glucose threshold is met or exceeded, 5.6 and 7.8 mmol/L respectively. The threshold criteria for GDM diagnosis vary between different expert groups. However there is currently not enough research to show the best diagnostic method and there is insufficient evidence to suggest which is the best for diagnosing GDM (Farrar, Duley, Dowswell, & Lawlor, 2017).

There is a need for a universally agreed standardised method or identification of a different biomarker to diagnose GDM more effectively and to provide less of a diagnostic burden to the patient. Markers like HbA1c, which can be used for diagnoses of T2DM, cannot be used for GDM diagnosis (NICE, 2015), and so careful consideration is needed for selecting suitable biomarkers. No early biomarkers exist for identification of GDM, before onset of disease. Identification of potential risk of developing GDM in the first trimester allows for early intervention and management in the early stages of pregnancy, reducing the potential effects of GDM and minimising exposure of the developing fetus to suboptimal conditions. Research for other biomarkers exists, with metabolic hormones, adipokines, inflammatory markers and urine biomarkers all having shown potential associations with onset of GDM (Brink, van der Lely, & van der Linden, 2016; Georgiou et al., 2008; Lorenzo-Almorós et al., 2019; Tenenbaum-Gavish et al., 2020).

# 1.8.3 Aetiology

No one cause can be identified for the onset of GDM. Although pre-existing features such as obesity contribute to the likelihood of developing GDM, multiple genetic, environmental and hormonal risk factors are implicated in its pathogenesis including age, ethnicity, family history of diabetes, smoking and genetic susceptibility (McIntyre et al., 2019). Obesity appears to contribute highly, with nearly half of all GDM cases being linked to being overweight or obese (Kim et al., 2010). With a global population with an increasing BMI from increased dietary fat intake, westernised diets consumed in developing countries and reduced physical activity are all likely to be pre-pregnancy factors to that contribute to development of obesity and subsequent GDM (McIntyre et al., 2019). Others have reported age as also a major contributing factor, with risk increasing linearly with age. Those >40 years of age have a 2/3-fold increased risk of GDM compared to women <30 years of age (Carolan, Davey, Biro, & Kealy, 2012; Y. Han et al., 2021; Solomon et al., 1997). Ethnicity also appears to play a role and should be noted that when comparing countries using the same diagnostic criteria applied, there is still considerable variability in the prevalence of GDM. In a cohort observed in Northern California, South Asian, South East Asian and East Asian women had higher rates of GDM compared to other ethnicities of the same BMI and the lowest was among non-Hispanic white and African-Americans (Hedderson et al., 2012). Similar findings in the same ethnicities have also been reported, with higher rates seen in Hispanic, South Asian, East Asian and South East Asian/Pacific Islander populations and lower risks in a European background (Carolan et al., 2012; Dooley, Metzger, & Cho, 1991; Laurie & McIntyre, 2020; Lawrence, Contreras, Chen, & Sacks, 2008; Read et al., 2021). Genes have been implied in the aetiology of GDM as family history of diabetes is often used to assess risk, though studies examining the genetic contribution to GDM are limited and often small in sample size. Genetic variation in MTNR1B in Asian and Hispanic populations is thought to be associated with an increased risk of GDM. A gene found to be involved with  $\beta$ -cell compensation for insulin resistance (Kwak et al., 2012; Ren et al., 2014). Other genes significantly associated with GDM risk

include: *TCF7L2*, *HNF1A*, *GLIS3*, *GPSM1*, *RREB1*, *SLC30A8*, *CDKAL1*, *IGF2BP2*, *KCNJ11* (E23K), *GCK* (-30G/A) and *IRS1* (Gly972Arg), of note, most of these genes are involved in regulating insulin secretion (Ding et al., 2018; Kwak et al., 2012; C. Zhang et al., 2013).

### 1.8.4 Pathophysiology and complications of GDM

GDM remains a complicated metabolic disorder and the precise underlying mechanisms have yet to be completed elucidated. While the metabolic adaptations of normal pregnancy, described in the previous section, occur in all pregnancies, GDM occurs when the islets cannot meet the heightened insulin demand, and the  $\beta$ -cells become defective, resulting in hyperglycaemia (McIntyre et al., 2019). GDM typically occurs in the third trimester when insulin resistance is at its highest and peripheral insulin sensitivity at its lowest, hence the reason for diagnosing at the third trimester (McIntyre et al., 2019). Pregnancy hormones are also at their peak in the third trimester and influence glucose metabolism as previously mentioned, thereby contributing to the insulin resistance. Inflammatory factors such as tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) also change during pregnancy and contribute to the pathophysiology of GDM, with high inflammatory factors linked with obesity (McIntyre et al., 2019). In particular, TNF $\alpha$  inversely correlated with insulin sensitivity in late pregnancy (Kirwan et al., 2002). This reflects the action of TNF $\alpha$  antagonising the actions of insulin by blocking the phosphorylation of the insulin receptor (Hotamisligil, Murray, Choy, & Spiegelman, 1994). Further research is needed to unravel the pathophysiology of GDM.

GDM is associated with both short- and long-term complications for both the mother and fetus. Shorter-term consequences include accelerated fetal growth, macrosomia, neonatal hypoglycaemia, and jaundice (Athukorala et al., 2007; Metzger et al., 2008; O'Sullivan et al., 2011). Longer-term complications include increased risk of developing T2DM in both the mother and offspring (Kawasaki et al., 2018; Leybovitz-Haleluya, Wainstock, Landau, & Sheiner, 2018; Lowe et al., 2018; Metzger et al., 2008). The weight gained, chronic inflammation and insulin resistance during GDM are important risk factors of developing T2DM postpartum. Weight gain post-partum was found to correlate with an increased risk of developing T2DM due to a higher prevalence of progressive insulin resistance and continued pancreatic β-cell dysfunction (Peters, Kjos, Xiang, & Buchahan, 1996). There was also an increased risk of developing other diseases such as metabolic syndrome, cardiovascular, kidney and liver diseases for the mother (McIntyre et al., 2019; Metzger et al., 2008). Though studies examining longer-term effects of GDM on offspring are relatively sparse, exposure to GDM is associated with the offspring having a higher risk of abnormal glucose metabolism and adiposity 1014 years postpartum (Lowe, Lowe, et al., 2019; Lowe, Scholtens, et al., 2019; Metzger, 2007). Another recent study examining 11-12 year old offspring of women with GDM determined that these children were also at increased risk of hyperglycaemia, diabetes and obesity (Blotsky, Rahme, Dahhou, Nakhla, & Dasgupta, 2019; Lowe et al., 2018), consistent with the other findings.

#### 1.8.5 Glucose Metabolism in GDM

Changes in glucose metabolism during pregnancy are required to meet the fetal demand. However, these metabolic changes may progress more severely and are accentuated in women with GDM. In late pregnancy, hyperglycaemia in GDM is a consequence of  $\beta$ -cell failure to compensate by insulin secretion for the increased insulin resistance. The exact mechanisms underlying β-cell dysfunction and reduced  $\beta$ -cell mass are varied and complex in GDM. With reduced insulin secretion, decreased insulin-stimulated glucose disposal occurs before insulin sensitivity is also progressively decreased. This is evident through women with GDM having reduced insulin suppression of hepatic glucose production compared to non-GDM patients (Catalano et al., 1993). GLUT4 translocation is thought to also influence glucose metabolism in GDM. As previously described, insulin binds and autophosphorylates the insulin receptor  $\beta$ -subunit, thereby activating the insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS1), signalling the distribution of GLUT4 to the cell surface. In late pregnancy the expression of IRS1 is decreased. This is further exacerbated in GDM pregnancies and autophosphorylation of the insulin receptor  $\beta$ -subunit is also lowered further, resulting in reduced glucose uptake (Friedman et al., 1999). Figure 1.7 details the differences in normal vs GDM insulin signalling and how insulin binding cascades to GLUT4 translocation. Insulin resistance is found to be reversed postpartum by increased expression of the IRS1 protein (Kirwan et al., 2004). Understanding the glucose pathophysiology and the management of glucose levels during GDM pregnancy is crucial. Maternal hyperglycaemia is associated with impaired glucose tolerance in offspring (Plagemann, Harder, Kohlhoff, Rohde, & Dörner, 1997; Silverman, Metzger, Cho, & Loeb, 1995). Lowering and having tight control of glucose to the desirable levels could reduce the severity of the complications seen in GDM.

#### 1.8.6 Lipid Metabolism in GDM

Much like glucose metabolism, increased circulating lipids in late pregnancy are required to meet the requirements of the fetus and the physiological demands of pregnancy. Consistent with insulin resistance, GDM induces a state of dyslipidaemia and GDM women have higher serum triglyceride concentrations in all trimesters and lower high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol levels in the

45

second and third trimesters compared to normal pregnancy. No significant differences were found in total cholesterol or LDL-cholesterol levels (Koukkou et al., 1996; Ryckman et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2019). GDM women may have reduced fatty acid uptake and subsequently lower oxidation of fatty acids. The higher insulin levels in GDM contribute to this, as insulin has been shown to decrease fatty acid oxidation and lipolysis, as well as reesterification of those fatty acids (Boden, Chen, Desantis, & Kendrick, 1993). Hyperinsulinaemia in GDM pregnancy, particularly in obese individuals, gives rise to adipose tissue dysfunction, characterised by abnormal production of adipokines. Adipokines have been known to mediate insulin resistance, causing reduced insulin sensitivity and increase in concentration during pregnancy and are further increased in GDM pregnancies (Gutaj et al., 2020; Wójcik, Chmielewska-Kassassir, Grzywnowicz, Woźniak, & Cypryk, 2014). Some of the adipocytokines include leptin, TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6, visfatin, resistin and chemerin (Boyadzhieva, Atanasova, Zacharieva, & Kedikova, 2013; Fasshauer et al., 2007; Jahromi, Zareian, & Madani, 2011; Kasher-Merona et al., 2014; Kirwan et al., 2002; Nien et al., 2007). Other adipokines like adiponectin or apelin increase insulin sensitivity but are significantly reduced in GDM pregnancies (Boyadzhieva et al., 2013). Leptin, TNF $\alpha$  and adiponectin have been well established adipokines, shown to increase or decrease in GDM, though further studies are needed to establish the roles of some of the other adipokines in GDM as it remains unclear if they are significantly changed in GDM compared to normal pregnancy (Gutaj et al., 2020). An increase in fatty acid utilisation by GDM fetuses would contribute to an increased fat depot and accumulation. Childhood obesity correlated significantly with maternal BMI and body fat (Catalano et al., 2009). Therefore, the increased body fat in GDM women would be a significant risk factor for childhood obesity and controlling the lipid metabolism in GDM pregnancies would reduce the complications observed in GDM.



### Figure 1.7: Insulin signalling in normal and GDM pregnancy.

Graphic showing in normal pregnancy, insulin activating the insulin receptor to cause phosphorylation of the  $\beta$ -subunit and of the tyrosine residues. This activates IRS1 which in turn activates PI3-kinase to causes a cascading event which results in the translocation of GLUT4 to the cell membrane. This translocation allows glucose to then enter cells. In GDM pregnancy, phosphorylation of the tyrosine residues is reduced, decreasing the activation of IRS1. PI3-kinase activity is therefore reduced and diminishes the translocation of GLUT4 to the cell membrane, preventing glucose entering cells and raising serum glucose levels. Multiple serine sites are also activated which further dampens the signal by destabilising and degrading IRS1.

### 1.8.7 Management

Initial treatment for GDM involves a lifestyle modification immediately after diagnosis, including dietary modification and exercise (American Diabetes Association, 2019). If hyperglycaemia has not resolved within 1-2 weeks, pharmacological treatment is initiated. Metformin and/or insulin are often given as first line treatments, with sulfonylureas sometimes given as an alternative, depending on different country guideline (American Diabetes Association, 2019). The metformin in gestational diabetes (MiG) trial demonstrated that mothers randomised to metformin, compared to insulin, had reduced maternal weight gain and gestational hypertension (Rowan, Hague, Gao, Battin, & Moore, 2008). However, the rate of large for gestational age (LGA) offspring was not affected and the children had more s.c. fat at 2 years of age at 2 years of age after maternal metformin treatment (Rowan et al., 2011). Furthermore, metformin use has been associated with greater childhood size, adiposity and inferior cardiometabolic health (Hanem et al., 2019). These studies have raised concerns that metformin, currently used by many women with GDM, does not adequately prevent adverse perinatal outcomes, and may have negative long-term effects on the metabolic health of the children (Barbour et al., 2018). However, a recent study has provided more reassuring data: the 3-5 year old children of obese women randomised to take metformin in pregnancy had lower gluteal and tricep circumferences, lower systolic blood pressure and improved left ventricular diastolic function compared to the children of obese women randomised to placebo (Panagiotopoulou et al., 2020). Thus, more research is required to establish whether maternal metformin treatment improves long-term cardiometabolic outcomes for exposed fetuses. Indeed, even insulin treatment (the 'gold-standard' pharmacological approach) was not shown to be of definitive benefit for GDM offspring in the most recent Cochrane review and was thought to possibly increase the risk of raised blood pressure compared to oral treatments (Martis et al., 2018).

The sulfonylurea, glibenclamide, has not been shown to be superior to insulin treatment in randomised trials (Langer, Conway, Berkus, Xenakis, & Gonzales, 2000), or as an add-on therapy to metformin (Reynolds et al., 2017). Sulfonylurea use is also linked with higher rates of LGA babies and neonatal hypoglycaemia compared with offspring of GDM women treated with insulin or metformin (Balsells et al., 2015). Thus, while the recommended treatments should be prescribed for women with GDM, the potential long-term effects for the child should be taken into careful consideration, and there is need for more effective intervention strategies to be developed, likely with consideration of individual risk factors as GDM is a heterogeneous disorder. However treatment for GDM does not seem to improve long-term effects seen in children (Landon et al., 2015; Shou, Wei, Wang, & Yang, 2019), although current postpartum studies evaluating children born from GDM women are of relatively short duration.

Lifestyle interventions have not shown consistent benefits to improve perinatal outcomes (Catalano & Demouzon, 2015). Though use of medications like insulin, metformin and sulfonylureas come with immediate encouraging outcomes, they come with the risk of side-effects and caution is required in its widespread use. Longer term follow-up studies are needed to evaluate use of these drugs during pregnancy. Lifestyle intervention studies before pregnancy are perhaps required to demonstrate that the focus on preventive efforts of GDM should be shifted to preconception, or very early in pregnancy.

# 1.9 Intrahepatic Cholestasis of Pregnancy and the link with GDM

Though a gradual rise in serum bile acids as gestation progresses is normal (McIlvride et al., 2017), for a small number of women these concentrations are elevated beyond this level, leading to intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP). ICP is the most common pregnancy-specific liver disease. Women with ICP most commonly present in the third trimester with pruritus and elevated serum bile acids, which can occur alongside raised liver transaminases. ICP accounts for roughly 1% of pregnancies in Europe and North America, with higher incidence in women of South Asian and South American ancestry, occurring most commonly in Chile and neighbouring countries (McIlvride et al., 2017). As well as pruritus, hypercholanaemia and abnormal liver function, maternal features of ICP include impaired glucose tolerance and dyslipidaemia (Martineau et al., 2015). ICP is associated with an increased risk of adverse perinatal outcomes including preterm birth, meconium stained amniotic fluid and stillbirth (Geenes et al., 2014; Glantz, Marschall, & Mattsson, 2004; Ovadia, Seed, et al., 2019). ICP has a complex aetiology with hormonal and genetic factors. Most women are diagnosed when the concentrations of both oestrogens and progesterone are at their highest in the later stages of pregnancy. Sulphated progesterone metabolites implicated in the pathogenesis of ICP, are elevated in women with ICP in the third trimester, but are raised before the onset of pruritus (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016). Genetic studies have demonstrated pathological variants in genes involved in bile acid synthesis and transport (particularly ABCB4 and ABCB11) in ICP (Dixon et al., 2017; Turro et al., 2020).

As well as total serum concentration, the bile acid profile is also altered. In normal pregnancy the CA/CDCA ratio is increased, and this is further amplified in ICP by a larger increase in CA (Brites, Rodrigues, Van-Zeller, Alexandra Brito, & Silva, 1998; Heikkinen, 1983). This ratio change increases the hydrophilicity of the bile acid pool, due to the extra hydroxyl group on CA. This further reduces FXR activation in ICP as CA is a less potent agonist of FXR (Figure 1.3), but is likely to be less harmful than if other bile acids were elevated as CA should exhibit cytoprotection over the more cytotoxic

49

hydrophobic bile acids (Pavlović et al., 2018). Activation of TGR5 by bile acids, or other agonists such as progesterone sulphates, may also play a role in the pruritus associated with ICP (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016; Alemi et al., 2013; Lieu et al., 2014). As well as maternal effects, bile acids have been directly implicated in fetal arrhythmias, with fetal PR interval elongation and abnormal calcium dynamics reported (Rodríguez et al., 2016; Sheikh Abdul Kadir et al., 2010; Vasavan et al., 2020; Williamson et al., 2001). FXR function has also been linked to the pathophysiology of ICP. FXR function is reduced in pregnancy due to the rise in oestrogen and its metabolites causing a cholestatic phenotype (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2013; Milona, Owen, Cobbold, et al., 2010). While reduced FXR function is likely to occur in all pregnancies, in some women gestational changes will exacerbate susceptibility to hypercholanaemia to cause ICP.

UDCA is a hydrophilic secondary bile acid, normally used to treat a variety of cholestatic liver disorders. UDCA lowers serum levels of bile acids acting on BSEP, MDR3 and multidrug resistanceassociated protein 4, which improves biliary secretion of bile acids (Beuers, 2006; Marschall et al., 2005). Other effects include protection of the liver from bile acid-induced apoptosis, antiinflammatory actions and stabilisation of the 'biliary bicarbonate umbrella' (Beuers, Trauner, Jansen, & Poupon, 2015). UDCA treatment also alters the bile acid pool, constituting approximately 60% of total bile acid measurements in treated women and replacing more harmful bile acids (Manna et al., 2019). UDCA is a commonly used treatment for ICP, with studies demonstrating reductions in maternal features of ICP, such as itch, hypercholanaemia, elevated transaminases and adverse outcomes (Bacq et al., 2017; Kong et al., 2016). However, a recent trial demonstrated that UDCA did not reduce the frequency of a composite endpoint that perinatal death, spontaneous and iatrogenic preterm birth and admission to the neonatal unit for more than 4 h (Chappell et al., 2019). Ongoing research is evaluating whether UDCA may be a benefit to a subgroup of women with ICP, or only those at risk of specific adverse pregnancy outcomes.

Progesterone sulphates have also been suggested to contribute to the pathophysiology of ICP. As previously mentioned, progesterone sulphates have been shown to increase to significant levels in normal pregnancy (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2010). Progesterone sulphates also contribute to a cholestatic phenotype in pregnancy by inhibiting bile acid uptake and preventing bile acid efflux. An increasing number of reports have also discovered progesterone sulphates being significantly increased in ICP pregnancies compared to normal pregnancies (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2013; Meng et al., 1997b; Reyes & Sjövall, 2000). PM5S in particular was shown to be increased by 330% in ICP women (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2013). Serum and urinary levels can be decreased by UDCA in ICP women (Glantz et al., 2008; Meng et al., 1997a). Progesterone sulphates were also found to be potential prognostic markers for ICP. To help predict the onset of ICP, progesterone sulphates were found to be significantly elevated

50

in the first trimester in women who went on to develop ICP (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016). Further studies of progesterone sulphates and ICP have also revealed their ability to bind to FXR and TGR5, with 5 $\beta$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ -20 $\alpha$ -diol-sulphate (PM3S) showing it can activate TGR5 (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016). TGR5 activation by progesterone sulphates also may explain the itch response commonly seen in ICP, which was shown to be elicited by intradermal injection of PM3S in mice and the response eliminated in Tgr5-KO mice (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016). PM5S also show partial agonism for FXR (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2013), which would give reduced function to FXR and help explain the pathophysiology of ICP, as impaired FXR function would increase concentrations of bile acids. This was seen in vivo as PM5S exacerbated hypercholanemia in mice (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2013). Further understanding of the progesterone sulphates is needed to explain its rise in normal and ICP pregnancies. Fully elucidating their mechanism of action could also help explain their pathophysiology in not only ICP, but other metabolic gestational diseases like GDM.

Women with ICP have an increased risk of developing GDM (Arafa & Dong, 2020; Liu et al., 2020; Majewska et al., 2019; Martineau et al., 2014), which is characterised by elevated postprandial plasma glucose concentrations and increased insulin resistance. ICP is also associated with dyslipidaemia, in particular having elevated serum triglyceride and LDL-cholesterol concentrations (Dann et al., 2006; Martineau et al., 2015), similar to GDM, and it is thought bile acids and their receptors may also play a role in the development of impaired glucose tolerance in pregnancy. Indeed, pregnant mice with CA feeding associated hypercholanaemia have abnormal islet morphology resulting in decreased β-cell proliferation and pregnant mice lacking FXR and TGR5 have impaired glucose homeostasis (Bellafante et al., 2020). This presents a rationale that the bile acids and their receptors could be key to understanding the pathophysiology of GDM and potential therapeutic targets could arise from further research of bile acids their receptors.

# 1.10 Bile acids and Progesterone Sulphates in GDM

The bile acid pool and composition are different in diabetic states, and there is evidence that the pool could increase in type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). These changes could increase insulin resistance, affecting glucose metabolism and progress the pathogenesis of diabetes (Ahmad & Haeusler, 2019). Similar changes could occur in GDM, however currently studies evaluating changes in bile acid or progesterone sulphate concentrations in GDM are lacking.

### 1.10.1 Clinical studies

ICP and GDM have some similarities; both are gestational metabolic disorders associated with maternal dyslipidaemia. Although bile acids and their receptors have a greater impact on ICP, it is plausible that bile acid signalling also influences the risk of GDM, and modulation of bile acid pathways may be of benefit in both conditions.

There is an increasing research focus on the relationship between bile acids and the risk of T2DM, in particular the relevance of the CA:CDCA ratio and CYP8B1 function (Kaur et al., 2015; Zaborska & Cummings, 2018). However, studies of bile acids in GDM are comparatively limited. As described earlier in this chapter, elevated serum bile acids and changes in the bile acid pool also occur in normal pregnancy and are heightened in ICP. Furthermore women with ICP have an increased risk of developing GDM (Arafa & Dong, 2020; Liu et al., 2020; Majewska et al., 2019; Martineau et al., 2014). Total and individual bile acid species have been found to be higher in women with GDM in the third trimester (Jieying Gao et al., 2016). Elevated total bile acids were also found in women in their first trimester who went on to develop GDM (Hou et al., 2018, 2016). Consistent with this, a study examining changes in bile acids through each trimester found that total bile acid concentrations positively correlated with insulin resistance (Gagnon et al., 2021). Kong et al also suggested that women with higher serum total bile acid levels during early to mid-pregnancy have a higher risk of developing GDM (Kong et al., 2020). However, other studies found a reduction in bile acids in GDM women recruited from the first and second trimester (Dudzik et al., 2014; Li et al., 2018). Likewise, a study examining bile acids in GDM women in the third trimester found no differences in overall total bile acids, but significant reductions in the conjugated forms of DCA, glycodeoxycholic acid (GDCA) and taurodeoxycholic acid (TDCA) (Zhu et al., 2021). These differences could be due to ethnicity, the heterogeneous aetiology of GDM or variations in the method used to assay bile acids.

The composition of the bile acid pools also differs between these studies and some report alterations in the concentrations of minor bile acids that may not be of relevance to clinical metabolic phenotypes. This discrepancy between studies of bile acids in GDM warrants further investigation. It is important for future studies to use consistent measurement techniques in large cohorts of women with GDM, and to match the BMI in women with uncomplicated pregnancies, alongside ethnic group, gestational week of pregnancy and feeding/fasting blood sampling, as these factors all influence the concentration of specific bile acid species in the serum.

Similar to GDM, discrepancies in bile acid concentrations have also been found in T2DM. Total, individual and conjugated only bile acids have been found to be higher in T2DM, with higher bile acid levels also found to positively correlate with higher fasting plasma glucose and insulin

resistance, and negatively correlated with insulin sensitivity (Bennion & Grundy, 1977; Cariou et al., 2011; Vincent et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2020; Wewalka et al., 2014; T. Wu et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2020). Though others did not find changes in total bile acid levels, positive correlation between bile acid concentration and insulin resistance was found (Sun et al., 2016). One study found no changes in total bile acids but changes within the bile acid pool were found, with CDCA decreased in T2DM (Brufau, Bahr, et al., 2010). However, this study had relatively smaller patient cohorts compared to the other studies mentioned. Others had mixed findings, primary unconjugated bile acids were found to be inversely associated with diabetes incidence and found more frequently in non-diabetes, whilst conjugated primary and secondary bile acids were positively related to incidence of diabetes and had higher incidence in the diabetes group (Lu et al., 2021; Suhre et al., 2010). The inconsistencies found in studies in T2DM highlights the difficulties and needs for further research between bile acid composition and diabetes.

Currently, serum progesterone sulphates have not been investigated in GDM. Research, though also lacking, has been carried out linking progesterone sulphates and T2DM. One study found a correlation of PMΔ5S being reduced in patients with T2DM compared to healthy controls (Tagawa et al., 2002). The PMΔ5S -precursor, pregnenolone, were also found to be negatively correlated to a Chinese rural population with prediabetes and T2DM (Jiang et al., 2019). Though interestingly, during insulin-induced hypoglycaemia, PMΔ5S levels was also shown to increase in T2DM (Halama et al., 2019). Studies looking at the relationship between other progesterone sulphates and diabetes is limited. With recent studies showing significant relationships between ICP and progesterone sulphates, and women with ICP also having an increased risk of developing GDM, it is plausible that meaningful trends could be seen between progesterone sulphates and GDM.

#### 1.10.2 FXR and TGR5 impact in GDM

Changes in bile acid composition are also seen in diabetic animal models similar to humans (Herrema et al., 2010; Nervi, Severín, & Valdivieso, 1978; Siow, Schurr, & Vitale, 1991; Subbiah, Yunker, Hassan, & Thibert, 1984; Uchida, Makino, & Akiyoshi, 1985; F. Zhang et al., 2019). Many of these studies have gone on to implicate FXR and TGR5 in contributing to the pathophysiology of diabetes. The studies mentioned previously showed changes in the bile acid pools in pregnancies diagnosed with GDM, this indicates FXR activity is altered in GDM. Due to their involvement in glucose metabolism, it is possible that changes in FXR and TGR5 activity could affect GDM susceptibility. Since both receptors play a role in regulation of glucose homeostasis, changes to normal receptor function are also likely to affect glucose metabolism. FXR expression has been

53

found to be reduced in rodent models of Type 1 and 2 diabetes (Duran-Sandoval et al., 2004). As previously mentioned, FXR<sup>-/-</sup> mice demonstrated elevated glucose levels and insulin resistance (Ma et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2006). Consistent with this, mice deficient of FXR or TGR5 develop gestational impaired glucose tolerance and FXR<sup>-/-</sup> mice have insulin resistance in pregnancy (Bellafante et al., 2020). Currently there is a lack of studies evaluating the impact of these receptors on GDM pathophysiology and metabolism. Given that FXR activity is reduced in pregnancy and the role that TGR5 has in pregnancy is not known, it is plausible both FXR and TGR5 could contribute to the pathophysiology of GDM. Reduced activity of these receptors could be the link for the increased risk of developing GDM in ICP women.

# 1.11 Gut hormones

# 1.11.1 Gut physiology and changes in Pregnancy

As mentioned earlier in 1.2.4, as pregnancy progresses, alterations in the gut physiology occur. Normally, the gastrointestinal tract functions to process ingested food mechanically and chemically, extracting nutrients and excreting waste products. Along the small intestine and colon, enteroendocrine cells are stimulated to release hormones into the blood, to further stimulate or inhibit additional effects of metabolism or on gut motility. Quite often, these cells are directly stimulated by the digested nutrients in the gut lumen. This includes bile secreted into the gut, with the most notable effect being secondary bile acids activating TGR5 receptors and causing GLP-1 release (Norman & Henry, 2015). The gut microbiome is a key part of maintaining normal gut physiology and has a symbiotic relationship with the human digestive tract. The intestinal bacteria has a range of roles which include aiding digestion and metabolism, as well as synthesising nutritional products from the digested materials such as vitamins or short-chain fatty acids. One of the key roles the gut microbiota has is the transformation of primary bile acids to the secondary bile acids DCA and LCA, which not only have antimicrobial properties, but are also involved in aiding glucose and lipid metabolism (Clarke et al., 2014; Joyce & Gahan, 2014). The composition of the microbiome is considered a key indicator to overall health. Dysregulation of the microbiome is often associated with metabolic and inflammatory conditions. Recent research is aiming to manipulate the gut microbiome to combat metabolic related diseases (Clarke et al., 2014). Transplantation of gut microbiota from obese mice into germ-free mice altered the animals into an obese phenotype (Turnbaugh, Bäckhed, Fulton, & Gordon, 2008; Turnbaugh et al., 2006). The bacterial phyla which appear to dominate the gut microbiome are Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes, representing more than approximately 90% of the total community. Actinobacteria and Proteobacteria are also very much

widely present, subdominant, phyla making up a proportion of the rest of the microbiome (Magne et al., 2020). The *Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes* ratio appears to differ according to the metabolic status of an individual and correlates with glucose tolerance. Those with elevated levels of the *Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes* ratio is associated with obesity, insulin resistance and low glucose tolerance compared to healthy people (Larsen et al., 2010; Zhang & Zhang, 2013).

During pregnancy, there is decreased motility in the gastrointestinal tract due to the relaxation of the smooth muscles, increasing transit time (Longo, Moore, Canzoneri, & Robichaux, 2010). As previously mentioned, the composition of the microbiome during pregnancy is also altered with the *Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes* ratio positively correlating with gestational age (Collado et al., 2008; Koren et al., 2012). Ileal FXR activity has also been shown to reduce during pregnancy and microbial modification of bile acids is also altered during pregnancy (Ovadia, Perdones-Montero, et al., 2019), which may explain the increasing levels of GLP-1 seen in advancing gestation (Valsamakis et al., 2010). Understanding how the gestational signals can impact the gut microbiome and expression of FXR or TGR5 is important for understanding the pathophysiology of metabolic diseases in pregnancy.

### 1.11.2 GLP-1 and TGR5

Bile plays an important part in maintaining normal gastrointestinal physiology. As previously mentioned, TGR5 is stimulated by bile acids, with secondary bile acids having higher affinity towards TGR5 and a more potent effect on GLP-1 secretion (Christiansen et al., 2019; Kuhre et al., 2018; Pathak et al., 2018). GLP-1 is packed and stored in the intestinal L-cells, a majority of which are located primarily in the distal ileum and colon. These enteroendocrine cells are in direct contact with the lumen on the apical side and also to vascular tissue on the basolateral side, where the TGR5 receptors are found (Baggio & Drucker, 2007). Activation of TGR5 results in a G-protein signalling cascade, increasing cAMP to cause the secretion of GLP-1 in the secretory granules of L-cells (Chávez-Talavera et al., 2017; Guo et al., 2016). Bacterial transformation of primary bile acids to secondary bile acids is key to the activation of TGR5 and release of GLP-1. Lower or very high toxic levels of secondary bile acids are both linked to numerous gastrointestinal diseases (Joyce & Gahan, 2014), further indicating the importance of this process in the gut and the importance of the gut microbiome.

### 1.11.3 Gut hormone changes in GDM

It is likely that TGR5 signalling is affected during normal and GDM pregnancies, altering the amount of GLP-1 secreted in the enteroendocrine L-cells. During normal pregnancy fasting serum GLP-1 concentrations increase from the second to third trimester, which is thought to compensate for the increase in glycaemia and insulin resistance (Valsamakis et al., 2010). GLP-1 secretion is key for pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell adaptations. During normal pregnancy, islet and  $\beta$ -cell area increase in both mice and humans. A failure to adapt leads to the development of GDM. In GLP-1 receptor null mice, these islet adaptations are abolished, suggesting that GLP-1 is a key mediator in  $\beta$ -cell mass expansion and related adaptations in pregnancy (Moffett, Vasu, Thorens, Drucker, & Flatt, 2014). GDM pregnancies have reduced GLP-1 secretion (Mosavat, Omar, Jamalpour, & Tan, 2020; Sukumar et al., 2018), likely explaining failure of the islets to adapt during some GDM pregnancies. Altered TGR5 signalling could be responsible for this. With changes in the gut microbiome in normal pregnancy, promoting enhanced hepatic bile acid synthesis and increased microbial deconjugation and dihydroxylation of primary bile acids to LCA and DCA, the TGR5 receptor would be further activated, thereby influencing maternal metabolism (Ovadia, Perdones-Montero, et al., 2019). Pathological changes in the gut microbiome could be partly responsible for the development of GDM. Gut dysbiosis in women with GDM is associated with inflammation, glucose intolerance and adiposity. The gut microbiota profile often resembles those with T2DM (Hasain et al., 2020). Changes in the gut microbiome in GDM pregnancies could therefore also affect bile acid metabolism and alter TGR5 signalling. As well as targeting the bile acid receptors, the gut microbiota should be considered for future strategies in controlling the pathophysiology of GDM and as a possible area for therapeutics.

# 1.12 Hypothesis and aims

We hypothesise that bile acid and progesterone sulphate signalling via bile acid receptors at the enterocytes and islets influence gestational glucose metabolism. Furthermore, we predict that serum levels of bile acids and progesterone sulphates are altered in GDM women compared to normal pregnancies.

The aims of this thesis are to:

- Study the serum concentrations of progesterone sulphates in GDM women.
- Examine the serum concentrations of bile acids in different cohorts of GDM women.
- Investigate how progesterone sulphates and bile acids impact insulin signalling.
- To investigate whether enterocyte bile aid signalling influences glucose metabolism.

# Chapter 2: Methods

# 2.1 Materials

Listed below are the materials and equipment used in the experiments described in this thesis.

# 2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents

Chemicals and reagents	Manufacturer
γ-globulin	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
A83-01	Tocris Bioscience, UK
Advanced DMEM/F-12	Gibco, UK
Agarose	Lonza, USA
B27 supplement	Gibco, UK
Boric Acid	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
BSA	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
CA	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
CDCA	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Calcium chloride (CaCl <sub>2</sub> )	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Collagenase (C9407, C7657)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
DAPT	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
DMEM (D6546)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
DMEM (31966021)	Gibco, UK
DMSO	Sigma-Aldrich
DNA ladder, 100 bp	Invitrogen, UK
dNTP mix	KAPA Biosystems, USA
Dye, Orange DNA loading, 6X	Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK
EDTA	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
EDTA-free protease inhibitor cocktail	Roche, UK
Ethanol	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Ethidium Bromide	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
FCS	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Forskolin	Tocris Bioscience, UK

Fura-2 AM	Invitrogen, UK		
G418	Gibco, UK		
Gastrin	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
Glucose	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
GlutaMAX Gibco, UK			
GW4064	Sigma-Aldrich		
HEPES	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
Histopaque 1077	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
Hydrochloric acid (HCl)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
IBMX	Tocris Bioscience, UK		
Igepal	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
INT-777	Cayman Chemical, USA		
lodine-125 ( <sup>125</sup> l) radionuclide	PerkinElmer, USA		
Isosakuranetin	Extrasynthese, France		
LCA	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
L-glutamine	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
Matrigel cell recovery solution	SLS, UK		
Matrigel matrix, basement membrane	Corning, USA		
Magnesium chloride (MgCl <sub>2</sub> )	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
Magnesium chloride hexahydrate	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
(MgCl <sub>2</sub> •2H <sub>2</sub> O)			
Magnesium sulphate heptahydrate	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
(MgSO <sub>4</sub> •7H <sub>2</sub> O)			
mEGF	Gibco, UK		
MEM (M2279)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
mNoggin	Peprotech, UK		
N-acetylcysteine	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
N2 supplement	Gibco, UK		
NCS	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
Nicotinamide	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		
PBS	Sigma-Aldrich, UK		

PEG	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Penicillin/streptomycin	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
PM3S	Steraloids, USA
PM4S	Steraloids, USA
PM5S	Steraloids, USA
Poly-D-Lysine	Gibco, UK
Potassium chloride (KCl)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Potassium dihydrogen orthophosphate	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
(KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> )	
Probenecid	Tocris Bioscience, UK
Proteinase K	Invitrogen, UK
ΡΜΔ5S	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
RPMI-1640	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
SB 202190	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO <sub>3</sub> )	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Sodium deoxycholate monohydrate	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Sodium dodecyl sulphate	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Sodium hydroxide (NaOH)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Sodium phosphate monobasic dihydrate	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
$(NaH_2PO_4 \bullet 2H_2O)$	
TBE buffer, 10X	Invitrogen, UK
TCA	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
TCDCA	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
TDCA	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
TLCA	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Trizma base (Tris)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Trypsin-EDTA	Gibco, UK
Tween-20	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
UDCA	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Zeocin	Gibco, UK

2.1.2 Cell lines and plasmids

Cell line/PlasmidManufacturer/ SupplierHEK293 cells (RRID:CVCL\_U427)Thermo Fisher Scientific, UKL-Wnt3A cellsGift from H.Clevers Laboratory, Hubrecht<br/>Institute, NetherlandsR-spondin1-producing 293T cell lineGift from C.Kuo Laboratory, Stanford(Fujii, Matano, Nanki, & Sato, 2015)University, USATRPM3α2 plasmid (pcDNA3.1)Gift from Dr Stephan Philipp, University of<br/>Saarland, Homburg, Germany

Sequence (5'-3')

AGAGCCAAGAGGGACAATCC

GATGGCTGAGAGGCGAAG

TGGGTGAGTGGAGTCTTCCT

2.1.3 Primers

# Primer

mTGR5\_common mTGR5\_rec mTGR5\_WT

# 2.1.4 Kits

Kits	Manufacturer
GLP-1 (Active) ELISA kit (EGLP-35K)	Merck, UK
Insulin HTRF kit (62IN2PEG)	Cisbio, USA
Taq DNA Polymerase kit	Invitrogen, UK

# 2.1.5 Equipment and analytical software

Equipment/software	Manufacturer/ Supplier
BioDoc-It Imaging System	UVP (Analytik Jena US), USA
ChemDraw (version 20.1)	PerkinElmer, USA
FlexStation 3 Multi-mode Microplate reader	Molecular Devices, USA
GraphPad Prism 8 software	GraphPad software Inc., USA
G-Storm PCR machine	Labtech, UK

Jouan CR4i centrifuge	Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK
Molecular Operating Environment, 2019.01	Chemical Computing Group ULC, USA
Nanodrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer	Wilmington, UK
PHERAstar FS microplate reader	BMG Labtech, UK
PowerPac 200	Bio-Rad, UK
Rotina 420R Centrifuge	Hettich Lab Technology, Germany
Sigma 1-14K Microfuge	Sciquip Ltd, UK
Soniprep 150	MSE LTD, UK
STATA 16	StataCorp LLC, USA
Universal 320 R	Hettich Lab Technology, Germany
Wizard <sup>2</sup> Automatic Gamma counter (2470)	PerkinElmer, USA

Study		HAPO Stud	y (Cohort 1)	GDM Stud	dy (Cohort 2)	Early Pregnancy Study (Cohort 3)		)	
Groups		FPG ≤ 4.3 mmol/L	FPG ≥ 5.1 mmol/L	Control	GDM	Control BMI ≤25 kg/m²	GDM BMI ≤25	Control BMI ≥35 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	GDM BMI≥35
Number of	s	94	93	64	25	50	<b>kg/m²</b> 50	50	<b>kg/m²</b> 50
Maternal a years, med	ge in ian (range)	29.1 (25.4 - 33.6)	31.9 (29 - 34.9)	33 (30.8 - 38)	33 (31 - 36)	32.8 (29.3 - 34.5)	33.1 (30.2 - 37.5)	29.3 (26 - 34.1)	32.8 (29.6 - 36.1)
Gestationa sample in v median (ra	l age of veeks, nge)	29.1 (28.5 - 29.7)	29.1 (28.6 - 29.7)	29 (28 - 30)	29 (28 - 30)	12.6 (12.1 - 13)	12.5 (12 - 13)	12.7 (12.2 - 13)	12.7 (12.3 - 13.1)
Ethnicity (N (%))	lumber		1	II			II		I
White		94 (100%)	93 (100%)	35 (54.7%)	14 (56%)	40 (80%)	30 (60%)	27 (54%)	17 (34%)
Black		0 (0%)	0 (0%)	17 (26.6%)	6 (24%)	6 (12%)	5 (10%)	20 (40%)	30 (60%)
Asian		0 (0%)	0 (0%)	5 (7.8 %)	2 (8%)	2 (4%)	13 (26%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Mixed		0 (0%)	0 (0%)	3 (4.7%)	2 (8%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Other		0 (0%)	0 (0%)	4 (6.3%)	1 (4%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
BMI, media	in (range)	21.7 (20.3 - 23.6)	25.6 (23.1 - 32.8)	28.7 (25.3 - 33.7)	31.6 (26.8 - 35.6)	22.1 (21.3 - 23.4)	22.3 (21 - 23.7)	37.5 (35.9 - 38.6)	37.9 (36.3 - 40.8)
Singleton p	regnancies	-	-	62 (96.9%)	25 (100%)	-	-	-	-
Parity (Null Multip)	ip vs	-	-	22 v 42	6 v 19	24 v 26	27 v 23	21 v 29	11 v 39
Previous G (Number (%	DM 6))	-	-	41 (64.1%)	17 (68%)	-	12 (52%)	-	16 (41%)
Blood glucose in	0 minutes	4.2 (4.1 - 4.3)	5.2 (5.1 - 5.5)	4.3 (4.2 - 4.6)	4.8 (4.5 - 5.3)	-	-	-	-
mmol/L, median	60 minutes	6.6 (5.6 - 7.9)	8.7 (7.7 - 9.8)	7.6 (6.7 - 8.6)	9.9 (8.6 - 10.2)	-	-	-	-
(range)	120	5.5 (4.9 - 6.3)	6.8 (5.9 - 8.2)	6.6 (5.8 - 7.2)	8.6 (8.1 - 9.1)	-	-	-	-
Study	minutes	(	(0.0 0.1)	(0.0	DRIDE Stud	v (Cobort 4)			
Groups			South A	sian	FRIDE Stud		Euro	pean	
		Non GDM	Non GDM	GDM	GDM	Non GDM	Non GDM	GDM	GDM
		Normal	Obese	Normal	Obese	Normal	Obese	Normal	Obese
Number of participant	s	66	80	12	55	72	80	34	80
Maternal a years, med	ge in ian (range)	29.6 (26.7 - 32.2)	32.1 (29.2 - 35.7)	31.4 (29.3 – 34.6)	33.2 (29.1 - 37.2)	29.3 (25.8 - 34.8)	28.9 (26.3 - 32)	34.2 (30.9 - 36.3)	30.9 (28.3 - 35.4)
Gestationa sample in v median (ra	l age of veeks, nge)	26.9 (26.1 - 27.9)	26.6 (26.1 - 27.4)	27 (26.3 - 28)	26.4 (23.1 - 27.3)	27.4 (26.9 - 28.2)	27.6 (26.6 - 28.3)	26.7 (25.7 - 27.9)	26.6 (26.1 - 27.6)
BMI, media	in (range)	20.7 (20.2 - 21.0)	31.9 (30.1 - 34.0)	21.5 (20.3 - 22.3)	31.5 (29.2 - 35.0)	19.7 (18.7 - 22.7)	46.4 (37.1 - 50.3)	23.1 (21.3 - 24.3)	42.5 (40.5 - 44.1)
Singleton p	regnancies	65 (98.5%)	/7 (96.3%)	11 (91.7%)	54 (98.2%)	/2 (100%)	79 (98.8%)	34 (100%)	80 (100%)
Parity (Null Multip)	ip vs	0172	05 V 15	10 A 5	43 V 12	53 V 19	65 V 15	26 V 8	61 V 19
Previous Gl (Number (%	DM 6))	2 (3.0%)	5 (6.3%)	3 (25%)	13 (23.6%)	5 (6.9%)	0 (0%)	13 (38.2%)	5 (6.3%)
Blood	0 minutos	4.2 (4.0 - 4.4)	4.5 (4.3 - 4.7)	5.1 (4.9 - 5.2)	5.2 (5.0 - 5.5)	4.3 (4.1 - 4.5)	4.5 (4.3 - 4.8)	4.7 (4.2 - 5.2)	5.3 (5.1 - 5.7)
giucose	co	(	(	( 0.12)	(0.0 0.0)	(=	(	(	(0.2 0.7)
mmol/I	minutos	-	-	-			-	-	-
median	120	5.2	6.0	71	86	5.2	5.6	85	70
(range)	minutes	(4.5 - 5.7)	(5.26.8)	(5.5 - 8.6)	(6.9 - 9.8)	(4.5 - 6.2)	(5.1 - 6.7)	(6.5 - 9.3)	(5.9 - 8.7)

# Table 2-1: Clinical and demographic characteristics of each patient cohort.

(-) indicates no data gathered for that cohort.

Age (years)	Gender	BMI kg/m <sup>2</sup>
46	Female	29.03
38	Female	27
41	Male	25.35
47	Male	28.33
40	Female	27.01
43	Female	30

Table 2-2: Details of each donor human islets used in Chapter 3.

Table 2-3: Details of each donor human islets used in Chapter 5.

Age (years)	Gender	BMI kg/m <sup>2</sup>
49	Female	37.89
35	Female	37.1
53	Male	22
49	Male	-
42	Male	-

(-) indicates no information gathered from that donor.

# 2.2 Methods

This section describes general methods and study designs that were common between chapters. Additional methods specific to each chapter are included in the relevant chapter.

# 2.2.1 Study samples and design

Progesterone sulphates and bile acids were measured in four separate patient cohorts for this thesis. Table 2-1 gives the demography of the participants in each cohort. All studies conformed to the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki guidelines. Sample sizes in 1, 3 and 4 were calculated using power calculations and a power of 0.9, using a significance level of 0.05, was achieved using previous metabolic studies. Cohort 1 was calculated from the Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016 progesterone sulphate study. Cohorts 3 and 4 were calculated based on cohorts 1 and 2. A power of 0.9 in cohort 4 was achieved using the first 3 cohorts. Cohort 2 used all available samples from the study.

Cohort 1 comprised of 187 fasting samples from the Hyperglycaemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes (HAPO) study archive (Belfast). The HAPO study was conducted in 15 centres in 9 countries, and aimed to determine the adverse outcomes associated with varying degrees of maternal glucose intolerance that were less severe than those seen in overt diabetes (The HAPO Study Cooperative Research Group et al., 2008). A standard OGTT was carried out at 24-32 weeks of gestation with 75g glucose and women were withdrawn if fasting plasma glucose level exceeds 5/8 mmol/L or 2 hour post load level exceeds 11.1 mmol/L. Samples used in this study were from women who were not diagnosed as having GDM, and were from women in the quartiles with the lowest fasting plasma glucose (FPG) (<4.3 mmol/L, 94 samples) or highest FPG (5.1 - 6.6 mmol/L, 93 samples). These samples were collected between 2000-2006 from women at the Royal Victoria Hospital, Belfast. Participants gave written informed consent, with ethical approval obtained from the Northern Ireland Regional Ethics Committee (RO1-HD34242, RO1-HD34243, RD04/0002756). Methods have been previously published (The HAPO Study Cooperative Research Group et al., 2008). Participants were excluded if they had any of the following criteria: age younger than 18 years, multiple pregnancy, plan to undergo delivery at another hospital, an uncertain date of last menstrual period and no ultrasonographic estimation between 6 and 24 weeks of gestational age, inability to complete the OGTT within 32 weeks gestation, if they had used in vitro fertilisation or conceived by means of gonadotropin ovulation induction, glucose testing before recruitment or diagnosis of diabetes during the pregnancy, participation in another study, infection with human immunodeficiency virus or hepatitis B or C virus, previous participation in the HAPO study, or inability to converse in the languages used on centre forms without an interpreter.

Cohort 2 comprised samples from 'A role for placental kisspeptin in β cell adaptation to pregnancy', described previously (Bowe et al., 2019). (The hypothesis of the original study was that plasma kisspeptin levels will be lower in pregnant women with GDM compared to those with normal glucose tolerance in the insulin resistant phases of pregnancy). Study participants were pregnant women between 26-34 weeks gestation attending for OGTT, and able to give informed consent to participate. Women were referred for an OGTT if they had a BMI at least 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, GDM in a previous pregnancy, or a random plasma glucose ≥6.7 mmol/L. Those unable to give informed consent and ethics were approved for the research by the London-Westminster research ethics committee of King's College Hospital (13/LO/0539). GDM was diagnosed according to the IADPSG criteria: 1 or more of fasting plasma glucose ≥5.1 mmol/L, following a 75g glucose challenge, 60 minutes ≥10.0 mmol/L, or 120 minutes ≥8.5 mmol/L. A total of 91 women participated in the study, and 89 were selected for analysis due to availability of serum samples. We analysed 25 GDM and 64 non-GDM fasting samples from this study for metabolite measurement.

Cohort 3 comprised samples collected at 11-13 weeks' gestation between 2010-2015 at King's College Hospital, London, UK. Invited participants gave written informed consent; the study was approved by the National Research Ethics Committee (02-03-033) (Nanda et al., 2012). Serum samples were collected and processed using standard methods from women attending their routine first trimester ultrasound scan. Samples were stored at -80°C for subsequent biochemical analysis. Screening for GDM in the hospital was based on a two-step approach. A random plasma glucose was measured in all women at 24-28 weeks' gestation. If the concentration of glucose was ≥6.7 mmol/L, an OGTT was performed within the subsequent 2 weeks. Diagnosis of GDM was made if FPG level was ≥6 mmol/L or if after 2 hours, was ≥7.8 mmol/L. Metabolite analysis was performed in serum samples taken at 11-13 weeks from 100 women that subsequently developed GDM, and 100 women who had an uncomplicated pregnancy (defined as pregnancies occurring without complications which resulted in live birth after 37 weeks' gestation of phenotypically normal neonates). The GDM samples were selected according to maternal BMI at 11-13 weeks' gestation; 50 samples per group from women with BMI ≤25 kg/m², or with BMI ≥35 kg/m². Each GDM sample was matched to one uncomplicated pregnancy sample for BMI group, with samples taken on the same or next day.

Cohort 4 comprise of samples collected from the Micronutrients in Pregnancy as a Risk Factor for gestational Diabetes and Effects on mother and baby (PRiDE) study, carried out in approximately 8-12 sites around the West Midlands region (Saravanan et al., 2021). The primary objective of this study was to determine differences in the risk of GDM in women with and without early pregnancy B12 insufficiency. They hypothesised that an imbalance of B12 and folate in early pregnancy is

associated with the risk of hyperglycaemia and GDM subsequently in pregnancy. Invited participants gave written informed consent and study approved by the National Research Ethics Committee (12/WM/0010). Women were identified for the study at less than 16 weeks gestation, at 18-45 years of age, who had risk factors for GDM according to the NICE criteria and will be referred for an OGTT at 26-28 weeks gestation. Any one of the following risk factors were considered high-risk group for GDM: BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, previous GDM, previous unexplained still birth or baby >4.5kg, first degree relative with diabetes, ethnic minority group, age >35 years, polycystic ovarian syndrome, or other local criteria followed by the participating sites to comply with routine practise. Exclusion criteria were as follows: pre-existing diabetes (Type 1 or 2), diagnosis of Vitamin B12 or folate deficiency in current pregnancy, previous pregnancy with a fetal neural tube defect, diagnosis of severe anaemia in current pregnancy (HB<10 g/dL) or prescribed Vitamin B12 injections within the last 6 months. During the OGTT, a fasting blood test was taken, followed by consumption of 75g glucose and glucose measured again at 2 hours. The modified NICE 2015 criteria were used to diagnose GDM (fasting plasma glucose ≥5.6 mmol/l and/or 2 hour plasma glucose ≥7.8 mmol/l). Serum samples prepared by routine methods were stored in -80°C until analysis. Fasting samples were selected according to BMI and ethnicity. The groups being European: non-GDM (n=80) and GDM obese (n=80) (>30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), non-GDM (n=72) and GDM (n=34) normal BMI (<25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and South Asian: non-GDM (n=80) and GDM (n=55) obese (>27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), non-GDM (n=66) and GDM (n=12) normal (<23 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). The BMI thresholds for both European and South Asian differ for normal and obese, to give the equivalence for risk of health conditions or mortality, hence the lower boundaries for South Asians. These thresholds are based on the recommendations of an world health organization (WHO) expert consultation in 2004 (Nishida et al., 2004) and of NICE guidance, published in 2013 (NICE, 2013).

#### 2.2.2 Quantification of bile acids and progesterone sulphates by UPLC-MS/MS

Bile acids and progesterone sulphates were quantified using ultra-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (UPLC-MS/MS) by the research group of Professor Hanns-Ulrich Marschall at the University of Gothenburg, and/or Karolinska Institute (Sweden), similarly to as previously described (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016), but using a Waters Xevo TQXS UPLC-MS/MS platform. The method is described below.

Internal standards (100 ng of d4-glycholic acid (GCA), d4-glycochenodeoxycholic acid (GCDCA), d4-GDCA, d4-glyco-UDCA (GUDCA), d4-LCA (all from Qmx Laboratories, Essex, UK), d5-CA (Toronto Research Chemicals, Toronto, Canada), and d4-TCA (TLC PharmaChem, Vaughan, Canada) were dissolved in 40  $\mu$ l methanol (MeOH), added to 100  $\mu$ l serum and vortexed. 800  $\mu$ l of acetonitrile was added to precipitate proteins. After vortexing and centrifugation, the supernatant was dried in a stream of nitrogen and then first taken up in 125  $\mu$ l MeOH, followed by 125  $\mu$ l of an aqueous solution containing 40% MeOH, 0.02% formic acid, and 10 mmol/L ammonium acetate. Before injection, 75  $\mu$ l of the sample was transferred to a new vial and 80  $\mu$ l of the following added: three parts of MeOH and one part of an aqueous solution containing 40% MeOH, 0.02% formic acid, and 10 mmol/L ammonium acetate.

10 µl of this mixture was analysed on a ultra-performance liquid chromatography alliance 2695 system coupled to a Xevo TQ mass spectrometer (Waters, Manchester, UK) using a SunFire C18 (4.6 x 100 mm, 3.5  $\mu$ m) column (Waters) and gradient elution with 0.01% formic acid and 5 mmol/L ammonium acetate in water. The mobile phase contained 0.01% formic acid and 5 mmol/L ammonium acetate in MeOH. Cone voltage was 60 V and collision energy 18 eV for unconjugated bile acids, 60 V and 29-43 eV for glycine conjugates and 88 V and 56-65 eV for taurine conjugates respectively. Analytes were detected using selected ion monitoring and quantified by comparison with the internal standards. The desolvation temperature was 650°C and the source temperature was 150°C. Selected reaction monitoring was used with dwell times of 100 ms. Analytes were quantified using deuterised internal standards except for progesterone sulphates for which d4-GUDCA was used. Results were calculated as response (areaanalyte/areainternal std). Retention times and response curves of bile acids listed (Table 2-4) were evaluated from reference compounds obtained from Sigma; 5β-pregnan-3β-ol,20-one,3-sulfate (pregnandiol-3-sulfate), 5α-pregnan-3α-ol,20-one,3sulfate (allopregnandiol-3-sulfate), and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan-3 $\beta$ -ol,20-one,3-sulfate (epiallopregnandiol-3sulfate) were obtained from Steraloids, USA; 5 $\beta$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ ,20 $\alpha$ -diol-3-sulfate, 5 $\beta$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ ,20 $\alpha$ diol-disulfate, and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ ,  $20\alpha$ -diol-disulfate were from Sai Advantium, India.  $5\alpha$ -Pregnan- $3\beta$ ,20 $\alpha$ -diol-disulfate was tentatively identified as the remaining isomer from its retention times and mass spectrum. 5 $\beta$ -Pregnan-3 $\alpha$ ,20 $\alpha$ -diol-disulfate and 5 $\alpha$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ ,20 $\alpha$ -diol-disulfate coeluted at

68

all of the conditions tested. Using this system, less than 10% intra-assay variability was observed when rerunning the same sample.

It was not possible to assay PM $\Delta$ 5S in the HAPO samples as these samples were analysed before the D4-labelled internal standard for unsaturated progesterone metabolites became available in 2018.

Compound	lons	RT KI	RT (LC-flow
			0.6 ml/min)
Τ-αΜCΑ	514 > 79.9	2.56	2.56
Τ-βΜCΑ	514 > 79.9	2.74	2.74
TUDCA	498 > 79.9	3.99	3.80
d4-GUDCA	452 > 73.9	4.19	4.03
GUDCA	448 > 73.9	4.19	4.03
ТСА	514 > 79.9	5.77	5.39
d4-GCA	468 > 73.9	6.07	5.81
GCA	464 > 73.9	6.07	5.81
PM5S	396.8 > 96.9	6.14	5.83
Iso-UDCA	391 > 391	6.32	6.44
d4-UDCA	395 > 395	6.82	6.92
UDCA	391 > 391	6.85	6.94
НСА	407 > 407	7.01	7.11
HDCA	391 > 391	7.8	7.87
TCDCA	498 > 79.9	8.05	7.69
GCDCA	448 > 73.9	8.47	8.16
d5-CA	412 > 412	8.51	8.56
CA	407 > 407	8.51	8.58
TDCA	498 > 79.9	8.86	8.50
GDCA	448 > 73.9	9.28	8.97
TLCA	482 > 79.9	11.23	10.92
TOCA	526 > 79.9	11.58	11.27
d4-GLCA	436 > 73.9	11.65	11.41
GLCA	432 > 73.9	11.67	11.45
CDCA	391 > 391	11.71	11.81
GOCA	476 > 73.9	11.92	11.74
DCA	391 > 391	12.2	12.21
OCA	419 > 419	14.15	14.28
d4-LCA	379 > 379	14.32	14.45
LCA	375 > 375	14.34	14.47
αΜCΑ	407 > 407		5.14
βΜCΑ	407 > 407		5.63

Table 2-4: Retention times of bile acids measured by UPLC-MS/MS

HPLC-MS/MS: high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, RT: retention time, KI: Kovats Index, T: taurine-conjugated, G: glycine-conjugated, MCA: muricholic acid, UDCA: ursodeoxycholic acid, CA: cholic acid, PM5S: epiallopregnanolone sulphate, HCA: hyocholic acid, HDCA: hyodeoxycholic acid, CDCA: chenodeoxycholic acid, DCA: deoxycholic acid, LCA: lithocholic acid, OCA: obeticholic acid

#### 2.2.3 Mouse colonies and maintenance

Female 8-12 weeks old, wild type C57BL/6J mice, purchased from Charles River, UK, were used for islet experiments in chapters 3 and 4. Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> mice, maintained on a C57BL/6 background, were used for islet studies and crypt experiments in chapters 3, 4 and 5. Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> also maintained on a C57BL/6 background were used for islet studies in chapter 3 only. Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> and Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> mice have been previously described in detail (Milona, Owen, Van Mil, et al., 2010; Thomas et al., 2009), and were provided by Professor Kristina Schoonjans, École Polytechnique fédérale de Lausanne, Switzerland. All mice were maintained in the Biological Services unit (BSU) at King's College London on a 12 hour light/ dark cycle. The BSU was maintained at 22-24°C with free access to food and water. Mice were acclimatized to the BSU for a minimum of one week prior to experiments. All experiments were performed in accordance with the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 Amendment Regulations 2012 and approved by King's College London's Animal Welfare and Ethical Review Body and the Home Office.

# 2.2.4 Mouse genotyping

Mouse ear biopsies were incubated overnight at 55°C with 150 µl lysis buffer (5 mM EDTA, 200 mM NaCl, 100 mM Tris, 0.2% sodium dodecyl sulphate) and 20 mg/ml proteinase K. Biopsies were then washed with 100% ethanol and centrifuged at 14462 *g* (Sigma 1-14K Microfuge) at 4°C for 30 minutes. Tubes containing the samples had the supernatant discarded and then were air dried before being resuspended in ultrapure water. DNA concentration was checked with nanodrop. 2 µl of 100 ng DNA were used in a master mix containing 10 mM dNTP, mTGR5\_common, mTGR5\_rec, mTGR5\_WT, water and all components of the Taq DNA polymerase kit (Taq polymerase, 50 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10x PCR Taq buffer) to a final volume of 25 µl. Tubes then placed in G-storm PCR machine and run for under the following conditions: 95°C for 5 minutes, followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 65°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 45 seconds, finishing off at 72°C for 5 minutes. DNA was loaded with orange dye on 2% agarose gel (containing ethidium bromide) in TBE buffer, for 25 minutes at 100V. The gel was visualised using UV in a BioDoc-IT imaging system.

# 2.2.5 Mouse islet isolation

Mice were culled on the day of isolation and abdomen opened to reveal intestines and liver. The upper part of the duodenum was clamped and islets were isolated by inflating the pancreas by collagenase (C7657) (1 mg/ml), using a 30 gauge needle, through the common bile duct and separated from exocrine pancreatic tissue. Tissue contained in a 50 ml tube was then transferred to

71
a 37°C water bath for 10 minutes. Subsequently, MEM (10% FCS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin) was immediately added. Digested pancreas samples were centrifuged at 302 *g* for 75 seconds and the supernatant discarded. The pellet was resuspended in MEM and centrifuged as above. This was repeated and the resuspended pellet filtered through 425  $\mu$ M stainless steel mesh. The tissue was centrifuged once more as above, the supernatant discarded, and the pellet resuspended in 10 ml histopaque. Using a pipette, 15 ml MEM was gradually added to form two distinct layers and centrifuged at 1170 *g* (Universal 320 R) for 24 minutes. Islets were then removed at the interface using a pipette and MEM filled to have a total volume of 50 ml. Tube containing islets were then centrifuged at 302 *g* for 90 seconds and 25 ml of media taken out. Islets were further purified through sedimentation, after waiting for 4 minutes, 10 ml of media was removed, and 10 ml of new MEM media was added in. This was repeated 4 times to purify islets with the final time, 10 ml of media was not added in. The top 10 ml of media was taken out and the remaining 15 ml containing the islets was put into a petri dish. Using a pipette, MEM was removed, and islets were incubated at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in 10 ml RPMI-1640 (10% FBS, 2 mmol/l glutamine, 100 units/ml penicillin/0.1 mg/ml streptomycin and 11 mmol/l glucose) overnight before experiments were performed.

#### 2.2.6 Human islet isolation

Human islets were provided on the day of experimentation and already isolated. These isolated islets originated from heart-beating organ donors at the King's College Hospital Islet Transplantation unit, as previously described (Huang et al., 2004). The isolation process involves perfusing the pancreata with University of Wisconsin solution (UWS) (Raffinose (30 mmol/L), Lactobionate (100 mmol/L), hydroxyethyl starch (50 g/L), glutathione (3 mmol/L), allopurinol (1 mmol/L), adenosine (5 mmol/L), dihydrogen phosphate (5 mmol/L), hydrogen phosphate (20 mmol/L), magnesium sulphate (5 mmol/L), sodium (30 mmol/L), potassium (120 mmol/L)). Following pancreas digestion with liverase, islets were purified using UWS-Euro-sodium-diatrizoate medium. After established a 130 ml base medium (1095 g/ml), a linear density gradient medium of 1.065 to 1.095 was created. Up to 60 ml of digested tissue were suspended in 150 ml UW and top loaded onto gradient medium with the Cobe 2991 centrifuge spinning at 3,000 rpm. Fractions were collected from the gradient and aliquoted, stained with dithizone (25 µg/ml) to visualise islets and islet fractions pooled. The final islet equivalent number (IEQ) was derived on the basis of the counting and measuring of total islets in 100  $\mu$ l (n=2) of the purified tissues and converted into the equivalent number of an idealised diameter of 150 µm. The viability of the islets was assessed by a fluorometric fluorescein diacetate assay, with viable cells stained green and dead cells red. Human islets were maintained at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in CRML-1066 medium supplemented with 2% human albumin, 4 mM glutamine, 2 mM HEPES

(pH 7.2-7.4) and 10 mM nicotinamide, prior to use. Consent for using islets for research has been obtained and studies approved by the Ethical committee of King's College Hospital (REC number: LREC 01-082). Islets were isolated between 2018-2019. Table 2-2 and Table 2-3 details the age, gender and BMI of each organ donor.

#### 2.2.7 Islet static incubations

GSIS from islets were assessed in static incubations. Islets were preincubated in 2 mM glucose Gey and Gey buffer (111 mM NaCl, 5 mM KCl, 27 mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>•2H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.22 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 0.28 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>•7H<sub>2</sub>O), supplemented with 2 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5 mg/ml BSA for 1 hour at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Groups of 5 size-matched islets were incubated for 1 hour at 37°C water bath in Gey and Gey buffer with the supplementations and either low glucose (2 or 3 mM) or high glucose (20 mM), with the reagents of interest. Incubation medium was stored at -20°C until assayed. Insulin content from collected medium was assayed using an in-house radioimmunoassay, apart from Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> islet experiment which were determined by insulin HTRF ELISA. The 20 mM glucose, acting as the positive control, checks if islets are stimulating significantly more than baseline (2mM) glucose levels and are working as normal. Reagents would be incubated with the same concentrations of glucose to see if this would make a difference and allow comparison to the non-treated islets.

#### 2.2.8 Radioimmunoassay for insulin

The collected supernatant from static incubations was determined using an in-house radioimmunoassay (RIA) as previously described (Jones, Salmon, & Howell, 1988). Samples were diluted with borate buffer (133 mM boric acid, 10 mM EDTA, 67.5 mM NaOH, 2 g/2l BSA, pH 7.4) to a concentration optimal for detection. A standard curve was prepared by serial dilution of 10 ng/ml to 0.04 ng/ml rat insulin, in triplicate. A series of reference tubes for constructing the standard curve were also prepared in triplicate. These controls were measuring: non-specific binding to determine the binding of radiolabelled antigen tracer <sup>125</sup>I in the absence of the anti-insulin anti-body, maximum binding of the antibody as well as total  $\gamma$  emission of the radioactive tracer which contained only the diluted radioactive tracer antigen. The antibodies were raised against bovine insulin in Hartley guinea pigs, and the insulin standard was purified rat insulin. The radiolabelled antigen was diluted to give an approximate count of 10,000 counts per minute (cpm). Each sample, in duplicate, contained the diluted radioactive <sup>125</sup>I ligand and the anti-insulin antibody diluted 1:10. All samples and controls were incubated at 4°C for 48 hours to allow them to equilibrate.

After, 1 ml of the precipitant mixture (PBS, 1%  $\gamma$ -globulin, 15% PEG and tween-20) were added to each tube except those measuring total  $\gamma$  emission. The precipitate from the samples and controls were centrifuged at 3,000 g, 15 minutes, 4°C (Jouan CR4i). After centrifugation, the supernatant was aspirated. The  $\gamma$ -emission in the precipitate were detected using the Wizard<sup>2</sup> automatic  $\gamma$  counter. Insulin concentrations were calculated against the standard curve as insulin secretion ng/islet/hour.

# Chapter 3: Investigation of progesterone sulphates in GDM

# 3.1. Introduction

GDM is a common gestational metabolic disorder, characterised by hyperglycaemia during pregnancy. GDM is growing problem, affecting 15% of pregnancies worldwide with higher rates in Asia (Feig et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2018) and its prevalence continues to grow as obesity rates rise. Multiple risks are associated with GDM for both the mother and baby. As well as maternal hyperglycaemia, GDM is associated with dyslipidaemia (Ryckman et al., 2015; White et al., 2017) and pre-eclampsia (Tobias et al., 2017). Fetal risks include large for gestational age infants, birth-related injuries such as shoulder dystocia and neonatal hypoglycaemia (Ovesen, Jensen, Damm, Rasmussen, & Kesmodel, 2015; The HAPO Study Cooperative Research Group et al., 2008). Furthermore, long-term consequences are associated with GDM for both mother and offspring such as development of diabetes and other obesity-related disorders (Bellamy et al., 2009; Saravanan et al., 2020).

There is a need for new ways to screen GDM to enable earlier diagnosis. Currently, diagnosis of GDM is through an OGTT at 28 weeks gestation, which requires a hospital visit and multiple blood draws (NICE, 2015). Biochemical features of GDM may develop earlier in pregnancy; first trimester hyperglycaemia is associated with large for gestational age infants and increased rates of caesarean section (Riskin-Mashiah, Younes, Damti, & Auslender, 2009). Finding early biomarkers will allow early intervention and reduce the risk of adverse outcomes associated with GDM.

One group of hormones of interest are sulphated progesterone metabolites. Whilst these metabolites circulate at very low, nearly undetectable levels, they are increased 100-fold during pregnancy (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2013). Progesterone sulphates can also bind to receptors that influence lipid and glucose metabolism which could be key in understanding the pathophysiology of GDM. PM3S can activate TGR5 (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016), whilst PM5S has shown partial agonism for FXR (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2013); both receptors shown to affect not only bile acid metabolism, but also glucose and lipid homeostasis. These receptors are of particular relevance to GDM as Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> and Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> mice have impaired glucose tolerance in pregnancy (Bellafante et al., 2020). Furthermore PMΔ5S has been shown to activate TRPM3 in islets, causing insulin secretion (Drews et al., 2014).

Each of the progesterone sulphates has a distinct structure due to the different orientations of the side chain structures. These changes relate to orientation of the hydrogen on carbon 5, sulphation of the hydroxyl groups or which functional group, hydroxyl or keto, is attached at the carbon 20 position. These differences alter the conformation of the progesterone sulphates and therefore may determine their ability to bind to different receptors. Establishing the changes in specific

progesterone sulphates between GDM and normal pregnancy and demonstrating which receptors these metabolites activate is key to understanding whether progesterone sulphates play a role in the development or progression of GDM.

Very few studies exist that link progesterone sulphates with diabetes, and there have been none to study GDM. PMΔ5S and the PMΔ5S -precursor pregnenolone was found to be reduced in patients with T2DM and prediabetes (Jiang et al., 2019; Tagawa et al., 2002). Interestingly others found that during insulin-induced hypoglycaemia, PMΔ5S levels were increased in T2DM (Halama et al., 2019).

We hypothesise that specific progesterone sulphates are altered in GDM, and this in turn alters signalling through its receptors, leading to changes in glucose tolerance.

The aims of this chapter are to:

- Assess the serum concentrations of specific progesterone sulphates in normal vs GDM pregnancies.
- Investigate the effects of progesterone sulphates on isolated islets.

# 3.2. Materials and Methods

# 3.2.1. Human studies

Serum samples from Cohorts 1, 2 and 3 were quantified for progesterone sulphates by UPLC-MS/MS. Further details on the Cohorts and UPLC-MS/MS method can be found in chapter 2, pp.62, 64-65, 67-69.

# 3.2.2. Islet studies

Islets were isolated for static incubations, originating from female wildtype, Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> and Tgr<sup>-/-</sup> C57BL/6 mice and human islets from donated from King's College Hospital. Insulin content was determined using an in-house radioimmunoassay, apart from the Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> islet experiment which was determined by Insulin ELISA according to the manufacturer's instructions. The Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> islet experiments were carried out by Elena Bellafante. Details of the methods are given in chapter 2, pp.63, 70-73.

# 3.2.3. Cell Culture of HEK-293 cells

HEK293 cells with stably expressing TRPM3 $\alpha$ 2 plasmid were grown in DMEM AQ supplemented with penicillin (100 U/ml), streptomycin (100  $\mu$ g/ml), FBS (10%) and G418 (0.5 mg/ ml) at 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 37°C, maintained by Ivona Primicheru in Professor Stuart Bevans and Dr David Andersson labs, source and method of generation of TRPM3-transfected HEK293 cells found in Chapter 2.

# 3.2.4. Intracellular calcium assays

HEK293 cells expressing TRPM3 were plated in poly-D-lysine-coated 96-well black-walled plates (Corning Costar, USA), with 10,000 cells per well incubated overnight. The next day cells were loaded with 2.5  $\mu$ M fura-2 AM, along with 1 mM probenecid for 1 hour. Dye loading and all experiments were performed in a solution containing 140 mM Nacl, 5 mM KCl, 10 mM glucose, 10 mM HEPES, 2 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, buffered to a pH 7.4 by NaOH. The progesterone sulphates PM3S, PM4S, PM5S and PM $\Delta$ 5S, all added to give a final concentration of 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 10, 20, 50 and 100  $\mu$ M, in their respective wells, were administered and responses read, after 240 seconds per well, through the FlexStation 3 Multi-Mode Microplate Reader at 37°C. PM $\Delta$ 5S acted as the positive control in this experiment. Basal emissions ratios (340 nm/380 nm) were measured and then changes in dye emission ratio were determined every 6 seconds after compound addition. Experiments were performed in triplicate.

#### 3.2.5. Homology modelling and ligand binding modelling

The modelling was achieved using the help of Professor Franca Franternali (King's College London, UK) and produced the images shown, pp. 89-93. Molecular Operating Environment (MOE) version 2019.01 was used to visualise the binding sites, superimpose and dock the structures of PMΔ5S and PM5S. Through MOE, the model of human TRPM3 was built through the "Homology model" program of the "protein" module.

The UniProt protein BLAST search of the PDB database found a suitable homologous template. Mouse TRPM7 (PDB ID: 5ZX5)(Duan et al., 2018) was identified as the top-scoring template for comparative modelling, and through UniProt, the primary structure of human TRPM3 was retrieved.

Using the "Align/Superpose" program of the MOE "Protein" module, human TRPM3 and mouse TRPM7 primary structures were globally aligned and manually improved, taking into account also the alignment produced by Schrödinger (<u>https://schrodinger.com</u>) BioLuminate alignment tools contained in the "Multiple Sequence View/Editor".

Ten different intermediate models were produced. Using the electrostatic solvation energy and a Generalised Born/Volume Integral (GB/VI) methodology (Labute, 2008), a top-scoring model was calculated, selected and energy-minimised.

Mouse TRPM7 was co-crystallised and solved with several cholesterol hemisuccinate molecules which share the same cyclopentanoperhydrophenanthrene scaffold of our investigated ligands, and so the cholesterol hemisuccinate molecules were transferred to the final human TRPM3 model, using the MOE Homology model" option "Used as environment".

Molecular docking was carried out on the refined human TRPM7 through the MOE "Dock" program of the "Compute" module, testing a database containing PMΔ5S and PM5S. Three different cholesterol hemisuccinate binding sites were sequentially tested using the following settings: placement "Triangle Matcher", score "London dG", number of retained poses per ligand "30", refinement "Rigid Receptor", score "GBVI/WSA dG", number of retained poses per ligand "5". Both the empirical scoring functions, the London dG and the GBVI/WSA (Naïm et al., 2007), were used for scoring the produced docking poses, expressed as kcal/mol and estimated an approximate binding free energy value for each generated complex.

# 3.2.6. Statistical analysis

Data presented as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM) for all human and islet studies in chapter 3. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 8. Data was assessed for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk normality test, if not normally distributed, the data was transformed using the logarithmic function. When only two groups were being compared, student's *t*-test or Mann-Whitney U test was used. If more than two were being compared, ANOVA was used followed by Tukey's post-hoc analysis, the parametric post hoc test, or a Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a Dunn's post hoc test, the non-parametric multiple comparisons test. The post hoc multiple comparisons tests compare every mean with every other mean, this determines which of the specific means were significant from the others. Spearman rank correlation coefficient was used to evaluate the strength of two variables in the data. A P < 0.05 was considered significant after multiple corrections testing to reduce. Logistic regressions were performed using STATA 16.

# 3.3. Results

# 3.3.1. Serum progesterone sulphate concentrations from three GDM Cohorts

Serum progesterone sulphates were assayed from 3 cohorts. Cohort 1 (participants in the HAPO study from Belfast) analysed women from the highest and lowest quartiles of FPG concentrations. The higher FPG (5.1-6.6 mmol/L) had significantly lower concentrations of PM3S (P=0.0268), PM3DiS (P=0.0186), PM5S (P=0.0012) and PM4S (P=0.0051), when compared to the lower FPG group ( $\leq$  4.3mmol/L) (Table 3-1). Cohort 2, samples from a Kisspeptin-GDM study, also demonstrated similar consistent findings to women in Cohort 1. Women with GDM had a 1.6-fold decrease in PM5S (P=0.0475) and a 1.35-fold decrease in PM $\Delta$ 5S (P=0.0104) when compared to those with normal glucose tolerance (Figure 3.1A).

Early pregnancy, 11-13 weeks samples were used to determine if progesterone sulphates were significantly reduced in the first trimester in women that subsequently developed GDM. Cohort 3 demonstrates that women with normal BMI who went on to develop GDM did not have any significant differences in progesterone sulphate levels compared to women with comparable BMI and uncomplicated pregnancies (Figure 3.1B). However, in the group with BMI  $\geq$ 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, serum PM5S concentrations were significantly reduced (P=0.0340) in women who subsequently developed GDM compared to those that did not (Figure 3.1C).

Progesterone sulphate	FPG≤4.3 mmol/L	FPG≥5.1 mmol/L	Significant
PM3S	2.13 ± 2.35	1.44 ± 1.82	*
PM3DiS	2.17 ± 1.09	1.81 ± 0.97	*
PM2DiS	1.94 ± 2.27	1.46 ± 1.95	NS
PM5S	5.12 ± 6.28	2.62 ± 3.79	**
PM4S	$1.13 \pm 1.43$	0.63 ± 0.90	**

Table 3-1: Progesterone si	uphates are reduced i	n Cohort 1: I	HAPO study.
Tuble 3 1. Trogesterone st	ipilates are readeed i		inti o study.

Serum Samples from HAPO were assayed using UPLC-MS/MS for progesterone sulphates: PM3S, PM3DiS, PM2DiS, PM5S, PM4S. Serum samples show reduced progesterone sulphates in women with high FPG, n=93, compared to low FPG, n=94. Significant differences are indicated by: \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, as determined by T-tests. Data expressed as mean ± SD. NS; no significance.



#### Figure 3.1: Progesterone sulphates are reduced in GDM.

Serum samples from Cohorts 2 and 3 assayed using UPLC-MS/MS for the following progesterone sulphates: PM3S, PM3DiS, PM2DiS, PM5S, PM4S and PM $\Delta$ 5S. **(A)** Displays the results in Cohort 2 from women with GDM (n=25) and controls (n=64). **(B)** and **(C)** were serum samples from the early pregnancy group, Cohort 3, which were separated according to BMI and whether they subsequently developed GDM or have uncomplicated pregnancies. **(B)** were women with BMI ≤25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and **(C)** women with BMI ≥35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, n=50 per group. Significant differences are indicated by: \* P <0.05, as determined by T-tests, if data was not normally distributed, Mann-Whitney U test was used. Data expressed as mean ± SEM.

# 3.3.2. Logistic regression and correlations

Correlations were carried out between progesterone sulphate concentrations and BMI in Cohort 2 to establish if there was a relationship between maternal BMI and progesterone sulphate levels. There was a negative correlation between BMI and concentrations of PM5S (Rho -0.3, P=0.02) and PM3S (Rho -0.42, P= <0.01) in women in Cohort 2 (Table 3-2).

Logistic regression was performed on the biochemical markers: PM5S, PM3S and the PM3S/PM5S ratio to determine if they could predict onset of GDM using the data from the early pregnancy samples. Whilst we found a significant difference in PM5S concentration in the high BMI group, the area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was 0.6, suggesting that it is not a strong predictive biomarker for GDM (Table 3-3).

# Table 3-2: BMI Correlations with progesterone sulphates in women with GDM (Cohort 2).

Cohort 2 – BMI correlation		
Progesterone Sulfate	Р	Rho
PM5S	0.02	-0.3
PM3S	<0.01	-0.42
PM3S/PM5S ratio	0.8	0.03

Spearman's rank correlation coefficient (Rho) was used to assess correlations.

Table 3-3: Logistic regression analysis of PM5S, PM3S and PM3S/PM5S ratio as predictors of GDM at 11-13 weeks gestation.

11-13 week samples BMI ≤ 25			
Biochemical Marker	OR (95% CI)	Р	Area under ROC curve (95% CI)
PM5S	0.82 (0.46-1.45)	0.49	0.46 (0.34-0.57)
PM3S	0.98 (0.51-1.86)	0.94	0.50 (0.38-0.61)
PM3S/PM5S ratio	0.76 (0.40-1.44)	0.40	0.44 (0.33-0.56)

11-13 week samples BMI ≥ 35			
Biochemical Marker	OR (95% CI)	Р	Area under ROC curve (95% CI)
PM5S	1.66 (0.99-2.77)	0.05	0.60 (0.49-0.72)
PM3S	0.76 (0.38-1.53)	0.44	0.46 (0.35-0.58)
PM3S/PM5S ratio	1.55 (0.89-2.68)	0.12	0.59 (0.48-0.70)

#### 3.3.3. Effect of progesterone sulphates in islets

As PM5S was significantly reduced in the serum of women with diagnosis of GDM and in early pregnancy samples from women with BMI  $\geq$ 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup> who subsequently develop GDM, we first focused our investigations on how PM5S alters islet insulin secretion.

Challenging WT mouse islets with 20 mM glucose significantly increased GSIS by 2.3, 4.0 and 4.2-fold respectively (Figure 3.2A, B, C). Addition of 50  $\mu$ M PM5S did not affect insulin secretion at low glucose concentrations. Though in samples exposed to high glucose concentrations, PM5S increased GSIS further when compared to exposure to glucose alone in all 3 graphs, i.e. 2.2, 3.8 and 2.6-fold respectively (Figure 3.2A, B, C), suggesting PM5S augments insulin release in response to high glucose concentrations. As previously mentioned, progesterone sulphates can bind to TGR5 and FXR, and both are expressed in the pancreatic  $\beta$  cells. However, when Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> and Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> islets were treated with PM5S, there were no significant differences in GSIS observed compared to WT islets (Figure 3.2A, B).

TRPM3 is activated by PMΔ5S, which has similar key orientations and 3D structure to PM5S. We investigated whether PM5S binding to TRPM3 was responsible for increasing GSIS at high glucose concentrations. Isosakuranetin (ISO), a TRPM3 antagonist, was co-incubated with PM5S in mouse and human islets. ISO alone did not significantly change GSIS at low or high concentrations of glucose compared to no treatment. However, ISO in 20 mM glucose did not significantly increase GSIS compared with ISO in 2 mM glucose. Co-incubation of ISO with PM5S abolished the PM5S-augmented GSIS at high glucose concentrations (Figure 3.2C). Similar observations were made in human islets. A 2-fold increase in GSIS was observed at high glucose compared to low and was further elevated when incubated with PM5S by 2.2-fold. Like with the mouse islets, ISO alone did not alter GSIS but co-incubation with PM5S abolished the PM5S-induced increase in GSIS in high glucose concentrations (Figure 3.2D). Inhibiting the TRPM3 channel by ISO prevented the PM5S-stimulated increase in GSIS, in high glucose levels, in both mouse and human islets.

In addition to investigating the mechanistic effects of PM5S on islets, PM3S and PM4S were also assessed in murine islets to see if insulin secretion is altered. When incubated alone in high glucose concentrations, PM3S and PM4S had no effect on GSIS compared to 20 mM glucose only (Figure 3.2E).











#### Figure 3.2: PM5S increases GSIS in murine and human islets via TRPM3.

Islets isolated from mice or humans were isolated and incubated with PM5S at low or high concentrations of glucose. Insulin secretion in response to PM5S were first assessed in islets isolated from **(A)** WT and Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> mice or **(B)** WT and Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> mice. **(C)** WT mouse islets were then incubated with the TRPM3 antagonist ISO with and without PM5S. **(D)** In human islets, ISO and/or PM5S were similarly incubated at high glucose concentrations. **(E)** WT mouse islets were incubated with PM3S and PM4S to further assess how different progesterone sulphates affect insulin secretion. Significant differences are indicated by \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P <0.001 as determined by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test or Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparisons test if data is not normally distributed. Data expressed as mean ± SEM, each graph n=3-6 independent experiments.

# 3.3.4. Effects of calcium concentrations in transfected HEK293 cells in response to progesterone sulphates

TRPM3 activation causes calcium entry into cells and therefore changes in intracellular calcium concentrations were assessed in response to different progesterone sulphates using HEK293 cells transfected with TRPM3. These cells were loaded with fluorescent calcium indicator dye, Fura-2. PM $\Delta$ 5S, our positive control, is an established agonist of TRPM3, as previously mentioned in Chapter 1, and was found to be reduced in GDM (Figure 3.1). PM $\Delta$ 5S caused a concentration-dependent increase of intracellular calcium that starts to plateau at 20  $\mu$ M (EC<sub>50</sub> value = 6.2  $\mu$ M, Bmax = 3.9  $\Delta$ F) (Figure 3.3A, E, Table 3-4). Similarly, PM5S also caused a concentration-dependent increase of calcium that had a comparable concentration-response curve to PM $\Delta$ 5S (EC<sub>50</sub> = 7.8  $\mu$ M, Bmax = 3.3  $\Delta$ F), also reaching maximal response at 20  $\mu$ M (Figure 3.3B, E, Table 3-4). When the HEK cells were incubated with PM3S, no changes in calcium concentration was observed at any concentration (Figure 3.3C, E, Table 3-4). When incubated with PM4S, partial agonism was shown. PM4S started to increase intracellular calcium concentration at around 10  $\mu$ M but did not evoke the same magnitude of calcium response as seen with PM $\Delta$ 5S or PM5S. PM4S gave approximate EC<sub>50</sub> values of 11.7  $\mu$ M and average maximal  $\Delta$ F value of 2 at 100  $\mu$ M (Figure 3.3D, E, Table 3-4).

The structural differences between each of the progesterone sulphate tested can be observed in Table 3-4. PMΔ5S and PM5S are structurally similar in shape and so are likely bind to TRPM3 in similar ways, meaning they would have similar agonistic properties.



Figure 3.3: Ca2+ concentration is altered by some progesterone sulphates.

HEK cells transfected with TRPM3 were loaded with Fura-2 to measure changes in intracellular calcium concentration. Increasing concentrations of progesterone sulphates were given. (A-D) displays 4 replicate experiments for each progesterone sulphate investigated; (A) PMΔ5S, (B) PM5S, (C) PM3S, (D) PM4S. (E) Curves are representative examples of each data set show against each other. n=4 independent experiments for each progesterone sulphate.

Table 3-4: TRPM3 response upon activation by progesterone sulphates in transfected HEK cells.

Progesterone sulphate	Structure	EC₅₀ in μM	B <sub>max</sub> in ΔF	Average maximal response in ΔF	Predictive response in normal pregnancy ΔF	Predictive response in GDM pregnancy ΔF
<ul> <li>PMΔ5S,</li> <li>Pregnenolone sulphate,</li> <li>5-pregnen-3β-ol-20-</li> <li>one-sulphate</li> </ul>	Yody	6.2	3.9	3.5	1.5	0.8
PM5S, Epiallopregnanolone sulphate, 5α-pregnan-3β-ol-20- one-sulphate	MAS	7.8	3.3	3.2	1.1-1.6	0.6-1.0
PM4S, Allopregnanolone sulphate, 5α-pregnan-3α-ol-20- one-sulphate	+ ASA	11.7	x	2.0	0.7-0.9	0.4-0.7
PM3S, Pregnandiol sulphate, 5β-pregnan-3α,-20α- diol-3-sulphate	A A	Х	x	х	Х	Х

Names, structures, and approximate calcium responses of each progesterone sulphate investigated. Predictive responses refer to the  $\Delta$ F values obtained according to the mean concentrations of each study cohort in Figure 3.1. Orientation of sulphate group and of the hydrogen group on carbon number 5, circled in PM $\Delta$ 5S, affects the 3D orientation of each progesterone sulphate. Structures of progesterone sulphates created using PerkinElmer ChemDraw. PM4S are approximate values as a full dose response could not be determined. X indicates that no response value could be obtained from the experiments.

#### 3.3.5. Computational TRPM3 modelling and binding models

A tetra-protomeric model of human TRPM3 was built (Figure 3.4) through comparative modelling on the crystallographic solved structure of mouse TRPM7 homologue. This was then checked with the "Protein Geometry" program of the MOE "protein" module. The phi and psi angles of the final model show very good distribution as reported in the Ramachandran plot (Figure 3.5).

Molecular docking results list approximate binding free energy, expressed as kcal/mol, for all tested ligands on the three TRPM7 putative binding sites identified by cholesterol hemisuccinate (Table 3-5). PMΔ5S and PM5S share the same cyclopentanoperhydrophenanthrene scaffold of cholesterol, so structural data from mouse TRPM7 can be exploited for our purposes. A detailed analysis of the docking poses generated in the three human TPRM3 binding sites allowed us to disregard poses that do not share the same binding mode of cholesterol hemisuccinate, scoring the remaining ones according to their binding free energy values.

Cholesterol hemisuccinate binding modes with all 3 binding sites depicted are shown in Figure 3.6A-C. Figure 3.6D-F shows the amino acid residue interactions on TRPM7 with cholesterol hemisuccinate at each of the sites. Cholesterol hemisuccinate superimposed on PM5S at all 3 sites shows the most suitable poses by PM5S (Figure 3.6G-I). Figure 3.6G and Figure 3.6H show the first 2 sites with similar binding positions that the ligands can achieve. At site 3, no suitable position is found for superimposition (Figure 3.6I). Furthermore, 3D images show that progesterone sulphates, PMΔ5S and PM5S, share very similar binding modes to cholesterol hemisuccinate when docked in two of the three available binding sites (Figure 3.7). At the third site, progesterone sulphates do not show the same binding mode compared with the arrangement of cholesterol hemisuccinate. Supporting this, cholesterol hemisuccinate, PMΔ5S and PM5S share similar amino acid residues at both sites. Most notable interactions at site 1 were methionine, lysine and tyrosine, with a set of hydrogen bonds formed between ligands and the active sites; on the other hand asparagine and tryptophan are the most notable shared amino acid interactions at site 2 (Figure 3.8). PM3S has a very low binding affinity and binding mode in all three sites tested as suggested in Table 3-5.



# Figure 3.4: Computational structure of TRPM3.

Homology model of TRPM3 generated using TRPM7 (PDB code 5ZX5) as a template. TRPM3 is represented at different horizontal rotations: (A) 0° (B) 90° (C) 180°.



Figure 3.5: Ramachandran plot of human TRPM3.

Plot shows the torsion angles of Phi ( $\phi$ ) and Psi ( $\psi$ ) for all the amino acid residues in TRPM3. The plot demonstrates which combination of torsional angles are permitted in the amino acid structure, determining the conformation of the residues and gives insight into the structure of TRPM3. The core regions, encased within the green lines and marked by the green circles, contain the most favourable combinations of Phi and Psi and contain most of the residues. The regions encased within the orange lines and marked by the yellow circles, surrounding the core region, show the allowed angles of some residues.



# Figure 3.6: Cholesterol hemisuccinate binding.

Cholesterol hemisuccinate binding to three sites on TRPM3. The 3D structure of cholesterol binding at the (A) first site, (B) binding at the second site and (C) the third site. Cholesterol hemisuccinate interaction with binding pocket at (D) site 1, (E) site 2 and (F) site 3. PM5S (shown in grey) showing good superimposition in (G) and (H) on top of the cholesterol hemisuccinate ligand (shown in green), showing binding at sites 1 and 2 respectively. (I) shows cholesterol hemisuccinate (in grey) with no suitable pose for superimposition of PM5S (in green) at site 3.



Figure 3.7: 3D images of PMΔ5S and PM5S binding to first 2 sites.

Progesterone sulphate binding at both sites. (A) and (B) shows the 3D structure of PM $\Delta$ 5S and PM5S, respectively, binding at site 1. Similarly, 3D structures of PM $\Delta$ 5S and PM5S, binding at site 2 as shown in (C) and (D) respectively.



Figure 3.8: Ligand interactions with PM∆5S and PM5S in sites 1 and 2.

(A and B) Ligand interaction at site 1 and (C and D) site 2 for PMA5S (A and C) and PM5S (B and D).

Table 3-5: Table detailing the affinity of the poses the progesterone sulphates form at each docking site.

Α	Energy (kcal/mol)	RMSD	Ligand
	-6.8199997	1.1125467	PM5S
	-6.6702867	1.4927102	PMΔ5S
	-6.5948405	2.1555789	PMΔ5S
	-6.5424743	1.2312251	PM4S
	-6.439683	1.8100771	PM5S
	-6.4153433	2.1325195	PMΔ5S
	-6.4101419	1.6385957	PM3S
	<mark>-6.4068756</mark>	<mark>1.9603847</mark>	PM5S
	-6.3827085	1.5345517	PMΔ5S
	-6.3573208	1.8047764	ΡΜΔ5S
	-6.3540144	2.3486347	PM3S
	-6.3538809	2.0648024	PM5S
	-6.3411345	2.4843247	PM5S
	-6.0677705	3.4442627	PM3S
	-6.063601	1.3541986	PM4S
	-5.8733807	1.5544147	PM4S
	-5.8704696	2.3242292	PM3S
	-5.8615518	1.7133332	PM4S
	-5.8240767	2.1893353	PM3S
	-5.7720551	1.5481328	PM4S

В

Energy (kcal/mol)	RMSD	Ligand
-6.8524556	1.4652321	PMΔ5S
-6.7510605	1.3558685	PM5S
-6.6705761	0.96520036	PMΔ5S
-6.6407328	3.300529	PM5S
-6.5805449	1.3545821	PMΔ5S
-6.5199375	2.2168357	PMΔ5S
-6.4493017	1.5938253	PMΔ5S
-6.3897424	3.51401	PM3S
-6.3854003	2.3206003	PM5S
-6.3802776	2.2265522	PM3S
-6.322556	1.9600726	PM3S
-6.3022604	2.1742473	PM5S
<mark>-6.2860308</mark>	<mark>1.9575782</mark>	PM5S
-6.2518678	2.4348776	PM3S
-6.2481518	0.88207519	PM4S
-6.1969061	4.4030252	PM3S
-6.0141978	1.0526633	PM4S
-6.0022035	2.6718736	PM4S
-5.987834	0.97104383	PM4S
-5.9865279	2.0926847	PM4S

Energy (kcal/mol)	RMSD	Ligand
-6.0231051	2.7763674	PM5S
-5.9996939	1.6458317	PM5S
-5.9769263	1.0221686	PM5S
-5.9701791	2.7118475	PMΔ5S
-5.9436126	3.4987359	PMΔ5S
-5.9239669	1.8993984	PMΔ5S
-5.9137206	3.8773561	PM3S
-5.9122968	2.45784	PM5S
-5.8920221	1.3614609	PM4S
-5.8661146	2.0471373	PM5S
-5.8643146	1.8455839	PMΔ5S
-5.8574042	1.4660836	PM4S
-5.8362899	4.5342412	PM3S
-5.754652	1.5124441	PMΔ5S
-5.6872506	2.2099655	PM4S
-5.6868806	3.8968232	PM3S
-5.5618906	1.6737609	PM4S
-5.5287905	3.2175353	PM3S
-5.5134492	3.1202154	PM3S
-5.4297891	1.4013846	PM4S

С

(A) and (B) shows the positions tested in sites 1 and 2 respectively, the highlighted row indicates the best position PM5S binds in both sites. (C) shows the positions tested in sites 3. PMΔ5S, PM3S, PM4S and PM5S were all tested at these docking sites. The energy represents the affinity for that dock pose in the active site. RMSD, root-mean-square deviation of atomic positions.

#### 3.4. Discussion

In normal circumstances, progesterone sulphates are significantly elevated in pregnancy (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2013). However, our results show that serum concentrations of progesterone sulphates PMΔ5S and PM5S are lower in the third trimester of pregnancy in women with GDM, (Cohort 2), and in women with high fasting plasma glucose concentrations, which are consistent with a diagnosis of GDM (Cohort 1). PM5S was also decreased in women from a BMI ≥35 kg/m<sup>2</sup> from the first trimester who then went on to be diagnosed as having GDM (Cohort 3). Since PM5S was consistently lowered in each cohort, the impact of progesterone sulphates on secretion of glucose from islets was studied. PM5S significantly augmented GSIS in both mouse and human islets at high glucose concentrations. This augmentation was not abolished in Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> and Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> mouse islets but was prevented by a well-established TRPM3 antagonist, ISO (Straub et al., 2013). This suggests that PM5S mediates the increased GSIS through TRPM3. Both PMΔ5S, a known agonist of TRPM3 (Wagner et al., 2008), and PM5S caused concentration-dependent increases in intracellular calcium concentration in TRPM3-transfected HEK cells.

To date, no research had been conducted on serum concentrations of progesterone sulphates in GDM pregnancies. Of note, in the first trimester, only women with a BMI  $\ge$  35 kg/m<sup>2</sup> that subsequently developed GDM had lower serum concentrations of PM5S. Currently, no suitable first trimester serum markers for predicting GDM development exist, and prediction of GDM before 28 weeks' gestation is likely important to enable interventions with the aim of reducing adverse pregnancy outcomes and improve clinical management. BMI has been used as a predictor for GDM. Higher BMI is associated with increased susceptibility to developing GDM (Artzi et al., 2020; Takmaz et al., 2019; Zheng et al., 2019). Recently, several studies have sought to identify early serum biomarkers using hormones and metabolites to find positive associations in early pregnancy and GDM risk. Positive association between prolactin levels and early pregnancy and a higher risk of developing GDM has been reported (Li et al., 2020). Other first trimester markers such as adiponectin, leptin and IL-6 have also been suggested predictors of GDM (Abell et al., 2017; Lorenzo-Almorós et al., 2019). These biomarkers alone are not strong predictors of GDM and have been studied with limited power to detect moderate associations. Most studies have a larger proportion of participants with a high BMI in each of their groups (Abell et al., 2017; Li et al., 2020) and it will be necessary to consider whether maternal BMI influences biomarker concentration. Whilst our study demonstrates that PM5S may be reduced in women of high BMI before diagnosis of GDM, logistic regression suggests that it is not a strong predictor when used in isolation. However, it will be interesting to establish whether progesterone sulphates could be used in conjunction with other biochemical markers to predict GDM.

The use of progesterone sulphates to target TRPM3 for insulin signalling also remains a possibility as a therapeutic option. The channel has been suggested to be an essential component of ionotropic steroid receptor enabling crosstalk between steroidal and insulin-signalling endocrine systems (Wagner et al., 2008). Though minor roles have only been suggested between TRPM3 and insulin signalling due to TRPM3 KO mice displaying no effects in FPG, nor did they have signs of developmental or metabolic defects (Vriens et al., 2011). There is a possibility of TRPM3 influencing and modulating insulin release at times of altered physiology such as pregnancy, or under pathophysiological conditions such as GDM (Wagner et al., 2010). It is hoped that further research will establish the relationship between TRPM3 and GDM.

We next investigated how progesterone sulphates interact with islets to modulate glucose homeostasis. PM5S augmented GSIS in mouse islets at high glucose concentrations, with the same effects observed in human islets, exhibiting translational evidence. Our results suggest PM5S may play a role in the increased GSIS in islets, this may contribute to the altered GSIS occurring during pregnancy. Lower levels of PM5S in GDM pregnancies might contribute to the pathophysiology of GDM if this results in reduced insulin secretion observed in affected pregnancies (McIntyre et al., 2019). Reduced PM5S levels in the first trimester may similarly promote GDM development by reduced insulin secretion.

Previous studies have indicated that islets express TRPM3 and it is well known that activation by PM∆5S causes insulin secretion (Thiel et al., 2013; Wagner et al., 2010). Interestingly, Wagner et al. similarly demonstrated no significant increase in GSIS with PMΔ5S at 3 mM glucose, which was their lowest glucose concentration, but changes in GSIS began to appear as low as 6 mM glucose (Wagner et al., 2008). This observation of increased GSIS has been extended by demonstrating that the sulphate group situated in the  $\beta$ -position at carbon 3, and the hydrogen in the  $\alpha$  position on carbon 5 in progesterone sulphates contribute to the ability to activate TRPM3, and can best augment GSIS in islets. Structurally, PM5S and PM∆5S are similar. PM5S meets most of the reported structural requirements to activate TRPM3 as previously established (Drews et al., 2014; Majeed et al., 2010). ISO prevented the PM5S-induced increase in GSIS, consistent with PM5S acting via TRPM3; this was further supported by the increase in intracellular calcium in TRPM3-expressing HEK293 cells when incubated with PM5S. Similarly, single concentration (50  $\mu$ M) of PM5S or PM $\Delta$ 5S has been shown to also activate TRPM3-transfected HEK293 cells to a similar extent in other studies (Drews et al., 2014), which are consistent with our findings. Furthermore, a study using INS-1, a insulin releasing cell line, showed that PM $\Delta$ 5S (100  $\mu$ M) activating TRPM3, increasing GSIS and allows Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry into the cell. Trpm3-deficient INS-1 cells also lacked PMΔ5S-induced Ca<sup>2+</sup> signals and had reduced PM∆5S-induced GSIS (Becker et al., 2020). We observed some effects with PM4S due to it sharing

some structural similarities to PM $\Delta$ 5S and PM5S; the orientation of carbon 5 is the same as PM5S, though the sulphate group is in the  $\alpha$  orientation which is the opposite to both PM $\Delta$ 5S and PM5S. Likewise, PM3S has different orientations to both PM $\Delta$ 5S and PM5S. PM3S has the sulphate group orientated in the opposite direction and has carbon 5 in the  $\beta$  orientation, which is the opposite direction of the carbon 5 and sulphate group for determining which progesterone sulphates can bind to and activate TRPM3.

Currently, no high-resolution 3D crystal structure of TRPM3 has been solved. The model of TRPM3 was computed to help predict how and where progesterone sulphate derivatives bind to the channel. This further reveals the potential TRPM3 regulation mechanisms that would occur at the cell membrane and gives a molecular representation of how progesterone sulphates could recognise TRPM3.

The existing ligand binding models of cholesterol hemisuccinate to TRPM7, which our homology TRPM3 model is based on, helped predict how progesterone sulphates would bind to the active site of human TRPM3. TRPM7 and TRPM3 share similarities, for example they are both highly permeable to calcium ions (Huang et al., 2020). Biophysically, their properties also share similarities, and their primary structures show high similarity levels in addition to well conserved secondary structure features (Harteneck, 2005). To further understand the function of TRPM3, it is important to decipher the ligand binding mode. Few studies have investigated TRPM3-ligand binding complexes. A recent study constructed crystal structures of G $\beta\gamma$ -proteins complexed with TRPM3 and confirming the G $\beta\gamma$ -protein binding with the specific exon 17-encoded peptide in TRPM3 through mutagenesis experiments (Behrendt et al., 2020). Our results suggest that among the tested ligands, similar amino acid interactions are involved in two of the three investigated binding sites and therefore likely to operate this target in a similar way. Our structural bioinformatics approach can help predict the affinity and binding modes when ligands are complexed to their receptor. Knowing how progesterone sulphates can specifically interact with TRPM3 is key to understanding progesterone biological activities.

Our studies have some limitations. Our first two cohorts examined had mixed BMI and ethnicities. Furthermore, different criteria were used to diagnose GDM in Cohorts 2 and 3, making comparisons difficult. Thus, it is possible that ethnic and BMI-specific changes in progesterone sulphates were not detected in our cohort studies. Indeed, changes in progesterone sulphates in different ethnicities could also help explain the changes in GDM prevalence in different ethnicities (McIntyre et al., 2019). Future studies should consider using the same diagnostic criteria for GDM and separating the

populations studied according to BMI and ethnicity. The islet experiments only demonstrate how much insulin is released over a set period of time, and future experiments could use perifusion experiments to observe the changes in insulin release over longer periods of time. There could also be some level of FXR interaction with progesterone sulphates (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2013), and this may have an effect on the islets. We only incubated the islets for 1 hour with progesterone sulphates, which would not be enough time to observe any effect on transcription caused by binding to nuclear receptors like FXR, and future studies should consider longer periods of incubation with progesterone sulphates. Previous studies have shown that FXR agonists can cause insulin release (Düfer, Hörth, Wagner, et al., 2012). Therefore, there is a possibility of longer-term effects of progesterone sulphates on islet function. We were not able to use TRPM3 KO mice for our islet studies to confirm the mechanism of action associated with progesterone sulphates, and ideally future studies should incorporate this. Future studies should also evaluate the toxicity of progesterone sulphates to islets. High concentrations may be harmful to cells and could result in apoptosis or altered morphology of the islets. The calcium experiments clearly showed the effects of the structural differences of the progesterone sulphates, though further studies using combinations of progesterone sulphates at the physiological concentrations may give further clues on their effects on TRPM3 and calcium. Testing at these concentrations may give an indication on how this may impact pregnancy and GDM when they are increased or decreased at these physiological/pathological states.

The TRPM3 modelling was theoretical and based on models from previously built TRPM structures. Therefore, the figures we have shown are not fully conclusive structures. Future experiments involving site-directed mutagenesis, based on key residues in the binding sites of our ligand binding models, would help confirm the structures and binding sites. These experiments will further validate and help with the understanding of TRPM3 binding to progesterone sulphates and how we can utilise these structures for future studies involving receptor physiology and therapeutics.

In conclusion, we have shown reduced serum progesterone sulphates in pregnancies complicated by GDM. PM5S has been shown to be already reduced in the serum from the first trimester of pregnancies of women that were subsequently diagnosed with GDM and had a high BMI. PM5S was also shown to be a strong activator of TRPM3, augmenting GSIS in both mouse and human islets. Lower serum concentrations of progesterone sulphates in GDM pregnancies could reduce the level of insulin release in response to high serum glucose, thereby contributing to glucose intolerance during pregnancy. These results indicate a link between progesterone sulphates and the development of GDM.

# Chapter 4: Investigation of bile acids in GDM

#### 4.1 Introduction

During pregnancy, metabolic signalling changes to accommodate the demands of the fetus. For a subgroup of pregnant women, the changes can be sufficiently marked to be considered pathological as observed in diseases such as gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) and intrahepatic cholestasis or pregnancy (ICP). The metabolic signals that cause hyperglycaemia in GDM have not been fully elucidated. In chapter 3 a potential role for progesterone sulphates in GDM is discussed, and there is a demonstration of a potential mechanism by which progesterone sulphates may influence glucose homeostasis. Only a small number of studies evaluating the serum concentrations of bile acids in GDM exist. In normal pregnancy, bile acids are elevated and changes in the bile acid pool occur (Carter, 1991; Dai et al., 2018; Fulton et al., 1983; Larsson et al., 2008; B. Zhu et al., 2019). These changes can become pathological if bile acids are elevated beyond the normal range for pregnancy, resulting in a diagnosis of ICP (McIlvride et al., 2017). Women with ICP have a higher risk of developing GDM (Arafa & Dong, 2020; Liu et al., 2020; Majewska et al., 2019; Marathe et al., 2017; Martineau et al., 2014; Wikström Shemer et al., 2013). The link between ICP and GDM highlights the importance bile acids may have in influencing metabolism during pregnancy. GDM pregnancies have been reported to have differences in serum bile acids. Some studies have reported elevations in the third and first trimester and associations of high bile acids with the risk of developing GDM (Gagnon et al., 2021; Gao et al., 2016; Hou et al., 2016, 2018; Kong et al., 2020). However, others found reductions in bile acids in the third trimester (Dudzik et al., 2014; Li et al., 2018; B. Zhu et al., 2021). The discrepancy between studies may be explained by the use of different techniques to assay bile acids and a focus on populations with different ethnic origin or BMI. Further work is needed to address the inconsistencies found in current studies looking at bile acids and GDM.

There are currently limited data about variation in bile acid concentrations in pregnant women of different BMI or ethnic origin. As mentioned in the previous chapter, BMI has been used as a diagnostic tool and predictor of GDM, with higher BMI associated with increased probability of developing GDM (Artzi et al., 2020; Takmaz et al., 2019; Zheng et al., 2019). Bile acid concentrations and profiles have also been suggested to be dependent upon BMI. Plasma bile acid concentrations show positive correlations with BMI, with higher circulating levels and increased bile acid synthesis in obese patients. Specifically noted was increased  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids, CA and DCA, being higher in obese subjects when compared to lean individuals (Prinz et al., 2015; Vincent et al., 2013; Xie et al., 2015). Indeed, diet-induced weight loss and obesity has been found to alter bile acid

concentrations and gene expression in murine studies (La Frano et al., 2017). Ethnicity may also be used to identify and screen individuals susceptible to GDM. Differences in metabolites, such as insulin, lipids, HbA1C and amino acids, have been observed in people with T2DM of different ethnicities (Alderete et al., 2014; Herman et al., 2007; Van Valkengoed et al., 2017). Indeed, ethnicity-associated differences in metabolite concentrations are also reported in uncomplicated pregnancy, with Europeans having higher circulating lipids and lower levels of glucose compared to South Asian women (Taylor et al., 2019). Serum bile acid concentrations have also been found to vary between ethnicities (Luo et al., 2018; Mitchell et al., 2021); ethnic differences in polymorphisms of enzymes involved in bile acid metabolism and bile acid transporters also exist (Dias & Ribeiro, 2011; Ho et al., 2011; Pan et al., 2011). It is plausible that bile acid changes could be affected by both BMI and ethnicity, as well as being associated with GDM status. Very few studies examining differences in metabolites between ethnicities in GDM pregnancies exist (Sachse et al., 2012). Identifying how bile acids differ between GDM women of different ethnicities and BMI may help further the understanding of the racial/weight disparities in GDM prevalence, risk and pathophysiology.

Bile acids bind to the receptors FXR and TGR5, which both influence glucose and lipid homeostasis. Both receptors are expressed in multiple organs of interest and often have organ specific roles when activated. FXR has shown beneficial effects in lipid metabolism when activated in the liver, with its activation stimulating  $\beta$ -oxidation and decreasing lipid levels in serum and the liver (Savkur et al., 2005). FXR also has significant impacts in glucose metabolism as evident from Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> mice having impaired GSIS and glucose intolerance (Bellafante et al., 2020; Ma et al., 2006; Popescu et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2006). TGR5 stimulation induces  $\beta$ -oxidation and increases energy expenditure (Velazquez-Villegas et al., 2018; Zietak & Kozak, 2016). Furthermore, binding of ligands to TGR5 in the enteroendocrine cells of the gut causes GLP-1 release which increases insulin secretion and changes glucose homeostasis (Christiansen et al., 2019; Kuhre et al., 2018; Pathak et al., 2018). It is plausible that both FXR and TGR5 could have reduced activity during GDM pregnancy, thereby influencing metabolism. Understanding how both glucose and lipid metabolism is altered by bile acids in GDM pregnancies could be key for understanding the pathophysiology and expanding the therapeutic areas of GDM research.

We hypothesise that bile acid profiles change in pregnancies diagnosed with GDM and may vary in women of different BMI or ethnicity.

The aims of this chapter are to:

- Investigate the serum bile acid concentrations in women with GDM compared to controls.
- Explore how bile acids influence insulin secretion in islets isolated from mouse and humans.

# 4.2 Materials and Methods

#### 4.2.1 Human samples assayed

Bile acids were quantified, by UPLC-MS/MS, in women of south Asian or European ancestry, of either normal BMI (<23 and <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> respectively) or with obese BMI (>27 and >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> respectively) (cohort 4) and were diagnosed with GDM or without GDM. We also quantified bile acids from women at 11-13 weeks' gestation (cohort 3) by UPLC-MS/MS, which were also divided by normal BMI ( $\leq$ 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and obese BMI ( $\geq$ 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). These women were then further divided based on whether they developed GDM or have uncomplicated pregnancies. Further details on each cohort and UPLC-MS/MS can be found in chapter 2, pp.62, 65-69.

#### 4.2.2 Islet studies

Islets from WT C57BL/6 mice and human islets donated from King's College Hospital were isolated for static incubations. Insulin content was determined using an in-house radioimmunoassay. Methods previously described in chapter 2, pp.63, 70-73.

# 4.2.3 Statistical analysis

Data presented as mean ± SEM in Chapter 4 for the human and islet studies. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 8. Data was assessed for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. When only two groups were compared, student's *t*-test or Mann-Whitney U test was used if data was not normally distributed. If there were multiple groups to compare, one-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's post hoc test, the parametric multiple comparisons test, was carried out. If data was not normally distributed, Kruskal-Wallis test was used followed by a Dunn's multiple comparisons test, the non-parametric multiple comparisons test. Where there were two independent variables, data was transformed into logarithms if not normally distributed and a two-way ANOVA was used followed by a Sidak's post hoc analysis for multiple comparisons. A P<0.05 was considered significant. The post hoc multiple comparisons tests compare every mean with every other mean, this determines which of the specific means were significant from the others.

# 4.3 Results

# 4.3.1 Fasting plasma individual bile acid profiles

Analysis of individual fasting bile acid profiles were performed in women of European or South Asian ethnicity and having either normal (<25 and <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) or obese (>30 and >27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) BMI. Total bile acid levels were also examined.

4.3.1.1 Differences in individual bile acids in GDM women of European ethnicity In women of European ancestry with normal BMI (BMI <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), GDCA was increased 1.3-fold in those with GDM (P=0.0374) (Table 4-1). Obese European women with GDM (BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) had increased total bile acids (P=0.0006), by 1.6-fold, compared to those with uncomplicated pregnancy. Increases were also seen in DCA (P=0.0022) and its conjugated versions GDCA (P=0.0043) and TDCA (P=0.0194), increasing by 1.6, 1.7 and 1.7-fold respectively. The conjugated primary bile acids were also raised; GCA (P=0.0127), GCDCA (P=0.0026) and TCDCA (P=0.0348) increased by 1.4, 1.55, 1.4fold respectively. UDCA (P=0.0076) and its glycine conjugate GUDCA (P=0.0014) also increased by 1.3, 1.6-fold respectively (Table 4-2).

4.3.1.2 Differences in individual bile acids in GDM women of South Asian ethnicity
South Asian women with normal BMI (BMI <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and GDM had decreased serum LCA
(P=0.0401) concentrations (2-fold) compared to those with uncomplicated pregnancy (Table 4-3).
The obese South Asians (BMI >27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) with GDM also had significant decreases in DCA (P=0.0070) and LCA (P<0.0001) by 1.5 and 4-fold respectively (Table 4-4).</li>
Bile acid	Cohort 4: PRiDE study, European BMI <25 kg/m <sup>2</sup>						Significance
	Non-GDM			GDM			
	Median	25%	75%	Median	25%	75%	
ТВА	1.498	1.062	2.404	1.582	1.143	2.558	NS
UDCA	0.015	0.005	0.030	0.013	0.005	0.031	NS
CDCA	0.046	0.021	0.091	0.036	0.010	0.094	NS
DCA	0.214	0.092	0.339	0.260	0.128	0.346	NS
СА	0.044	0.015	0.289	0.027	0.010	0.243	NS
LCA	0.005	0.003	0.011	0.005	0.000	0.011	NS
GUDCA	0.022	0.013	0.046	0.027	0.012	0.052	NS
GCDCA	0.232	0.149	0.425	0.234	0.152	0.548	NS
GDCA	0.173	0.094	0.313	0.232	0.125	0.352	*
GCA	0.151	0.076	0.288	0.153	0.077	0.293	NS
GLCA	0.005	0.002	0.010	0.005	0.004	0.010	NS
TUDCA	0.002	0.000	0.004	0.000	0.000	0.004	NS
TCDCA	0.106	0.053	0.237	0.096	0.041	0.152	NS
TDCA	0.064	0.033	0.148	0.084	0.043	0.170	NS
TCA	0.050	0.016	0.115	0.043	0.020	0.093	NS
TLCA	0.000	0.000	0.004	0.000	0.000	0.003	NS

## Table 4-1: Individual and total bile acids in European women with BMI <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

Fasting serum samples from European, BMI <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> were assayed for bile acids ( $\mu$ mol/L) in non-GDM (n=72) and GDM (n=34) women. Significant differences indicated by: \* P < 0.05, as determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Data expressed as median and interquartile range. NS; no significance, TBA; Total bile acids.

Bile acid	Cohort 4: PRiDE study, European BMI >30 kg/m <sup>2</sup>						Significance
	Non-GDM			GDM			
	Median	25%	75%	Median	25%	75%	
ТВА	1.358	0.991	2.280	2.114	1.287	3.651	* * *
UDCA	0.015	0.005	0.029	0.020	0.010	0.042	**
CDCA	0.064	0.025	0.147	0.098	0.033	0.244	NS
DCA	0.175	0.081	0.286	0.281	0.131	0.416	**
СА	0.051	0.027	0.279	0.132	0.030	0.479	NS
LCA	0.005	0.002	0.011	0.005	0.003	0.011	NS
GUDCA	0.022	0.013	0.040	0.036	0.022	0.071	**
GCDCA	0.246	0.152	0.487	0.384	0.225	0.672	**
GDCA	0.123	0.078	0.227	0.203	0.111	0.422	**
GCA	0.174	0.108	0.311	0.241	0.143	0.451	*
GLCA	0.005	0.001	0.010	0.006	0.004	0.010	NS
TUDCA	0.003	<0.001	0.004	0.002	0.000	0.004	NS
TCDCA	0.096	0.056	0.169	0.135	0.076	0.248	*
TDCA	0.042	0.023	0.097	0.072	0.038	0.116	*
TCA	0.051	0.035	0.100	0.071	0.043	0.140	NS
TLCA	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.002	NS

Table 4-2: Individual and total bile acids in European women with BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

Fasting serum samples from European, BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> were assayed for bile acids (μmol/L) in non-GDM (n=80) and GDM (n=80) women. Significant differences indicated by: \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\*\* P < 0.001, as determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Data expressed as median and interquartile range. NS; no significance, TBA; Total bile acids.

Bile acid	Cohort 4: PRiDE study, South Asian BMI <23 kg/m <sup>2</sup>						Significance
	Non-GDM			GDM			
	Median	25%	75%	Median	25%	75%	
ТВА	1.616	0.953	2.970	1.586	0.859	2.987	NS
UDCA	0.015	0.005	0.038	0.005	0.000	0.019	NS
CDCA	0.048	0.026	0.122	0.046	0.020	0.110	NS
DCA	0.207	0.125	0.370	0.153	0.071	0.216	NS
СА	0.064	0.027	0.221	0.069	0.034	0.172	NS
LCA	0.008	0.005	0.011	0.003	0.000	0.005	*
GUDCA	0.027	0.018	0.062	0.025	0.007	0.040	NS
GCDCA	0.325	0.176	0.561	0.303	0.135	0.641	NS
GDCA	0.200	0.111	0.350	0.134	0.071	0.312	NS
GCA	0.179	0.083	0.381	0.237	0.148	0.437	NS
GLCA	0.005	0.004	0.009	0.005	0.000	0.006	NS
TUDCA	0.002	0.000	0.004	0.000	0.000	0.004	NS
TCDCA	0.096	0.052	0.208	0.096	0.046	0.186	NS
TDCA	0.068	0.030	0.164	0.038	0.026	0.112	NS
TCA	0.050	0.023	0.132	0.066	0.035	0.117	NS
TLCA	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.000	NS

# Table 4-3: Individual and total bile acids in South Asian with BMI <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

Fasting serum samples from South Asian, BMI <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup> were assayed for bile acids ( $\mu$ mol/L) in non-GDM (n=66) and GDM (n=12) women. Significant differences indicated by: \* P < 0.05, as determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Data expressed as median and interquartile range. NS; no significance, TBA; Total bile acids.

Bile acid	Cohort 4: PRiDE study, South Asian BMI >27 kg/m <sup>2</sup>						Significance
	Non-GDM			GDM			
	Median	25%	75%	Median	25%	75%	
ТВА	2.102	0.936	4.058	2.093	1.306	3.036	NS
UDCA	0.013	0.005	0.027	0.015	0.008	0.026	NS
CDCA	0.077	0.029	0.181	0.097	0.043	0.188	NS
DCA	0.204	0.120	0.403	0.168	0.099	0.221	**
СА	0.086	0.027	0.249	0.123	0.039	0.460	NS
LCA	0.011	0.005	0.016	0.000	0.000	0.005	***
GUDCA	0.022	0.013	0.060	0.020	0.010	0.041	NS
GCDCA	0.352	0.160	0.707	0.352	0.213	0.658	NS
GDCA	0.178	0.071	0.384	0.160	0.084	0.248	NS
GCA	0.202	0.123	0.495	0.290	0.158	0.685	NS
GLCA	0.004	0.000	0.009	0.003	0.000	0.005	NS
TUDCA	0.002	0.000	0.004	0.002	0.000	0.004	NS
TCDCA	0.116	0.054	0.232	0.172	0.061	0.303	NS
TDCA	0.052	0.024	0.155	0.060	0.032	0.086	NS
TCA	0.072	0.031	0.156	0.105	0.053	0.229	NS
TLCA	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	NS

# Table 4-4: Individual and total bile acids in South Asian with BMI >27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

Fasting serum samples from South Asian, BMI >27 kg/m<sup>2</sup> were assayed for bile acids ( $\mu$ mol/L) in non-GDM (n=80) and GDM (n=55) women. Significant differences indicated by: \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001, as determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Data expressed as median and interquartile range. NS; no significance, TBA; Total bile acids.

# 4.3.2. Analysing differences in fasting bile acid concentrations

The unconjugated and conjugated forms of the bile acids, CA, CDCA, UCDA, DCA and LCA were combined to generate a final concentration that comprised the sum of each bile acid.

4.3.2.1 Differences in total unconjugated and conjugated bile acids in women of European ethnicity There were no differences in total concentrations of each specific serum bile acid (i.e. when considering the unconjugated and conjugated forms together) when comparing women with or without GDM in Europeans with BMI <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Figure 4.1A). However, obese European women with GDM had significantly higher total serum concentrations of CA (P=0.0467), CDCA (P=0.0284) and DCA (P=0.0006), increasing by 1.4, 1.4 and 1.5-fold respectively. UDCA (P=0.0007) also increased by 1.5-fold (Figure 4.1B).

# 4.3.2.2 Differences in total unconjugated and conjugated forms of bile acids in women of South Asian ethnicity

South Asian women with GDM and BMI <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup> had no significant differences in total serum bile acid concentrations compared to those without GDM (Figure 4.2A). South Asian women with GDM and >27 kg/m<sup>2</sup> had significantly lower total serum concentrations of DCA (P=0.0413), decreasing by 1.75-fold (Figure 4.2B).



Figure 4.1: Total conjugated and unconjugated forms of each bile acid in European women.

The unconjugated and conjugated forms of each bile acid were combined and analysed for differences. The groups were: **(A)** normal BMI <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> European, with either having non-GDM (n=72) or GDM (n=34). **(B)** Obese BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> European, either being non-GDM (n=80) or GDM (n=80). Significant differences are indicated by: \* P <0.05, \*\*\* P <0.001 as determined two-way ANOVA, followed by Sidak multiple comparisons test, after data was transformed by logarithms. Data expressed as mean ± SEM.



Figure 4.2: Total conjugated and unconjugated forms of each bile acid in South Asian women.

The unconjugated and conjugated forms of each bile acid were combined and analysed for differences. The groups were: **(A)** normal BMI <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup> South Asians, being non-GDM (n=66) or GDM (n=12). **(B)** South Asians with an obese BMI >27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, having either non-GDM (n=80) or GDM (n=55). Significant differences are indicated by: \* P <0.05 as determined two-way ANOVA, followed by Sidak multiple comparisons test, after data was transformed by logarithms. Data expressed as mean ± SEM.

# 4.3.3. Analysing differences in fasting bile acid concentrations in pregnant women with normal or high BMI

The cohort was separated by BMI to assess the impact these factors may have on total bile acid concentrations. European women without GDM did not have any significant differences in bile acid concentrations between women of normal and raised BMI <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Figure 4.3A). Obese South Asian women without GDM had significant higher concentrations of CA (P=0.0111), compared to normal BMI <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> South Asians, increasing by 1.5-fold (Figure 4.3B). European women with BMI ≥30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and GDM had increased total CA (P=0.0013) and CDCA (P=0.0136) by 1.7 and 1.4-fold respectively, compared to European women with BMI <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and GDM (Figure 4.3C). Obese GDM South Asians had no significant changes compared to non-obese south Asians with GDM (Figure 4.3D).



Figure 4.3: Analysing changes in BMI in total conjugated and unconjugated forms of each bile acid.

Total conjugated and unconjugated bile acids were summed, then analysing for changes between BMI in the third trimester. **(A)** Non GDM Europeans at BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (n=80) and <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (n=72), **(B)** Non GDM South Asians at BMI >27 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (n=80) and <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (n=66). Then the GDM only groups were analysed: **(C)** GDM Europeans at BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (n=80) and <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (n=34), **(D)** GDM South Asians at BMI >27 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (n=55) and <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (n=12). Significant differences are indicated by: \* P <0.05, \*\* P <0.01 as determined two-way ANOVA, followed by Sidak multiple comparisons test, after data was transformed by logarithms. Data expressed as mean ± SEM.

# 4.3.4. Analysing differences in ethnicity in fasting bile acid concentrations

Cohorts were further separated by ethnicity to assess how they affect total bile acid concentrations. The normal BMI group showed no significant differences between ethnicity in the non-GDM group. (Figure 4.4A). The non GDM obese (>27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) South Asians had higher concentrations of CA (P=0.0047), CDCA (P=0.0445), UDCA (P=0.0129) and DCA (P=0.0009) increasing by 2.2, 1.95, 2 and 2fold, respectively, compared to non GDM obese (>30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) Europeans (Figure 4.4B). The normal BMI (<23 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) GDM South Asians and (<25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) Europeans also showed no significant difference (Figure 4.4C). However, the GDM Europeans in the obese (>30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) BMI group showed higher concentrations of total unconjugated and conjugated forms of DCA (P=0.0381) compared with obese (>27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) South Asians, increasing by 1.3-fold respectively (Figure 4.4D).



Figure 4.4: Analysing changes in ethnicity in total conjugated and unconjugated forms of each bile acid.

Ethnic differences in total bile acids were examined and were BMI matched, the groups were: **(A)** Non GDM European (n=72) and South Asians (n=66) at BMI <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup> respectively **(B)** Non GDM European (n=80) and South Asians (n=80) at BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and >27 kg/m<sup>2</sup> respectively **(C)** normal BMI <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> GDM European (n=34) and BMI <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup> South Asians (n=12). **(D)** Obese BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> GDM European (n=80) and BMI >27 kg/m<sup>2</sup> South Asians (n=55), Significant differences are indicated by: \* P <0.05, \*\* P <0.01, \*\*\* P <0.001, as determined two-way ANOVA, followed by Sidak multiple comparisons test, after data was transformed by logarithms. Data expressed as mean ± SEM.

#### 4.3.5. Women with GDM have different concentrations of specific bile acid species

4.3.5.1 Examining changes in total conjugated and total unconjugated bile acids Bile acids were further grouped according to their structures and differences were observed between groups. We first analysed the differences in the total concentrations of conjugated only and unconjugated only bile acids in non-GDM vs GDM women. European women with BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and GDM had increased conjugated (P=0.0491) and unconjugated (P=0.0389) bile acids, increasing by 1.4 and 1.5-fold respectively, compared to those without GDM (Figure 4.5B). Limited changes were observed in European women with BMI <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, and South Asian women with either BMI <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup> or >27 kg/m<sup>2</sup> had no significant differences in concentrations of these bile acid between non-GDM and GDM women (Figure 4.5A, C, D).

4.3.5.2 Investigating changes in total primary and total secondary bile acids We next examined the changes in total primary and total secondary bile acids in women with GDM vs non-GDM. The obese GDM European women displayed a 1.4 and 1.5-fold increase in primary (P=0.0342) and secondary (P=0.0037) bile acids, respectively, compared to non-GDM (Figure 4.6B). Women with GDM from the other groups (i.e. normal BMI Europeans and South Asians, and obese South Asians) did not have any significant changes in primary or secondary bile acids compared to non-GDM (Figure 4.6A, C, D).

4.3.5.3 Assessing changes in total 12 $\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acid concentrations Finally, we calculated the total 12 $\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids to see if a GDM phenotype was associated with altered concentrations. Compared to non-GDM, the GDM obese Europeans had increased 12 $\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids, increasing by 1.45-fold (P=0.0004) (Figure 4.7B). The other groups did not have any discernible differences in concentrations of 12 $\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids between the non-GDM and GDM (Figure 4.7A, C, D).

119



Figure 4.5: Differences in concentrations of conjugated and unconjugated bile acids.

Groups studied were: **(A)** normal BMI Europeans, non-GDM (n=72) or GDM (n=34). **(B)** Obese BMI Europeans, non-GDM (n=80) or GDM (n=80). **(C)** normal BMI South Asians, non-GDM (n=66) or GDM (n=12). **(D)** Obese south Asians, non-GDM (n=80) or GDM (n=55). Significant differences are indicated by: \* P <0.05, as determined by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. If data was not normally distributed, Kruskal-Wallis test was used followed by a Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Data expressed as mean ± SEM.



Figure 4.6: Differences in concentrations of primary and secondary bile acids.

The groups split according to BMI and ethnicity were: **(A)** normal BMI Europeans, non-GDM (n=72) or GDM (n=34). **(B)** Obese BMI Europeans, non-GDM (n=80) or GDM (n=80). **(C)** normal BMI South Asians, non-GDM (n=66) or GDM (n=12). **(D)** Obese BMI south Asians non-GDM (n=80) or GDM (n=55). Significant differences are indicated by: \* P <0.05, \*\* P <0.01, as determined by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. If data was not normally distributed, Kruskal-Wallis test was used followed by a Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Data expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



Figure 4.7: Differences in 12α-hydroxylated bile acids.

Total 12α-hydroxylated bile acids were calculated and analysed for differences according to BMI and ethnicity. These groups were: **(A)** normal BMI Europeans, non-GDM (n=72) or GDM (n=34). **(B)** Obese BMI Europeans, non-GDM (n=80) or GDM (n=80). **(C)** normal BMI South Asians, non-GDM (n=66) or GDM (n=12). **(D)** Obese south Asians, non-GDM (n=80) or GDM (n=55). Significant differences are indicated by: \*\*\* P <0.001, as determined by T-tests, if data was not normally distributed, Mann-Whitney U test was used. Data expressed as mean ± SEM.

#### 4.3.6. Analysis of serum bile acids in first trimester women

4.3.6.1 No changes in bile acid concentrations in first trimester women who went onto develop GDM There were no significant differences in individual and total bile acids (i.e. including the conjugated and unconjugated forms) between women who developed GDM and those who went on to have uncomplicated pregnancies. The data for these results have been included in the appendix 2 chapter which also includes data from cohorts 1 and 2. Changes in conjugated and unconjugated bile acids were also examined, along with primary and secondary and if  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids differed in this cohort, and no significant differences were observed (Figure 4.8).

4.3.6.2 Examination of differences in bile acids in different BMI of first trimester women We then investigated whether maternal BMI influences the concentrations of specific bile acids in women with, or without GDM. No changes in bile acid concentrations were observed in non-GDM women between BMI  $\leq$ 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and  $\geq$ 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Figure 4.9A). Obese women who went onto develop GDM had lower total LCA concentrations (P=0.0053) compared to normal BMI women that subsequently developed GDM decreasing by 1.8-fold (Figure 4.9B), but this bile acid is present at very low concentrations so this change may not be of physiological relevance.













#### Figure 4.8: Bile acid concentrations in blood samples from women at 11-13 weeks' gestation.

Bile acids were grouped into total conjugated, unconjugated, primary, secondary, and  $12\alpha$ hydroxylated bile acid concentrations for analysis. These samples originated from cohort 3 which were separated based on BMI and whether they developed GDM or not. Total conjugated and total unconjugated bile acids were examined for differences between non GDM and GDM in BMI  $\leq 25$ kg/m<sup>2</sup> (A) and  $\geq 35$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> (B). Total primary and total secondary bile acids were investigated between non GDM and GDM in BMI  $\leq 25$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> (C) and  $\geq 35$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> (D). The  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids, which consist of both CA and DCA, were evaluated for differences in women of BMI  $\leq 25$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> (E) and  $\geq 35$ kg/m<sup>2</sup> (F). n=50 per group. Data expressed as mean ± SEM.



Figure 4.9: Analysing changes in total conjugated and unconjugated forms of each bile acid between different BMI in the first trimester.

Total conjugated and unconjugated bile acids were analysed for changes between BMI. The first trimester samples were separated based on BMI and whether they developed GDM or not. The groups were: women with BMI  $\leq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$  and women with BMI  $\geq 35 \text{ kg/m}^2$ , n=50 per group. (A) examined the differences in BMI in women without GDM. (B) examined the differences in BMI in women who developed GDM.

## 4.3.7. Effect of bile acids in islets

WT mouse islets challenged with 20 mM glucose had significantly increased GSIS by 3.7-fold (Figure 4.10A). The bile acids TCA and TCDCA at 50  $\mu$ M alone were investigated at both high and low glucose concentrations. At 2 mM glucose, TCA and TCDCA caused an increase in GSIS, increasing by 3.7 and 2.5-fold respectively (Figure 4.10A). Similarly, at 20 mM glucose, TCA enhanced GSIS by 1.9-fold (Figure 4.10A). TCDCA also appeared to increase GSIS at high glucose concentrations though this was not statistically significant (Figure 4.10A).

Further evaluation using potent TGR5 and FXR receptor agonists was carried out to see if activating the bile acid receptors individually could cause GSIS. Normal GSIS was observed at 20 mM glucose, increasing GSIS by 2.7 and 2.4-fold (Figure 4.10B, C). INT-777, the TGR5 specific agonist, was used at increasing concentrations of 1, 5, 10 and 25  $\mu$ M to determine if enhancement of GSIS was concentration dependent. Similarly, GW4064, the FXR specific agonist, was also used at increasing concentration of 0.5, 1 and 50  $\mu$ M at low and high glucose concentrations. However, neither INT-777 nor GW4064 at any concentration significantly enhanced GSIS at low or high glucose concentrations in WT islets (Figure 4.10B, C).

In human islets, normal GSIS was observed in the presence of 20 mM glucose. Like the murine data, at 2 mM glucose, TCA and TCDCA alone increased GSIS by 2.5 and 1.8-fold respectively (Figure 4.10D). At 20 mM glucose, both TCA and TCDCA also increased GSIS by 1.5 and 1.6-fold respectively (Figure 4.10D).



#### Figure 4.10: Bile acids alter GSIS in murine and human islets.

Islets isolated from mice or humans were isolated and incubated with bile acids at low or high concentrations of glucose. **(A)** Insulin secretion in response to the bile acids TCA and TCDCA at 50  $\mu$ M were assessed in WT mouse islets. WT mouse islets were then incubated with potent TGR5 and FXR agonists, **(B)** INT-777 and **(C)** GW4064 respectively at increasing concentrations. **(D)** In human islets, TCA and TCDCA, both at 50  $\mu$ M, were similarly incubated at low and high glucose concentrations. Significant differences are indicated by \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P <0.001 as determined by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test or Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparisons test if data is not normally distributed. Data expressed as mean ± SEM, each graph n=3-6 independent experiments.

# 4.3.8. Effect of UDCA in islets

WT mouse islets challenged with 20 mM glucose displayed normal GSIS (Figure 4.11A). The bile acid UDCA and in combination with TCA and TCDCA at 50 µM was investigated at both high and low glucose concentrations. UDCA alone did not cause any changes in GSIS in the presence of low or high glucose concentrations. At 2 mM glucose, TCA or TCDCA, combined with UDCA, increased GSIS, increasing by 5.1 and 3.1-fold respectively (Figure 4.11A). At 20 mM glucose, TCA + UDCA enhanced GSIS by 2.1-fold (Figure 4.11A). TCDCA + UDCA also appeared to increase GSIS at high glucose concentrations though this was not statistically significant (Figure 4.11A).

In human islets, normal GSIS was observed in the presence of 20 mM glucose. As with mouse islets, UDCA alone did not change GSIS. At 2 mM glucose, TCA and TCDCA in combination with UDCA significantly increased GSIS by 2.9 and 2.65-fold respectively (Figure 4.11B). At 20 mM glucose, both TCA and TCDCA in combination with UDCA increased GSIS by 1.7 and 1.8-fold respectively (Figure 4.11B).



Figure 4.11: UDCA does not alter GSIS in murine or human islets.

Islets isolated from mice or humans were isolated and incubated with bile acids at low or high concentrations of glucose. **(A)** Insulin secretion in response to the bile acid UDCA and in combination with TCA or TCDCA at 50  $\mu$ M were assessed in WT mouse islets. **(B)** In human islets, UDCA and in combination with TCA or TCDCA, all at 50  $\mu$ M, were similarly incubated at low and high glucose concentrations. Significant differences are indicated by \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P <0.001 as determined by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test or Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparisons test if data is not normally distributed. Data expressed as mean ± SEM, each graph n=3-6 independent experiments.

### 4.4 Discussion

GDM is a growing problem, with current figures ranging from 1 to >30% of pregnancies affected, with one in ten pregnant women by age 30 affected by some form of diabetes (Feig et al., 2014; McIntyre et al., 2019). Improved insights into the aetiology and pathophysiology of GDM may help with earlier diagnosis, thereby enabling earlier intervention and reducing severity of symptoms. Bile acid research in GDM is limited, and existing studies have discrepancies. Correlations between bile acids and insulin, glucose and lipid metabolites in T2DM have been found (Bennion & Grundy, 1977; Brufau, Stellaard, et al., 2010; Cariou et al., 2011; Haeusler et al., 2016; Mantovani et al., 2021; Vincent et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2020; Wewalka et al., 2014; T. Wu et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2020) This indicates that bile acid signalling has a bigger role in glucose and lipid metabolism and diabetes development, than previously thought. Bile acids bind to and interact with the receptors FXR and TGR5, with subsequent alterations in glucose tolerance in pregnancy (Bellafante et al., 2020), implicating these receptors in the development of GDM. The data implicating bile acid signalling in T2DM could also be of relevance to GDM, and it is plausible to propose that bile acids play a role in the pathophysiology of GDM.

We studied bile acid concentrations in a patient cohort that was accurately phenotyped in terms of ethnicity and BMI, as well as having the same GDM diagnostic criteria used in all groups for the study. GDM was diagnosed using the modified NICE 2015 criteria, where a fasting plasma glucose  $\geq$ 5.6 mmol/l and/or, following an OGTT, 2 hour plasma glucose  $\geq$ 7.8 mmol/l were diagnosed as GDM. This enabled comparison between women of different ethnicities and BMI. The work in this chapter did not focus on the other third trimester GDM cohorts (described in chapter 2 and 3) as they were of mixed ethnicity and/or BMI. Most of the significant changes in bile acids described were seen in obese women of European ancestry. Total conjugated and unconjugated bile acids CA, CDCA and DCA were increased in GDM women in this group. Significant increases were also observed in total conjugated, unconjugated, primary, secondary and 12 $\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids in the GDM women of European ancestry. This suggests changes in bile acids in GDM may be specific this sub-group of women. It would be of interest for future studies to compare bile acid species in serum samples from women with and without GDM from a wider range of ethnic groups.

Other studies that examined bile acids in GDM and T2DM focussed on fasting bile acids concentrations, enabling easier comparisons with the data presented in this chapter. Post prandial levels of bile acids will largely differ within individuals and depends on the type of meal ingested, as different fats help stimulate the release of bile acids at varying degrees (Costarelli & Sanders, 2001). Therefore, studying post-prandial bile acids without use of a standardised meal makes comparisons difficult between existing and future studies. It would be of interest to investigate the impact of a standardised meal on bile acid concentrations in post-prandial samples from pregnant women with and without GDM.

Most studies of bile acids in people with T2DM and GDM used similar quantitative methods to calculate the differing concentrations of bile acids to our study, i.e. liquid chromatography- mass spectrometry, with nearly all reporting bile acids in their unconjugated and conjugated forms (Cariou et al., 2011; Gagnon et al., 2021; Jieying Gao et al., 2016; Mantovani et al., 2021; Vincent et al., 2013; Wewalka et al., 2014; T. Wu et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2020; B. Zhu et al., 2021). When considering altered concentrations of specific bile acids, it is important to consider the concentration of the bile acid compared to others, as bile acids present in very low concentrations may not be of physiological or pathophysiological. For example, serum concentrations of GHDCA and THDCA were reported to be altered in one GDM study (Gao et al., 2016), but this was only present at very low concentrations, increasing to 0.014  $\mu$ mol/L and 0.008  $\mu$ mol/L respectively in GDM patients. Other GDM studies focused on certain groups of bile acids like the 12 $\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids, which are present in higher concentrations averaging around 0.8-1  $\mu$ mol/L (B. Zhu et al., 2021). Our studies focused on CA, CDCA and DCA as these bile acids are present in higher circulating concentrations in maternal serum, and therefore changes in these bile acids are more likely to be of relevance to susceptibility to GDM and impact physiology.

As previously mentioned, bile acid levels gradually increase as gestation progresses (McIlvride et al., 2017). A majority of studies examining the relationship between T2DM and bile acids report that bile acids positively correlate with insulin resistance and FPG (Bennion & Grundy, 1977; Cariou et al., 2011; Mantovani et al., 2021; Vincent et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2020; Wewalka et al., 2014; T. Wu et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2020). The inconsistent results of studies report of change in individual bile acid species in women with GDM, with different investigators reporting increased or decreased concentrations of specific bile acids, may be explained in part by differences in ethnicity, and the results reported in this chapter support this. We have shown increased bile acids in European women with GDM, while the South Asian GDM population showed reductions. The increases in bile acids in the third trimester in GDM supports the conclusions found from other studies (Gagnon et al., 2021; Gao et al., 2016; Kong et al., 2020). Though Gao *et al* found increases in bile acids in the third trimester of GDM women, none of the individual bile acids which significantly increased were found to be increased in any of our groups (Gao et al., 2016). The differences in their study may be attributed to having much smaller numbers than our cohorts, differences in BMI and their study consisted of an East Asian population while we studied Europeans and south Asian populations. They also diagnosed their women using the IADPSG criteria, whereas our cohort was

132

diagnosed using modified NICE criteria, another factor that might explain the different results. The decrease in some of the bile acids in obese South Asians, in cohort 4, replicates some of the findings found by Zhu *et al* 2021, GDCA was found to be reduced in both cases. Zhu *et al* also demonstrated that GDCA negatively correlated with insulin sensitivity (B. Zhu et al., 2021). There were differences in the specific bile acids that were significantly reduced in our cohort compared to their study and these differences may again be due to differences in ethnicity as they had a predominately East Asian cohort diagnosed with GDM using IADPSG. It was interesting that both studies reported bile acids being influenced in different ways by GDM status, but had similar ethnicities, BMIs and assay to detect bile acids, UHPLC-MS/MS, suggesting other factors could be in play to determine how bile acids are changed in GDM. Interestingly increases and decreases of bile acid concentrations have also been observed in T2DM. One study observed increases in DCA, and their conjugated versions, and TCDCA in T2DM patients compared to patients without T2DM. Though the same group also saw decreases in CA and TCA within their study (Mantovani et al., 2021) and therefore the inconsistencies may not be limited to just GDM.

The total concentrations, consisting of their conjugated and unconjugated forms, of each of the bile acids CA, CDCA and DCA did not appear to significantly change in the European GDM group with normal BMI from the third trimester samples. The same bile acids had significant increases in obese Europeans. However, this was not seen in obese South Asians where total concentrations of DCA significantly decreased and the other bile acids had a non-significant trend, reducing in both obese and normal BMI groups. The increased bile acids are consistent with previous reports of alterations in the bile acid pool in T2DM (Zhao et al., 2020), though their ethnicity was not reported, and BMI was mixed between non-diabetic and diabetic groups. The increase demand of insulin during pregnancy could be driving the increase in bile acid concentrations. Particularly as an increased activation of TGR5 cause an increased release of insulin (Bala et al., 2014; Christiansen et al., 2019; Kuhre et al., 2018; Pathak et al., 2018).

The increase in the concentration of primary bile acids in obese Europeans with GDM may be caused by altered hepatic and intestinal FXR signalling, resulting in reduced SHP and FGF19 secretion respectively. This would result in loss of suppression of transcription of CYP7A1, thereby increasing bile acid synthesis (Ahmad & Haeusler, 2019). As already mentioned, ethnic differences in the genetic polymorphisms in CYP enzymes and bile acid transporters such, as NTCP and ASBT, could explain these differences (Dias & Ribeiro, 2011; Ho et al., 2011; Pan et al., 2011). Further work in clarifying the ethnic differences in genetic polymorphisms in bile acid metabolism is needed and could help to guide strategies for early intervention of metabolic diseases in pregnancy.

133

Looking specifically at conjugated only and unconjugated bile acids, both are also increased in obese European women with GDM. Conjugated bile acids increase through each trimester, reaching their highest in the third (Gagnon et al., 2021; B. Zhu et al., 2019). It is interesting to note that conjugated bile acids are weak agonists towards TGR5 compared with their unconjugated forms (Ibrahim et al., 2018). If women with higher serum conjugated bile acids have reduced secretion of GLP-1, this could explain the changes in glucose and lipid metabolism seen in normal pregnancy. It would be of interest in future studies to measure GLP-1 secretion in pregnant women with GDM alongside serum bile acid concentrations. A change in the gut microbiota could be responsible for the increased conjugation. As previously mentioned, the gut microbiome alters during pregnancy (Collado et al., 2008; Koren et al., 2012; Ovadia, Perdones-Montero, et al., 2019), and it is plausible that gut microbiota could differ in a subgroup of women with GDM, with fewer microbes expressing bile salt hydrolase, resulting in less de-conjugation of bile acids. This could explain the increase of conjugated bile acids in obese European women and possibly reduce GLP-1 secretion. However, in this study we also observed an increase in unconjugated bile acids in the obese European women with GDM, and this is not consistent with this hypothesis. To consider the potential relevance of increased unconjugated bile acids, some of these bile acid species, such as DCA, enhance GLP-1 secretion in the distal gut, thereby increasing insulin secretion. This could be a response to the increased insulin resistance associated with GDM. More research is needed using in vitro and in vivo studies to establish the clinical relevance of the observed changes in conjugated and unconjugated bile acids.

We found that  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids were increased in serum from obese European women with GDM. Serum concentrations of  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids, which consist of both CA and DCA and their conjugated forms, are of interest in women with GDM as higher levels are associated with insulin resistance and T2DM (Brufau, Stellaard, et al., 2010; Haeusler et al., 2016). Increased levels of  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids are also observed in mice lacking hepatic insulin receptors and in rodent models of diabetes (Biddinger et al., 2008; Li et al., 2012; Uchida et al., 1996). One study similarly found increases in  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids in obese patients with T2DM compared to obese patients with normal glucose tolerance (Ferrannini et al., 2015), indicating a relationship between these bile acids and glucose homeostasis. As there is a positive correlation between  $12\alpha$ hydroxylated bile acids and insulin secretion (Yoshitsugu et al., 2020), these bile acids may be increased as a mechanism to compensate for the increased insulin resistance in a diabetic state. The increase of  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids in GDM could also be a cause of impaired glucose tolerance, and they may increase as consequence of raised reproductive hormones. Elevated levels of glucose and hyperglycaemia have been shown to increase CYP7A1 expression (Li et al., 2012), and this may be an explanation for the increase in CA and also the overall elevation of primary bile acids seen in the obese GDM European group. Evaluating the total  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids using timed serum samples taken throughout gestation may provide an insight into how bile acid and glucose metabolism change during pregnancy. Our data support the conclusions of previous studies, but only in the subgroup of obese European women with GDM that have a significant increase in  $12\alpha$ hydroxylated bile acids. The pattern of serum  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids in South Asians in either BMI category does not change significantly, and there is a significant reduction in DCA. This is consistent with another study with a predominant East Asian cohort where they also found decreased  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids and no changes in the non- $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids in GDM women (B. Zhu et al., 2021). The increase in  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids may therefore be specific to ethnicity and BMI, though further studies would be needed to confirm this. The CYP8B1 enzyme, responsible for the synthesis of CA, could also be key to the increased concentration of 12α-hydroxylated bile acids. Regulation of CYP8B1 expression is primarily through FXR and TGR5, both of which inhibit CYP8B1 expression when activated (Zaborska & Cummings, 2018). Thus, meaning that reduced activity of either receptor in GDM could cause the CYP8B1 to stay active longer and increase synthesis of CA, which could be a plausible explanation for the increase in concentration of these bile acids. These findings may also translate into helping explain the pathophysiology of GDM and could give further clues into how specifically modulating  $12\alpha$ hydroxylated bile acids could influence glucose homeostasis in a specific population of women.

The differences in bile acid concentrations in women of different ethnicity were notable. Indeed, serum bile acid profiles have been noted to differ between ethnicities in non-pregnant humans (Luo et al., 2018), with Asians having higher concentrations in CA and CDCA, and no changes to DCA compared with Caucasians. These differences from our data could be due to the fact this study looked at non-pregnant individuals, had significantly smaller numbers of Asians compared to Caucasians, and had no separation of different type of Asian, grouping the continent together in one group to compare with Caucasians. The results of their study however did corroborate with our obese non-GDM data, which showed South Asians having higher concentrations of CA, CDCA and DCA compared to Europeans. South Asians are generally more at risk of diabetes with higher incidence seen in both T2DM and GDM when compared to Caucasians (Gujral, Pradeepa, Weber, Narayan, & Mohan, 2013; Sanchalika & Teresa, 2015; Yuen, 2015). The incidence of GDM differs between ethnicities across the world and these variation in bile acids may help explain these differences.

Total conjugated and unconjugated bile acids were compared in BMI matched GDM Europeans, versus South Asians. The GDM South Asians in the obese BMI group had significantly lower DCA concentrations, compared to Europeans. Ethnic differences between the CYP enzymes, CYP7A1 and

135

CYP27A1, that synthesise the primary bile acids has been found between Europeans, East Africans and Latinos (Dias & Ribeiro, 2011), so it is plausible that there are differences between Europeans and South Asians. There are also ethnic differences in the diversity of gut microbiota (Brooks, Priya, Blekhman, & Bordenstein, 2018), and this may influence microbial bile acid transformation in the gut, resulting in lower concentrations of secondary bile acids in the South Asian population and maybe increased in European. Studies of faecal bile acids in women with GDM of different ethnic origin would be needed to clarify and support this suggestion. If this hypothesis is correct, there would be less TGR5 activation by the more potent secondary bile acids in South Asians. This would result in a reduction in GLP-1 secretion, and also less insulin secretion (Christiansen et al., 2019; Kuhre et al., 2018; Pathak et al., 2018), leading to increased susceptibility to GDM. This may provide one explanation for the higher prevalence of GDM in south Asians compared to Europeans (Hedderson et al., 2012).

Studies looking at the relationship between BMI and serum bile acid concentrations are scarce. Most studies show total bile acids positively correlate with BMI in non-diabetic patients (Prinz et al., 2015; Vincent et al., 2013; Xie et al., 2015). In our studies, bile acid changes were observed in pregnant women with different BMI, and when compared in samples from women in the first trimester, those in the obese BMI group who went on to develop GDM had significantly lower concentrations of LCA. As mentioned previously, it should be noted that LCA is present at relatively low concentrations, so the physiological significance of this change is not clear. However, a lack of secondary bile acids in the obese group may contribute to less insulin secretion due to reduced activation of intestinal TGR5 by secondary bile acids, and therefore less GLP-1 secretion.

The primary bile acids CA and CDCA, the most potent ligand for FXR, were both significantly lower in third trimester women with normal BMI, compared to the obese women of European origin. This may result in reduced FXR activity, affecting genes which regulate glucose and lipid metabolism (Herman et al., 2012; lizuka et al., 2004; Noordeen et al., 2010). Other studies have reported similar results, with CDCA showing a positive correlations with BMI (Cariou et al., 2011), though this study did not report ethnic origin of the participants. Another study of a population primarily consisting of healthy East Asians, reported positive correlations between the primary bile acids, particularly the glycine-conjugated and unconjugated versions, and BMI (Xie et al., 2015). These differences in bile acids between people of normal and obese BMI indicate a need for future studies to match study groups based on BMI, as bile acids appear to be influenced by this parameter. Different approaches to the treatment of GDM used for different BMI groups may be necessary for future therapeutics.

The first trimester samples were split according to BMI ≤25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and ≥35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, similar to the third trimester samples, and whether the women subsequently developed GDM in their third trimester. This group was also of mixed ethnicity, though the BMI ≤25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> group was primarily of European origin, whilst the BMI ≥35 kg/m<sup>2</sup> group included similar numbers of women of European and black ethnic origin. Bile acid changes in the first trimester may also give an insight into potential biomarkers or metabolic changes which may occur before onset of GDM, giving insight to the progression in pathophysiology and how the bile acids may change through each trimester. We observed no significant changes, suggesting that changes in bile acid changes associated with GDM are likely to develop at a later stage of pregnancy. However, it would be valuable to obtain larger numbers of first trimester samples from pregnant women to enable a focussed study of bile acid concentrations in women of different ethnic origins.

In the first trimester samples from normal BMI women who went onto develop GDM, there was an increase in TLCA, though this bile acid is at very low concentrations and may not be of physiological relevance compared to the other bile acids. The rest of the cohort did not show any significant differences between women who went onto develop GDM or had uncomplicated pregnancies in individual bile acids or when bile acids were grouped into total conjugated and unconjugated forms. This contrasts to other studies that found increases (Hou et al., 2018, 2016) and decreases (Li et al., 2018) in first trimester bile acids. However, many of the reported changes involve minor bile acids found in small concentrations, and therefore may not be of relevance to altered glucose metabolism through bile acid receptor signalling. Differences in ethnicity and criteria used to diagnose GDM may also explain the differences between these published studies (Hou et al., 2016, 2018; Li et al., 2018) and the results from our first trimester samples. Few studies have examined bile acids in the first trimester of women who went onto develop GDM and some of the differences were minor. This indicates that bile acid related metabolic changes, which could potentially contribute to the pathophysiology of GDM, may occur more prominently in the second/third trimesters of pregnancy where changes in bile acid concentrations are much greater.

We next wanted to evaluate how islets are influenced by bile acids. Increased fasting total serum bile acids are associated with impaired islet β-cell function in response to glucose challenge in T2DM (Wang et al., 2020). Both FXR and TGR5 are expressed in murine and human pancreatic islets (Düfer, Hörth, Krippeit-Drews, & Drews, 2012; Kumar et al., 2016) and studies have shown bile acid interaction with these receptors in islets increases GSIS in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models (Düfer, Hörth, Wagner, et al., 2012; Hoffmeister, Kaiser, Lüdtke, Drews, & Düfer, 2020; Kumar et al., 2012; Schittenhelm et al., 2015; Vettorazzi et al., 2016). Our results show that TCA and TCDCA increase GSIS in both human and mouse islets. Interestingly, both also increased insulin secretion in low

glucose conditions, an effect observed in other studies (Schittenhelm et al., 2015), suggesting bile acids may cause insulin secretion through non-glucose mediated effects in the islets. The other studies demonstrated TCDCA causing increases in GSIS at concentrations as low as 500 nM (Düfer, Hörth, Wagner, et al., 2012; Schittenhelm et al., 2015). Insulin secretion in low glucose conditions is also considered unusual as islets typically would not release high concentrations of insulin in the human body if blood glucose levels are low. We aimed to use the TGR5 and FXR specific agonists, INT-777 and GW4064 respectively, to investigate whether signalling via either receptor was responsible for the TCA and TCDCA effects we observed on insulin secretion. Both of these agonists have shown to increase insulin release in mouse and human islets in other studies (Düfer, Hörth, Wagner, et al., 2012; Kumar et al., 2012; Schittenhelm et al., 2015; Vettorazzi et al., 2016). However, we did not observe an effect with either agonist. Kumar et al used 25 µM INT-777 in human islets, incubating for 30 minutes, and saw increased GSIS at both 3 and 25 mmol/L (Kumar et al., 2012), suggesting INT-777 could increase GSIS in human islets. However, another study also used 25  $\mu$ M INT-777 in mouse islets and observed increased GSIS in 11.1 mmol/L glucose, though they had an n=10-12 (Vettorazzi et al., 2016), which suggests the number of experiments we conducted could be too low to observe an effect. Düfer *et al* observed an increase in GSIS with 0.5 and 5  $\mu$ M GW4064 in 10 mmol/L glucose, incubating the agonist for 60 minutes, similar to ours. However, they had an n=10, differing to our n=3 (Düfer, Hörth, Wagner, et al., 2012). Schittenhelm et al similarly saw increased GSIS with 0.5 μM GW4064 in 15 mmol/L glucose, incubating for 60 minutes, though this depended on diet, with islets originating from lean mice displaying increased GSIS and those with a high fat diet having no change with GW4064 (Schittenhelm et al., 2015). This suggests diet should be taken into consideration as an explanation for the differences seen in our experiment and those studies. Our studies could perhaps incubate the islets with FXR agonists longer to observe GSIS. FXR is a nuclear receptor and would need longer incubation times to distinguish any significant effect due to the time it would take for agonists to enter cells, interact with the receptor, and produce a change in insulin secretion via altered gene expression.

We also assessed the impact of UDCA on insulin secretion in islets, alone and in combination with TCA or TCDCA. UDCA alone did not cause an increase in GSIS in the presence of low or high glucose concentrations. In combination with either TCA or TCDCA, UDCA did not impact GSIS in either mouse or human islets. Interestingly others found that TUDCA dose-dependently increased GSIS in islets from male mice (Vettorazzi et al., 2016). Others found similar results to ours, using UDCA at 10  $\mu$ M found no change in GSIS (Düfer, Hörth, Wagner, et al., 2012; Schittenhelm et al., 2015). However, 48 hour preincubation with UDCA was found to increase GSIS (Schittenhelm et al., 2015).

138

The increased GSIS we have demonstrated in both human and mouse islets at low glucose concentration could be due to the interaction of bile acids with the potassium channel in islet β-cells. Düfer *et al.* demonstrated that TCDCA stimulated insulin secretion in mouse islets through the stimulation of FXR, which in turn increases intracellular calcium concentrations to cause insulin release. They also demonstrate that TCDCA also leads to the closure of K<sub>ATP</sub> channel and inhibits the potassium channel which coincides with calcium influx to induce membrane depolarisation (Düfer, Hörth, Wagner, et al., 2012). It is possible that TCA could also be interacting with the potassium channel the same way as it has been demonstrated that other bile acids act on K<sub>ATP</sub> channels (Jun et al., 2005; Lavoie et al., 2010; Miragoli et al., 2011). However, Vettorazzi *et al.* used TUDCA in mouse islets to show that the increased insulin secretion was not mediated by K<sub>ATP</sub> channel or change in calcium signals, but through the TGR5 receptor through the cAMP/PKA pathway (Vettorazzi et al., 2016). Further studies are required to clarify these inconsistencies, though both TGR5 and FXR could be involved in the enhancement of GSIS. TGR5 could provide a short-term boost of insulin release, whilst FXR, as shown by Düfer *et al.*, could enhance the calcium influx and inhibit potassium channels in the long term.

Other cells in the islets could also enhance insulin release. For example, when the TGR5 receptors are activated by INT-777 in  $\alpha$ -cells, there is increased GLP-1 release (Kumar et al., 2016). However, upon activation of TGR5 receptors in islets, using INT-777, we would also expect to see an increase in insulin secretion through the interaction of GLP-1 to  $\beta$ -cells, in which they would be released from  $\alpha$ -cells, which we did not observe in our experiments. Bile acids may also have other beneficial effects to the islets that do not directly stimulate the release of insulin, including reduced apoptosis of islets and  $\beta$ -cells, and increased islet mass and  $\beta$ -cell proliferation (Bronczek et al., 2019; Kumar et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2010; Lukivskaya et al., 2004; Zhu et al., 2013). Thus, increased serum bile acids in GDM could provide beneficial effects in not only enhancing insulin release, but also protecting the islets from cytotoxicity or stress. Further studies looking at bile acids in islets from animal models of GDM are needed as current studies remain lacking.

Limitations of this study include the availability of fewer south Asian GDM samples than European samples, thereby reducing the power of the study. One of the key issues with studies examining cohorts of women is the consistency of diagnostic criteria. Many of the studies discussed had differing diagnostic criteria for GDM. Future studies should aim to use consistent diagnostic criteria, although this is difficult due to the differing guidance from hospital trusts, countries, and senior clinicians. Ethnicity and BMI are key variables in dictating how bile acids are changed during pregnancy and GDM, and it is therefore important for future studies to consider the population to study and clearly state the ethnicities involved in the study. Controls should be matched to GDM with the same BMI groups, to allow easier comparison and form stronger conclusions. Combining bile acids into groups such as total primary, secondary,  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated, or conjugated or unconjugated forms may give further useful information and clues on the overall changes in bile acid metabolism in GDM, ethnicity and BMI. Though we did not observe any individual bile acid changes in the first trimester serum samples from women who subsequently developed GDM, compared to those who did not, others have reported alterations in bile acid concentrations (Hou et al., 2016, 2018; Li et al., 2018) in early pregnancy samples. Therefore, future bile acid studies using first trimester serum of women, differentiated by both BMI and ethnicity, who went onto develop GDM, compared to those who did not, could clarify the inconsistencies discussed. Future studies into other ethnicities should be performed. Particularly in Afro-Caribbean, Latin American and Southeast Asian populations where no bile acid GDM studies have been conducted to date. It would be of interest to investigate bile acid concentrations in women with GDM compared to controls in these populations, and to further detail the pathophysiology of GDM and possible biomarkers. Examining the faeces of the GDM women would also clarify differences in the microbiome and faecal bile acid concentrations in women from varying ethnic origins, and may further explain the bile acid changes observed in our studies. Whilst we observed many significant differences in serum bile acid concentrations between non-GDM and GDM patients, some of the differences were <1µmol/L. Such differences may have questionable impact on FXR activation, and further mechanistic studies are required to determine if this would have any change to GDM physiology. Unlike FXR, the  $EC_{50}$  for LCA and DCA for TGR5 activation is much lower, being 0.5  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M respectively (for CDCA and CA,  $EC_{50}$  - 4.4µM and 7.7µM respectively), as mentioned in Chapter 1. Therefore, such small changes could influence TGR5 receptor activation in GDM women.

One of the limitations of the islet studies was a short incubation time, as this was too short to allow alterations in gene expression to be evaluated. Future studies should carry out longer incubation/preincubation periods with bile acids to observe differences in insulin release and also time-based studies to evaluate the changes of insulin over time. Additional islet experiments to assess insulin release may also be more beneficial and future studies using perifusion experiments could generate more meaningful data, particularly with the human islets. Following the insulin secretion experiments, it may also be useful to measure apoptotic markers and evaluate the toxicity of the bile acids to the islets. Histology staining would enable observation of morphological changes caused by bile acids in the islets, as observed by other studies (Bellafante et al., 2020; Bronczek et al., 2019; Kumar et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2010; Lukivskaya et al., 2004; Zhu et al., 2013). Using cell lines with combinations of bile acids or inhibitors that block cell signalling pathways in TGR5 or FXR may indicate how the bile acids act on islets to release insulin. For example, using PKA inhibitors or

K<sub>ATP</sub> channel blockers would indicate the involvement of TGR5 receptors in insulin release. Other hormones like glucagon, somatostatin and amylin could also be evaluated to see if bile acids have other metabolic effects on islets.

In conclusion, this study shows that bile acid concentrations differ in women with GDM compared to women who have uncomplicated pregnancies. These differences are also dictated by ethnicity and BMI. For example, obese GDM European women have increased primary and secondary bile acids, whilst obese GDM South Asians had reduced DCA levels. Further studies are required to confirm if any changes occur in the first trimester and if these changes could be considered early biomarkers in detecting GDM before onset of symptoms. We also confirm that TCA and TCDCA can induce increased GSIS, though the mechanism of action remains inconclusive. The bile acid receptors, TGR5 and FXR, when activated, have been known to influence lipid and glucose metabolism as previously mentioned in chapter 1. Reduced activity of the bile acid receptors, possibly due to partial repression secondary to elevated concentrations of oestrogen, progesterone, or their metabolites, could be part of the aetiology of GDM. Our data support bile acids having a role in the development of GDM. Further work is required to elucidate the mechanisms involved and how we can use bile acids to influence glucose homeostasis for therapeutic uses.

# Chapter 5: Investigation of bile acids and progesterone sulphates in the gut

# 5.1 Introduction

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) has a complex aetiology and pathophysiology. The rise in pregnancy hormones affects multiple organs, including the gut, and this in turn may contribute to the aetiology of GDM. Alterations in the gut during pregnancy include changes in the gut microbiome, bile acid metabolism and ileal FXR activity (Koren et al., 2012; Ovadia, Perdones-Montero, et al., 2019). As explained in the previous chapters, one of the major bile acid receptors, TGR5, is highly expressed in the gut, particularly in the distal ileum and colon (Roberts et al., 2019). Upon TGR5 activation by bile acids, GLP-1 release is stimulated, and this can alter glucose metabolism (Christiansen et al., 2019; Kuhre et al., 2018; Pathak et al., 2018). The most potent TGR5 ligands are secondary bile acids (LCA>DCA>CDCA>CA) (Kawamata et al., 2003). GLP-1 is key not only to enhancement of insulin secretion, but also for pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell adaptations by mediating  $\beta$ -cell mass expansion, as seen in mice (Moffett et al., 2014). Also, important to note is GLP-1 is found in two forms, its active and inactive form. Initially released GLP-1 (1-37) is cleaved to its active form, GLP-1 (7-36). This is then further cleaved by dipeptidyl peptidase-4 into an inactive form, GLP-1 (9-36) This results in the inactivation of GLP-1 and the hormone having a very low affinity for the GLP-1 receptor, rendering it incapable of stimulating insulin secretion (Knudsen & Pridal, 1996; Sandoval & D'Alessio, 2015). A reduction in GLP-1 secretion is seen during pregnancy (Mosavat et al., 2020; Sukumar et al., 2018), a plausible explanation for islets failing to adapt during some pregnancies, leading to the diagnosis of GDM. Enhancing GLP-1 secretion could be key to alleviating the symptoms of GDM.

During GDM, it is possible that TGR5 signalling is altered through changes in bile acid metabolism. Bacterial transformation of primary bile acids to secondary bile acids is key to the activation of TGR5 and to release of GLP-1. Changes in the composition of the gut microbiome during pregnancy, such as the *Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes* ratio positively correlating with gestational age (Collado et al., 2008; Koren et al., 2012), could alter this transformation, thereby reducing GLP-1 secretion. It should be noted that the changes in the gut microbiome in the third trimester have some resemblances to the gut microbiome associated with obesity (Koren et al., 2012). This dysbiosis is likely to contribute to some of the metabolic alterations seen in normal pregnancy, promoting energy fat storage and greater insulin resistance, and these alterations have the potential to increase the risk of developing diabetes. Targeting TGR5 signalling could therefore improve GDM outcomes.

Bile acid composition and concentration changes during pregnancy and in gestational disease states. As gestation progresses bile acids gradually increase and CA and CDCA concentrations are reported to change as described in Chapter 1 (1.2.4) (McIlvride et al., 2017). The increase in bile acids is further amplified in ICP with the CA/CDCA ratio increasing (Brites et al., 1998; Heikkinen, 1983). Alterations of serum bile acids in GDM are discussed in the previous chapter and further studies are needed to establish the underlying aetiology of the reported alterations. Understanding bile acid metabolism during normal and GDM pregnancy would enable better understanding of how TGR5 signalling is altered. Progesterone sulphates have also been shown to bind to TGR5, with PM3S being shown to activate the receptor (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016). Given the nature of the structural similarities between the different progesterone sulphates, it is plausible that other progesterone sulphates are increased 80-fold in pregnancy (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2010). However, as reported in chapter 3, some progesterone sulphates, PM5S and PMΔ5S, are reduced in pregnancies diagnosed with GDM. A significant reduction in progesterone sulphate concentrations during pregnancy could therefore reduce activation of TGR5, which contributes to the pathophysiology of GDM.

We hypothesise that bile acids and progesterone sulphates alter enteroendocrine signalling and GLP-1 secretion through TGR5 signalling in the gut. Two models will be used to test this: isolated and cultured murine crypts and human colonoids cultured and differentiated from patient biopsies.

The aims of this chapter are to:

- Assess GLP-1 secretion in cultured WT and Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> murine crypts using bile acids and progesterone sulphates.
- Further investigate GLP-1 secretion in human colonoids using bile acids and progesterone sulphates.
## 5.2 Materials and Methods

#### 5.2.1. Isolation and cell culture of murine crypts

Colons from WT and Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> mice at 12 weeks of age were dissected out and cleaned with PBS to remove faecal matter. The colons were then cut into 1 mm<sup>2</sup> squares before collating together and washed again, with PBS, until clean. The colon pieces were then digested with collagenase (C9407) for 15 minutes in 37°C. The supernatant was then collected and centrifuged at 300 *g* for 5 minutes, then supernatant discarded and DMEM (D6546, 10% FCS, 1% penicillin/streptomycin) added. Fresh collagenase was added into the remaining chopped colon and this process was repeated 3 more times, until no colon remained to be digested. All 4 digested colon mixtures were spun again at 300 *g* for 5 minutes, the supernatant discarded and the pellets collated together and resuspended in DMEM. The suspension was then filtered through a net curtain (containing 250  $\mu$ m holes) and the mixture plated into pre-prepared coated wells containing Matrigel basement membrane matrix (Corning, USA; 356234). The crypt cultures were incubated for at least 24 hours at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> before use.

#### 5.2.2. Cell culture and differentiation of human colonoids

Human colonic crypts were isolated from serial colonic biopsies (x2 ascending, x2 transverse, x2 descending, x2 rectosigmoid colon) taken from a 50-year-old male donor without past medical history or regular medication who attended for routine colonoscopy. Informed consent was given and approved by the ethics committee of King's College Hospital (REC number: 15/LO/1998).

The differentiation and maintenance of the human colonoids were carried out by Dr Patricia Fronseca Pedro and Dr Anastasia Tsakmaki. Human colonoids were seeded into matrigel and kept in WENRAS medium for 3 days, size and weight of colonoids were dependent on plate size and volume. Following this, the medium was changed to differentiation medium for 9 days with the medium being changed every 2/3 days. Two days into the differentiation medium, 10 µM of DAPT, the notch inhibitor, was added for 48 hours and removed. Samples were collected after day 9 for secretion experiments. Table 5-1 shows the components of WENRAS and differentiation medium. Table 5-1: Components of WENRAS and differentiation medium.

Component	Volume (fina	Volume (final concentration)	
	WENRAS medium	Differentiation medium	
Advanced DMEM/F12 with			
GlutaMAX, HEPES and	3.622 ml	7.135 ml	
Penicillin/streptomycin			
50% Wnt3a conditioned	5 ml	1.5 ml	
medium			
10% R-spondin-1 conditioned	1 ml	1 ml	
medium			
Noggin	10 μl (100 ng/ml)	10 μl (100 ng/ml)	
B27 supplement	200 µl	200 µl	
N2 supplement	100 µl	100 µl	
N-Acetylcysteine	25 μl (1.25 mM)	25 μl (1.25 μM)	
EGF	10 μl (50 ng/ml)	10 μl (50 ng/ml)	
Gastrin	10 μl (10 nM)	10 μl (10 nM)	
Nicotinamide	10 μl (10 mM)	-	
A83-01	10 μl (500 nM)	10 μl (500 nM)	
SB202190	3.35 μl (10 μM)	-	
Total	10 ml	10 ml	

50% Wnt3a conditioned medium and 10% R-spondin-1 conditioned medium were made in house as previously described (Fujii et al., 2015).

## 5.2.3. Murine crypt GLP-1 secretion experiments

Crypt cultures were incubated overnight, and media removed. Crypts were washed twice with secretion buffer (Table 5-2) before treatments were randomly added into the wells of the plate. Each experimental replicate would have 8 wells per treatment. Reagents used were DCA, LCA, TDCA, TLCA, UDCA, PM3S and PM5S alone and in combination. Bile acids had a final concentration of 100  $\mu$ M and progesterone sulphates a final concentration of 50  $\mu$ M. Forskolin/IBMX (F/I) at 10  $\mu$ M was used as a positive control. Crypts were incubated with reagents for 2 hours at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Supernatant was collected and centrifuged at 100 *g* for 3 minutes and supernatant collected for GLP-

1 analysis before remaining material is discarded. 250  $\mu$ L of Lysis buffer (Table 5-3) was added to each well. Cells were then scraped and collected. Wells were further washed with 250  $\mu$ L secretion buffer and collected into the lysed cells. Supernatant containing the lysed cells were analysed for GLP-1.

#### 5.2.4. Human colonoid GLP-1 secretion experiments

Once the differentiation of colonoids was complete, matrigel cell recovery solution was added to each well on the plate and incubated for 1 hour on ice. Colonoid samples were then collected and washed three times in cold PBS. After, colonoids were centrifuged at 300 *g* for 5 minutes at 4°C. Supernatant was discarded and organoids were incubated for 2 hours in secretion buffer (Table 5-2) at 37°C. After, colonoids were centrifuged at 300 *g* for 5 minutes at room temperature. Supernatant was removed, reagents added into the colonoids and incubated for 2 hours at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Each experimental replicate had 8 colonoid sample per treatment. Reagents tested on colonoids were TDCA, UDCA, PM3S and PM5S. 10  $\mu$ M F/I was used as the positive control. After incubation, samples were centrifuged at 200 *g* for 3 minutes and supernatants collected for GLP-1 analysis. The organoids were then mixed in with a mixture of 1x PBS containing 1 tablet of complete EDTA-free protease inhibitor cocktail. Organoids were then sonicated for 30 seconds (amplitude 10-14) on ice. Homogenates were centrifuged at 5000 *g* for 5 minutes, supernatants removed and used for GLP-1 analysis.

Salt	Final concentration	Amount added to 1L water		
	mM	g		
KCI	4.5	0.335		
NaCl	138	8.065		
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	4.2	0.353		
NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> •2H <sub>2</sub> O	1.2	0.187		
CaCl <sub>2</sub>	2.6	2.6 ml of 1M stock		
MgCl <sub>2</sub>	1.2	1.2 ml of 1M stock		
HEPES	10	2.383		
pH to 7.4 using NaOH				

#### Table 5-2: Components of secretion buffer.

On the day of use, 0.1% BSA was added.

#### Table 5-3: Components of lysis buffer.

Reagent	Volume/weight	
Water	40 ml	
Sodium deoxycholic acid	0.25 g	
Igepal	0.5 ml	
NaCl (5M)	0.88 g	
Tris HCL (1M, pH 8)	2.5 ml	

Once lysis buffer is made up, it is then placed in 37°C water bath for 15 minutes, then 1 tablet of complete EDTA-free protease inhibitor cocktail was added, then kept on ice.

## 5.2.5. Quantification of GLP-1

Plasma GLP-1 was measured from supernatant collected from the murine crypt and human colonoid experiments using the Merck GLP-1 ELISA kit (EGLP-35K) according to manufacturer's instructions.

GLP-1 was calculated as a percentage total, whereby the concentration of GLP-1 was quantified in the secretion buffer and in the lysed/homogenated cells. GLP-1 secretion in each well was expressed as a fraction of the total GLP-1 measured in the same well.

#### 5.2.6. Statistical analysis

Data presented as mean ± SEM for crypt culture and human colonoid experiments in chapter 5. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 8. Data was assessed for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. One-way ANOVA was used followed by Tukey's post-hoc analysis, the parametric multiple comparisons test. If the data was not normally distributed, Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a Dunn's post-hoc test, the non-parametric multiple comparisons test, was used for multiple comparisons. Where there were two independent variables, a two-way ANOVA was used followed by a Tukey's post hoc analysis for multiple comparisons. P < 0.05 was considered significant.

#### 5.3 Results

#### 5.3.1. Effect of bile acids and progesterone sulphates in crypt cultures

The previous chapter demonstrated that serum bile acids increase in European women with high BMI and GDM and are not increased in South Asian women with GDM vs normal pregnancy. Secondary bile acids are of particular interest due to having stronger potency towards TGR5. Bile acids were assessed for GLP-1 secretion in WT vs Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> murine crypt cultures. In the WT crypts, all bile acids (DCA, LCA, TDCA, TLCA and UDCA), at 100  $\mu$ M, significantly increased GLP-1 secretion to levels close to the positive control, F/I (Figure 5.1). Comparing the GLP-1 secreted in WT vs Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup>, there was significantly lower GLP-1 secreted when Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup>crypts were incubated with any of the bile acids, with approximate 2.2, 3.1, 4.4, 4.2 and 3.1-fold reductions seen in DCA, LCA, TDCA, TLCA and UDCA respectively (Figure 5.1).

As there are reductions in some serum progesterone sulphates in GDM, such as PM5S and PM $\Delta$ 5S, the influence of these progesterone sulphates on secretion of GLP-1 from crypt cultures was investigated. TGR5 is of interest due to progesterone sulphates having the ability to bind to this receptor. The progesterone sulphates, PM3S and PM5S at 50  $\mu$ M, were incubated with murine crypts, and increased GLP-1 secretion by 5.4 and 6-fold respectively, i.e. comparable levels to F/I (Figure 5.1). Similar to incubation with bile acids, when Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> crypts were incubated with the progesterone sulphates PM3S or PM5S, there was lower GLP-1 secretion compared to WT crypts by 2.1 and 2.2-fold, respectively (Figure 5.1).

Both bile acids and progesterone sulphates were incubated with murine crypt cultures to assess if a combination further potentiated GLP-1 secretion. Combining both DCA and LCA with either PM3S or PM5S significantly increased GLP-1 secretion compared to baseline. However, combining progesterone sulphates with bile acids did not increase GLP-1 secretion compared to either bile acid alone. Combining LCA with either PM3S or PM5S enhanced GLP-1 secretion significantly by 1.45 and 1.4-fold respectively compared to PM3S or PM5S alone(Figure 5.1).

Though Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> crypts showed lower GLP-1 secretion compared with WT crypts with bile acids or progesterone sulphates alone, or in combination, some treatments still demonstrated a small significant increase compared to KO CTL crypts. DCA, PM3S, PM5S and the combination of DCA with PM3S increased GLP-1 secretion by 2.8, 2.7, 2.9 and 3.7-fold respectively(Figure 5.1).





WT and Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> murine colonic crypts were isolated and cultured. GLP-1 secretion as a percentage total was assessed in response to bile acids and progesterone sulphates. WT and Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> crypts were incubated with bile acids, PM3S and PM5S for assessment of GLP-1 secretion. Differences between WT and Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> crypts were evaluated. Furthermore, combinations of bile acids and progesterone sulphates were incubated with WT and Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> crypts and GLP-1 secretion assessed. Significant differences indicated by: \*\*\* P <0.001, # P <0.001 for comparing WT treatments to WT CTL, \$ P <0.05, \$\$ P <0.01 and \$\$\$ P <0.001 for comparison KO treatments to KO control, as determined by two-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons. Data expressed as mean ± SEM, n=3. CTL; control, F/I; forskolin/IBMX.

#### 5.3.2. Effect of progesterone sulphates and bile acids in human colonoids

We have demonstrated that both bile acids and progesterone sulphates act on the TGR5 receptor to cause GLP-1 release in murine crypts. We next tested whether these effects could be replicated in human colonoids. The colonoids were first differentiated, using DAPT notch inhibition, to give a phenotype that gave high secretory GLP-1 response in order to maximise the potential of the bile acids or progesterone sulphates to cause GLP-1 release. Inhibition of notch shifts differentiation towards the secretory lineage, which includes enteroendocrine cells, and requires a pulse of DAPT at the correct time during the differentiation period. Incubation of human colonoids with either 50 µM PM3S and PM5S produced significant increases in GLP-1 secretion at 11.1 and 10.7-fold respectively, compared to control (Figure 5.2A). Similarly, 100 µM of TDCA and UDCA were incubated with human colonoids and increased GLP-1 secretion by 3.5 and 2.9-fold respectively, compared to control (Figure 5.2B). Thus, PM3S and PM5S, and the secondary bile acids TDCA and UDCA, are able to stimulate GLP-1 secretion from enteroendocrine L-cells in both mouse and human models.



Figure 5.2: Bile acids and progesterone sulphates increase GLP-1 secretion in human colonoids.

Human colonoids were differentiated and cultured with progesterone sulphates and bile acids to assess GLP-1 secretion. **(A)** Progesterone sulphates were incubated with human colonoids. **(B)** GLP-1 secretion in colonoids was examined after incubation with bile acids TDCA and UDCA. Significant differences indicated by: \* P <0.05, \*\*\* P <0.001, as determined by Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Data expressed as mean ± SEM, each graph n=3 independent experiments. CTL; control, F/I; forskolin/IBMX.

#### 5.4 Discussion

Both bile acids and progesterone sulphates are altered in GDM. Our previous chapters demonstrate progesterone sulphates decreasing, whilst bile acids increase or decrease depending on ethnicity and BMI. Both types of metabolite are of interest in terms of the pathophysiology of GDM. Our results show that in both murine colonic crypts and human colonoids, bile acids and progesterone sulphates stimulate GLP-1 secretion via activation of the TGR5 receptor. Though we do not know if this process is TGR5 dependent in humans. Most bile acids did not increase GLP-1 secretion in Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> crypts, though DCA and both PM3S and PM5S demonstrated a small significant increase in GLP-1 secretion. However, all bile acids and progesterone sulphates were significantly lowered in Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> crypts compared to WT, indicating that the GLP-1 secretion was primarily achieved through activation of TGR5. Other investigators have used TCA, TDCA and TLCA at the same concentrations in small intestinal and colonic cultures, and observed an increased GLP-1 secretion caused by the bile acids, similar to our results. However this was completely eliminated from small intestinal cultures derived from Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> mice, differing slightly to the small increases we saw with DCA (Brighton et al., 2015). The increase in GLP-1 in our Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> crypts suggests other receptors and mechanisms may also be involved in the interaction of bile acids and progesterone sulphates with enteroendocrine cells. They could possibly be directly interacting with the closure of potassium or opening of calcium channels to cause an increase in calcium ions in the cell, causing GLP-1 release. Overall, our results indicate that bile acids and progesterone sulphates can trigger the TGR5 receptor signalling in the gut to cause GLP-1 release.

Our results are unlikely to relate to signalling by the other bile acid receptor, FXR, due to the bile acid and progesterone sulphate incubation times being relatively short. As explained in chapter 1, FXR is a nuclear receptor that affects transcriptional activity upon activation, and therefore would take longer than cell surface receptors such as TGR5 to cause physiological responses, e.g. alterations in hormone secretion. Therefore, the small increase in GLP-1 release with DCA, PM3S and PM5S we observed in Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> crypts is unlikely to be due to FXR interaction. Interestingly, it has been found that when FXR is activated in L-cells, GLP-1 secretion decreases and Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> mice had increased GLP-1 levels and improved glycaemia (Trabelsi et al., 2015). Intestinal specific FXR antagonism has also resulted in improved and favourable metabolic outcomes. Intestinal specific Fxr<sup>-/-</sup> mice resulted in increased lipid oxidation, lower insulin resistance and resistance to obesity. Furthermore, the same study used Tempol to antagonise FXR and demonstrate similar complimentary metabolic outcomes compared to the intestinal specific FXR null mice (Li et al., 2013). Thus, it is likely that TGR5 produces an immediate response to ingestion of food (and bile acids release) to cause an incretin effect, whilst activation of FXR will produce a more delayed response and change the initial

postprandial response to influence glucose metabolism hours after a meal. Activation of FXR postprandially may change energy metabolism to induce browning of WAT and enhance energy expenditure in BAT (Fang et al., 2015). Though controversially, agonism of FXR has been reported to also increase GLP-1 secretion (Fang et al., 2015; Pathak et al., 2017, 2018). FXR and TGR5 crosstalk could occur in the control of glucose homeostasis. A study has found using a dual FXR and TGR5 agonist, INT-767, altered bile acids composition, in mice, decreasing TCA and CA, whilst increasing TβMCA and TωMCA. IN-767 also increased GLP-1 secretion and improved glucose and lipid metabolism more than FXR- or TGR5-selective agonists. Furthermore, INT-767 activation of FXR induces TGR5 gene expression, suggesting bile acid receptor interplay occurs to promote improved glucose metabolism (Pathak et al., 2017). Dual action of intestinal TGR5 agonism and either FXR agonism or antagonism could provide a promising approach for diabetic treatments, though further research is needed to clarify intestinal FXR role in GLP-1 secretion.

Our results indicate that progesterone sulphates are of increasing interest as potential mediators of altered glucose homeostasis, and we have shown in previous chapters that serum levels are reduced in GDM pregnancies. Reduced serum levels therefore would result in lower activation of TGR5 in the gut and would likely cause lower GLP-1 secretion during pregnancy. This could contribute to the pathophysiology of GDM if it causes affected women to fail to meet the increased requirements for insulin during pregnancy. PM3S stimulation of cAMP production in HEK293T cells expressing TGR5 has been shown (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016), however few studies exist exploring the relationship between progesterone sulphate and TGR5. To date, no one has evaluated the effects of progesterone sulphates in the gut and these experiments are the first to demonstrate how they stimulate GLP-1 release. These results also provide insights into potential strategies to target TGR5 with progesterone sulphates. As TGR5 is expressed in many different tissues, organ-specific effects would occur upon activation making TGR5 a difficult choice for a therapeutic target due to the possible systemic side effects (Duboc, Taché, & Hofmann, 2014).

Unlike the progesterone sulphates, the relationship between bile acids and release of GLP-1 has been explored in detail. Similar observations have been seen when bile acids were delivered *in vivo* in mice or *ex vivo* in rat/mouse perfused colons, stimulating GLP-1 secretion by a similar amount to our experiments (Christiansen et al., 2019; Rafferty et al., 2011). It is important to consider which bile acids are altered in GDM vs normal pregnancy to determine if the changes in GDM alter the activation of TGR5 in the gut. However important considerations are needed for which bile acid is best to stimulate GLP-1 secretion in humans. Secondary bile acids, particularly LCA, though most potent to TGR5, are more toxic especially at high levels. Whilst DCA is less harmful than LCA, DCA has been shown to be more toxic than CA (Kurdi, Kawanishi, Mizutani, & Yokota, 2006). It is also

153

important to note that very little LCA crosses to the basolateral side of the gut, and concentrations in serum are very low, so the LCA that reaches TGR5 will be of much lower serum concentrations compared to the concentrations in the gut (Šarenac & Mikov, 2018). Therefore, delivering high levels of the secondary bile acid LCA to act as a TGR5 agonist in the gut may not be feasible. Combinations of bile acids and progesterone sulphates could yield interesting results. We saw no significant changes or further potentiation when compared to bile acids alone, however LCA with either PM3S or PM5S did increase GLP-1 secretion compared to either progesterone sulphates alone. It is possible that FXR interplay does occur, and this might have been demonstrated if the progesterone sulphates and bile acids in combination had been studied for longer incubation times with the crypt cultures. It would be of interest to study this in future experiments. PM5S has partial agonism for FXR (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2013), meaning progesterone sulphates at the intestinal level could lower FXR activity, potentiating GLP-1 secretion as suggested by others (Li et al., 2013; Trabelsi et al., 2015).

Due to the increasing evidence of the involvement of FXR and TGR5 in energy metabolism, manipulation of these receptors could be key in improving metabolic disease such as T2DM and GDM. As a result of the cytotoxic nature of hydrophobic bile acids, concerns have been raised as to the safety of using bile acids as pharmaceuticals. To avoid this issue, much research has evaluated semi-synthetic analogues or synthetic TGR5 or FXR agonists as potential therapeutics for metabolic diseases. Studies targeting FXR-mediated regulation of metabolism appear to be contradictory. The FXR agonist obeticholic acid (OCA) has delivered promising results in clinical trials for liver-based metabolic diseases and T2DM in non-pregnant adults, including improving insulin sensitivity (Mudaliar et al., 2013). OCA improved histological features in the liver after 72 weeks treatment with 25mg daily in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, a disorder linked with T2DM and previous GDM (Neuschwander-Tetri et al., 2015). However, in mouse models of GDM, OCA did not produce the full effects seen in other studies, and whilst treatment reduced plasma cholesterol, glucose tolerance was not improved (McIlvride et al., 2019). Other studies have also shown that CDCA treatment influences lipid metabolism in humans and increases plasma LDL cholesterol as a result of reduced plasma LDL clearance (Ghosh Laskar, Eriksson, Rudling, & Angelin, 2017). Research into FXR-specific therapeutics for gestational disorders such as ICP or GDM is also currently lacking, however, FXR agonism provides some benefits in mouse models of hypercholanaemia, with improved fetal bile acid profiles (Pataia et al., 2020; W. B. Wu et al., 2015).

Research into TGR5 agonists as a therapeutic has been explored, as manipulation of the release of gut hormones could be key for alleviating symptoms of diabetes. TGR5 agonists in diabetic mice has shown to improve glucose homeostasis (Huang et al., 2019). A clinical study examined the effects of

154

ileo-colonic delivered conjugated bile acids in patients with obesity and T2DM. When compared to placebo, there was increased postprandial GLP-1 secretion (Calderon et al., 2020). To date, no research has looked specifically at the impact of TGR5 receptor activation on biochemical features of GDM. Several novel TGR5 agonists exist and many show encouraging effects when used in animal models of diabetes (Agarwal et al., 2018; Finn et al., 2019; Phillips et al., 2014; Rizzo et al., 2010; Zambad et al., 2013; Zheng et al., 2015). One recent example used a novel, orally-administered TGR5 agonist, RDC8940. This induced incretin secretion and improved insulin sensitivity with minimal side effects in western diet-fed mice (Finn et al., 2019). Another study used another novel TGR5 agonist, WB403, on a model of T2DM mice, improving glucose tolerance and decreased fasting blood glucose. WB403 administration also caused changes at the islet level, preserving pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells in diabetic treated mice compared to untreated diabetic mice (Zheng et al., 2015). Clinical trials using TGR5-selective agonists have also been carried out with promising results (Hodge et al., 2013). Side effects are a major concern for novel TGR5 agonists, due to TGR5 having broad multi-organ expression. However, using organ-restricted agonists would avoid these side effects and would consequently likely have acceptable safety profiles. Currently, TGR5 agonists with low intestinal absorption rates have been designed. Studies have shown their ability to cross cell membranes and that they show specificity for TGR5 receptors without contributing to systemic absorption (Chen et al., 2018; Lasalle et al., 2017). Lasalle et al. 2017 designed a gut-restricted TGR5 agonist named compound 24. When used in diet-induced obese and insulin resistant mice, sustained GLP-1 release and decreased fasted plasma insulin levels were observed, with low systemic levels of compound 24 detected. This compound has low intestinal permeability to prevent high systemic circulation and therefore unwanted side effects. Much of the compound reaches and remains in the ileum and colon at 8 hours, where TGR5 expression is maximal, and a significant fraction of the compound would cross the cell membrane, activate TGR5 on the basolateral side, without contributing to systemic absorption (Lasalle et al., 2017). Many of these agonists could have the potential to lower glucose levels and therefore result in better management of GDM, though further studies are required to explore the relationship between TGR5 and GDM.

Bile acids for the treatment of diabetes are also currently being investigated (McGlone et al., 2021; Meyer-Gerspach et al., 2013; Nielsen et al., 2017; Shima et al., 2018). Gut delivery of bile acids could be key to managing the symptoms of GDM. UDCA is commonly used to treat ICP, a disease linked to increased risk of developing GDM, so it could be plausible to use UDCA to treat GDM. Indeed, our studies have shown clear elevation of GLP-1 release when UDCA is incubated directly in our crypt and human colonoid experiments, indicating a direct effect in the gut. Other studies show that oral gavage of UDCA into alloxan-induced diabetic mice brought about reductions in elevated blood glucose and altered the concentrations of CDCA and LCA, suggesting protective effects on the  $\beta$ -cells (Mooranian et al., 2020). Orally administered UDCA in diet-induced obese mice also reduced saturated fatty acid levels, reducing free fatty acid uptake and reducing triglyceride formation (Y. Zhang et al., 2019). In a small pilot study using UDCA in non-diabetic subjects, UDCA treatment resulted in higher GLP-1 secretion and lower blood glucose, though no significant changes were observed in insulin release (Murakami et al., 2013). A recent study of UDCA treatment in people with T2DM and chronic liver disease reported weight loss and reduced HbA1c over 12 weeks (Shima et al., 2018). Furthermore, a meta-analysis showed significant reductions in fasting plasma glucose, HbA1c and plasma insulin concentrations in UDCA-treated participants with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (Foghsgaard et al., 2017; Sánchez-García, Sahebkar, Simental-Mendía, & Simental-Mendía, 2018). Similarly, other studies have shown other bile acids to have beneficial potential for diabetes. Oral delivery of CDCA to healthy volunteers has shown to enhance GLP-1 secretion through TGR5 activation. Though in contrast, they found UDCA did not bring any changes in GLP-1 secretion (McGlone et al., 2021; Meyer-Gerspach et al., 2013; Nielsen et al., 2017). Further studies are needed to address these discrepancies and which bile acid is best for stimulating GLP-1 secretion, and is suitable for GDM treatment. The improvements seen in UDCA or bile acid treatment for T2DM could translate as a plausible treatment for those who have GDM and future studies could look to see if these improvements in T2DM could be replicated in GDM patients.

Future studies evaluating FXR role in GLP-1 secretion would clarify some of the inconsistencies in current studies. This would require either incubating progesterone sulphates and bile acids for longer incubation times or pre-treating *in vitro* models. Future *in vivo* experiments by delivering bile acids into the gut of mice and measuring hormonal markers like GLP-1 will also help reinforce the results reported in murine crypt culture and human colonoids. Taking this further, it would be of interest to test this in GDM models and observe if this may have any effects in reducing diabetic symptoms. The toxicity of bile acids in our biological models should also be tested, with apoptotic markers measured in the gut. The more potent secondary bile acids are also more cytotoxic (Pavlović et al., 2018) and careful consideration is needed about the use of bile acids and progesterone sulphates to influence glucose metabolism and as a therapeutic for GDM. Clinical studies using faecal samples and analysis of the gut microbiota, bile acids and progesterone sulphates may also give a further indication on how the physiology differs in normal vs GDM pregnancies. Analysing the gut microbiota phenotype may also highlight whether primary bile acids being microbially transformed into secondary bile acids differs in GDM vs normal pregnancies.

In conclusion, I have shown the secondary bile acids TDCA and UDCA, as well as PM3S and PM5S activate TGR5 to cause GLP-1 secretion in murine crypt cultures and human colonoids. However, we

156

do not know if the mechanism is TGR5 specific in humans. Enhanced GLP-1 secretion is likely to be important for reduction of glucose intolerance and may improve GDM outcomes by normalising glucose homeostasis. Increasing GLP-1 release by targeting TGR5 with bile acids/progesterone sulphates or synthetic agonists could be key to preventing severe outcomes in GDM.

# Chapter 6: Overall summary and conclusions

The maternal metabolic changes that occur during pregnancy are necessary to meet the demands of the baby. Altered glucose and lipid metabolism, alongside enhanced insulin sensitivity, are typically seen in normal gestation. These changes become more prominent with progression into the third trimester, and insulin resistance, lipid mobilisation and demand for plasma glucose increases (McIntyre et al., 2019). These metabolic adaptations are complex, involving multiple tissues and hormones that are secreted during gestation, and careful regulation of these process is required to ensure minimal adverse pregnancy outcomes. Failure to cope with these adaptations and metabolic demands often result in metabolic diseases occurring in susceptible women. GDM typically occurs if the islets cannot meet heightened insulin demand, and hyperglycaemia can result from this. Intervention is required to minimise pregnancy complications, and it is hoped improved glycaemic control will also reduce the long-term risks associated with GDM. Early intervention and identification of biomarkers to use for timely diagnosis is a current research focus, as is improved understanding of the pathophysiology of GDM, as this will also give ideas for future treatment strategies.

The aim of the work presented in this thesis was to enhance understanding of the relationship between bile acids, progesterone sulphates and GDM, and how these metabolites could contribute to the pathophysiology of GDM. We first examined how progesterone sulphates differed in the serum of GDM women and how they influence insulin secretion when incubated with the islets of Langerhans. Then we examined the bile acids in a similar way to the progesterone sulphates, including the mechanistic studies using islets. Finally, we also examined how both bile acids and progesterone sulphates influence gut signals to change glucose metabolism.

It is well established that progesterone sulphates increase during pregnancy (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2013). Interestingly, some progesterone sulphates, like PM5S, were found to be increased further in the third trimester of pregnancies complicated with ICP. Progesterone sulphates, like PM3S, PM2DiS and PM3DiS, were also found to be elevated in the first trimester pregnancies that went on to develop ICP, revealing them to be possible prognostic markers for ICP (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016). Furthermore, their interaction with FXR and TGR5 (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016, 2013), receptors known to influence glucose and lipid metabolism, make them an interesting, prospective hormones to study in GDM. Whilst serum progesterone sulphate concentrations are increased in pregnancies complicated by ICP, women with GDM appeared to have lower concentrations of progesterone sulphates in the third trimester. When analysed in the first trimester, PM5S was lower in high BMI women who went onto develop GDM, though logistic regression suggests this was not a strong

158

predictor for GDM. Further studies are required to examine how ethnicity and BMI affects progesterone sulphate concentrations and whether the aetiological factors of GDM similarly affects their levels. Our mechanistic studies reveal that PM5S increased GSIS, similarly seen by PM∆5S in other studies (Thiel et al., 2013; Wagner et al., 2010), suggesting that lower levels of progesterone sulphates like PM5S, could contribute to the development of GDM though reduced insulin secretion. Further to this, we demonstrate that the mechanism by which PM5S, PMΔ5S and, to a lesser degree PM4S increase insulin secretion is through interaction with TRPM3. The work in this thesis demonstrates that progesterone sulphates require specific structural requirements to activate this ion channel and allow calcium entry into cells, a mechanism that had been previously reported for  $PM\Delta 5S$ , but not for the other progesterone sulphates (Drews et al., 2014; Majeed et al., 2010). Therefore, future studies looking at progesterone sulphates in GDM women should examine which specific progesterone sulphates are increased or decreased in GDM and how these changes affect certain sub-groups of GDM women. We were also able to construct a computational model of TRPM3. Using existing models of TRPM7 helped predict the binding site and further allowed us to model the ligand binding site of our homology TRPM3 model. It is hoped that these models can be used to further reveal potential regulatory mechanisms for insulin secretion and will facilitate further understanding of progesterone sulphate-TRPM3 complexes and therapeutics. In future, it will be possible for site-directed mutagenesis studies to confirm the ligand binding modelling structures and validate the active site of TRPM3. These results show a link between the progression of GDM and progesterone sulphates and should be further explored to elucidate the pathophysiology. Table 6-1 summaries the changes in progesterone sulphate concentrations in GDM pregnancy.

Table 6-1: Impact of progesterone sulphate changes in GDM pregnancy.

Progesterone	Concentration changes in:		Function and
Sulphate	Normal	GDM	Impact of Change
	pregnancy	pregnancy	
			TGR5 agonist, possible antagonist for
PM3S	Increase	No Change	TRPM3
			No change in GSIS in normal or GDM
			pregnancy
			Partial agonist for TRPM3
PM4S	Increase	No Change	No change in GSIS in normal or GDM
			pregnancy
			Partial agonist for FXR, agonist for
PM5S	Increase	Decrease	TRPM3
			Increased GSIS in normal pregnancy,
			reduced GSIS in GDM pregnancy
			Agonist for TRPM3
ΡΜΔ5S	Increase	Decrease	Increased GSIS in normal pregnancy,
			reduced GSIS in GDM pregnancy

Bile acids are of particular interest due to their ability to bind to FXR and TGR5. Activation of both receptors have been reported to have beneficial effects in lowering glucose and lipid levels (Bellafante et al., 2020; Christiansen et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2006; Savkur et al., 2005; Velazquez-Villegas et al., 2018). It is plausible to further explore how the activity of these receptors could change during GDM and could in part be responsible for changes in metabolism and onset of GDM. A small number of studies exist that explore the relationship between bile acids and GDM, although not all studies show consistent bile acid changes in GDM, with studies reporting increases or decreases in the third trimester (Gagnon et al., 2021; Gao et al., 2016; Kong et al., 2020; B. Zhu et al., 2021). This study provided further insight and explored how BMI and ethnicity could affect bile acid concentrations. Interestingly, our studies demonstrated different changes in Europeans and South Asians, with the former having increased serum bile acid Concentrations. The South Asians also notably had lower concentrations of the secondary bile acid DCA compared to Europeans. This may offer clues to explain ethnicity differences for onset of GDM. This observation could be extended to other ethnicities susceptible to GDM and future studies should consider analysing serum bile acid in

samples from women of different ethnic origins. Also important is BMI, and there were different trends serum bile acid concentrations in obese and the normal BMI groups. Studies of non-pregnant individuals have shown positive correlation between BMI and total bile acids (Prinz et al., 2015; Vincent et al., 2013; Xie et al., 2015). However, we observed lower concentrations of the primary bile acids in the normal BMI group compared to obese BMI in both South Asians and Europeans. These changes suggest that the reason for onset of GDM in the high and normal BMI groups could differ, further indicating the necessity of future studies using groups with matched BMI. Most changes in bile acid concentrations occur in GDM obese European women and a proposed schematic diagram summaries the proposed changes in these women (Figure 6.1) Further studies are needed to clarify how bile acids change in different sub-groups of women with GDM.



Figure 6.1: Schematic proposing how bile acids change in GDM pregnancy in obese European women.

We wanted to further our understanding of how bile acids may impact GDM mechanistically. Islet studies have generally shown that bile acids increase GSIS, although clarification on how bile acids do this is needed. Both FXR or TGR5 have been suggested as receptors that play a role in the increased GSIS (Düfer, Hörth, Wagner, et al., 2012; Hoffmeister et al., 2020; Kumar et al., 2012; Schittenhelm et al., 2015; Vettorazzi et al., 2016). We also observed increases in GSIS following exposure to TCA and TCDCA, though neither of the TGR5 or FXR specific agonists delivered similar effects. Due to the short incubation times, this is unlikely to be mediated by FXR, although this cannot be ruled out. Future studies should use longer incubation times or pre-incubation of islets with bile acids to allow time for FXR signalling to influence physiological responses. Further studies in how bile acids act in GDM animal models would also be necessary.

In addition to the islet studies, the work in this thesis aimed to characterise how bile acids and progesterone sulphates influence gut hormone signalling. The TGR5 receptor located on the basolateral side of enteroendocrine cells in the distal ileum and colon is becoming an increasingly therapeutic target of interest, particularly for metabolic diseases like diabetes, due to its ability to release GLP-1 and enhance insulin secretion. Changes in the gut during pregnancy include changes in bile acid metabolism and the gut microbiome which can alter bile acid activity (Koren et al., 2012; Ovadia, Perdones-Montero, et al., 2019). Bacterial transformation of bile acids from primary to secondary is key to activation of TGR5. The murine crypt cultures and human colonoid experiments show significantly increased GLP-1 secretion following exposure to secondary bile acids and the progesterone sulphates PM3S and PM5S. Moreover, Tgr5<sup>-/-</sup> mice demonstrated that all this was signalled through the TGR5 receptor as significant reductions in GLP-1 release occurred in animals deficient of the receptor. Our findings are in line with others who also observed increases of GLP-1 secretion following exposure to bile acids, and also progesterone sulphate activation of TGR5 receptor (Abu-Hayyeh et al., 2016; Brighton et al., 2015), however this presents novel findings of progesterone sulphate relationships with gut-activated TGR5. Both FXR and TGR5 are key targets in manipulating energy metabolism and research involving gut delivery of agonists or bile acids are continuous and seen as prime therapeutic areas in T2DM and GDM. Future studies evaluating the role of FXR is necessary due to current conflicting studies surround FXR ability to cause GLP-1 release. Faecal studies should also give an indication on which progesterone sulphates and bile acids could be impacting GDM vs normal pregnancies. Our studies show that both bile acids and progesterone sulphates activate TGR5 in the gut to cause GLP-1 release.

Overall, the work described in this thesis demonstrates a complex relationship between specific bile acids, progesterone sulphates and the pathophysiology of GDM. Our clinical studies demonstrate a correlation between onset of GDM and concentrations of progesterone sulphates and bile acids. Our

162

mechanistic studies also exhibit pathways on how these hormones affect our experimental models and influence metabolic homeostasis. The bile acid receptors FXR and TGR5 remain important receptors of interest in the regulation and determination of glucose and lipid metabolism and eventual onset of GDM. Targeting these receptors for therapeutic uses, or identifying biomarkers for early intervention of GDM, could reduce severity of outcomes for GDM, improving the health and well-being of pregnant women as well as the baby.

# References

- Abell, S. K., Shorakae, S., Harrison, C. L., Hiam, D., Moreno-Asso, A., Stepto, N. K., ... Teede, H. J. (2017). The association between dysregulated adipocytokines in early pregnancy and development of gestational diabetes. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, 33(8). https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.2926
- Abu-Hayyeh, S., Martinez-Becerra, P., Abdul Kadir, S. H. S., Selden, C., Romero, M. R., Rees, M., ...
   Williamson, C. (2010). Inhibition of Na+-taurocholate co-transporting polypeptide-mediated
   bile acid transport by cholestatic sulfated progesterone metabolites. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(22), 16504–16512. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.072140
- Abu-Hayyeh, S., Ovadia, C., Lieu, T., Jensen, D. D., Chambers, J., Dixon, P. H., ... Williamson, C. (2016).
   Prognostic and mechanistic potential of progesterone sulfates in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy and pruritus gravidarum. *Hepatology*, *63*(4), 1287–1298.
   https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.28265
- Abu-Hayyeh, S., Papacleovoulou, G., Lövgren-Sandblom, A., Tahir, M., Oduwole, O., Jamaludin, N. A.,
   ... Williamson, C. (2013). Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy levels of sulfated progesterone
   metabolites inhibit farnesoid X receptor resulting in a cholestatic phenotype. *Hepatology*,
   57(2), 716–726. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.26055
- Adada, M., Canals, D., Hannun, Y. A., & Obeid, L. M. (2013, December). Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2. *FEBS Journal*. NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.12446
- Agarwal, S., Sasane, S., Kumar, J., Deshmukh, P., Bhayani, H., Giri, P., ... Jain, M. (2018). Evaluation of novel TGR5 agonist in combination with Sitagliptin for possible treatment of type 2 diabetes.
   *Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 28(10), 1849–1852.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2018.04.011
- Ahmad, T. R., & Haeusler, R. A. (2019, December 1). Bile acids in glucose metabolism and insulin signalling — mechanisms and research needs. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-019-0266-7
- Alderete, T. L., Toledo-Corral, C. M., & Goran, M. I. (2014). Metabolic basis of ethnic differences in diabetes risk in overweight and obese youth topical collection on pediatric type 2 diabetes. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 14(2), 455. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-013-0455-z
- Aleksunes, L. M., Yeager, R. L., Wen, X., Cui, J. Y., & Klaassen, C. D. (2012). Repression of hepatobiliary transporters and differential regulation of classic and alternative bile acid

164

pathways in mice during pregnancy. *Toxicological Sciences : An Official Journal of the Society of Toxicology*, 130(2), 257–268. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfs248

- Alemi, F., Kwon, E., Poole, D. P., Lieu, T. M., Lyo, V., Cattaruzza, F., ... Corvera, C. U. (2013). The TGR5 receptor mediates bile acid-induced itch and analgesia. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 123(4), 1513–1530. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI64551
- American Diabetes Association. (2019). 14. Management of diabetes in pregnancy: Standards of medical care in diabetesd2019. *Diabetes Care*, 42(Suppl 1), S165–S172. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc19-S014
- American Diabetes Association. (2020). Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2020. *Diabetes Care*, 43, S14–S31. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc20-S002
- Arafa, A., & Dong, J.-Y. (2020). Association between intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy and risk of gestational diabetes and preeclampsia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hypertension in Pregnancy*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/10641955.2020.1758939
- Artzi, N. S., Shilo, S., Hadar, E., Rossman, H., Barbash-Hazan, S., Ben-Haroush, A., ... Segal, E. (2020, January 1). Prediction of gestational diabetes based on nationwide electronic health records.
   *Nature Medicine*. Nature Research. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0724-8
- Athukorala, C., Crowther, C. A., Willson, K., Hiller, J. E., Moss, J. R., McPhee, A. J., ... Robinsons, J. S. (2007). Women with gestational diabetes mellitus in the ACHOIS trial: Risk factors for shoulder dystocia. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 47(1), 37–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1479-828X.2006.00676.x
- Bacq, Y., le Besco, M., Lecuyer, A. I., Gendrot, C., Potin, J., Andres, C. R., & Aubourg, A. (2017).
  Ursodeoxycholic acid therapy in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: Results in real-world conditions and factors predictive of response to treatment. *Digestive and Liver Disease*, 49(1), 63–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dld.2016.10.006
- Baggio, L. L., & Drucker, D. J. (2007). Biology of Incretins: GLP-1 and GIP. *Gastroenterology*, *132*(6), 2131–2157. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2007.03.054
- Bala, V., Rajagopal, S., Kumar, D. P., Nalli, A. D., Mahavadi, S., Sanyal, A. J., ... Murthy, K. S. (2014).
   Release of GLP-1 and PYY in response to the activation of G protein-coupled bile acid receptor
   TGR5 is mediated by Epac/PLC-ε pathway and modulated by endogenous H2S. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 5(Nov). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2014.00420

Balsells, M., García-Patterson, A., Solà, I., Roqué, M., Gich, I., & Corcoy, R. (2015, January 21).

Glibenclamide, metformin, and insulin for the treatment of gestational diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ (Online)*. BMJ Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h102

- Barbour, L. A., McCurdy, C. E., Hernandez, T. L., Kirwan, J. P., Catalano, P. M., & Friedman, J. E.
  (2007). Cellular mechanisms for insulin resistance in normal pregnancy and gestational diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, *30*(SUPPL. 2), S112–S119. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc07-s202
- Barbour, L. A., Scifres, C., Valent, A. M., Friedman, J. E., Buchanan, T. A., Coustan, D., ... Loeken, M. R. (2018). A cautionary response to SMFM statement: pharmacological treatment of gestational diabetes. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *219*(4), 367.e1-367.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2018.06.013
- Becker, A., Mannebach, S., Mathar, I., Weissgerber, P., Freichel, M., Loodin, A. P., ... Philipp, S. E. (2020). Control of Insulin Release by Transient Receptor Potential Melastatin 3 (TRPM3) Ion Channels. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, *54*(6), 1115–1131. https://doi.org/10.33594/000000304
- Behrendt, M., Gruss, F., Enzeroth, R., Dembla, S., Zhao, S., Crassous, P.-A., ... Oberwinkler, J. (2020).
   The structural basis for an on–off switch controlling Gβγ-mediated inhibition of TRPM3
   channels. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *117*(46), 29090–29100.
   https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2001177117
- Bellafante, E., McIlvride, S., Nikolova, V., Fan, H. M., Manna, L. B., Chambers, J., ... Williamson, C.
  (2020). Maternal glucose homeostasis is impaired in mouse models of gestational cholestasis.
  Scientific Reports, 10(1), 11523. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-67968-6
- Bellamy, L., Casas, J. P., Hingorani, A. D., & Williams, D. (2009). Type 2 diabetes mellitus after gestational diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet*, *373*(9677), 1773– 1779. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60731-5
- Bennion, L. J., & Grundy, S. M. (1977). Effects of Diabetes Mellitus on Cholesterol Metabolism in Man. New England Journal of Medicine, 296(24), 1365–1371. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm197706162962401
- Beuers, U. (2006, June). Drug insight: Mechanisms and sites of action of ursodeoxycholic acid in cholestasis. Nature Clinical Practice Gastroenterology and Hepatology. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncpgasthep0521

Beuers, U., Trauner, M., Jansen, P., & Poupon, R. (2015). New paradigms in the treatment of hepatic

cholestasis: From UDCA to FXR, PXR and beyond. *Journal of Hepatology*. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2015.02.023

- Biddinger, S. B., Haas, J. T., Yu, B. B., Bezy, O., Jing, E., Zhang, W., ... Kahn, C. R. (2008). Hepatic insulin resistance directly promotes formation of cholesterol gallstones. *Nature Medicine*, *14*(7), 778–782. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1785
- Blotsky, A. L., Rahme, E., Dahhou, M., Nakhla, M., & Dasgupta, K. (2019). Gestational diabetes associated with incident diabetes in childhood and youth: A retrospective cohort study. *CMAJ*, 191(15), E410–E417. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.181001
- Boden, G., Chen, X., Desantis, R. A., & Kendrick, Z. (1993). Effects of insulin on fatty acid reesterification in healthy subjects. *Diabetes*, *42*(11), 1588–1593. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.42.11.1588
- Bowe, J. E., Hill, T. G., Hunt, K. F., Smith, L. I. F., Simpson, S. J. S., Amiel, S. A., & Jones, P. M. (2019). A role for placental kisspeptin in β cell adaptation to pregnancy. *JCl Insight*, *4*(20). https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.124540
- Boyadzhieva, M., Atanasova, I., Zacharieva, S., & Kedikova, S. (2013). Adipocytokines during pregnancy and postpartum in women with gestational diabetes and healthy controls. *Journal of Endocrinological Investigation*, *36*(11), 944–949. https://doi.org/10.3275/8968
- Brighton, C. A., Rievaj, J., Kuhre, R. E., Glass, L. L., Schoonjans, K., Holst, J. J., ... Reimann, F. (2015).
  Bile acids trigger GLP-1 release predominantly by accessing basolaterally located G protein-coupled bile acid receptors. *Endocrinology*, *156*(11), 3961–3970.
  https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2015-1321
- Brink, H. S., van der Lely, A. J., & van der Linden, J. (2016). The potential role of biomarkers in predicting gestational diabetes. *Endocrine Connections*, 5(5), R26–R34. https://doi.org/10.1530/EC-16-0033
- Brites, D., Rodrigues, C. M. P., Van-Zeller, H., Alexandra Brito, & Silva, R. (1998). Relevance of serum bile acid profile in the diagnosis of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy in an high incidence area: Portugal. *European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, *80*(1), 31–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-2115(98)00086-4
- Broeders, E. P. M., Nascimento, E. B. M., Havekes, B., Brans, B., Roumans, K. H. M., Tailleux, A., ...
  Schrauwen, P. (2015). The bile acid chenodeoxycholic acid increases human brown adipose tissue activity. *Cell Metabolism*, 22(3), 418–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2015.07.002

- Bronczek, G. A., Vettorazzi, J. F., Soares, G. M., Kurauti, M. A., Santos, C., Bonfim, M. F., ... Júnior, J.
  M. C. (2019). The bile acid TUDCA improves beta-cell mass and reduces insulin degradation in mice with early-stage of type-1 diabetes. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *10*(MAY). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00561
- Brooks, A. W., Priya, S., Blekhman, R., & Bordenstein, S. R. (2018). Gut microbiota diversity across ethnicities in the United States. *PLoS Biology*, *16*(12), e2006842.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2006842
- Brufau, G., Bahr, M. J., Staels, B., Claudel, T., Ockenga, J., Böker, K. H. W., ... Tietge, U. J. F. (2010).
  Plasma bile acids are not associated with energy metabolism in humans. *Nutrition and Metabolism*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-7075-7-73
- Brufau, G., Stellaard, F., Prado, K., Bloks, V. W., Jonkers, E., Boverhof, R., ... Murphy, E. J. (2010).
  Improved glycemic control with colesevelam treatment in patients with type 2 diabetes is not directly associated with changes in bile acid metabolism. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)*, *52*(4), 1455–1464. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.23831
- Calderon, G., McRae, A., Rievaj, J., Davis, J., Zandvakili, I., Linker-Nord, S., ... Acosta, A. (2020). Ileocolonic delivery of conjugated bile acids improves glucose homeostasis via colonic GLP-1producing enteroendocrine cells in human obesity and diabetes. *EBioMedicine*, 55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102759
- Cariou, B., Chetiveaux, M., Zar, Y., Pouteau, E., Disse, E., Guyomarc'H-Delasalle, B., ... Krempf, M. (2011). Fasting plasma chenodeoxycholic acid and cholic acid concentrations are inversely correlated with insulin sensitivity in adults. *Nutrition and Metabolism*, 8(1), 48. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-7075-8-48
- Carolan, M., Davey, M. A., Biro, M. A., & Kealy, M. (2012). Maternal age, ethnicity and gestational diabetes mellitus. *Midwifery*, *28*(6), 778–783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2011.08.014
- Caron, S., Huaman Samanez, C., Dehondt, H., Ploton, M., Briand, O., Lien, F., ... Staels, B. (2013).
   Farnesoid X Receptor Inhibits the Transcriptional Activity of Carbohydrate Response Element
   Binding Protein in Human Hepatocytes. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 33(11), 2202–2211.
   https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.01004-12
- Carter, J. (1991). Serum bile acids in normal pregnancy. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics* & *Gynaecology*, *98*(6), 540–543. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.1991.tb10367.x

Castaño, G., Lucangioli, S., Sookoian, S., Mesquida, M., Lemberg, A., Di Scala, M., ... Tripodi, V.

(2006). Bile acid profiles by capillary electrophoresis in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Clinical Science*, *110*(4), 459–465. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20050302

- Catalano, P., & Demouzon, S. H. (2015, April 9). Maternal obesity and metabolic risk to the offspring: Why lifestyle interventions may have not achieved the desired outcomes. *International Journal of Obesity*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2015.15
- Catalano, P. M., Tyzbir, E. D., Wolfe, R. R., Calles, J., Roman, N. M., Amini, S. B., & Sims, E. A. H. (1993). Carbohydrate metabolism during pregnancy in control subjects and women with gestational diabetes. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 264(1 27-1). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1993.264.1.e60
- Catalano, Patrick M., Farrell, K., Thomas, A., Huston-Presley, L., Mencin, P., De Mouzon, S. H., & Amini, S. B. (2009). Perinatal risk factors for childhood obesity and metabolic dysregulation. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *90*(5), 1303–1313. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2008.27416
- Chang, T. Y., Li, B. L., Chang, C. C. Y., & Urano, Y. (2009, July). Acyl-coenzyme A:cholesterol acyltransferases. American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism. American Physiological Society. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.90926.2008
- Chappell, L. C., Bell, J. L., Smith, A., Linsell, L., Juszczak, E., Dixon, P. H., ... Tan, B. (2019).
  Ursodeoxycholic acid versus placebo in women with intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (PITCHES): a randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, *394*(10201), 849–860.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31270-X
- Chávez-Talavera, O., Tailleux, A., Lefebvre, P., & Staels, B. (2017). Bile Acid Control of Metabolism
   and Inflammation in Obesity, Type 2 Diabetes, Dyslipidemia, and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver
   Disease. *Gastroenterology*, 152(7), 1679-1694.e3. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.01.055
- Chen, T., Reich, N. W., Bell, N., Finn, P. D., Rodriguez, D., Kohler, J., ... Lewis, J. G. (2018). Design of Gut-Restricted Thiazolidine Agonists of G Protein-Coupled Bile Acid Receptor 1 (GPBAR1, TGR5). *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, *61*(17), 7589–7613. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.8b00308
- Chen, Y., Vasilenko, A., Song, X., Valanejad, L., Verma, R., You, S., ... Deng, R. (2015). Estrogen and Estrogen Receptor-α-Mediated Transrepression of Bile Salt Export Pump. *Molecular Endocrinology (Baltimore, Md.), 29*(4), 613–626. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2015-1014

Chiang, J. Y. L., & Ferrell, J. M. (2018). Bile acid metabolism in liver pathobiology. Gene Expression.

Cognizant Communication Corporation. https://doi.org/10.3727/105221618X15156018385515

- Chow, E. C. Y., Magomedova, L., Quach, H. P., Patel, R., Durk, M. R., Fan, J., ... Pang, K. S. (2014).
  Vitamin D receptor activation down-regulates the small heterodimer partner and increases
  CYP7A1 to lower cholesterol. *Gastroenterology*, *146*(4), 1048-1059.e7.
  https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2013.12.027
- Christiansen, C. B., Trammell, S. A. J., Albrechtsen, N. J. W., Schoonjans, K., Albrechtsen, R., Gillum,
   M. P., ... Holst, J. J. (2019). Bile acids drive colonic secretion of glucagon-like-peptide 1 and
   peptide-YY in rodents. *American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*,
   *316*(5), G574–G584. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00010.2019
- Cipriani, S., Mencarelli, A., Palladino, G., & Fiorucci, S. (2010). FXR activation reverses insulin resistance and lipid abnormalities and protects against liver steatosis in Zucker (fa/fa) obese rats. *Journal of Lipid Research*, *51*(4), 771–784. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M001602
- Clarke, G., Stilling, R. M., Kennedy, P. J., Stanton, C., Cryan, J. F., & Dinan, T. G. (2014). Minireview: Gut microbiota: The neglected endocrine organ. *Molecular Endocrinology*. Endocrine Society. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2014-1108
- Collado, M. C., Isolauri, E., Laitinen, K., & Salminen, S. (2008). Distinct composition of gut microbiota during pregnancy in overweight and normal-weight women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 88(4), 894–899. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/88.4.894
- Costarelli, V., & Sanders, T. A. B. (2001). Acute effects of dietary fat composition on postprandial plasma bile acid and cholecystokinin concentrations in healthy premenopausal women. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *86*(4), 471–477. https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn2001431
- Da Silva Xavier, G. (2018). The Cells of the Islets of Langerhans. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 7(3), 54. https://doi.org/10.3390/JCM7030054
- Dai, Y., Liu, J., Yuan, E., Li, Y., Wang, Q., Jia, L., ... Su, Y. (2018). Gestational age-specific reference intervals for 15 biochemical measurands during normal pregnancy in China. *Annals of Clinical Biochemistry*, 55(4), 446–452. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004563217738801
- Dann, A. T., Kenyon, A. P., Wierzbicki, A. S., Seed, P. T., Shennan, A. H., & Tribe, R. M. (2006). Plasma lipid profiles of women with intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 107(1), 106–114. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.AOG.0000189096.94874.9c
- Dathan-Stumpf, A., Vogel, M., Jank, A., Thiery, J., Kiess, W., & Stepan, H. (2019). Reference intervals of serum lipids in the second and third trimesters of pregnancy in a Caucasian cohort: the LIFE

Child study. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, *300*(6), 1531–1539. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-019-05342-2

- Dawson, P. A., & Karpen, S. J. (2015, June 1). Intestinal transport and metabolism of bile acids. Journal of Lipid Research. American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Inc. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R054114
- De Fabiani, E., Mitro, N., Gilardi, F., Caruso, D., Galli, G., & Crestani, M. (2003). Coordinated control of cholesterol catabolism to bile acids and of gluconeogenesis via a novel mechanism of transcription regulation linked to the fasted-to-fed cycle. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(40), 39124–39132. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M305079200
- De Marino, S., Carino, A., Masullo, D., Finamore, C., Marchianò, S., Cipriani, S., ... Zampella, A. (2017). Hyodeoxycholic acid derivatives as liver X receptor α and G-protein-coupled bile acid receptor agonists. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep43290
- Di Cianni, G., Miccoli, R., Volpe, L., Lencioni, C., & Del Prato, S. (2003, July). Intermediate metabolism in normal pregnancy and in gestational diabetes. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.390
- Dias, V., & Ribeiro, V. (2011). Ethnic differences in the prevalence of polymorphisms in CYP7A1, CYP7B1 and CYP27A1 enzymes involved in cholesterol metabolism. *Journal of Pharmacy and Bioallied Sciences*, *3*(3), 453–459. https://doi.org/10.4103/0975-7406.84465
- Diderholm, B., Stridsberg, M., Ewald, U., Lindeberg-Nordén, S., & Gustafsson, J. (2005). Increased lipolysis in non-obese pregnant women studied in the third trimester. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *112*(6), 713–718. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2004.00534.x
- Ding, M., Chavarro, J., Olsen, S., Lin, Y., Ley, S. H., Bao, W., ... Zhang, C. (2018). Genetic variants of gestational diabetes mellitus: a study of 112 SNPs among 8722 women in two independent populations. *Diabetologia*, 61(8), 1758–1768. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4637-8
- Dixon, P. H., Sambrotta, M., Chambers, J., Taylor-Harris, P., Syngelaki, A., Nicolaides, K., ... Williamson, C. (2017). An expanded role for heterozygous mutations of ABCB4, ABCB11, ATP8B1, ABCC2 and TJP2 in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-11626-x
- Dooley, S. L., Metzger, B. E., & Cho, N. H. (1991). Gestational diabetes mellitus: Influence of race on disease prevalence and perinatal outcome in a U.S. population. In *Diabetes* (Vol. 40, pp. 25–29).

Diabetes. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.40.2.s25

- Drews, A., Mohr, F., Rizun, O., Wagner, T. F. J., Dembla, S., Rudolph, S., ... Oberwinkler, J. (2014).
   Structural requirements of steroidal agonists of transient receptor potential melastatin 3 (TRPM3) cation channels. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *171*(4), 1019–1032.
   https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.12521
- Duan, J., Li, Z., Li, J., Hulse, R. E., Santa-Cruz, A., Valinsky, W. C., ... Clapham, D. E. (2018). Structure of the mammalian TRPM7, a magnesium channel required during embryonic development.
   *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(35), E8201–E8210. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1810719115
- Duboc, H., Taché, Y., & Hofmann, A. F. (2014, April 1). The bile acid TGR5 membrane receptor: From basic research to clinical application. *Digestive and Liver Disease*. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dld.2013.10.021
- Ducastel, S., Touche, V., Trabelsi, M. S., Boulinguiez, A., Butruille, L., Nawrot, M., ... Lestavel, S. (2020). The nuclear receptor FXR inhibits Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 secretion in response to microbiota-derived Short-Chain Fatty Acids. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-56743-x
- Dudzik, D., Zorawski, M., Skotnicki, M., Zarzycki, W., Kozlowska, G., Bibik-Malinowska, K., ... Ramos,
   M. P. (2014). Metabolic fingerprint of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Proteomics*, *103*, 57–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2014.03.025
- Düfer, M., Hörth, K., Krippeit-Drews, P., & Drews, G. (2012). The significance of the nuclear farnesoid X receptor (FXR) in β cell function. *Islets*. Landes Bioscience. https://doi.org/10.4161/isl.22383
- Düfer, M., Hörth, K., Wagner, R., Schittenhelm, B., Prowald, S., Wagner, T. F. J., … Drews, G. (2012). Bile acids acutely stimulate insulin secretion of mouse β-cells via farnesoid X receptor activation and K ATP channel inhibition. *Diabetes*, *61*(6), 1479–1489. https://doi.org/10.2337/db11-0815
- Duran-Sandoval, D., Mautino, G., Martin, G., Percevault, F., Barbier, O., Fruchart, J. C., ... Staels, B.
  (2004). Glucose Regulates the Expression of the Farnesoid X Receptor in Liver. *Diabetes*, *53*(4), 890–898. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.53.4.890
- Egan, A. M., & Dunne, F. P. (2020). Epidemiology of Gestational and Pregestational Diabetes Mellitus. In *Frontiers in Diabetes* (Vol. 28, pp. 1–10). S. Karger AG. https://doi.org/10.1159/000480161

- Fan, H. M., Mitchell, A. L., & Williamson, C. (2021). ENDOCRINOLOGY IN PREGNANCY: Metabolic impact of bile acids in gestation. *European Journal of Endocrinology*. https://doi.org/10.1530/eje-20-1101
- Fang, S., Suh, J. M., Reilly, S. M., Yu, E., Osborn, O., Lackey, D., ... Evans, R. M. (2015). Intestinal FXR agonism promotes adipose tissue browning and reduces obesity and insulin resistance. *Nature Medicine*, 21(2), 159–165. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3760
- Fang, X., Yu, S. X., Lu, Y., Bast, R. C., Woodgett, J. R., & Mills, G. B. (2000). Phosphorylation and inactivation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 by protein kinase A. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(22), 11960–11965. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.220413597
- Farrar, D., Duley, L., Dowswell, T., & Lawlor, D. A. (2017, August 23). Different strategies for diagnosing gestational diabetes to improve maternal and infant health. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. John Wiley and Sons Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD007122.pub4
- Fasshauer, M., Blüher, M., Stumvoll, M., Tönessen, P., Faber, R., & Stepan, H. (2007). Differential regulation of visfatin and adiponectin in pregnancies with normal and abnormal placental function. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 66(3), 434–439. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2265.2007.02751.x
- Feig, D. S., Hwee, J., Shah, B. R., Booth, G. L., Bierman, A. S., & Lipscombe, L. L. (2014). Trends in incidence of diabetes in pregnancy and serious perinatal outcomes: A large, population-based study in ontario, canada, 1996-2010. *Diabetes Care*, *37*(6), 1590–1596. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc13-2717
- Ferrannini, E., Camastra, S., Astiarraga, B., Nannipieri, M., Castro-Perez, J., Xie, D., ... Haeusler, R. A. (2015). Increased bile acid synthesis and deconjugation after Biliopancreatic diversion.
   *Diabetes*, 64(10), 3377–3385. https://doi.org/10.2337/db15-0214
- Ferrara, A. (2007). Increasing prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus: A public health perspective. *Diabetes Care*, *30*(SUPPL. 2), S141–S146. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc07-s206
- Finn, P. D., Rodriguez, D., Kohler, J., Jiang, Z., Wan, S., Blanco, E., ... Lewis, J. G. (2019). Intestinal TGR5 agonism improves hepatic steatosis and insulin sensitivity in western diet-fed mice. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 316(3), G412–G424. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00300.2018

- Foghsgaard, S., Andreasen, C., Vedtofte, L., Andersen, E. S., Bahne, E., Strandberg, C., ... Vilsbøll, T. (2017). Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is prevalent in women with prior gestational diabetes mellitus and independently associated with insulin resistance and waist circumference. *Diabetes Care*, 40(1), 109–116. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc16-1017
- Fonfria, E., Murdock, P. R., Cusdin, F. S., Benham, C. D., Kelsell, R. E., & McNulty, S. (2006). Tissue distribution profiles of the human TRPM cation channel family. *Journal of Receptors and Signal Transduction*, 26(3), 159–178. https://doi.org/10.1080/10799890600637506
- Foretz, M., Guichard, C., Ferré, P., & Foufelle, F. (1999). Sterol regulatory element binding protein-1c is a major mediator of insulin action on the hepatic expression of glucokinase and lipogenesisrelated genes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(22), 12737–12742. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.22.12737
- Freemark, M. (2010). Placental Hormones and the Control of Fetal Growth. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, *95*(5), 2054–2057. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-0517
- Friedman, J. E., Ishizuka, T., Shao, J., Huston, L., Highman, T., & Catalano, P. (1999). Impaired glucose transport and insulin receptor tyrosine phosphorylation in skeletal muscle from obese women with gestational diabetes. *Diabetes*, 48(9), 1807–1814. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.48.9.1807
- Frühwald, J., Londoño, J. C., Dembla, S., Mannebach, S., Lis, A., Drews, A., ... Philipp, S. E. (2012).
  Alternative splicing of a protein domain indispensable for function of transient receptor
  potential melastatin 3 (TRPM3) ion channels. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *287*(44), 36663–36672. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.396663
- Fu, Z., R. Gilbert, E., & Liu, D. (2012). Regulation of Insulin Synthesis and Secretion and Pancreatic Beta-Cell Dysfunction in Diabetes. *Current Diabetes Reviews*, 9(1), 25–53. https://doi.org/10.2174/15733998130104
- Fujii, M., Matano, M., Nanki, K., & Sato, T. (2015). Efficient genetic engineering of human intestinal organoids using electroporation. *Nature Protocols*, *10*(10), 1474–1485. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2015.088
- Fulton, I. C., Douglas, J. G., Hutchon, D. J. R., & Beckett, G. J. (1983). Is normal pregnancy cholestatic? *Clinica Chimica Acta*, *130*(2), 171–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/0009-8981(83)90114-6
- Gagnon, M., Trottier, J., Weisnagel, S. J., Gagnon, C., Carreau, A. M., Barbier, O., & Morisset, A. S.(2021). Bile acids during pregnancy: Trimester variations and associations with glucose

homeostasis. Health Science Reports, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/hsr2.243

- Gao, Jie, & Xie, W. (2012, October). Targeting xenobiotic receptors PXR and CAR for metabolic diseases. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*. Trends Pharmacol Sci. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2012.07.003
- Gao, Jieying, Xu, B., Zhang, X., Cui, Y., Deng, L., Shi, Z., ... Ding, M. (2016). Association between serum bile acid profiles and gestational diabetes mellitus: A targeted metabolomics study. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 459, 63–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2016.05.026
- Gautam, D., Han, S. J., Hamdan, F. F., Jeon, J., Li, B., Li, J. H., ... Wess, J. (2006). A critical role for β cell M3 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in regulating insulin release and blood glucose homeostasis in vivo. *Cell Metabolism*, *3*(6), 449–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2006.04.009
- Geenes, V., Chappell, L. C., Seed, P. T., Steer, P. J., Knight, M., & Williamson, C. (2014). Association of severe intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy with adverse pregnancy outcomes: A prospective population-based case-control study. *Hepatology*, *59*(4), 1482–1491. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.26617
- Georgiou, H. M., Lappas, M., Georgiou, G. M., Marita, A., Bryant, V. J., Hiscock, R., ... Rice, G. E.
  (2008). Screening for biomarkers predictive of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Acta Diabetologica*, 45(3), 157–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-008-0037-8
- Ghosh Laskar, M., Eriksson, M., Rudling, M., & Angelin, B. (2017). Treatment with the natural FXR agonist chenodeoxycholic acid reduces clearance of plasma LDL whilst decreasing circulating PCSK9, lipoprotein(a) and apolipoprotein C-III. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, *281*(6), 575–585. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.12594
- Glantz, A., Marschall, H. U., & Mattsson, L. Å. (2004). Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy:
   Relationships between bile acid levels and fetal complication rates. *Hepatology*, 40(2), 467–474. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.20336
- Glantz, A., Reilly, S. J., Benthin, L., Lammert, F., Mattsson, L. Å., & Marschall, H. U. (2008).
   Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: Amelioration of pruritus by UDCA is associated with decreased progesterone disulphates in urine. *Hepatology*, 47(2), 544–551.
   https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.21987
- Graf, G. A., Yu, L., Li, W. P., Gerard, R., Tuma, P. L., Cohen, J. C., & Hobbs, H. H. (2003). ABCG5 and ABCG8 Are Obligate Heterodimers for Protein Trafficking and Biliary Cholesterol Excretion.

*Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *278*(48), 48275–48282. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M310223200

- Grimm, C., Kraft, R., Sauerbruch, S., Schultz, G., & Harteneck, C. (2003). Molecular and functional characterization of the melastatin-related cation channel TRPM3. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(24), 21493–21501. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M300945200
- Gujral, U. P., Pradeepa, R., Weber, M. B., Narayan, K. M. V., & Mohan, V. (2013). Type 2 diabetes in South Asians: Similarities and differences with white Caucasian and other populations. *Annals* of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1281(1), 51–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06838.x
- Guo, C., Chen, W. D., & Wang, Y. D. (2016). TGR5, not only a metabolic regulator. *Frontiers in Physiology*. Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2016.00646
- Gutaj, P., Sibiak, R., Jankowski, M., Awdi, K., Bryl, R., Mozdziak, P., ... Wender-Ozegowska, E. (2020, December 2). The role of the adipokines in the most common gestational complications.
   *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. MDPI AG. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21249408
- Haeusler, R. A., Camastra, S., Nannipieri, M., Astiarraga, B., Castro-Perez, J., Xie, D., ... Ferrannini, E.
  (2016). Increased bile acid synthesis and impaired bile acid transport in human obesity. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *101*(5), 1935–1944. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2015-2583
- Hakkola, J., Rysä, J., & Hukkanen, J. (2016). Regulation of hepatic energy metabolism by the nuclear receptor PXR. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Gene Regulatory Mechanisms*, 1859(9), 1072–1082. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagrm.2016.03.012
- Halama, A., Kahal, H., Bhagwat, A. M., Zierer, J., Sathyapalan, T., Graumann, J., ... Atkin, S. L. (2019).
   Metabolic and proteomic signatures of hypoglycaemia in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes, Obesity* and Metabolism, 21(4), 909–919. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.13602
- Han, S. Y., Song, H. K., Cha, J. J., Han, J. Y., Kang, Y. S., & Cha, D. R. (2021). Farnesoid X receptor (FXR) agonist ameliorates systemic insulin resistance, dysregulation of lipid metabolism, and alterations of various organs in a type 2 diabetic kidney animal model. *Acta Diabetologica*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-020-01652-z
- Han, Y., Tong, M., Jin, L., Yu, J., Meng, W., Ren, A., & Jin, L. (2021). Maternal age at pregnancy and risk for gestational diabetes mellitus among Chinese women with singleton pregnancies.
   International Journal of Diabetes in Developing Countries, 41(1), 114–120.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s13410-020-00859-8

- Hanem, L. G. E., Salvesen, Ø., Juliusson, P. B., Carlsen, S. M., Nossum, M. C. F., Vaage, M. Ø., ...
  Vanky, E. (2019). Intrauterine metformin exposure and offspring cardiometabolic risk factors (PedMet study): a 5–10 year follow-up of the PregMet randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Child and Adolescent Health*, 3(3), 166–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30385-7
- Harteneck, C. (2005, April 21). Function and pharmacology of TRPM cation channels. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00210-005-1034-x
- Hasain, Z., Mokhtar, N. M., Kamaruddin, N. A., Mohamed Ismail, N. A., Razalli, N. H., Gnanou, J. V., & Raja Ali, R. A. (2020, May 15). Gut Microbiota and Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: A Review of Host-Gut Microbiota Interactions and Their Therapeutic Potential. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*. Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2020.00188
- Hauge-Evans, A. C., Reers, C., Kerby, A., Franklin, Z., Amisten, S., King, A. J., ... Jones, P. M. (2014).
   Effect of hyperglycaemia on muscarinic M3 receptor expression and secretory sensitivity to cholinergic receptor activation in islets. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, *16*(10), 947–956. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.12301
- Hedderson, M., Ehrlich, S., Sridhar, S., Darbinian, J., Moore, S., & Ferrara, A. (2012). Racial/ethnic disparities in the prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus by BMI. *Diabetes Care*, 35(7), 1492–1498. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc11-2267
- Heikkinen, J. (1983). Serum bile acids in the early diagnosis of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *61*(5), 581–587.
- Herman, M. A., Peroni, O. D., Villoria, J., Schön, M. R., Abumrad, N. A., Blüher, M., ... Kahn, B. B.
  (2012). A novel ChREBP isoform in adipose tissue regulates systemic glucose metabolism. *Nature*, 484(7394), 333–338. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10986
- Herman, W. H., Ma, Y., Uwaifo, G., Haffner, S., Kahn, S. E., Horton, E. S., ... Barrett-Connor, E. (2007).
  Differences in A1C by race and ethnicity among patients with impaired glucose tolerance in the diabetes prevention program. *Diabetes Care*, *30*(10), 2453–2457.
  https://doi.org/10.2337/dc06-2003
- Herrema, H., Meissner, M., van Dijk, T. H., Brufau, G., Boverhof, R., Oosterveer, M. H., ... Kuipers, F. (2010). Bile salt sequestration induces hepatic *de novo* lipogenesis through farnesoid X receptor- and liver X receptorα-controlled metabolic pathways in mice. *Hepatology*, *51*(3),

806-816. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.23408

- Hill, D., & Szlapinski, S. K. (2020). METABOLIC ADAPTATIONS TO PREGNANCY IN HEALTHY AND GESTATIONAL DIABETIC PREGNANCIES: THE PANCREAS – PLACENTA AXIS. Current Vascular Pharmacology, 18. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570161118666200320111209
- Hirosumi, J., Tuncman, G., Chang, L., Görgün, C. Z., Uysal, K. T., Maeda, K., ... Hotamisligil, G. S.
  (2002). A central, role for JNK in obesity and insulin resistance. *Nature*, 420(6913), 333–336. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01137
- Ho, R. H., Leake, B. F., Urquhart, B. L., Gregor, J. C., Dawson, P. A., & Kim, R. B. (2011). Functional characterization of genetic variants in the apical sodium-dependent bile acid transporter (ASBT; SLC10A2). *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology (Australia)*, 26(12), 1740–1748. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1746.2011.06805.x
- Hodge, R. J., Lin, J., Vasist Johnson, L. S., Gould, E. P., Bowers, G. D., & Nunez, D. J. (2013). Safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamic effects of a selective TGR5 Agonist, SB-756050, in Type 2 Diabetes. *Clinical Pharmacology in Drug Development*, 2(3), 213–222. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpdd.34
- Hoffmeister, T., Kaiser, J., Lüdtke, S., Drews, G., & Düfer, M. (2020). Interactions between
  Atorvastatin and the Farnesoid X Receptor Impair Insulinotropic Effects of Bile Acids and
  Modulate Diabetogenic Risk. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *97*(3), 202–211.
  https://doi.org/10.1124/MOL.119.118083
- Hotamisligil, G. S., Murray, D. L., Choy, L. N., & Spiegelman, B. M. (1994). Tumor necrosis factor α inhibits signaling from the insulin receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *91*(11), 4854–4858. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.91.11.4854
- Hotamisligil, G. S., Shargill, N. S., & Spiegelman, B. M. (1993). Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-α: Direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science*, *259*(5091), 87–91. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7678183
- Hou, W., Meng, X., Zhao, A., Zhao, W., Pan, J., Tang, J., ... Jia, W. (2018). Development of multimarker diagnostic models from metabolomics analysis for gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM).
   *Molecular and Cellular Proteomics*, *17*(3), 431–441.
   https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.RA117.000121
- Hou, W., Meng, X., Zhao, W., Pan, J., Tang, J., Huang, Y., ... Jia, W. (2016). Elevated first-trimester total bile acid is associated with the risk of subsequent gestational diabetes. *Scientific Reports*,

6(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep34070

- Huang, G. C., Zhao, M., Jones, P., Persaud, S., Ramracheya, R., Lobner, K., ... Amiel, S. (2004). The development of new density gradient media for purifying human islets and islet-quality assessments. *Transplantation*, 77(1), 143–145. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.TP.0000100401.62912.B2
- Huang, S., Ma, S., Ning, M., Yang, W., Ye, Y., Zhang, L., ... Leng, Y. (2019). TGR5 agonist ameliorates insulin resistance in the skeletal muscles and improves glucose homeostasis in diabetic mice. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, *99*, 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2019.07.003
- Huang, Y., Fliegert, R., Guse, A. H., Lü, W., & Du, J. (2020, January 1). A structural overview of the ion channels of the TRPM family. *Cell Calcium*. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2019.102111
- Ibrahim, E., Diakonov, I., Arunthavarajah, D., Swift, T., Goodwin, M., McIlvride, S., ... Gorelik, J. (2018). Bile acids and their respective conjugates elicit different responses in neonatal cardiomyocytes: Role of Gi protein, muscarinic receptors and TGR5. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 7110. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-25569-4
- Ichikawa, R., Takayama, T., Yoneno, K., Kamada, N., Kitazume, M. T., Higuchi, H., ... Hibi, T. (2012).
  Bile acids induce monocyte differentiation toward interleukin-12 hypo-producing dendritic cells
  via a TGR5-dependent pathway. *Immunology*, *136*(2), 153–162. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2012.03554.x
- Iizuka, K., Bruick, R. K., Liang, G., Horton, J. D., & Uyeda, K. (2004). Deficiency of carbohydrate response element-binding protein (ChREBP) reduces lipogenesis as well as glycolysis.
   Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 101(19), 7281–7286. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0401516101
- Ishizawa, M., Akagi, D., & Makishima, M. (2018). Lithocholic acid is a vitamin D receptor ligand that acts preferentially in the ileum. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *19*(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19071975
- Jahromi, A. S., Zareian, P., & Madani, A. (2011). Association of insulin resistance with serum interleukin-6 and tnf-α levels during normal pregnancy. *Biomarker Insights*, *6*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.4137/BMI.S6150

Jiang, C., Xie, C., Lv, Y., Li, J., Krausz, K. W., Shi, J., ... Gonzalez, F. J. (2015). Intestine-selective
farnesoid X receptor inhibition improves obesity-related metabolic dysfunction. *Nature Communications*, *6*(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms10166

- Jiang, J., Liu, X., Liu, X., Tian, Z., Zhang, H., Qian, X., ... Mao, Z. (2019). The effect of progesterone and pregnenolone on diabetes status in Chinese rural population: A dose-response analysis from Henan Rural Cohort. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 181(6), 603–614. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-19-0352
- Jones, P. M., Salmon, D. M. W., & Howell, S. L. (1988). Protein phosphorylation in electrically permeabilized islets of Langerhans. Effects of Ca2+, cyclic AMP, a phorbol ester and noradrenaline. *Biochemical Journal*, *254*(2), 397–403. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj2540397
- Joyce, S. A., & Gahan, C. G. M. (2014, March). The gut microbiota and the metabolic health of the host. *Current Opinion in Gastroenterology*. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOG.000000000000039
- Jun, J. Y., Choi, S., Chang, I. Y., Yoon, C. K., Jeong, H. G., Kong, I. D., ... You, H. J. (2005). Deoxycholic acid inhibits pacemaker currents by activating ATP-dependent K + channels through prostaglandin E 2 in interstitial cells of Cajal from the murine small intestine. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 144(2), 242–251. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0706074
- Juřica, J., Dovrtělová, G., Nosková, K., & Zendulka, O. (2016). Bile acids, Nuclear receptors and cytochrome P450. *Physiological Research*. Czech Academy of Sciences. https://doi.org/10.33549/physiolres.933512
- Kalaany, N. Y., & Mangelsdorf, D. J. (2006). LXRS AND FXR: The Yin and Yang of Cholesterol and Fat Metabolism. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 68(1), 159–191. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.68.033104.152158
- Kalkhoff, R. K. (1982). Metabolic effects of progesterone. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *142*(6 II), 735–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0002-9378(16)32480-2
- Kancheva, R., Hill, M., Cibula, D., Včeláková, H., Kancheva, L., Vrbíková, J., ... Stárka, L. (2007).
   Relationships of circulating pregnanolone isomers and their polar conjugates to the status of sex, menstrual cycle, and pregnancy. *Journal of Endocrinology*, *195*(1), 67–78.
   https://doi.org/10.1677/JOE-06-0192
- Kasher-Merona, M., Mazaki-Tovia, S., Barhod, E., Hemi, R., Haas, J., Gat, I., ... Kanety, H. (2014). Chemerin concentrations in maternal and fetal compartments: Implications for metabolic adaptations to normal human pregnancy. *Journal of Perinatal Medicine*, *42*(3), 371–378.

https://doi.org/10.1515/jpm-2013-0166

- Kaur, A., Patankar, J. V., De Haan, W., Ruddle, P., Wijesekara, N., Groen, A. K., ... Hayden, M. R.
  (2015). Loss of Cyp8b1 improves glucose homeostasis by increasing GLP-1. *Diabetes*, 64(4), 1168–1179. https://doi.org/10.2337/db14-0716
- Kawamata, Y., Fujii, R., Hosoya, M., Harada, M., Yoshida, H., Miwa, M., ... Fujino, M. (2003). A G protein-coupled receptor responsive to bile acids. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(11), 9435–9440. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M209706200
- Kawasaki, M., Arata, N., Miyazaki, C., Mori, R., Kikuchi, T., Ogawa, Y., & Ota, E. (2018, January 1).
   Obesity and abnormal glucose tolerance in offspring of diabetic mothers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*. Public Library of Science.
   https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190676
- Kersten, S. (2001). Mechanisms of nutritional and hormonal regulation of lipogenesis. EMBO Reports. European Molecular Biology Organization. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboreports/kve071
- Kim, A., Miller, K., Jo, J., Kilimnik, G., Wojcik, P., & Hara, M. (2009). Islet architecture: A comparative study. *Islets*, 1(2), 129–136. https://doi.org/10.4161/ISL.1.2.9480
- Kim, S. Y., England, L., Wilson, H. G., Bish, C., Satten, G. A., & Dietz, P. (2010). Percentage of gestational diabetes mellitus attributable to overweight and obesity. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(6), 1047–1052. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.172890
- Kiriyama, Y., & Nochi, H. (2019). The biosynthesis, signaling, and neurological functions of bile acids. Biomolecules. MDPI AG. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom9060232
- Kirwan, J. P., Hauguel-De Mouzon, S., Lepercq, J., Challier, J. C., Huston-Presley, L., Friedman, J. E., ... Catalano, P. M. (2002). TNF-α is a predictor of insulin resistance in human pregnancy. *Diabetes*, 51(7), 2207–2213. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.51.7.2207
- Kirwan, J. P., Varastehpour, A., Jing, M., Presley, L., Shao, J., Friedman, J. E., & Catalano, P. M. (2004).
   Reversal of insulin resistance postpartum is linked to enhanced skeletal muscle insulin signaling. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *89*(9), 4678–4684.
   https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2004-0749
- Knudsen, L., & Pridal, L. (1996). Glucagon-like peptide-1-(9-36) amide is a major metabolite of glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36) amide after in vivo administration to dogs, and it acts as an antagonist on the pancreatic receptor. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 318(2–3), 429–435.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2999(96)00795-9

- Kobayashi, Y., Hara, N., Sugimoto, R., Mifuji-Moroka, R., Tanaka, H., Eguchi, A., ... Taguchi, O. (2017).
  The associations between circulating Bile acids and the muscle volume in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). *Internal Medicine*, *56*(7), 755–762.
  https://doi.org/10.2169/internalmedicine.56.7796
- Kong, M., Lu, Z., Zhong, C., Gao, Q., Zhou, X., Chen, R., ... Yang, N. (2020). A higher level of total bile acid in early mid-pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a prospective cohort study in Wuhan, China. *Journal of Endocrinological Investigation*, *43*(8), 1097–1103. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40618-020-01196-7
- Kong, X., Kong, Y., Zhang, F., Wang, T., & Yan, J. (2016). Evaluating the effectiveness and safety of ursodeoxycholic acid in treatment of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: A meta-analysis (a prisma-compliant study). *Medicine (United States)*, *95*(40), e4949.
   https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000004949
- Koren, O., Goodrich, J. K., Cullender, T. C., Spor, A., Laitinen, K., Kling Bäckhed, H., ... Ley, R. E. (2012).
  Host remodeling of the gut microbiome and metabolic changes during pregnancy. *Cell*, *150*(3), 470–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.07.008
- Koukkou, E., Watts, G. F., & Lowy, C. (1996). Serum lipid, lipoprotein and apolipoprotein changes in gestational diabetes mellitus: A cross-sectional and prospective study. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 49(8), 634–637. https://doi.org/10.1136/jcp.49.8.634
- Kuhre, R. E., Wewer Albrechtsen, N. J., Larsen, O., Jepsen, S. L., Balk-Møller, E., Andersen, D. B., ...
   Holst, J. J. (2018). Bile acids are important direct and indirect regulators of the secretion of appetite- and metabolism-regulating hormones from the gut and pancreas. *Molecular Metabolism*, *11*, 84–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2018.03.007
- Kullak-Ublick, G. A., Stieger, B., Hagenbuch, B., & Meier, P. J. (2000). Hepatic transport of bile salts. Seminars in Liver Disease. Semin Liver Dis. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2000-9426
- Kumar, D. P., Asgharpour, A., Mirshahi, F., Park, S. H., Liu, S., Imai, Y., ... Sanyal, A. J. (2016).
   Activation of transmembrane bile acid receptor tgr5 modulates pancreatic islet Cells to promote glucose homeostasis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 291(13), 6626–6640.
   https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.699504
- Kumar, D. P., Rajagopal, S., Mahavadi, S., Mirshahi, F., Grider, J. R., Murthy, K. S., & Sanyal, A. J. (2012). Activation of transmembrane bile acid receptor TGR5 stimulates insulin secretion in

pancreatic β cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 427(3), 600–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.09.104

- Kurdi, P., Kawanishi, K., Mizutani, K., & Yokota, A. (2006). Mechanism of growth inhibition by free bile acids in lactobacilli and bifidobacteria. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *188*(5), 1979–1986. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.188.5.1979-1986.2006
- Kwak, S. H., Kim, S. H., Cho, Y. M., Go, M. J., Cho, Y. S., Choi, S. H., ... Park, K. S. (2012). A genome-wide association study of gestational diabetes mellitus in Korean women. *Diabetes*, *61*(2), 531–541. https://doi.org/10.2337/db11-1034
- La Frano, M. R., Hernandez-Carretero, A., Weber, N., Borkowski, K., Pedersen, T. L., Osborn, O., & Newman, J. W. (2017). Diet-induced obesity and weight loss alter bile acid concentrations and bile acid–sensitive gene expression in insulin target tissues of C57BL/6J mice. *Nutrition Research*, 46, 11–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nutres.2017.07.006
- Labute, P. (2008). The generalized born/volume integral implicit solvent model: Estimation of the free energy of hydration using London dispersion instead of atomic surface area. *Journal of Computational Chemistry*, *29*(10), 1693–1698. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcc.20933
- Landon, M. B., Rice, M. M., Varner, M. W., Casey, B. M., Reddy, U. M., Wapner, R. J., ... VanDorsten, J. P. (2015). Mild gestational diabetes mellitus and long-term child health. *Diabetes Care*, *38*(3), 445–452. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc14-2159
- Langer, O., Conway, D. L., Berkus, M. D., Xenakis, E. M. J., & Gonzales, O. (2000). A comparison of glyburide and insulin in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 343(16), 1134–1138. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200010193431601
- Larsen, N., Vogensen, F. K., Van Den Berg, F. W. J., Nielsen, D. S., Andreasen, A. S., Pedersen, B. K., ... Jakobsen, M. (2010). Gut microbiota in human adults with type 2 diabetes differs from nondiabetic adults. *PLoS ONE*, 5(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009085
- Larsson, A., Palm, M., Hansson, L. O., & Axelsson, O. (2008). Reference values for clinical chemistry tests during normal pregnancy. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *115*(7), 874–881. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2008.01709.x
- Lasalle, M., Hoguet, V., Hennuyer, N., Leroux, F., Piveteau, C., Belloy, L., ... Charton, J. (2017). Topical Intestinal Aminoimidazole Agonists of G-Protein-Coupled Bile Acid Receptor 1 Promote Glucagon Like Peptide-1 Secretion and Improve Glucose Tolerance. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 60(10), 4185–4211. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.6b01873

- Laurie, J. G., & McIntyre, H. D. (2020, December 2). A review of the current status of gestational diabetes mellitus in australia—the clinical impact of changing population demographics and diagnostic criteria on prevalence. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. MDPI AG. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17249387
- Lavoie, B., Balemba, O. B., Godfrey, C., Watson, C. A., Vassileva, G., Corvera, C. U., ... Mawe, G. M.
  (2010). Hydrophobic bile salts inhibit gallbladder smooth muscle function via stimulation of
  GPBAR1 receptors and activation of KATP channels. *Journal of Physiology*, *588*(17), 3295–3305.
  https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2010.192146
- Lawrence, J. M., Contreras, R., Chen, W., & Sacks, D. A. (2008). Trends in the prevalence of preexisting diabetes and gestational diabetes mellitus among a racially/ethnically diverse population of pregnant women, 1999-2005. *Diabetes Care*, *31*(5), 899–904. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc07-2345
- Lee, K. W., Ching, S. M., Ramachandran, V., Yee, A., Hoo, F. K., Chia, Y. C., ... Veettil, S. K. (2018).
   Prevalence and risk factors of gestational diabetes mellitus in Asia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *18*(1), 494. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-018-2131-4
- Lee, N., Chen, J., Sun, L., Wu, S., Gray, K. R., Rich, A., ... Blanar, M. A. (2003). Expression and characterization of human transient receptor potential melastatin 3 (hTRPM3). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(23), 20890–20897. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M211232200
- Lee, Y. Y., Hong, S. H., Lee, Y. J., Chung, S. S., Jung, H. S., Park, S. G., & Park, K. S. (2010).
   Tauroursodeoxycholate (TUDCA), chemical chaperone, enhances function of islets by reducing
   ER stress. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, *397*(4), 735–739.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.06.022
- Lefebvre, P., Cariou, B., Lien, F., Kuipers, F., & Staels, B. (2009). Role of bile acids and bile acid receptors in metabolic regulation. *Physiological Reviews*. American Physiological Society. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00010.2008
- Lesch, A., Rubil, S., & Thiel, G. (2014). Activation and inhibition of transient receptor potential TRPM3-induced gene transcription. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *171*(10), 2645–2658. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.12524
- Leybovitz-Haleluya, N., Wainstock, T., Landau, D., & Sheiner, E. (2018). Maternal gestational diabetes mellitus and the risk of subsequent pediatric cardiovascular diseases of the offspring: a

population-based cohort study with up to 18 years of follow up. *Acta Diabetologica*, *55*(10), 1037–1042. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-018-1176-1

- Li, F., Jiang, C., Krausz, K. W., Li, Y., Albert, I., Hao, H., ... Gonzalez, F. J. (2013). Microbiome remodelling leads to inhibition of intestinal farnesoid X receptor signalling and decreased obesity. *Nature Communications*, *4*. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3384
- Li, J., Huo, X., Cao, Y. F., Li, S. N., Du, Z., Shao, P., ... Yang, X. (2018). Bile acid metabolites in early pregnancy and risk of gestational diabetes in Chinese women: A nested case-control study. *EBioMedicine*, *35*, 317–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.08.015
- Li, M., Song, Y., Rawal, S., Hinkle, S. N., Zhu, Y., Tekola-Ayele, F., ... Zhang, C. (2020). Plasma Prolactin and Progesterone Levels and the Risk of Gestational Diabetes: A Prospective and Longitudinal Study in a Multiracial Cohort. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, *11*, 83. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2020.00083
- Li, T., Francl, J. M., Boehme, S., Ochoa, A., Zhang, Y., Klaassen, C. D., ... Chiang, J. Y. L. (2012). Glucose and insulin induction of bile acid synthesis: Mechanisms and implication in diabetes and obesity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(3), 1861–1873. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.305789
- Lieu, T., Jayaweera, G., Zhao, P., Poole, D. P., Jensen, D., Grace, M., ... Bunnett, N. W. (2014). The bile acid receptor TGR5 activates the trpa1 channel to induce itch in mice. *Gastroenterology*, 147(6), 1417–1428. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2014.08.042
- Liu, C., Gao, J., Liu, J., Wang, X., He, J., Sun, J., ... Liao, S. (2020). Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of gestational diabetes and preeclampsia. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, 8(23), 1574–1574. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm-20-4879
- Liu, Y., Song, A., Yang, X., Zhen, Y., Chen, W., Yang, L., ... Ma, H. (2018). Farnesoid X receptor agonist decreases lipid accumulation by promoting hepatic fatty acid oxidation in db/db mice.
   *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 42(3), 1723–1731.
   https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2018.3715
- Longo, S. A., Moore, R. C., Canzoneri, B. J., & Robichaux, A. (2010). Gastrointestinal conditions during pregnancy. *Clinics in Colon and Rectal Surgery*, 23(2), 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0030-1254294
- Lorenzo-Almorós, A., Hang, T., Peiró, C., Soriano-Guillén, L., Egido, J., Tuñón, J., & Lorenzo. (2019, October 30). Predictive and diagnostic biomarkers for gestational diabetes and its associated

metabolic and cardiovascular diseases. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*. NLM (Medline). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-019-0935-9

- Lowe, W. L., Lowe, L. P., Kuang, A., Catalano, P. M., Nodzenski, M., Talbot, O., ... Metzger, B. E.
  (2019). Maternal glucose levels during pregnancy and childhood adiposity in the Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcome Follow-up Study. *Diabetologia*, 62(4), 598–610. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4809-6
- Lowe, W. L., Scholtens, D. M., Kuang, A., Linder, B., Lawrence, J. M., Lebenthal, Y., ... Metzger, B. E.
   (2019). Hyperglycemia and adverse Pregnancy Outcome follow-up study (HAPO FUS): Maternal gestational diabetes mellitus and childhood glucose metabolism. *Diabetes Care*, 42(3), 372–380. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc18-1646
- Lowe, W. L., Scholtens, D. M., Lowe, L. P., Kuang, A., Nodzenski, M., Talbot, O., ... Metzger, B. E.
   (2018). Association of gestational diabetes with maternal disorders of glucose metabolism and childhood adiposity. *JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association*, 320(10), 1005–1016. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.11628
- Lu, J., Wang, S., Li, M., Gao, Z., Xu, Y., Zhao, X., ... Wang, W. (2021). Association of Serum Bile Acids Profile and Pathway Dysregulation With the Risk of Developing Diabetes Among Normoglycemic Chinese Adults: Findings From the 4C Study. *Diabetes Care*, 44(2), 499–510. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc20-0884
- Lukivskaya, O., Lis, R., Egorov, A., Naruta, E., Tauschel, H. D., & Buko, V. U. (2004). The protective effect of ursodeoxycholic acid in alloxan-induced diabetes. *Cell Biochemistry and Function*, *22*(2), 97–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbf.1063
- Luo, L., Aubrecht, J., Li, D., Warner, R. L., Johnson, K. J., Kenny, J., & Colangelo, J. L. (2018).
   Assessment of serum bile acid profiles as biomarkers of liver injury and liver disease in humans.
   *PLoS ONE*, *13*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0193824
- Ma, K., Saha, P. K., Chan, L., & Moore, D. D. (2006). Farnesoid X receptor is essential for normal glucose homeostasis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *116*(4), 1102–1109. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI25604
- Maczewsky, J., Kaiser, J., Gresch, A., Gerst, F., Düfer, M., Krippeit-Drews, P., & Drews, G. (2019).
   TGR5 activation promotes stimulus-secretion coupling of pancreatic ß-cells via a PKAdependent pathway. *Diabetes*, 68(2), 324–336. https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-0315

Magne, F., Gotteland, M., Gauthier, L., Zazueta, A., Pesoa, S., Navarrete, P., & Balamurugan, R.

(2020, May 1). The firmicutes/bacteroidetes ratio: A relevant marker of gut dysbiosis in obese patients? *Nutrients*. MDPI AG. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12051474

- Majeed, Y., Agarwal, A., Naylor, J., Seymour, V., Jiang, S., Muraki, K., ... Beech, D. (2010). Cisisomerism and other chemical requirements of steroidal agonists and partial agonists acting at TRPM3 channels. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *161*(2), 430–441. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00892.x
- Majewska, A., Godek, B., Bomba-Opon, D., & Wielgos, M. (2019). Association between intrahepatic cholestasis in pregnancy and gestational diabetes mellitus. A retrospective analysis. *Ginekologia Polska*, 90(8), 458–463. https://doi.org/10.5603/GP.2019.0079
- Manna, L. B., Ovadia, C., Lövgren-Sandblom, A., Chambers, J., Begum, S., Seed, P., ... Williamson, C. (2019). Enzymatic quantification of total serum bile acids as a monitoring strategy for women with intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy receiving ursodeoxycholic acid treatment: a cohort study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *126*(13), 1633–1640. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.15926
- Mantovani, A., Dalbeni, A., Peserico, D., Cattazzo, F., Bevilacqua, M., Salvagno, G. L., ... Fava, C. (2021). Plasma Bile Acid Profile in Patients with and without Type 2 Diabetes. *Metabolites*, *11*(7), 453. https://doi.org/10.3390/METABO11070453
- Marabita, F., & Islam, M. S. (2017). Expression of Transient Receptor Potential Channels in the Purified Human Pancreatic β-Cells. *Pancreas*, 46(1), 97–101. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPA.000000000000685
- Marathe, J., Lim, W., Metz, M., Scheil, W., Dekker, G., & Hague, W. (2017). A retrospective cohort review of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy in a South Australian population. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology, 218*, 33–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJOGRB.2017.09.012
- Marschall, H. U., Wagner, M., Zollner, G., Fickert, P., Diczfalusy, U., Gumhold, J., ... Trauner, M. (2005). Complementary stimulation of hepatobiliary transport and detoxification systems by rifampicin and ursodeoxycholic acid in humans. *Gastroenterology*, *129*(2), 476–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gastro.2005.05.009
- Martineau, M. G., Raker, C., Dixon, P. H., Chambers, J., Machirori, M., King, N. M., ... Williamson, C. (2015). The metabolic profile of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy is associated with impaired glucose tolerance, dyslipidemia, and increased fetal growth. *Diabetes Care*, *38*(2),

243-248. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc14-2143

- Martineau, M., Raker, C., Powrie, R., & Williamson, C. (2014). Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of gestational diabetes. *European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, *176*(1), 80–85.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2013.12.037
- Martis, R., Crowther, C. A., Shepherd, E., Alsweiler, J., Downie, M. R., & Brown, J. (2018, August 14).
   Treatments for women with gestational diabetes mellitus: An overview of Cochrane systematic reviews. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. John Wiley and Sons Ltd.
   https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD012327.pub2
- Masuyama, H., & Hiramatsu, Y. (2011). Potential role of estradiol and progesterone in insulin resistance through constitutive androstane receptor. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, 47(2), 229–239. https://doi.org/10.1530/JME-11-0046
- McGlone, E. R., Malallah, K., Cuenco, J., Wewer Albrechtsen, N. J., Holst, J. J., Vincent, R. P., ... Tan, T.
   M. M. (2021). Differential effects of bile acids on the postprandial secretion of gut hormones: A randomized crossover study. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 320(4), E671–E679. https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPENDO.00580.2020
- McIlvride, S., Dixon, P. H., & Williamson, C. (2017, August 1). Bile acids and gestation. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2017.05.003
- McIlvride, S., Nikolova, V., Fan, H. M., McDonald, J. A. K., Wahlström, A., Bellafante, E., ... Williamson,
   C. (2019). Obeticholic acid ameliorates dyslipidemia but not glucose tolerance in mouse model
   of gestational diabetes. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism*,
   317(2), E399–E410. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00407.2018
- McIntyre, H. D., Catalano, P., Zhang, C., Desoye, G., Mathiesen, E. R., & Damm, P. (2019, December
  1). Gestational diabetes mellitus. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-019-0098-8
- Meng, L. J., Reyes, H., Palma, J., Hernandez, I., Ribalta, J., & Sjövall, J. (1997a). Effects of ursodeoxycholic acid on conjugated bile acids and progesterone metabolites in serum and urine of patients with intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Journal of Hepatology*, 27(6), 1029–1040. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-8278(97)80147-X
- Meng, L. J., Reyes, H., Palma, J., Hernandez, I., Ribalta, J., & Sjövall, J. (1997b). Profiles of bile acids and progesterone metabolites in the urine and serum of women with intrahepatic cholestasis

of pregnancy. *Journal of Hepatology*, *27*(2), 346–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-8278(97)80181-X

- Metzger, B. E. (2007). Long-term outcomes in mothers diagnosed with gestational diabetes mellitus and their offspring. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *50*(4), 972–979. https://doi.org/10.1097/GRF.0b013e31815a61d6
- Metzger, B. E., Contreras, M., Sacks, D. A., Watson, W., Dooley, S. L., Foderaro, M., ... King, J. (2008).
  Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *358*(19), 1991–2002. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0707943
- Meyer-Gerspach, A. C., Steinert, R. E., Keller, S., Malarski, A., Schulte, F. H., & Beglinger, C. (2013).
   Effects of chenodeoxycholic acid on the secretion of gut peptides and fibroblast growth factors in healthy humans. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *98*(8), 3351–3358.
   https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-4109
- Milona, A., Owen, B. M., Cobbold, J. F. L., Willemsen, E. C. L., Cox, I. J., Boudjelal, M., ... Williamson,
  C. (2010). Raised hepatic bile acid concentrations during pregnancy in mice are associated with reduced farnesoid X receptor function. *Hepatology*, *52*(4), 1341–1349. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.23849
- Milona, A., Owen, B. M., Van Mil, S., Dormann, D., Mataki, C., Boudjelal, M., ... Williamson, C. (2010).
   The normal mechanisms of pregnancy-induced liver growth are not maintained in mice lacking the bile acid sensor Fxr. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 298(2). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00336.2009
- Miragoli, M., Sheikh Abdul Kadir, S. H., Sheppard, M. N., Salvarani, N., Virta, M., Wells, S., ... Gorelik,
   J. (2011). A protective antiarrhythmic role of ursodeoxycholic acid in an in vitro rat model of
   the cholestatic fetal heart. *Hepatology*, 54(4), 1282–1292. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.24492
- Mitchell, A. L., Ovadia, C., Syngelaki, A., Souretis, K., Martineau, M., Girling, J., ... Williamson, C.
   (2021). Re-evaluating diagnostic thresholds for intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: case– control and cohort study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.16669
- Moffett, R. C., Vasu, S., Thorens, B., Drucker, D. J., & Flatt, P. R. (2014). Incretin receptor null mice reveal key role of GLP-1 but not GIP in pancreatic beta cell adaptation to pregnancy. *PLoS ONE*, 9(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096863

Mooranian, A., Zamani, N., Ionescu, C. M., Takechi, R., Luna, G., Mikov, M., ... Al-Salami, H. (2020).

Oral gavage of nano-encapsulated conjugated acrylic acid-bile acid formulation in type 1 diabetes altered pharmacological profile of bile acids, and improved glycaemia and suppressed inflammation. *Pharmacological Reports*, *72*(2), 368–378. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43440-019-00030-z

- Mosavat, M., Omar, S. Z., Jamalpour, S., & Tan, P. C. (2020). Serum Glucose-Dependent
   Insulinotropic Polypeptide (GIP) and Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (GLP-1) in association with the
   Risk of Gestational Diabetes: A Prospective Case-Control Study. *Journal of Diabetes Research*,
   2020. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9072492
- Moscovitz, J. E., Kong, B., Buckley, K., Buckley, B., Guo, G. L., & Aleksunes, L. M. (2016). Restoration of enterohepatic bile acid pathways in pregnant mice following short term activation of Fxr by GW4064. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, *310*, 60–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2016.08.021
- Mudaliar, S., Henry, R. R., Sanyal, A. J., Morrow, L., Marschall, H. U., Kipnes, M., ... Shapiro, D. (2013).
   Efficacy and safety of the farnesoid x receptor agonist Obeticholic acid in patients with type 2
   diabetes and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology*, *145*(3).
   https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2013.05.042
- Murakami, M., Une, N., Nishizawa, M., Suzuki, S., Ito, H., & Horiuchi, T. (2013). Incretin secretion stimulated by ursodeoxycholic acid in healthy subjects. *SpringerPlus*, *2*(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-1801-2-20
- Nadal, A., Alonso-Magdalena, P., Soriano, S., Ropero, A. B., & Quesada, I. (2009, November). The role of oestrogens in the adaptation of islets to insulin resistance. *Journal of Physiology*. Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2009.177188
- Nagahashi, M., Takabe, K., Liu, R., Peng, K., Wang, X., Wang, Y., ... Zhou, H. (2015). Conjugated bile acid-activated S1P receptor 2 is a key regulator of sphingosine kinase 2 and hepatic gene expression. *Hepatology*, *61*(4), 1216–1226. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.27592
- Naïm, M., Bhat, S., Rankin, K. N., Dennis, S., Chowdhury, S. F., Siddiqi, I., ... Purisima, E. O. (2007).
   Solvated Interaction Energy (SIE) for scoring protein-ligand binding affinities. 1. Exploring the parameter space. *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling*, 47(1), 122–133.
   https://doi.org/10.1021/ci600406v
- Nanda, S., Poon, L. C. Y., Muhaisen, M., Acosta, I. C., & Nicolaides, K. H. (2012). Maternal serum resistin at 11 to 13 weeks' gestation in normal and pathological pregnancies. *Metabolism*,

61(5), 699-705. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.METABOL.2011.10.006

- Neelankal John, A., Iqbal, Z., Colley, S., Morahan, G., Makishima, M., & Jiang, F. X. (2018). Vitamin D receptor-targeted treatment to prevent pathological dedifferentiation of pancreatic β cells under hyperglycaemic stress. *Diabetes and Metabolism*, 44(3), 269–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabet.2017.07.006
- Nervi, F. O., Severín, C. H., & Valdivieso, V. D. (1978). Bile acid pool changes and regulation of cholate synthesis in experimental diabetes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)/Lipids and Lipid Metabolism*, 529(2), 212–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2760(78)90064-4
- Neuschwander-Tetri, B. A., Loomba, R., Sanyal, A. J., Lavine, J. E., Van Natta, M. L., Abdelmalek, M. F., ... Doo, E. (2015). Farnesoid X nuclear receptor ligand obeticholic acid for non-cirrhotic, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (FLINT): A multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 385(9972), 956–965. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61933-4
- NICE. (2013). BMI: preventing ill health and premature death in black, Asian and other minority ethnic groups | Public health guideline [PH46] | NICE.
- NICE. (2015). Diabetes in pregnancy: management from preconception to the postnatal period | Guidance | NICE.
- Nielsen, S., Svane, M. S., Kuhre, R. E., Clausen, T. R., Kristiansen, V. B., Rehfeld, J. F., ... Bojsen-Moller,
  K. N. (2017). Chenodeoxycholic acid stimulates glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion in patients after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. *Physiological Reports*, *5*(3). https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.13140
- Nien, J. K., Mazaki-Tovi, S., Romero, R., Kusanovic, J. P., Erez, O., Gotsch, F., ... Hassan, S. S. (2007). Resistin: A hormone which induces insulin resistance is increased in normal pregnancy. *Journal of Perinatal Medicine*, 35(6), 513–521. https://doi.org/10.1515/JPM.2007.122
- Nilius, B., & Flockerzi, V. (2014). What do we really know and what do we need to know: Some controversies, perspectives, and surprises. *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, 223, 1239–1280. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-05161-1\_20
- Nishida, C., Barba, C., Cavalli-Sforza, T., Cutter, J., Deurenberg, P., Darnton-Hill, I., ... Zimmet, P. (2004). Appropriate body-mass index for Asian populations and its implications for policy and intervention strategies. *The Lancet*, *363*(9403), 157–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)15268-3

Noordeen, N. A., Khera, T. K., Sun, G., Longbottom, E. R., Pullen, T. J., Xavier, G. D. S., ... Leclerc, I.

(2010). Carbohydrate-responsive element-binding protein (ChREBP) is a negative regulator of ARNT/HIF-1 $\beta$  gene expression in pancreatic islet  $\beta$ -cells. *Diabetes*, *59*(1), 153–160. https://doi.org/10.2337/db08-0868

- Norman, A. W., & Henry, H. L. (2015). Gastrointestinal Hormones. In *Hormones* (pp. 141–169). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-091906-5.00007-0
- O'Sullivan, E. P., Avalos, G., O'Reilly, M., Dennedy, M. C., Gaffney, G., & Dunne, F. (2011). Atlantic Diabetes in Pregnancy (DIP): The prevalence and outcomes of gestational diabetes mellitus using new diagnostic criteria. *Diabetologia*, *54*(7), 1670–1675. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-011-2150-4
- Oberwinkler, J., Lis, A., Giehl, K. M., Flockerzi, V., & Philipp, S. E. (2005). Alternative splicing switches the divalent cation selectivity of TRPM3 channels. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *280*(23), 22540–22548. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M503092200
- Oude Elferink, R. P. J., & Paulusma, C. C. (2007, February). Function and pathophysiological importance of ABCB4 (MDR3 P-glycoprotein). *Pflugers Archiv European Journal of Physiology*. Pflugers Arch. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-006-0062-9
- Ovadia, C., Perdones-Montero, A., Spagou, K., Smith, A., Sarafian, M. H., Gomez-Romero, M., ... Williamson, C. (2019). Enhanced Microbial Bile Acid Deconjugation and Impaired Ileal Uptake in Pregnancy Repress Intestinal Regulation of Bile Acid Synthesis. *Hepatology*, *70*(1), 276–293. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.30661
- Ovadia, C., Seed, P. T., Sklavounos, A., Geenes, V., Di Illio, C., Chambers, J., ... Williamson, C. (2019). Association of adverse perinatal outcomes of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy with biochemical markers: results of aggregate and individual patient data meta-analyses. *The Lancet*, *393*(10174), 899–909. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31877-4
- Ovesen, P. G., Jensen, D. M., Damm, P., Rasmussen, S., & Kesmodel, U. S. (2015). Maternal and neonatal outcomes in pregnancies complicated by gestational diabetes. A nation-wide study. *Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, *28*(14), 1720–1724. https://doi.org/10.3109/14767058.2014.966677
- Pan, W., Song, I. S., Shin, H. J., Kim, M. H., Choi, Y. L., Lim, S. J., ... Shin, J. G. (2011). Genetic polymorphisms in Na+-taurocholate co-transporting polypeptide (NTCP) and ileal apical sodium-dependent bile acid transporter (ASBT) and ethnic comparisons of functional variants of NTCP among Asian populations. *Xenobiotica*, 41(6), 501–510.

https://doi.org/10.3109/00498254.2011.555567

- Panagiotopoulou, O., Syngelaki, A., Georgiopoulos, G., Simpson, J., Akolekar, R., Shehata, H., ... Charakida, M. (2020). Metformin use in obese mothers is associated with improved cardiovascular profile in the offspring. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 223(2), 246.e1-246.e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2020.01.054
- Parini, P., Angelin, B., Stavréus-Evers, A., Freyschuss, B., Eriksson, H., & Rudling, M. (2000). Biphasic effects of the natural estrogen 17β-estradiol on hepatic cholesterol metabolism in intact female rats. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *20*(7), 1817–1823. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.20.7.1817
- Parker, H., Wallis, K., le Roux, C., Wong, K., Reimann, F., & Gribble, F. (2012). Molecular mechanisms underlying bile acid-stimulated glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 165(2), 414–423. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01561.x
- Pataia, V., McIlvride, S., Papacleovoulou, G., Ovadia, C., McDonald, J. A. K., Wahlström, A., ...
   Williamson, C. (2020). Obeticholic acid improves fetal bile acid profile in a mouse model of gestational hypercholanemia. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, ajpgi.00126.2020. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00126.2020
- Pathak, P., Liu, H., Boehme, S., Xie, C., Krausz, K. W., Gonzalez, F., & Chiang, J. Y. L. (2017). Farnesoid X receptor induces Takeda G-protein receptor 5 cross-talk to regulate bile acid synthesis and hepatic metabolism. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 292(26), 11055–11069. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M117.784322
- Pathak, P., Xie, C., Nichols, R. G., Ferrell, J. M., Boehme, S., Krausz, K. W., ... Chiang, J. Y. L. (2018).
  Intestine farnesoid X receptor agonist and the gut microbiota activate G-protein bile acid
  receptor-1 signaling to improve metabolism. *Hepatology*, *68*(4), 1574–1588.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.29857
- Pavlović, N., Goločorbin-Kon, S., Danić, M., Stanimirov, B., Al-Salami, H., Stankov, K., & Mikov, M. (2018). Bile acids and their derivatives as potential modifiers of drug release and pharmacokinetic profiles. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *9*(NOV), 1283. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2018.01283
- Peters, R. K., Kjos, S. L., Xiang, A., & Buchahan, T. A. (1996). Long-term diabetogenic effect of single pregnancy in women with previous gestational diabetes mellitus. *Lancet*, 347(8996), 227–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(96)90405-5

- Phillips, D. P., Gao, W., Yang, Y., Zhang, G., Lerario, I. K., Lau, T. L., ... Seidel, H. M. (2014). Discovery of trifluoromethyl(pyrimidin-2-yl)azetidine-2-carboxamides as potent, orally bioavailable TGR5 (GPBAR1) agonists: Structure-activity relationships, lead optimization, and chronic in vivo efficacy. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, *57*(8), 3263–3282. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm401731q
- Plagemann, A., Harder, T., Kohlhoff, R., Rohde, W., & Dörner, G. (1997). Glucose tolerance and insulin secretion in children of mothers with pregestational IDDM or gestational diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 40(9), 1094–1100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001250050792
- Popescu, I. R., Helleboid-Chapman, A., Lucas, A., Vandewalle, B., Dumont, J., Bouchaert, E., ... Staels,
  B. (2010). The nuclear receptor FXR is expressed in pancreatic β-cells and protects human islets from lipotoxicity. *FEBS Letters*, *584*(13), 2845–2851.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2010.04.068
- Prinz, P., Hofmann, T., Ahnis, A., Elbelt, U., Goebel-Stengel, M., Klapp, B. F., ... Stengel, A. (2015).
   Plasma bile acids show a positive correlation with body mass index and are negatively associated with cognitive restraint of eating in obese patients. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*.
   Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00199
- Rafferty, E. P., Wylie, A. R., Hand, K. H., Elliott, C. E., Grieve, D. J., & Green, B. D. (2011). Investigating the effects of physiological bile acids on GLP-1 secretion and glucose tolerance in normal and GLP-1R-/- mice. *Biological Chemistry*, 392(6), 539–546. https://doi.org/10.1515/BC.2011.050
- Read, S. H., Rosella, L. C., Berger, H., Feig, D. S., Fleming, K., Ray, J. G., ... Lipscombe, L. L. (2021). BMI and risk of gestational diabetes among women of South Asian and Chinese ethnicity: a population-based study. *Diabetologia*, 64(4), 805–813. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-020-05356-5
- Ren, J., Xiang, A. H., Trigo, E., Takayanagi, M., Beale, E., Lawrence, J. M., ... Watanabe, R. M. (2014).
   Genetic variation in MTNR1B is associated with gestational diabetes mellitus and contributes only to the absolute level of beta cell compensation in Mexican Americans. *Diabetologia*, *57*(7), 1391–1399. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-014-3239-3
- Reyes, H., & Sjövall, J. (2000). Bile acids and progesterone metabolites in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Annals of Medicine*. Royal Society of Medicine Press Ltd. https://doi.org/10.3109/07853890009011758

Reynolds, R. M., Denison, F. C., Juszczak, E., Bell, J. L., Penneycard, J., Strachan, M. W. J., ... Norman,

J. E. (2017). Glibenclamide and metfoRmin versus stAndard care in gEstational diabeteS (GRACES): a feasibility open label randomised trial. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *17*(1), 316. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-017-1505-3

- Riskin-Mashiah, S., Younes, G., Damti, A., & Auslender, R. (2009). First-trimester fasting hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. *Diabetes Care*, *32*(9), 1639–1643. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc09-0688
- Rizzo, G., Disante, M., Mencarelli, A., Renga, B., Gioiello, A., Pellicciari, R., & Fiorucci, S. (2006). The farnesoid X receptor promotes adipocyte differentiation and regulates adipose cell function in vivo. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *70*(4), 1164–1173. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.106.023820
- Rizzo, G., Passeri, D., De Franco, F., Ciaccioli, G., Donadio, L., Rizzo, G., ... Adorini, L. (2010).
  Functional characterization of the semisynthetic bile acid derivative INT-767, a dual farnesoid X receptor and TGR5 agonist. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *78*(4), 617–630.
  https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.110.064501
- Roberts, G., Larraufie, P., Richards, P., Kay, R., Galvin, S., Miedzybrodzka, E., ... Gribble, F. (2019).
   Comparison of Human and Murine Enteroendocrine Cells by Transcriptomic and Peptidomic
   Profiling. *Diabetes*, *68*(5), 1062–1072. https://doi.org/10.2337/DB18-0883
- Rodríguez, M., Moreno, J., Márquez, R., Eltit, R., Martinez, F., Sepúlveda-Martínez, A., & Parra-Cordero, M. (2016). Increased PR Interval in Fetuses of Patients with Intrahepatic Cholestasis of Pregnancy. *Fetal Diagnosis and Therapy*, 40(4), 298–302. https://doi.org/10.1159/000444297
- Root-Bernstein, R., Podufaly, A., & Dillon, P. F. (2014). Estradiol Binds to Insulin and Insulin Receptor
   Decreasing Insulin Binding in vitro. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 5(JUL), 118.
   https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2014.00118
- Rowan, J. A., Hague, W. M., Gao, W., Battin, M. R., & Moore, M. P. (2008). Metformin versus insulin for the treatment of gestational diabetes. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *358*(19), 2003–2015. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0707193
- Rowan, J. A., Rush, E. C., Obolonkin, V., Battin, M., Wouldes, T., & Hague, W. M. (2011). Metformin in gestational diabetes: The offspring follow-up (MiG TOFU) Body composition at 2 years of age.
   *Diabetes Care*, 34(10), 2279–2284. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc11-0660
- Ryckman, K., Spracklen, C., Smith, C., Robinson, J., & Saftlas, A. (2015). Maternal lipid levels during pregnancy and gestational diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 122(5), 643–651.

https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.13261

- Sachse, D., Sletner, L., Mørkrid, K., Jenum, A. K., Birkeland, K. I., Rise, F., ... Berg, J. P. (2012).
  Metabolic Changes in Urine during and after Pregnancy in a Large, Multiethnic Population-Based Cohort Study of Gestational Diabetes. *PLoS ONE*, 7(12).
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0052399
- Saltiel, A. R., & Kahn, C. R. (2001, December 13). Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. *Nature*. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/414799a
- Sanchalika, A., & Teresa, J. (2015). Risk of Gestational Diabetes Among South Asian Immigrants Living in New Jersey--a Retrospective Data Review. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 2(4), 510–516. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-015-0099-6
- Sánchez-García, A., Sahebkar, A., Simental-Mendía, M., & Simental-Mendía, L. E. (2018, September
  1). Effect of ursodeoxycholic acid on glycemic markers: A systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials. *Pharmacological Research*. Academic Press.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2018.08.008
- Sandoval, D., & D'Alessio, D. (2015). Physiology of proglucagon peptides: role of glucagon and GLP-1 in health and disease. *Physiological Reviews*, *95*(2), 513–548. https://doi.org/10.1152/PHYSREV.00013.2014
- Saravanan, P, Sukumar, N., Adaikalakoteswari, A., Goljan, I., Venkataraman, H., Gopinath, A., ... Fall,
  C. (2021). Association of maternal vitamin B 12 and folate levels in early pregnancy with
  gestational diabetes: a prospective UK cohort study (PRiDE study). *Diabetologia*.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/S00125-021-05510-7
- Saravanan, Ponnusamy, Magee, L. A., Banerjee, A., Coleman, M. A., Von Dadelszen, P., Denison, F., ... Williamson, C. (2020, September 1). Gestational diabetes: opportunities for improving maternal and child health. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*. Lancet Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30161-3
- Šarenac, T. M., & Mikov, M. (2018). Bile Acid Synthesis: From Nature to the Chemical Modification and Synthesis and Their Applications as Drugs and Nutrients. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 9(SEP), 939. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2018.00939
- Sasaki, T., Watanabe, Y., Kuboyama, A., Oikawa, A., Shimizu, M., Yamauchi, Y., & Sato, R. (2021).
   Muscle-specific TGR5 overexpression improves glucose clearance in glucose-intolerant mice.
   *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 296, 100131. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.ra120.016203

- Savkur, R. S., Bramlett, K. S., Michael, L. F., & Burris, T. P. (2005). Regulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase expression by the farnesoid X receptor. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 329(1), 391–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.01.141
- Schittenhelm, B., Wagner, R., Kähny, V., Peter, A., Krippeit-Drews, P., Düfer, M., & Drews, G. (2015). Role of FXR in β-cells of lean and obese mice. *Endocrinology*, *156*(4), 1263–1271. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2014-1751
- Sheikh Abdul Kadir, S. H., Miragoli, M., Abu-Hayyeh, S., Moshkov, A. V., Xie, Q., Keitel, V., ... Gorelik,
   J. (2010). Bile acid-induced arrhythmia is mediated by muscarinic M2 receptors in neonatal rat
   cardiomyocytes. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009689
- Shima, K. R., Ota, T., Kato, K. I., Takeshita, Y., Misu, H., Kaneko, S., & Takamura, T. (2018).
  Ursodeoxycholic acid potentiates dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor sitagliptin by enhancing glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion in patients with type 2 diabetes and chronic liver disease: A pilot randomized controlled and add-on study. *BMJ Open Diabetes Research and Care*, 6(1).
  https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjdrc-2017-000469
- Shinohara, S., & Fujimori, K. (2020). Promotion of lipogenesis by PPARγ-activated FXR expression in adipocytes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, *527*(1), 49–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.04.075
- Shou, C., Wei, Y.-M., Wang, C., & Yang, H.-X. (2019). Updates in Long-term Maternal and Fetal Adverse Effects of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Maternal-Fetal Medicine*, 1(2), 91–94. https://doi.org/10.1097/fm9.000000000000019
- Silverman, B. L., Metzger, B. E., Cho, N. H., & Loeb, C. A. (1995). Impaired glucose tolerance in adolescent offspring of diabetic mothers: Relationship to fetal hyperinsulinism. *Diabetes Care*, 18(5), 611–617. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.18.5.611
- Siow, Y., Schurr, A., & Vitale, G. C. (1991). Diabetes-induced bile acid composition changes in rat bile determined by high performance liquid chromatography. *Life Sciences*, 49(18), 1301–1308. https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-3205(91)90194-G
- Sjövall, K. (1970). Gas chromatographic determination of steroid sulphates in plasma during pregnancy. *Annals of Clinical Research*, *2*(4), 393–408. Retrieved from https://europepmc.org/article/med/4250173
- Skvarca, A., Tomazic, M., Blagus, R., Krhin, B., & Janez, A. (2013). Adiponectin/leptin ratio and insulin resistance in pregnancy. *Journal of International Medical Research*, *41*(1), 123–128.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0300060513476409

- Solomon, C. G., Willett, W. C., Carey, V. J., Rich-Edwards, J., Hunter, D. J., Colditz, G. A., ... Manson, J.
   A. E. (1997). A prospective study of pregravid determinants of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, *278*(13), 1078–1083. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.278.13.1078
- Song, C., Hiipakka, R. A., & Liao, S. (2000). Selective activation of liver X receptor alpha by 6α-hydroxy bile acids and analogs. *Steroids*, *65*(8), 423–427. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0039-128X(00)00127-6
- Straub, I., Krügel, U., Mohr, F., Teichert, J., Rizun, O., Konrad, M., ... Schaefer, M. (2013). Flavanones
   That Selectively Inhibit TRPM3 Attenuate Thermal Nociception In Vivo. *MOLECULAR PHARMACOLOGY Mol Pharmacol*, *84*, 736–750. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.113.086843
- Subbiah, M. T. R., Yunker, R. L., Hassan, A. S., & Thibert, P. (1984). Abnormal bile acid pool and composition in neonates of spontaneously diabetic wistar BB rats and its change during development. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)/Lipids and Lipid Metabolism*, 794(3), 355–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2760(84)90001-8
- Suhre, K., Meisinger, C., Döring, A., Altmaier, E., Belcredi, P., Gieger, C., ... Illig, T. (2010). Metabolic footprint of diabetes: A multiplatform metabolomics study in an epidemiological setting. *PLoS ONE*, 5(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013953
- Sukumar, N., Bagias, C., Goljan, I., Weldeselassie, Y., Gharanei, S., Tan, B. K., ... Saravanan, P. (2018).
   Reduced GLP-1 secretion at 30 minutes after a 75-g oral glucose load is observed in gestational diabetes mellitus: A prospective cohort study. *Diabetes*, 67(12), 2650–2656.
   https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-0254
- Sultana, H., Watanabe, K., Rana, M. M., Takashima, R., Ohashi, A., Komai, M., & Shirakawa, H.
  (2018). Effects of vitamin K2 on the expression of genes involved in bile acid synthesis and glucose homeostasis in mice with humanized PXR. *Nutrients*, *10*(8).
  https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10080982
- Sun, W., Zhang, D., Wang, Z., Sun, J., Xu, B., Chen, Y., ... Xu, Q. (2016). Insulin Resistance is Associated With Total Bile Acid Level in Type 2 Diabetic and Nondiabetic Population. *Medicine*, 95(10), e2778. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.000000000002778
- Symonds, M. E., Aldiss, P., Pope, M., & Budge, H. (2018). Recent advances in our understanding of brown and beige adipose tissue: The good fat that keeps you healthy [version 1; referees: 2

approved]. *F1000Research*. F1000 Research Ltd. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.14585.1

- Tagawa, N., Ohta, M., Nakamura, N., Nakano, K., Obayashi, H., & Kobayashi, Y. (2002). Serum concentrations of Δ5-3β-hydroxysteroids in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, *25*(12), 1634–1638. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.25.1634
- Takmaz, T., Yalvaç, E. S., Özcan, P., Çoban, U., Gökmen Karasu, A. F., & Ünsal, M. (2019). The predictive value of weight gain and waist circumference for gestational diabetes mellitus. *Turk Jinekoloji ve Obstetrik Dernegi Dergisi*, *16*(3), 199–204. https://doi.org/10.4274/tjod.galenos.2019.03266
- Taylor, K., Ferreira, D. L. S., West, J., Yang, T., Caputo, M., & Lawlor, D. A. (2019). Differences in pregnancy metabolic profiles and their determinants between white European and south Asian women: Findings from the born in Bradford Cohort. *Metabolites*, 9(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo9090190
- Tenenbaum-Gavish, K., Sharabi-Nov, A., Binyamin, D., Møller, H. J., Danon, D., Rothman, L., ... Meiri,
   H. (2020). First trimester biomarkers for prediction of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Placenta*,
   101, 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2020.08.020
- The HAPO Study Cooperative Research Group, Metzger, B. E., Contreras, M., Sacks, D. A., Watson,
   W., Dooley, S. L., ... King, J. (2008). Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *358*(19), 1991–2002. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0707943
- Thiel, G., Müller, I., & Rössler, O. G. (2013). Signal transduction via TRPM3 channels in pancreatic βcells. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, *50*(3), R75-83. https://doi.org/10.1530/JME-12-0237
- Thiel, G., Rubil, S., Lesch, A., Guethlein, L. A., & Rössler, O. G. (2017, October 1). Transient receptor potential TRPM3 channels: Pharmacology, signaling, and biological functions. *Pharmacological Research*. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2017.07.014
- Thomas, C., Gioiello, A., Noriega, L., Strehle, A., Oury, J., Rizzo, G., ... Schoonjans, K. (2009). TGR5-Mediated Bile Acid Sensing Controls Glucose Homeostasis. *Cell Metabolism*, 10(3), 167–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2009.08.001
- Tobias, D. K., Stuart, J. J., Li, S., Chavarro, J., Rimm, E. B., Rich-Edwards, J., ... Zhang, C. (2017).
   Association of history of gestational diabetes with long-term cardiovascular disease risk in a large prospective cohort of US women. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *177*(12), 1735–1742. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.2790

- Trabelsi, M. S., Daoudi, M., Prawitt, J., Ducastel, S., Touche, V., Sayin, S. I., ... Lestavel, S. (2015).
   Farnesoid X receptor inhibits glucagon-like peptide-1 production by enteroendocrine L cells.
   Nature Communications, 6(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8629
- Turnbaugh, P. J., Bäckhed, F., Fulton, L., & Gordon, J. I. (2008). Diet-Induced Obesity Is Linked to Marked but Reversible Alterations in the Mouse Distal Gut Microbiome. *Cell Host and Microbe*, 3(4), 213–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2008.02.015
- Turnbaugh, P. J., Ley, R. E., Mahowald, M. A., Magrini, V., Mardis, E. R., & Gordon, J. I. (2006). An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature*, 444(7122), 1027–1031. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05414
- Turro, E., Astle, W. J., Megy, K., Gräf, S., Greene, D., Shamardina, O., ... Ouwehand, W. H. (2020).
   Whole-genome sequencing of patients with rare diseases in a national health system. *Nature*, 583(7814), 96–102. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2434-2
- Uchida, K., Makino, S., & Akiyoshi, T. (1985). Altered bile acid metabolism in nonobese, spontaneously diabetic (NOD) mice. *Diabetes*, *34*(1), 79–83. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.34.1.79
- Uchida, K., Satoh, T., Takase, H., Nomura, Y., Takasu, N., Kurihara, H., & Takeuchi, N. (1996). Altered bile acid metabolism related to atherosclerosis in alloxan diabetic rats. *Journal of Atherosclerosis and Thrombosis*, *3*(1), 52–58. https://doi.org/10.5551/jat1994.3.52
- Vallejo, M., Briz, O., Serrano, M. A., Monte, M. J., & Marin, J. J. G. (2006). Potential role of transinhibition of the bile salt export pump by progesterone metabolites in the etiopathogenesis of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Journal of Hepatology*, 44(6), 1150–1157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2005.09.017
- Valsamakis, G., Margeli, A., Vitoratos, N., Boutsiadis, A., Sakkas, E. G., Papadimitriou, G., ...
   Mastorakos, G. (2010). The role of maternal gut hormones in normal pregnancy: Fasting plasma active glucagon-like peptide 1 level is a negative predictor of fetal abdomen circumference and maternal weight change. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, *162*(5), 897–903. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-10-0047
- Van Valkengoed, I. G. M., Argmann, C., Ghauharali-Van Der Vlugt, K., Aerts, J. M. F. G., Brewster, L.
  M., Peters, R. J. G., ... Houtkooper, R. H. (2017). Ethnic differences in metabolite signatures and type 2 diabetes: A nested case-control analysis among people of South Asian, African and European origin. *Nutrition and Diabetes*, 7(12), 300. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41387-017-0003-

- Ζ
- Van Zutphen, T., Stroeve, J. H. M., Yang, J., Bloks, V. W., Jurdzinski, A., Roelofsen, H., ... Kuipers, F. (2019). FXR overexpression alters adipose tissue architecture in mice and limits its storage capacity leading to metabolic derangements. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 60(9), 1547–1561. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M094508
- Vasavan, T., Deepak, S., Jayawardane, I. A., Lucchini, M., Martin, C., Geenes, V., ... Williamson, C. (2020). Fetal cardiac dysfunction in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy is associated with elevated serum bile acid concentrations. *Journal of Hepatology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2020.11.038
- Velazquez-Villegas, L. A., Perino, A., Lemos, V., Zietak, M., Nomura, M., Pols, T. W. H., & Schoonjans,
  K. (2018). TGR5 signalling promotes mitochondrial fission and beige remodelling of white
  adipose tissue. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 245. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-02068-0
- Vettorazzi, J. F., Ribeiro, R. A., Borck, P. C., Branco, R. C. S., Soriano, S., Merino, B., ... Carneiro, E. M. (2016). The bile acid TUDCA increases glucose-induced insulin secretion via the cAMP/PKA pathway in pancreatic beta cells. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, 65(3), 54–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2015.10.021
- Vincent, R. P., Omar, S., Ghozlan, S., Taylor, D. R., Cross, G., Sherwood, R. A., ... le Roux, C. W. (2013).
  Higher circulating bile acid concentrations in obese patients with type 2 diabetes. *Annals of Clinical Biochemistry*, *50*(4), 360–364. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004563212473450
- Vítek, L., & Haluzík, M. (2016, March 1). The role of bile acids in metabolic regulation. *Journal of Endocrinology*. BioScientifica Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-15-0469
- Vriens, J., Owsianik, G., Hofmann, T., Philipp, S. E., Stab, J., Chen, X., ... Voets, T. (2011). TRPM3 Is a Nociceptor Channel Involved in the Detection of Noxious Heat. *Neuron*, 70(3), 482–494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.02.051
- Wada, T., Hori, S., Sugiyama, M., Fujisawa, E., Nakano, T., Tsuneki, H., ... Sasaoka, T. (2010).
   Progesterone inhibits glucose uptake by affecting diverse steps of insulin signaling in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism, 298*(4), E881-8. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00649.2009
- Wagner, T. F. J., Drews, A., Loch, S., Mohr, F., Philipp, S. E., Lambert, S., & Oberwinkler, J. (2010). TRPM3 channels provide a regulated influx pathway for zinc in pancreatic beta cells. *Pflugers*

Archiv European Journal of Physiology, 460(4), 755–765. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-010-0838-9

- Wagner, T. F. J., Loch, S., Lambert, S., Straub, I., Mannebach, S., Mathar, I., ... Oberwinkler, J. (2008).
   Transient receptor potential M3 channels are ionotropic steroid receptors in pancreatic β cells.
   *Nature Cell Biology*, *10*(12), 1421–1430. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1801
- Wahlström, A., Sayin, S. I., Marschall, H. U., & Bäckhed, F. (2016, July 12). Intestinal Crosstalk
   between Bile Acids and Microbiota and Its Impact on Host Metabolism. *Cell Metabolism*. Cell
   Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2016.05.005
- Wakil, S. J., Stoops, J. K., & Joshi, V. C. (1983). Fatty Acid Synthesis and its Regulation. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, *52*(1), 537–579. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.bi.52.070183.002541
- Wallace, M., & Metallo, C. M. (2020, December 1). Tracing insights into de novo lipogenesis in liver and adipose tissues. Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2020.02.012
- Wang, J., Li, Z., & Lin, L. (2019). Maternal lipid profiles in women with and without gestational diabetes mellitus. *Medicine (United States)*, *98*(16).
   https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000015320
- Wang, X. H., Xu, F., Cheng, M., Wang, X., Zhang, D. M., Zhao, L. H., ... Lu, Y. (2020). Fasting serum total bile acid levels are associated with insulin sensitivity, islet β-cell function and glucagon levels in response to glucose challenge in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Endocrine Journal*, 67(11), 1107–1117. https://doi.org/10.1507/endocrj.EJ20-0201
- Wang, Y., Viscarra, J., Kim, S. J., & Sul, H. S. (2015, October 22). Transcriptional regulation of hepatic lipogenesis. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm4074
- Watanabe, M., Houten, S. M., Mataki, C., Christoffolete, M. A., Kim, B. W., Sato, H., ... Auwerx, J. (2006). Bile acids induce energy expenditure by promoting intracellular thyroid hormone activation. *Nature*, 439(7075), 484–489. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04330
- Wewalka, M., Patti, M. E., Barbato, C., Houten, S. M., & Goldfine, A. B. (2014). Fasting serum taurineconjugated bile acids are elevated in type 2 diabetes and do not change with intensification of Insulin. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 99(4), 1442–1451. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2013-3367

White, S. L., Pasupathy, D., Sattar, N., Nelson, S. M., Lawlor, D. A., Briley, A. L., ... Poston, L. (2017).

Metabolic profiling of gestational diabetes in obese women during pregnancy. *Diabetologia*, *60*(10), 1903–1912. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4380-6

- Wikström Shemer, E., Marschall, H., Ludvigsson, J., & Stephansson, O. (2013). Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy and associated adverse pregnancy and fetal outcomes: a 12-year population-based cohort study. *BJOG : An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *120*(6), 717–723. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.12174
- Williamson, C., Gorelik, J., Eaton, B. M., Lab, M., Swiet, M. de, & Korchev, Y. (2001). The bile acid taurocholate impairs rat cardiomyocyte function: a proposed mechanism for intra-uterine fetal death in obstetric cholestasis. *Clinical Science*, *100*(4), 363–369. https://doi.org/10.1042/cs1000363
- Wójcik, M., Chmielewska-Kassassir, M., Grzywnowicz, K., Woźniak, L., & Cypryk, K. (2014). The relationship between adipose tissue-derived hormones and gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). *Endokrynologia Polska*. Via Medica. https://doi.org/10.5603/EP.2014.0019
- Wu, T., Xie, G., Ni, Y., Liu, T., Yang, M., Wei, H., ... Ji, G. (2015). Serum metabolite signatures of type 2 diabetes mellitus complications. *Journal of Proteome Research*, *14*(1), 447–456. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr500825y
- Wu, W. B., Xu, Y. Y., Cheng, W. W., Wang, Y. X., Liu, Y., Huang, D., & Zhang, H. J. (2015). Agonist of farnesoid X receptor protects against bile acid induced damage and oxidative stress in mouse placenta A study on maternal cholestasis model. *Placenta*, *36*(5), 545–551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2015.02.005
- Xie, C., Jiang, C., Shi, J., Gao, X., Sun, D., Sun, L., ... Gonzalez, F. J. (2017). An intestinal farnesoid x receptor-ceramide signaling axis modulates hepatic gluconeogenesis in mice. *Diabetes*, 66(3), 613–626. https://doi.org/10.2337/db16-0663
- Xie, G., Wang, Y., Wang, X., Zhao, A., Chen, T., Ni, Y., ... Jia, W. (2015). Profiling of serum bile acids in a healthy chinese population using UPLC-MS/MS. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 14(2), 850– 859. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr500920q
- Yao, B., He, J., Yin, X., Shi, Y., Wan, J., & Tian, Z. (2019). The protective effect of lithocholic acid on the intestinal epithelial barrier is mediated by the vitamin D receptor via a SIRT1/Nrf2 and NFκB dependent mechanism in Caco-2 cells. *Toxicology Letters*, *316*, 109–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2019.08.024

Yoneno, K., Hisamatsu, T., Shimamura, K., Kamada, N., Ichikawa, R., Kitazume, M. T., ... Hibi, T.

(2013). TGR5 signalling inhibits the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by in vitro differentiated inflammatory and intestinal macrophages in Crohn's disease. *Immunology*, *139*(1), 19–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12045

- Yoshitsugu, R., Kikuchi, K., Hori, S., Iwaya, H., Hagio, M., Shimizu, H., ... Ishizuka, S. (2020).
   Correlation between 12α-hydroxylated bile acids and insulin secretion during glucose tolerance tests in rats fed a high-fat and high-sucrose diet. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, *19*(1), 1–9.
   https://doi.org/10.1186/s12944-020-1193-2
- Yuen, L. (2015). Gestational diabetes mellitus: Challenges for different ethnic groups. *World Journal of Diabetes, 6*(8), 1024. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v6.i8.1024
- Zaborska, K. E., & Cummings, B. P. (2018, November 1). Rethinking Bile Acid Metabolism and Signaling for Type 2 Diabetes Treatment. *Current Diabetes Reports*. Current Medicine Group LLC 1. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-018-1092-3
- Zambad, S. P., Tuli, D., Mathur, A., Ghalsasi, S. A., Chaudhary, A. R., Deshpande, S., ... Dutt, C. (2013).
   TRC210258, a novel TGR5 agonist, reduces glycemic and dyslipidemic cardiovascular risk in animal models of diabesity. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity: Targets and Therapy*, 7. https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S50209
- Zeng, Z., Liu, F., & Li, S. (2017). Metabolic Adaptations in Pregnancy: A Review. *Annals of Nutrition* and Metabolism, 70(1), 59–65. https://doi.org/10.1159/000459633
- Zhang, C., Bao, W., Rong, Y., Yang, H., Bowers, K., Yeung, E., & Kiely, M. (2013). Genetic variants and the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: A systematic review. *Human Reproduction Update*, 19(4), 376–390. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmt013
- Zhang, F., Yuan, W., Wei, Y., Zhang, D., Duan, Y., Li, B., ... Wu, X. (2019). The alterations of bile acids in rats with high-fat diet/streptozotocin-induced type 2 diabetes and their negative effects on glucose metabolism. *Life Sciences*, *229*, 80–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2019.05.031
- Zhang, Yanqiao, Lee, F. Y., Barrera, G., Lee, H., Vales, C., Gonzalez, F. J., ... Edwards, P. A. (2006).
   Activation of the nuclear FXR improves hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia in diabetic mice.
   *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(4), 1006–1011. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0506982103
- Zhang, Yong, & Zhang, H. (2013, September 1). Microbiota associated with type 2 diabetes and its related complications. *Food Science and Human Wellness*. Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fshw.2013.09.002

- Zhang, Yunjing, Zheng, X., Huang, F., Zhao, A., Ge, K., Zhao, Q., & Jia, W. (2019). Ursodeoxycholic acid alters bile acid and fatty acid profiles in a mouse model of diet-induced obesity. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *10*(JULY). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2019.00842
- Zhao, L., Lou, H., Peng, Y., Chen, S., Fan, L., & Li, X. (2020). Elevated levels of circulating short-chain fatty acids and bile acids in type 2 diabetes are linked to gut barrier disruption and disordered gut microbiota. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108418
- Zheng, C., Zhou, W., Wang, T., You, P., Zhao, Y., Yang, Y., ... Chen, H. (2015). A novel TGR5 activator WB403 promotes GLP-1 secretion and preserves pancreatic β- Cells in type 2 diabetic mice. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0134051
- Zheng, T., Ye, W., Wang, X., Li, X., Zhang, J., Little, J., ... Zhang, L. (2019). A simple model to predict risk of gestational diabetes mellitus from 8 to 20 weeks of gestation in Chinese women. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 19(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-019-2374-8
- Zheng, W., Huang, W., Zhang, L., Tian, Z., Wang, T., Zhang, T., ... Li, G. (2018). Changes in Serum Lipid Levels During Pregnancy and Association With Neonatal Outcomes: A Large Cohort Study. *Reproductive Sciences*, 25(9), 1406–1412. https://doi.org/10.1177/1933719117746785
- Zhou, J., Zhai, Y., Mu, Y., Gong, H., Uppal, H., Toma, D., ... Xie, W. (2006). A novel pregnane X receptor-mediated and sterol regulatory element-binding protein-independent lipogenic pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(21), 15013–15020. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M511116200
- Zhu, B., Ma, Z., Zhu, Y., Fang, L., Zhang, H., Kong, H., & Xia, D. (2021). Reduced glycodeoxycholic acid levels are associated with negative clinical outcomes of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Zhejiang University: Science B*, 22(3), 223–232. https://doi.org/10.1631/jzus.B2000483
- Zhu, B., Yin, P., Ma, Z., Ma, Y., Zhang, H., Kong, H., & Zhu, Y. (2019). Characteristics of bile acids metabolism profile in the second and third trimesters of normal pregnancy. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, 95, 77–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2019.04.004
- Zhu, L., Rossi, M., Cohen, A., Pham, J., Zheng, H., Dattaroy, D., ... Wess, J. (2019). Allosteric modulation of β-cell M3 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors greatly improves glucose homeostasis in lean and obese mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *116*(37), 18684–18690. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1904943116

Zhu, Q., Zhong, J. J., Jin, J. F., Yin, X. M., & Miao, H. (2013). Tauroursodeoxycholate, a chemical

chaperone, prevents palmitate-induced apoptosis in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells by reducing ER stress. Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology and Diabetes, 121(1), 43–47. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1321787

- Zhu, W., Wang, S., Dai, H., Xuan, L., Deng, C., Wang, T., ... Ning, G. (2020). Serum total bile acids associate with risk of incident type 2 diabetes and longitudinal changes in glucose-related metabolic traits. *Journal of Diabetes*, *12*(8), 616–625. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-0407.13040
- Zietak, M., & Kozak, L. P. (2016). Bile acids induce uncoupling protein 1-dependent thermogenesis and stimulate energy expenditure at thermoneutrality in mice. *American Journal of Physiology -Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *310*(5), E346–E354. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00485.2015

# Appendix 1

# Metabolic impact of bile acids in gestation

Hei Man Fan, Alice L Mitchell, Catherine Williamson

Department of Women and Children's health, School of Life Course Sciences, King's College London,

London, UK

Word count: 5504

Address for correspondence:

Professor Catherine Williamson

Maternal and Fetal Disease Group

Department of Women and Children's Health

King's College London

Hodgkin Building

Newcomen Street

London SE1 1UL

Tel: 020 7848 6350

email: catherine.williamson@kcl.ac.uk

# Abstract

Bile acids are lipid-solubilising molecules that also regulate metabolic processes. Farnesoid X receptor (FXR) and Takeda G-protein coupled receptor 5 (TGR5) are two bile acid receptors with key metabolic roles. FXR regulates bile acid synthesis in the liver and influences bile acid uptake in the intestine. TGR5 is mainly involved in regulation of signalling pathways in response to bile acid uptake in the gut and therefore prandial response. Both FXR and TGR5 have potential as therapeutic targets for disorders of glucose and/or lipid homeostasis. Gestation is also known to cause small increases in bile acid concentrations, but physiological hypercholanaemia of pregnancy is usually not sufficient to cause any clinically relevant effects. This review focuses on how gestation alters bile acid is more marked than physiological hypercholanaemia, and on the influence of FXR and TGR5 function in pregnancy on glucose and lipid metabolism. This will be discussed with reference to two gestational disorders: intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP), a disease where bile acids are pathologically elevated, and gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), characterised by hyperglycaemia during pregnancy.

## Introduction

Bile acids are a group of cholesterol-derived steroids with an aliphatic side chain which are synthesised in the liver and exported into the bile. Before secretion, bile acids are conjugated with either glycine or taurine, increasing hydrophilicity and reducing cytotoxicity (1). The primary functions of bile acids is to solubilise lipids by forming micelles to aid emulsification and facilitate absorption of fat by the gut (2), however, recent research has demonstrated that bile acids also have hormonal and metabolic functions, particularly in glucose and lipid regulation. Bile acid signalling through the receptors farnesoid X receptor (FXR) and Takeda G-protein coupled receptor 5 (TGR5) (3) occurs in numerous cell types throughout the body to propagate metabolic processes.

Pregnancy is associated with a number of metabolic adaptations to facilitate fetal growth. There is a gradual increase in serum bile acids as gestation progresses, although for most women this remains within the normal reference range (4). However, for a small number of women, serum bile acids are elevated beyond this level, leading to intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP) which is associated with an increased risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes, including preterm birth, prolonged neonatal unit admission and stillbirth (4). Women with ICP also have an increased risk of developing gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) (5), which is characterised by elevated plasma glucose levels and increased insulin resistance. Women with ICP have elevated serum triglyceride and LDL-cholesterol concentrations (6), similar to GDM, and it is thought bile acids and their receptors may also play a role in the development of impaired glucose tolerance in pregnancy.

In this review, bile acids and their receptors, FXR and TGR5, will be discussed in the context of regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism, human diseases, and recent research into their therapeutic potential. Focus will be on the gestational diseases ICP and GDM and the role bile acids play in their pathophysiology.

## Bile acid homeostasis

Bile components, including bile salts are synthesised in the liver, exported into bile ducts and stored in the gallbladder until meal ingestion. High concentrations of bile acids are toxic and therefore production and excretion are tightly regulated. There are two main pathways for bile acid synthesis: the classical and alternative pathway.

In humans, the classical bile acid synthesis pathway results in the conversion of cholesterol into the primary bile acids cholic acid (CA) and chenodeoxycholic acid (CDCA), and accounts for approximately 90% of bile acid synthesis. This hepatic-specific pathway involves at least 17 separate steps, and activity of the rate-limiting enzyme cholesterol  $7\alpha$ -hydroxylase (CYP7A1) determines the size of the bile acid pool (7), while sterol  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylase (CYP8B1) increases CA synthesis and the CA:CDCA ratio (7). The alternative bile acid synthesis pathway starts with hydroxylation of cholesterol by sterol 27-hydroxylase (CYP27A1) in extrahepatic sites to form 27-hydroxylcholesterol, which is then taken up by the liver and the majority converted to CDCA (3). Bile salts are formed by conjugation of bile acids with either taurine or glycine at a ratio of approximately 1:3 (7), and transported into the bile canaliculi through the bile salt export pump (BSEP; ABCB11)(8). Other membrane-residing transporters that influence bile components include multidrug resistance protein (MDR3; ABCB4), a phosphatidylcholine (PC) floppase that transports PC from the inner to the outer canalicular membrane (and into the bile), and ATP-binding cassette transporters G5/G8 heterodimer (ABCG5/8), which transport cholesterol into the bile canaliculi (9,10). From here, bile is transported to the gallbladder for storage. Figure 1 summarises the role of these hepatic pathways within the enterohepatic circulation of bile acids.

Ingestion of food stimulates release of bile from the gallbladder which facilitates the digestion and absorption of lipids and lipid-soluble vitamins. The gut microbiota in the ileum and colon deconjugate the primary bile acids, and further modify them through 7-dehydroxylation to produce secondary bile acids; lithocholic acid (LCA) is formed from CDCA whereas deoxycholic acid (DCA) is derived from CA (Figure 2). The gut microbiota can further modify bile acids by  $7\alpha/\beta$ -epimerisation

to make ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA), and more rarely by  $3\alpha/\beta$ -epimerisation,  $5\alpha/\beta$ -epimerisation or oxidation to produce iso-, allo-, or oxo-bile acids, respectively (11). The bile acid pool in the terminal ileum comprises approximately 30% CA, 40% CDCA, 20-30% DCA and below 5% LCA (1), although this varies between individuals as it is influenced by factors including nutrient availability and gut microbiota composition. Approximately 95% of the bile salts are reabsorbed, either through the apical sodium-dependent bile acid transporter (ASBT) at the distal ileum and colon, or through passive absorption of deconjugated or protonated uncharged conjugated bile acids along the length of the intestine (12). The remaining 5% is excreted in the faeces, and this loss is compensated by approximately 500mg/day *de novo* bile acid synthesis (1). Reabsorbed bile acids are exported from ileal enterocytes into the enterohepatic circulation by the heterodimeric organic solute transporter  $\alpha/\beta$  (OST  $\alpha/\beta$ ) on the basolateral membrane of the cells (1). The bile acids are transported via the portal vein back to the hepatocytes through the sodium taurocholate co-transporting polypeptide (NTCP) or organic anion transporting polypeptides (OATP) (1), reconjugated, and again exported into the bile duct (Figure 1).

# The role of bile acid receptors in glucose and lipid homeostasis

Daily synthesis of bile acids regulates the plasma cholesterol concentration, thereby ensuring this does not become too high. Catabolism of cholesterol to bile acids is regulated by CYP7A1 expression; high CYP7A1 expression leads to depletion of hepatic cholesterol and increased hepatic LDL receptor expression to replace the lost cholesterol by harvesting the circulatory cholesterol (13). The bile acid pool and composition are different in diabetic states, and there is evidence that the pool could increase in type 2 diabetes (T2DM). These changes could increase insulin resistance, affecting glucose metabolism and progress the pathogenesis of diabetes (2). Bile acid activation of FXR and TGR5 is well documented and both receptors have roles in bile acid, lipid and glucose metabolism. Understanding bile acid activation of FXR and TGR5 may provide key insights into the pathogenesis of metabolic disease states.

#### FXR

FXR is a nuclear receptor expressed mainly in the liver, intestine and kidneys, and is essential to regulating the metabolism and synthesis of bile acids. The primary bile acid CDCA is the most potent FXR ligand (CDCA>LCA>DCA>CA; Figure 3) (13). Hepatic FXR activation promotes transcription of small heterodimer protein (SHP), which represses transcription of CYP7A1, thereby reducing hepatic synthesis of bile acids (1) (Figure 1). FXR also upregulates the expression of MDR3 and BSEP, promoting efflux of bile acids to further prevent bile acid build-up within hepatocytes. Intestinal FXR activation, via transintestinal bile acid flux, induces the expression of fibroblast growth factor 19 (FGF19/FGF15 in mice) which is secreted by the intestinal epithelial cells. FGF19 is transported in the portal vein and binds hepatocyte fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4)/beta-Klotho to cause repression of CYP7A1 transcription, further downregulating bile acid synthesis (2) (Figure 1).

#### FXR influences lipid and glucose metabolism

Through transcriptional regulation, FXR activation also stimulates  $\beta$ -oxidation of fatty acids and decreases lipid levels in the serum and liver (14). Activation of hepatic FXR with agonists in diabetic/obese mice or rats fed a high-fat diet reduced serum and liver triglycerides and lipids.

Hepatic expression of genes involving fatty acid synthesis, lipogenesis and gluconeogenesis were also reduced (15,16). This demonstrates the importance of FXR in lipid metabolism and that use of FXR agonists has the potential to improve metabolic abnormalities.

Studies have also shown that activation of FXR has a beneficial effect on glucose metabolism, with FXR agonistic treatment or FXR overexpression lowering blood glucose levels in diabetic mice (17). Pathak and colleagues demonstrated that FXR agonists improve glycaemia and reduce diet-induced weight gain in mice (18), and another study demonstrated that bile acid activation of FXR in mice repressed gluconeogenic gene expression (19). Through FXR activation, mice fed a CA diet had reduced expression of phosphenolpyruvate carboxykinase, the rate-limiting enzyme in gluconeogenesis (20). FXR-null mice develop elevated serum free fatty acids, alongside impaired glucose and insulin tolerance, and elevated serum glucose levels. Activation of FXR with agonists in wildtype mice decreased serum glucose (17,19). Other studies, however, have shown beneficial effects of inhibition or deletion of FXR (21,22). Mice with intestine-specific FXR knockout had improved oral glucose tolerance and lower body weight (21,23). These contradictions could be explained by the differential effects of FXR activation in the liver versus the intestine. It is also important to note that FXR expression is found in peripheral tissues including adipose tissue, islets of Langerhans and adrenal glands (24), and could contribute to glucose and lipid metabolism via actions in these tissues. In vivo and in vitro experiments involving animal islets demonstrated activation of FXR by bile acid stimulated insulin secretion (25,26). In adipocytes, FXR appears to play a role in differentiation and promotes adipogenesis (27,28).

#### TGR5

Bile acids also bind and activate TGR5, a cell surface G-protein-coupled receptor widely expressed in humans and animals. However, the most potent bile acid ligands for TGR5 differ to those that activate FXR (LCA>DCA>CDCA>CA; Figure 3) (29). When activated, TGR5 stimulates adenylyl cyclase to increase concentrations of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), activating protein kinase A

(PKA) and exerting cytosolic effects including calcium mobilisation and activating cellular signalling cascades such as nuclear factor κB, extracellular signal-regulated kinases and Akt/protein kinase B pathways (30,31). Often, the signalling pathways of TGR5 are influenced by cell type and conditions. Most notable is its expression in the enteroendocrine L cells. TGR5 activation causes secretion of gut hormone glucagon-like-peptide 1 (GLP-1) in the small intestine and colon, which promotes insulin secretion (18,32,33)(Figure 1). Activation of TGR5 receptors at the pancreatic islets causes release of insulin and improves insulin sensitivity and glycaemic control (34,35)

TGR5 activation also plays a role in lipid metabolism and energy expenditure. White and brown adipose tissue (WAT and BAT, respectively) are the two major adipose tissues in the body. WAT is adapted for storage of surplus fatty acids derived from the diet in the form of triglycerides and for subsequent release under conditions of negative energy balance in the body. WAT is also known to contribute to the inflammatory response that occurs in obesity (36,37). In contrast, BAT is a highly vascularised, mitochondria-rich organ containing uncoupling protein 1 (UCP-1), which generates heat by uncoupling the mitochondrial proton gradient (38). TGR5 agonism causes remodelling of white adipocytes to give a more brown adipocyte-like phenotype, thus increasing  $\beta$ -oxidation and energy expenditure (39,40). Improved glucose metabolism and energy consumption are induced by the cAMP/PKA pathway in TGR5-activated skeletal muscle, alongside promoting muscle cell differentiation and hypertrophy to increase muscle strength and function (41,42). TGR5 expression is also found in several immune cells such as monocytes, macrophages and Kupffer cells; its activation exerts anti-inflammatory activities, including inhibition of the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and induction of differentiation of anti-inflammatory immune cells (31,43,44). Many metabolic diseases have an inflammatory component, including diabetes; thus, TGR5-mediated regulation of immune cell function warrants further investigation.

#### Further bile acid receptors

Other receptors have been reported to have affinity towards bile acids. The primary function of the pregnane X receptor PXR is to detect foreign substances and protect the body by promoting transcription of genes involved in removing and metabolising toxic substances. PXR is highly expressed in the liver and intestine, with the most potent bile acid ligand being LCA (45). Strong evidence exists for ligand-activated PXR playing a role in lipid and glucose metabolism, though there are contradictory outcomes. Whilst some studies have shown PXR activation mediates lipogenesis, suppresses  $\beta$ -oxidation and induces hyperglycaemia (46,47), others have reported that PXR activation improves glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity (48). Species and gender-specific differences are thought to explain these variable results. However, research on metabolic regulation through bile acid bound PXR activation is limited, and further investigations may reveal new role for bile acids acting on PXR.

The vitamin D receptor (VDR), when bound to vitamin D, mediates calcium and bone metabolism, innate and adaptive immune system and cardiovascular function. LCA, can agonise VDR in the lower intestine, particularly in the ileum (49). However, the physiological relevance of LCA modulation of VDR function remains unclear. Recent research has pointed towards the ability of LCA to provide an immune protective effect at the epithelium via VDR activation (50). VDR has also been reported to have a role in maintaining glycaemia. A recent *in vitro* study demonstrated that an LCA derivative, LCA propionate, protects pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells from dedifferentiation (51). It remains to be seen whether LCA can regulate glucose metabolism via VDR.

The liver X receptor (LXR) is a nuclear receptor which has two isoforms: LXRα, which is highly expressed in tissues with high metabolic activity, including the liver, small intestine and adipocytes, and LXRβ, which is expressed ubiquitously (45). Unlike FXR, activation of LXR increases transcription and activity of CYP7A1, increasing bile acid formation and reverse cholesterol transport, thus decreasing plasma cholesterol levels (45). FXR and LXR activation thus finely tune lipid, glucose and bile acid metabolism (13). Though primary bile acids are not regarded as agonists for LXR, some
minor secondary bile acids have agonistic properties, such as hyocholic acid (HCA) and hyodeoxycholic acid (HDCA) (52,53). Both HCA and HDCA are found at low levels in the serum and the intestinal tract, which raises questions as to whether their activation of LXR is of physiological relevance.

Alongside TGR5, other G-protein coupled receptors have also been documented to be activated by bile acids. Bile acids are known to interact with the muscarinic receptors,  $M_1$ - $M_5$  (3). Muscarinic receptors are responsible for the physiological effects of acetylcholine, which acts as a neurotransmitter in the brain or neuromuscular junctions and also mediates the parasympathetic system (3). There is increasing evidence that positive allosteric modulation of  $M_3$  muscarinic receptors improves glucose homeostasis and promotes insulin release (54,55), and mice lacking  $M_3$  in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells displayed impaired glucose control and reduced insulin release, producing a diabetic phenotype (54).

Sphingosine-1 phosphate receptor subtype 2 (S1PR2), expressed in a variety of tissues, is another Gprotein coupled receptor (3) for which bile acids are also ligands. When activated, S1PR2 mediates numerous cell functions including increasing cell permeability, promoting immune cell function, muscle contraction and neuron migration (56). Research into the role of S1PR2 in metabolic function has demonstrated that its activation lowers glucose levels and upregulates lipid metabolism (56,57).

### Gestational changes in bile acid metabolism

Serum bile acid concentrations are raised in pregnancy compared to non-pregnant adults, resulting in a mild gestational hypercholanaemia. The concentrations of CA and CDCA are also reported to change as gestation advances (58–62). The composition of the maternal gut microbiome may provide some answers to these alterations, with some studies reporting a gradual reduction of *Bacteroidetes* and increase in *Firmicutes* as pregnancy progresses, similar to the changes in microbes reported in obesity (63,64). In a separate study, advancing gestation was associated with enhanced

microbial bile acid deconjugation (secondary to an increase in *Bacteroidetes*-encoded bile salt hydrolase), reduced ileal bile acid uptake and therefore lowered FXR induction in enterocytes (65), resulting in increased hepatic bile acid synthesis. Along with reduced ileal FXR activity, studies of pregnant mice showed reduced FGF15, and reduced expression of bile acid transporters late in gestation (65,66). More detailed studies that take account of individual variation in gestational phenotypes are required to delineate the alterations in specific enterotypes with advancing gestation.

Pregnancy hormones have also been shown to influence bile acid homeostasis. Studies in mice demonstrated that, as serum bile acid levels increase during gestation, FXR expression is suppressed. This was associated with the downregulation of bile acid transporters such as BSEP, NTCP and OATP, particularly exemplified in the late stage of pregnancy (67,68). Hormones such as progesterone and oestrogen, whose concentrations increase as gestation progresses, contribute to the changes in bile acid metabolism. Oestrogen and its metabolites inhibit FXR and BSEP, and increase CYP7A1 activity in animal studies (67,69,70). Similarly, BSEP and NTCP are inhibited by sulphated progesterone metabolites, and whilst progesterone sulphates exert partial agonism towards FXR, this prevents bile acid binding and reduces overall activation of FXR (71–73). Therefore, both oestrogen, progesterone and their metabolites contribute to raised bile acids during normal pregnancy.

Metabolic changes also occur during pregnancy to accommodate the demands of the fetus. Serum lipids, particularly triglycerides, and LDL-cholesterol increase as pregnancy progresses (74,75). Insulin resistance is typically seen in pregnancy, which contributes to the stimulation of fatty acid synthesis, and increased lipid release into the serum (76). Enhanced hepatic gluconeogenesis and impaired insulin sensitivity result in higher circulating glucose concentrations during the third trimester. Insulin resistance is normally compensated for by an increase in the size and number of pancreatic islets, thereby enhancing glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS) (77). High oestrogen levels during pregnancy stimulate hepatic lipogenesis and reduce clearance of circulating triglyceride-rich

lipoproteins (76). Oestradiol acts on the β-cells to enhance GSIS, and is also suggested to be involved in developing maternal insulin resistance and glucose intolerance (78,79). One of the suggested mechanisms of action occurs by oestradiol binding directly to insulin and the insulin receptor to cause insulin resistance (80). Elevated levels of progesterone have also been implicated in contributing to decreased insulin sensitivity, increased insulin resistance and glucose intolerance (79). One mechanism through which this occurs is through inhibition of insulin-induced glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT4) translocation. Progesterone prevents GLUT4 translocation by suppressing the phosphoinositide 3-kinase-mediated pathway, inhibiting Akt phosphorylation and decreasing insulin-induced phosphorylation of Cbl signalling proteins, causing reduced cellular glucose uptake (81).

It is also possible that TGR5 signalling is affected during pregnancy. Activation of TGR5 in enteroendocrine cells causes GLP-1 secretion. During normal pregnancy, fasting serum GLP-1 concentrations increase from the second to third trimester, which is thought to compensate for the increase in glycaemia and insulin resistance (82). With changes in the gut microbiome promoting enhanced hepatic bile acid synthesis, and also increased microbial deconjugation and dehydroxylation of primary bile acids to LCA and DCA, the TGR5 receptor would be further activated, thereby influencing maternal metabolism. GLP-1 secretion is key for pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell adaptations. During normal pregnancy, islet and  $\beta$ -cell area increase to compensate for changes in both mice and humans. In GLP-1 receptor null mice, these islet adaptations are abolished, suggesting that GLP-1 is a key mediator in  $\beta$ -cell mass expansion and related adaptations in pregnancy (83).

Bile acid composition and concentration may also differ in gestational disease states compared to uncomplicated pregnancies, particularly in the metabolic disorders ICP and GDM.

## Bile acids in gestational disease

## Intrahepatic Cholestasis of Pregnancy

ICP is the most common pregnancy-specific liver disease. Women with ICP most commonly present in the third trimester with pruritus and elevated serum bile acids, which can occur alongside raised liver transaminases. ICP accounts for roughly 1% of pregnancies in Europe and North America, with higher incidence in women of South Asian and South American ancestry, occuring most commonly in Chile and neighbouring countries (4). As well as pruritus, hypercholanaemia and abnormal liver function, maternal features of ICP include impaired glucose tolerance and dyslipidaemia (6). ICP is associated with an increased risk of adverse perinatal outcomes, including preterm birth, meconium stained amniotic fluid and stillbirth (84–86). ICP has a complex aetiology with hormonal and genetic factors. Most women are diagnosed when the concentrations of both oestrogens and progesterone are at their highest in the later stages of pregnancy. Sulphated progesterone metabolites, implicated in the pathogenesis of ICP, are elevated in women with ICP in the third trimester, but are raised before the onset of pruritus (87). Genetic studies have demonstrated pathological variants in genes involved in bile acid synthesis and transport (particularly ABCB4 and ABCB11) in ICP (88,89). As well as the total serum concentration, the bile acid profile is also altered. In normal pregnancy the CA/CDCA ratio is increased, and this is further amplified in ICP by a larger increase in CA (90,91). This ratio change increases the hydrophilicity of the bile acid pool, due to the extra hydroxyl group on CA. This further reduces FXR activation in ICP as CA is a less potent agonist of FXR (Figure 3), but is likely also beneficial to the liver as CA should exhibit cytoprotection over the more cytotoxic hydrophobic bile acids (92). Activation of TGR5 by bile acids, or other agonists such as progesterone sulfates, may also play a role in the pruritus associated with ICP (87,93,94). As well as maternal effects, bile acids have been directly implicated in fetal arrhythmias, with fetal PR interval elongation and abnormal calcium dynamics reported (95–97). FXR function has also been linked to the pathophysiology of ICP. FXR function is reduced in pregnancy due to the rise in oestrogen and its metabolites, causing a

cholestatic phenotype (67,71). While reduced FXR function is likely to occur in all pregnancies, in some women gestational changes will exacerbate susceptibility to hypercholanaemia to cause ICP.

Ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) is a hydrophilic secondary bile acid, normally used to treat a variety of cholestatic liver disorders. UDCA lowers serum levels of bile acids, acting on BSEP, MDR3 and multidrug resistance-associated protein 4, which improves biliary secretion of bile acids (98,99). Other effects include protection of the liver from bile acid-induced apoptosis, anti-inflammatory actions and stabilisation of the 'biliary bicarbonate umbrella' (100). UDCA treatment also alters the bile acid pool, constituting approximately 60% of total bile acid measurements in treated women and replacing more harmful bile acids (101). UDCA is a commonly used treatment for ICP, with studies demonstrating reductions in maternal features of ICP, such as itch, hypercholanaemia, elevated transaminases and adverse outcomes (102,103). However, a recent trial demonstrated that UDCA did not reduce the frequency of a composite endpoint that perinatal death, spontaneous and iatrogenic preterm birth and admission to the neonatal unit for more than 4 hours (104). Ongoing research is evaluating whether UDCA may be of benefit to a subgroup of women with ICP, or only those at risk of specific adverse pregnancy outcomes.

### **Gestational Diabetes Mellitus**

GDM is characterised by the pathological development of insulin resistance and hyperglycaemia during pregnancy, which resolves following delivery. Due to the lack of consensus and diagnostic standard for GDM worldwide, there is a large variation in the prevalence of GDM which makes it challenging to compare across countries and regions. Although pre-existing diseases such as obesity contribute to the likelihood of developing GDM, multiple risk factors are implicated in its pathogenesis, including age, ethnicity, family history of diabetes, smoking and genetic susceptibility (105). With many women choosing to have children at a later stage of their life and maternal obesity rates increasing worldwide every year (105), the prevalence has been rising, regardless of the diagnostic criteria. The pathophysiology of GDM is multifactorial. While the metabolic adaptations of

normal pregnancy described above occur in all pregnancies, GDM occurs when the islets cannot meet the heightened insulin demand, and the  $\beta$ -cells become defective, resulting in hyperglycaemia (105). GDM typically occurs in the third trimester when insulin resistance is at its highest and peripheral insulin sensitivity at its lowest (105).

GDM is associated with both short- and long-term complications. Shorter-term consequences include accelerated fetal growth, macrosomia, neonatal hypoglycaemia, and jaundice (106–108). Longer-term complications include increased risk of developing T2DM in both the mother and offspring (106,109–111), and an increased risk of developing metabolic syndrome, cardiovascular, kidney and liver diseases for the mother (105,106). A recent study examining 11-12 year old offspring of women with GDM determined that these children were also at increased risk of hyperglycaemia, diabetes and obesity (109,112).

Initial treatment for GDM involves a lifestyle modification immediately after diagnosis, often involving diet and exercise (113). If hyperglycaemia is not resolved within 1-2 weeks, pharmacological treatment is initiated. Metformin and/or insulin are often given as first line treatments, with sulfonylureas sometimes given as an alternative, depending on different country guidelines (113). The Metformin in Gestational Diabetes (MiG) trial demonstrated that mothers randomised to metformin, compared to insulin, had reduced maternal weight gain and gestational hypertension (114). However, the rate of large for gestational age (LGA) offspring was not affected and the children had more subcutaneous fat at 2 years of age after maternal metformin treatment (115). Furthermore, metformin use has been associated with greater childhood size, adiposity and inferior cardiometabolic health (116). These studies have raised concerns that metformin, currently used by many women with GDM, does not adequately prevent adverse perinatal outcomes, and may have negative long-term effects on the metabolic health of the children (117). However, a recent study has provided more reassuring data: the 3-5 year old children of obese women randomised to take metformin in pregnancy had lower gluteal and tricep circumferences, lower systolic blood pressure and improved left ventricular diastolic function compared to the children of obese women

randomised to placebo (118). Thus, more research is required to establish whether maternal metformin treatment improves long term cardiometabolic outcomes for exposed fetuses. Indeed, even insulin treatment (the "gold-standard" pharmacological approach) was not shown to be of definitive benefit for GDM offspring in the most recent Cochrane review, and was thought to possibly increase the risk of raised blood pressure compared to oral treatments (119). The sulfonylurea, glibenclamide, has not been shown to be superior to insulin treatment in randomised trials (120), or as an add-on therapy to metformin (121). Sulfonylurea use is also linked with higher rates of LGA babies and neonatal hypoglycaemia compared with offspring of GDM women treated with insulin or metformin (122). Thus, while the recommended treatments should be prescribed for women with GDM, the potential long-term effects for the child should be taken into careful consideration, and there is a need for more effective intervention strategies to be developed, likely with consideration of individual risk factors as GDM is a heterogeneous disorder. However treatment for GDM does not seem to improve the long-term effects seen in children (123,124), although current postpartum studies evaluating children born from GDM women are of relatively short duration.

#### Impact of bile acids in ICP and GDM

ICP and GDM have some similarities; both are gestational metabolic disorders associated with maternal dyslipidaemia. Although bile acids and their receptors have a greater impact on ICP, it is plausible that bile acid signalling also influences the risk of GDM, and modulation of bile acid pathways may be of benefit in both conditions.

There is an increasing research focus on the relationship between bile acids and the risk of T2DM, in particular the relevance of the CA:CDCA ratio and CYP8B1 function (125,126). However, studies of bile acids in GDM are comparatively limited. As described earlier in this article, elevated serum bile acids and changes in the bile acid pool also occur in normal pregnancy and are heightened in ICP. Furthermore women with ICP have an increased risk of developing GDM (5,127,128). Total and individual bile acid species have been found to be higher in women with GDM in the third trimester (129). Elevated total bile acids were also found in women in their first trimester who went on to develop GDM (130,131). However, other studies found a reduction in bile acids in GDM women recruited from the first and second trimester (132,133). These differences could be due to ethnicity, the heterogeneous aetiology of GDM or variations in the method used to assay bile acids. The composition of the bile acid pools also differs between these studies, and some report alterations in the concentrations of minor bile acids that may not be of relevance to clinical metabolic phenotypes. This discrepancy between studies of bile acids in GDM warrants further investigation. It is important for future studies to use consistent measurement techniques in large cohorts of women with GDM, and to match the BMI in women with uncomplicated pregnancies, alongside ethnic group, gestational week of pregnancy and feeding/fasting blood sampling, as these factors all influence the concentration of specific bile acid species in the serum.

It is possible that changes in FXR and TGR5 activity could affect GDM susceptibility. Since both receptors play a role in regulation of glucose homeostasis, changes to normal receptor function are also likely to affect glucose metabolism. Consistent with this, mice deficient of FXR or TGR5 develop gestational impaired glucose tolerance, and FXR<sup>-/-</sup> mice have insulin resistance in pregnancy (134). It is plausible both FXR and TGR5 could contribute to the pathophysiology of GDM and could be the link between the increased risk of developing GDM in ICP women.

## Bile acid receptors and therapeutics for gestational diseases

Due to the increasing evidence of the involvement of FXR and TGR5 in energy metabolism, manipulation of these receptors could be key in improving metabolic disease such as diabetes. As a result of the cytotoxic nature of hydrophobic bile acids, concerns have been raised as to the safety of using bile acids as pharmaceuticals. To avoid this issue, much research has evaluated semi-synthetic analogues or synthetic TGR5 or FXR agonists as potential therapeutics for metabolic diseases. Studies on targeting FXR regulation of metabolism appear to be contradictory. The FXR agonist obeticholic acid (OCA) has delivered promising results in clinical trials for liver-based metabolic

diseases and T2DM in non-pregnant adults, including improving insulin sensitivity (135). However, in mouse models of GDM, OCA did not produce the full effects seen in other studies; whilst treatment reduced plasma cholesterol, glucose tolerance was not improved (136). Research into FXR-specific therapeutics for gestational disorders such as ICP or GDM is also currently lacking. However, FXR agonism provides some benefits in mouse models of hypercholanaemia, with improved fetal bile acid profiles (137,138).

Likewise, TGR5 agonism has been researched as a therapeutic for ameliorating symptoms of diabetes, with TGR5 agonists in diabetic mice improving glucose homeostasis (41). However, to date, no research has looked specifically at the impact of TGR5 receptor activation on biochemical features of GDM. Several novel TGR5 agonists exist and many show encouraging effects when used in animal models of diabetes (139–144). One recent example used a novel, orally administered TGR5 agonist, RDX8940. This induced incretin secretion and improved insulin sensitivity with minimal side effects in western diet-fed mice (144). Another study which used another novel TGR5 agonist, WB403, on a model of T2DM mice improved glucose tolerance and decreased fasting blood glucose. WB403 administration caused changes at the islet level, increasing pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells in mice (142). Clinical trials using TGR5 selective agonists have also been carried out with promising results (145). Side effects are a major concern for novel TGR5 agonists due to TGR5 having broad multi-organ expression. However, using organ-restricted agonists would avoid these side effects and would consequently likely have acceptable safety profiles. Currently TGR5 agonists with low intestinal absorption rates have been designed that may have therapeutic value. Studies have shown their ability to cross cell membranes and that they show specificity for TGR5 receptors without contributing to systemic absorption (146,147). Lasalle et al. 2017 designed a gut-restricted TGR5 agonist named compound 24. When used in diet-induced obese and insulin resistant mice, sustained GLP-1 release and decreased fasted plasma insulin levels were observed with low systemic levels of compound 24 detected. Many of these agonists could have the potential in alleviating GDM symptoms, though further studies are required to explore the relationship between TGR5 and GDM.

Bile acids for the treatment of diabetes are currently being investigated. A recent study of UDCA treatment in people with T2DM and chronic liver disease resulted in weight loss and reduction of HbA1c over 12 weeks (148). Furthermore, a meta-analysis showed significant reductions in fasting plasma glucose, HbA1c and plasma insulin concentrations in UDCA treated people with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (a disorder linked with T2DM and previous GDM) (149,150). The improvements seen in UDCA treatment for T2DM could translate as a plausible treatment for those who have GDM and future studies could look to see if these improvements in T2DM could be replicated in GDM patients.

## Conclusions

Bile acids are signalling molecules that influence energy metabolism. Emerging research is revealing that bile acids and their receptors contribute to modulation of bile acid, lipid and glucose metabolism and that they influence the pathophysiology of diseases, including the gestational disorders ICP and GDM. Research into FXR has expanded the knowledge of not only how the body maintains tight control of bile acid production and export but has revealed additional roles for this nuclear receptor in lipid and glucose metabolism. Conflicting studies exist detailing how FXR activation alters glucose homeostasis and further research is necessary to clarify its role in disorders of glucose homeostasis. On the other hand, TGR5 stimulation in the gut, and associated release of GLP-1, is likely to be valuable for modulating gestational diseases in which women display glucose intolerance. Due to TGR5 expression in numerous organs, organ-specific TGR5 agonists could be an attractive option for amelioration of symptoms GDM. While the relationship between ICP and bile acids is well established, the potential relationship between bile acids and susceptibility to GDM is currently less well understood. More detailed investigation of the impact of therapeutic targeting of bile acid receptors is likely to provide data to establish whether this will improve metabolic derangements in ICP and GDM, and therefore future maternal and child health.

#### Declaration of interests

The authors have no conflicts of interest of relevance to this article.

#### Funding

CW is supported by the NIHR senior investigator award.

## References

- Šarenac TM, Mikov M. Bile Acid Synthesis: From Nature to the Chemical Modification and Synthesis and Their Applications as Drugs and Nutrients. Front Pharmacol [Internet]. 2018 Sep 25 [cited 2020 Mar 23];9(SEP):939. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphar.2018.00939/full
- Ahmad TR, Haeusler RA. Bile acids in glucose metabolism and insulin signalling mechanisms and research needs [Internet]. Vol. 15, Nature Reviews Endocrinology. Nature Publishing Group; 2019 [cited 2020 Mar 24]. p. 701–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31616073
- Kiriyama Y, Nochi H. The biosynthesis, signaling, and neurological functions of bile acids. Vol.
   9, Biomolecules. MDPI AG; 2019.
- 4. McIlvride S, Dixon PH, Williamson C. Bile acids and gestation. Vol. 56, Molecular Aspects of Medicine. Elsevier Ltd; 2017. p. 90–100.
- Martineau M, Raker C, Powrie R, Williamson C. Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of gestational diabetes. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2014 May 1;176(1):80–5.
- 6. Martineau MG, Raker C, Dixon PH, Chambers J, Machirori M, King NM, et al. The metabolic profile of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy is associated with impaired glucose tolerance, dyslipidemia, and increased fetal growth. Diabetes Care. 2015 Feb 1;38(2):243–8.
- Chiang JYL, Ferrell JM. Bile acid metabolism in liver pathobiology [Internet]. Vol. 18, Gene Expression. Cognizant Communication Corporation; 2018 [cited 2020 Jun 22]. p. 71–87. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5954621/?report=abstract
- Kullak-Ublick GA, Stieger B, Hagenbuch B, Meier PJ. Hepatic transport of bile salts [Internet].
   Vol. 20, Seminars in Liver Disease. Semin Liver Dis; 2000 [cited 2020 Jul 1]. p. 273–92.
   Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11076396/
- 9. Graf GA, Yu L, Li WP, Gerard R, Tuma PL, Cohen JC, et al. ABCG5 and ABCG8 Are Obligate Heterodimers for Protein Trafficking and Biliary Cholesterol Excretion. J Biol Chem [Internet].
   2003 Nov 28 [cited 2020 Jul 1];278(48):48275–82. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/14504269/
- Oude Elferink RPJ, Paulusma CC. Function and pathophysiological importance of ABCB4 (MDR3 P-glycoprotein) [Internet]. Vol. 453, Pflugers Archiv European Journal of Physiology. Pflugers Arch; 2007 [cited 2020 Jul 1]. p. 601–10. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16622704/
- Wahlström A, Sayin SI, Marschall HU, Bäckhed F. Intestinal Crosstalk between Bile Acids and Microbiota and Its Impact on Host Metabolism [Internet]. Vol. 24, Cell Metabolism. Cell Press; 2016 [cited 2020 Aug 21]. p. 41–50. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27320064/
- Dawson PA, Karpen SJ. Intestinal transport and metabolism of bile acids [Internet]. Vol. 56, Journal of Lipid Research. American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Inc.; 2015 [cited 2020 Jun 22]. p. 1085–99. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4442867/?report=abstract
- Kalaany NY, Mangelsdorf DJ. LXRS AND FXR: The Yin and Yang of Cholesterol and Fat Metabolism. Annu Rev Physiol [Internet]. 2006 Jan [cited 2020 Mar 23];68(1):159–91.

Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16460270

- Savkur RS, Bramlett KS, Michael LF, Burris TP. Regulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase expression by the farnesoid X receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun [Internet]. 2005 Apr 1 [cited 2020 Aug 21];329(1):391–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15721319/
- Cipriani S, Mencarelli A, Palladino G, Fiorucci S. FXR activation reverses insulin resistance and lipid abnormalities and protects against liver steatosis in Zucker (fa/fa) obese rats. J Lipid Res. 2010 Apr 1;51(4):771–84.
- 16. Liu Y, Song A, Yang X, Zhen Y, Chen W, Yang L, et al. Farnesoid X receptor agonist decreases lipid accumulation by promoting hepatic fatty acid oxidation in db/db mice. Int J Mol Med [Internet]. 2018 Sep 1 [cited 2020 Mar 23];42(3):1723–31. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29901078
- Zhang Y, Lee FY, Barrera G, Lee H, Vales C, Gonzalez FJ, et al. Activation of the nuclear FXR improves hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia in diabetic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2006 Jan 24 [cited 2020 Mar 23];103(4):1006–11. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16410358
- Pathak P, Xie C, Nichols RG, Ferrell JM, Boehme S, Krausz KW, et al. Intestine farnesoid X receptor agonist and the gut microbiota activate G-protein bile acid receptor-1 signaling to improve metabolism. Hepatology [Internet]. 2018 Oct 1 [cited 2020 Mar 23];68(4):1574–88. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29486523
- 19. Ma K, Saha PK, Chan L, Moore DD. Farnesoid X receptor is essential for normal glucose homeostasis. J Clin Invest. 2006 Apr 1;116(4):1102–9.
- De Fabiani E, Mitro N, Gilardi F, Caruso D, Galli G, Crestani M. Coordinated control of cholesterol catabolism to bile acids and of gluconeogenesis via a novel mechanism of transcription regulation linked to the fasted-to-fed cycle. J Biol Chem. 2003 Oct 3;278(40):39124–32.
- 21. Li F, Jiang C, Krausz KW, Li Y, Albert I, Hao H, et al. Microbiome remodelling leads to inhibition of intestinal farnesoid X receptor signalling and decreased obesity. Nat Commun. 2013 Sep 24;4.
- Jiang C, Xie C, Lv Y, Li J, Krausz KW, Shi J, et al. Intestine-selective farnesoid X receptor inhibition improves obesity-related metabolic dysfunction. Nat Commun. 2015 Dec 15;6(1):1– 18.
- Xie C, Jiang C, Shi J, Gao X, Sun D, Sun L, et al. An intestinal farnesoid x receptor-ceramide signaling axis modulates hepatic gluconeogenesis in mice. Diabetes [Internet]. 2017 Mar 1 [cited 2020 Mar 23];66(3):613–26. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28223344
- 24. Lefebvre P, Cariou B, Lien F, Kuipers F, Staels B. Role of bile acids and bile acid receptors in metabolic regulation. Vol. 89, Physiological Reviews. American Physiological Society; 2009. p. 147–91.
- 25. Düfer M, Hörth K, Wagner R, Schittenhelm B, Prowald S, Wagner TFJ, et al. Bile acids acutely stimulate insulin secretion of mouse β-cells via farnesoid X receptor activation and K ATP channel inhibition. Diabetes [Internet]. 2012 Jun [cited 2020 Mar 24];61(6):1479–89. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22492528
- 26. Schittenhelm B, Wagner R, Kähny V, Peter A, Krippeit-Drews P, Düfer M, et al. Role of FXR in

β-cells of lean and obese mice. Endocrinology [Internet]. 2015 Apr 1 [cited 2020 Mar 24];156(4):1263–71. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25599407

- Rizzo G, Disante M, Mencarelli A, Renga B, Gioiello A, Pellicciari R, et al. The farnesoid X receptor promotes adipocyte differentiation and regulates adipose cell function in vivo. Mol Pharmacol [Internet]. 2006 Oct [cited 2020 Mar 24];70(4):1164–73. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16778009
- 28. Van Zutphen T, Stroeve JHM, Yang J, Bloks VW, Jurdzinski A, Roelofsen H, et al. FXR overexpression alters adipose tissue architecture in mice and limits its storage capacity leading to metabolic derangements. J Lipid Res. 2019 Jun 28;60(9):1547–61.
- 29. Kawamata Y, Fujii R, Hosoya M, Harada M, Yoshida H, Miwa M, et al. A G protein-coupled receptor responsive to bile acids. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2003 Mar 14 [cited 2020 Jul 1];278(11):9435–40. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12524422/
- 30. Guo C, Chen WD, Wang YD. TGR5, not only a metabolic regulator [Internet]. Vol. 7, Frontiers in Physiology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2016 [cited 2020 Aug 3]. p. 646. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5183627/?report=abstract
- Chávez-Talavera O, Tailleux A, Lefebvre P, Staels B. Bile Acid Control of Metabolism and Inflammation in Obesity, Type 2 Diabetes, Dyslipidemia, and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Gastroenterology. 2017 May 1;152(7):1679-1694.e3.
- Christiansen CB, Trammell SAJ, Albrechtsen NJW, Schoonjans K, Albrechtsen R, Gillum MP, et al. Bile acids drive colonic secretion of glucagon-like-peptide 1 and peptide-YY in rodents. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol [Internet]. 2019 May 1 [cited 2020 Mar 24];316(5):G574–84. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30767682
- Kuhre RE, Wewer Albrechtsen NJ, Larsen O, Jepsen SL, Balk-Møller E, Andersen DB, et al. Bile acids are important direct and indirect regulators of the secretion of appetite- and metabolism-regulating hormones from the gut and pancreas. Mol Metab. 2018 May 1;11:84–95.
- Kumar DP, Rajagopal S, Mahavadi S, Mirshahi F, Grider JR, Murthy KS, et al. Activation of transmembrane bile acid receptor TGR5 stimulates insulin secretion in pancreatic β cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012 Oct 26;427(3):600–5.
- 35. Kumar DP, Asgharpour A, Mirshahi F, Park SH, Liu S, Imai Y, et al. Activation of transmembrane bile acid receptor tgr5 modulates pancreatic islet Cells to promote glucose homeostasis. J Biol Chem. 2016 Mar 25;291(13):6626–40.
- 36. Hirosumi J, Tuncman G, Chang L, Görgün CZ, Uysal KT, Maeda K, et al. A central, role for JNK in obesity and insulin resistance. Nature [Internet]. 2002 Nov 21 [cited 2020 Aug 21];420(6913):333–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12447443/
- Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-α:
   Direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science (80-) [Internet]. 1993 [cited 2020 Aug 21];259(5091):87–91. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/7678183/
- Symonds ME, Aldiss P, Pope M, Budge H. Recent advances in our understanding of brown and beige adipose tissue: The good fat that keeps you healthy [version 1; referees: 2 approved] [Internet]. Vol. 7, F1000Research. F1000 Research Ltd; 2018 [cited 2020 Aug 21]. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6058473/?report=abstract
- 39. Velazquez-Villegas LA, Perino A, Lemos V, Zietak M, Nomura M, Pols TWH, et al. TGR5 signalling promotes mitochondrial fission and beige remodelling of white adipose tissue. Nat

Commun [Internet]. 2018 Dec 1 [cited 2020 Mar 24];9(1):245. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29339725

- 40. Zietak M, Kozak LP. Bile acids induce uncoupling protein 1-dependent thermogenesis and stimulate energy expenditure at thermoneutrality in mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 2016 Mar 1 [cited 2020 Mar 24];310(5):E346–54. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26714852
- Huang S, Ma S, Ning M, Yang W, Ye Y, Zhang L, et al. TGR5 agonist ameliorates insulin resistance in the skeletal muscles and improves glucose homeostasis in diabetic mice. Metabolism [Internet]. 2019 Oct 1 [cited 2020 Mar 24];99:45–56. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31295453
- 42. Kobayashi Y, Hara N, Sugimoto R, Mifuji-Moroka R, Tanaka H, Eguchi A, et al. The associations between circulating Bile acids and the muscle volume in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Intern Med. 2017;56(7):755–62.
- Ichikawa R, Takayama T, Yoneno K, Kamada N, Kitazume MT, Higuchi H, et al. Bile acids induce monocyte differentiation toward interleukin-12 hypo-producing dendritic cells via a TGR5-dependent pathway. Immunology [Internet]. 2012 Jun [cited 2020 Mar 24];136(2):153–62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22236403
- Yoneno K, Hisamatsu T, Shimamura K, Kamada N, Ichikawa R, Kitazume MT, et al. TGR5 signalling inhibits the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by in vitro differentiated inflammatory and intestinal macrophages in Crohn's disease. Immunology [Internet]. 2013 May [cited 2020 Mar 24];139(1):19–29. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23566200
- 45. Juřica J, Dovrtělová G, Nosková K, Zendulka O. Bile acids, Nuclear receptors and cytochrome P450. Vol. 65, Physiological Research. Czech Academy of Sciences; 2016. p. S427–40.
- Zhou J, Zhai Y, Mu Y, Gong H, Uppal H, Toma D, et al. A novel pregnane X receptor-mediated and sterol regulatory element-binding protein-independent lipogenic pathway. J Biol Chem. 2006 May 26;281(21):15013–20.
- Hakkola J, Rysä J, Hukkanen J. Regulation of hepatic energy metabolism by the nuclear receptor PXR. Biochim Biophys Acta Gene Regul Mech [Internet]. 2016 Sep 1 [cited 2020 Mar 25];1859(9):1072–82. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27041449
- 48. Sultana H, Watanabe K, Rana MM, Takashima R, Ohashi A, Komai M, et al. Effects of vitamin K2 on the expression of genes involved in bile acid synthesis and glucose homeostasis in mice with humanized PXR. Nutrients [Internet]. 2018 Aug 1 [cited 2020 Mar 25];10(8). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30060524
- 49. Ishizawa M, Akagi D, Makishima M. Lithocholic acid is a vitamin D receptor ligand that acts preferentially in the ileum. Int J Mol Sci [Internet]. 2018 Jul 6 [cited 2020 Mar 25];19(7). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29986424
- 50. Yao B, He J, Yin X, Shi Y, Wan J, Tian Z. The protective effect of lithocholic acid on the intestinal epithelial barrier is mediated by the vitamin D receptor via a SIRT1/Nrf2 and NF-κB dependent mechanism in Caco-2 cells. Toxicol Lett [Internet]. 2019 Nov 1 [cited 2020 Mar 25];316:109–18. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31472180
- 51. Neelankal John A, Iqbal Z, Colley S, Morahan G, Makishima M, Jiang FX. Vitamin D receptortargeted treatment to prevent pathological dedifferentiation of pancreatic β cells under hyperglycaemic stress. Diabetes Metab. 2018 Jun 1;44(3):269–80.

- 52. De Marino S, Carino A, Masullo D, Finamore C, Marchianò S, Cipriani S, et al. Hyodeoxycholic acid derivatives as liver X receptor α and G-protein-coupled bile acid receptor agonists. Sci Rep. 2017 Feb 24;7(1):1–13.
- 53. Song C, Hiipakka RA, Liao S. Selective activation of liver X receptor alpha by 6α-hydroxy bile acids and analogs. Steroids. 2000;65(8):423–7.
- 54. Gautam D, Han SJ, Hamdan FF, Jeon J, Li B, Li JH, et al. A critical role for β cell M3 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in regulating insulin release and blood glucose homeostasis in vivo. Cell Metab. 2006 Jun 1;3(6):449–61.
- Zhu L, Rossi M, Cohen A, Pham J, Zheng H, Dattaroy D, et al. Allosteric modulation of β-cell M3 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors greatly improves glucose homeostasis in lean and obese mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2019 Sep 10 [cited 2020 Mar 25];116(37):18684–90. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31451647
- 56. Adada M, Canals D, Hannun YA, Obeid LM. Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2. Vol. 280, FEBS Journal. NIH Public Access; 2013. p. 6354–66.
- 57. Nagahashi M, Takabe K, Liu R, Peng K, Wang X, Wang Y, et al. Conjugated bile acid-activated
   S1P receptor 2 is a key regulator of sphingosine kinase 2 and hepatic gene expression.
   Hepatology. 2015 Apr 1;61(4):1216–26.
- 58. Dai Y, Liu J, Yuan E, Li Y, Wang Q, Jia L, et al. Gestational age-specific reference intervals for 15 biochemical measurands during normal pregnancy in China. Ann Clin Biochem [Internet].
  2018 Jul 1 [cited 2020 Mar 26];55(4):446–52. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29153025
- 59. Zhu B, Yin P, Ma Z, Ma Y, Zhang H, Kong H, et al. Characteristics of bile acids metabolism profile in the second and third trimesters of normal pregnancy. Metabolism [Internet]. 2019 Jun 1 [cited 2020 Mar 26];95:77–83. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30959040
- Larsson A, Palm M, Hansson LO, Axelsson O. Reference values for clinical chemistry tests during normal pregnancy. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol [Internet]. 2008 Jun [cited 2020 Mar 26];115(7):874–81. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18485166
- 61. Fulton IC, Douglas JG, Hutchon DJR, Beckett GJ. Is normal pregnancy cholestatic? Clin Chim Acta. 1983 May 30;130(2):171–6.
- 62. Carter J. Serum bile acids in normal pregnancy. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol [Internet].
   1991 Jun [cited 2020 Mar 26];98(6):540–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1873244
- 63. Collado MC, Isolauri E, Laitinen K, Salminen S. Distinct composition of gut microbiota during pregnancy in overweight and normal-weight women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008 Oct 1;88(4):894–9.
- 64. Koren O, Goodrich JK, Cullender TC, Spor A, Laitinen K, Kling Bäckhed H, et al. Host remodeling of the gut microbiome and metabolic changes during pregnancy. Cell. 2012 Aug 3;150(3):470–80.
- Ovadia C, Perdones-Montero A, Spagou K, Smith A, Sarafian MH, Gomez-Romero M, et al. Enhanced Microbial Bile Acid Deconjugation and Impaired Ileal Uptake in Pregnancy Repress Intestinal Regulation of Bile Acid Synthesis. Hepatology [Internet]. 2019 Jul 1 [cited 2020 Mar 26];70(1):276–93. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30983011
- 66. Moscovitz JE, Kong B, Buckley K, Buckley B, Guo GL, Aleksunes LM. Restoration of

enterohepatic bile acid pathways in pregnant mice following short term activation of Fxr by GW4064. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2016 Nov 1;310:60–7.

- 67. Milona A, Owen BM, Cobbold JFL, Willemsen ECL, Cox IJ, Boudjelal M, et al. Raised hepatic bile acid concentrations during pregnancy in mice are associated with reduced farnesoid X receptor function. Hepatology [Internet]. 2010 Sep 14 [cited 2020 Mar 27];52(4):1341–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20842631
- 68. Aleksunes LM, Yeager RL, Wen X, Cui JY, Klaassen CD. Repression of hepatobiliary transporters and differential regulation of classic and alternative bile acid pathways in mice during pregnancy. Toxicol Sci [Internet]. 2012 Dec [cited 2020 Mar 27];130(2):257–68. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22903823
- Chen Y, Vasilenko A, Song X, Valanejad L, Verma R, You S, et al. Estrogen and Estrogen Receptor-α-Mediated Transrepression of Bile Salt Export Pump. Mol Endocrinol. 2015 Apr 1;29(4):613–26.
- 70. Parini P, Angelin B, Stavréus-Evers A, Freyschuss B, Eriksson H, Rudling M. Biphasic effects of the natural estrogen 17β-estradiol on hepatic cholesterol metabolism in intact female rats. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000;20(7):1817–23.
- 71. Abu-Hayyeh S, Papacleovoulou G, Lövgren-Sandblom A, Tahir M, Oduwole O, Jamaludin NA, et al. Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy levels of sulfated progesterone metabolites inhibit farnesoid X receptor resulting in a cholestatic phenotype. Hepatology [Internet]. 2013 Feb [cited 2020 Mar 27];57(2):716–26. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22961653
- 72. Abu-Hayyeh S, Martinez-Becerra P, Abdul Kadir SHS, Selden C, Romero MR, Rees M, et al. Inhibition of Na+-taurocholate co-transporting polypeptide-mediated bile acid transport by cholestatic sulfated progesterone metabolites. J Biol Chem. 2010 May 28;285(22):16504–12.
- 73. Vallejo M, Briz O, Serrano MA, Monte MJ, Marin JJG. Potential role of trans-inhibition of the bile salt export pump by progesterone metabolites in the etiopathogenesis of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2006 Jun [cited 2020 Mar 27];44(6):1150–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16458994
- 74. Zheng W, Huang W, Zhang L, Tian Z, Wang T, Zhang T, et al. Changes in Serum Lipid Levels During Pregnancy and Association With Neonatal Outcomes: A Large Cohort Study. Reprod Sci [Internet]. 2018 Sep 1 [cited 2020 Mar 30];25(9):1406–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29316857
- 75. Dathan-Stumpf A, Vogel M, Jank A, Thiery J, Kiess W, Stepan H. Reference intervals of serum lipids in the second and third trimesters of pregnancy in a Caucasian cohort: the LIFE Child study. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2019 Dec 1;300(6):1531–9.
- Zeng Z, Liu F, Li S. Metabolic Adaptations in Pregnancy: A Review. Ann Nutr Metab [Internet].
   2017 Apr 1 [cited 2020 Mar 30];70(1):59–65. Available from: https://www.karger.com/Article/FullText/459633
- 77. Hill D, Szlapinski SK. METABOLIC ADAPTATIONS TO PREGNANCY IN HEALTHY AND GESTATIONAL DIABETIC PREGNANCIES: THE PANCREAS – PLACENTA AXIS. Curr Vasc Pharmacol [Internet]. 2020 Mar 20 [cited 2020 Mar 30];18. Available from: http://www.eurekaselect.com/180427/article
- 78. Nadal A, Alonso-Magdalena P, Soriano S, Ropero AB, Quesada I. The role of oestrogens in the adaptation of islets to insulin resistance. Vol. 587, Journal of Physiology. Wiley-Blackwell;

2009. p. 5031-7.

- 79. Masuyama H, Hiramatsu Y. Potential role of estradiol and progesterone in insulin resistance through constitutive androstane receptor. J Mol Endocrinol [Internet]. 2011 Oct [cited 2020 Mar 30];47(2):229–39. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21768169
- 80. Root-Bernstein R, Podufaly A, Dillon PF. Estradiol Binds to Insulin and Insulin Receptor Decreasing Insulin Binding in vitro. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) [Internet]. 2014 Jul 21 [cited 2020 Sep 1];5(JUL):118. Available from: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fendo.2014.00118/abstract
- 81. Wada T, Hori S, Sugiyama M, Fujisawa E, Nakano T, Tsuneki H, et al. Progesterone inhibits glucose uptake by affecting diverse steps of insulin signaling in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 2010 Apr [cited 2020 Mar 30];298(4):E881-8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20071559
- Valsamakis G, Margeli A, Vitoratos N, Boutsiadis A, Sakkas EG, Papadimitriou G, et al. The role of maternal gut hormones in normal pregnancy: Fasting plasma active glucagon-like peptide 1 level is a negative predictor of fetal abdomen circumference and maternal weight change. Eur J Endocrinol [Internet]. 2010 May 1 [cited 2020 Mar 30];162(5):897–903. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20194524
- Moffett RC, Vasu S, Thorens B, Drucker DJ, Flatt PR. Incretin receptor null mice reveal key role of GLP-1 but not GIP in pancreatic beta cell adaptation to pregnancy. PLoS One. 2014 Jun 13;9(6).
- 84. Glantz A, Marschall HU, Mattsson LÅ. Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: Relationships between bile acid levels and fetal complication rates. Hepatology [Internet]. 2004 Aug [cited 2020 Sep 1];40(2):467–74. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15368452/
- 85. Geenes V, Chappell LC, Seed PT, Steer PJ, Knight M, Williamson C. Association of severe intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy with adverse pregnancy outcomes: A prospective population-based case-control study. Hepatology [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2020 Sep 1];59(4):1482–91. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23857305/
- 86. Ovadia C, Seed PT, Sklavounos A, Geenes V, Di Illio C, Chambers J, et al. Association of adverse perinatal outcomes of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy with biochemical markers: results of aggregate and individual patient data meta-analyses. Lancet [Internet]. 2019 Mar 2 [cited 2020 Sep 1];393(10174):899–909. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/
- Abu-Hayyeh S, Ovadia C, Lieu T, Jensen DD, Chambers J, Dixon PH, et al. Prognostic and mechanistic potential of progesterone sulfates in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy and pruritus gravidarum. Hepatology [Internet]. 2016 Apr 1 [cited 2020 Apr 1];63(4):1287–98. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26426865
- Turro E, Astle WJ, Megy K, Gräf S, Greene D, Shamardina O, et al. Whole-genome sequencing of patients with rare diseases in a national health system. Nature [Internet]. 2020 Jul 2 [cited 2020 Aug 21];583(7814):96–102. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2434-2
- 89. Dixon PH, Sambrotta M, Chambers J, Taylor-Harris P, Syngelaki A, Nicolaides K, et al. An expanded role for heterozygous mutations of ABCB4, ABCB11, ATP8B1, ABCC2 and TJP2 in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2017 Dec 1 [cited 2020 Aug 21];7(1):1–8. Available from: www.nature.com/scientificreports
- 90. Brites D, Rodrigues CMP, Van-Zeller H, Alexandra Brito, Silva R. Relevance of serum bile acid

profile in the diagnosis of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy in an high incidence area: Portugal. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1998 Sep 1;80(1):31–8.

- 91. Heikkinen J. Serum bile acids in the early diagnosis of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 1983;61(5):581–7.
- 92. Pavlović N, Goločorbin-Kon S, Danić M, Stanimirov B, Al-Salami H, Stankov K, et al. Bile acids and their derivatives as potential modifiers of drug release and pharmacokinetic profiles. Front Pharmacol. 2018 Nov 8;9(NOV):1283.
- 93. Alemi F, Kwon E, Poole DP, Lieu TM, Lyo V, Cattaruzza F, et al. The TGR5 receptor mediates bile acid-induced itch and analgesia. J Clin Invest. 2013 Apr 1;123(4):1513–30.
- 94. Lieu T, Jayaweera G, Zhao P, Poole DP, Jensen D, Grace M, et al. The bile acid receptor TGR5 activates the trpa1 channel to induce itch in mice. Gastroenterology. 2014 Dec 1;147(6):1417–28.
- 95. Williamson C, Gorelik J, Eaton BM, Lab M, Swiet M de, Korchev Y. The bile acid taurocholate impairs rat cardiomyocyte function: a proposed mechanism for intra-uterine fetal death in obstetric cholestasis. Clin Sci. 2001 Apr 1;100(4):363–9.
- 96. Sheikh Abdul Kadir SH, Miragoli M, Abu-Hayyeh S, Moshkov A V., Xie Q, Keitel V, et al. Bile acid-induced arrhythmia is mediated by muscarinic M2 receptors in neonatal rat cardiomyocytes. PLoS One. 2010;5(3).
- 97. Rodríguez M, Moreno J, Márquez R, Eltit R, Martinez F, Sepúlveda-Martínez A, et al. Increased PR Interval in Fetuses of Patients with Intrahepatic Cholestasis of Pregnancy. Fetal Diagn Ther. 2016 Dec 1;40(4):298–302.
- 98. Marschall HU, Wagner M, Zollner G, Fickert P, Diczfalusy U, Gumhold J, et al. Complementary stimulation of hepatobiliary transport and detoxification systems by rifampicin and ursodeoxycholic acid in humans. Gastroenterology [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2020 Aug 21];129(2):476–85. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16083704/
- Beuers U. Drug insight: Mechanisms and sites of action of ursodeoxycholic acid in cholestasis [Internet]. Vol. 3, Nature Clinical Practice Gastroenterology and Hepatology. Nature Publishing Group; 2006 [cited 2020 Aug 21]. p. 318–28. Available from: www.nature.com/clinicalpractice/gasthep
- Beuers U, Trauner M, Jansen P, Poupon R. New paradigms in the treatment of hepatic cholestasis: From UDCA to FXR, PXR and beyond [Internet]. Vol. 62, Journal of Hepatology. Elsevier; 2015 [cited 2020 Sep 1]. p. S25–37. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25920087/
- 101. Manna LB, Ovadia C, Lövgren-Sandblom A, Chambers J, Begum S, Seed P, et al. Enzymatic quantification of total serum bile acids as a monitoring strategy for women with intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy receiving ursodeoxycholic acid treatment: a cohort study. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol [Internet]. 2019 Dec 1 [cited 2020 Sep 1];126(13):1633–40. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6899621/?report=abstract
- 102. Bacq Y, le Besco M, Lecuyer AI, Gendrot C, Potin J, Andres CR, et al. Ursodeoxycholic acid therapy in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: Results in real-world conditions and factors predictive of response to treatment. Dig Liver Dis [Internet]. 2017 Jan 1 [cited 2020 Apr 1];49(1):63–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27825922
- 103. Kong X, Kong Y, Zhang F, Wang T, Yan J. Evaluating the effectiveness and safety of ursodeoxycholic acid in treatment of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: A meta-analysis

(a prisma-compliant study). Med (United States) [Internet]. 2016 Oct [cited 2020 Apr 1];95(40):e4949. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27749550

- 104. Chappell LC, Bell JL, Smith A, Linsell L, Juszczak E, Dixon PH, et al. Ursodeoxycholic acid versus placebo in women with intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (PITCHES): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet [Internet]. 2019 Sep 7 [cited 2020 Jun 24];394(10201):849–60. Available from: http://www.thelancet.com/article/S014067361931270X/fulltext
- 105. McIntyre HD, Catalano P, Zhang C, Desoye G, Mathiesen ER, Damm P. Gestational diabetes mellitus. Vol. 5, Nature Reviews Disease Primers. Nature Publishing Group; 2019. p. 1–19.
- 106. Metzger BE, Contreras M, Sacks DA, Watson W, Dooley SL, Foderaro M, et al. Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2008 May 8 [cited 2020 Apr 2];358(19):1991–2002. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJMoa0707943
- 107. O'Sullivan EP, Avalos G, O'Reilly M, Dennedy MC, Gaffney G, Dunne F. Atlantic Diabetes in Pregnancy (DIP): The prevalence and outcomes of gestational diabetes mellitus using new diagnostic criteria. Diabetologia [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2020 Aug 24];54(7):1670–5. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21494772/
- 108. Athukorala C, Crowther CA, Willson K, Hiller JE, Moss JR, McPhee AJ, et al. Women with gestational diabetes mellitus in the ACHOIS trial: Risk factors for shoulder dystocia. Aust New Zeal J Obstet Gynaecol [Internet]. 2007 Feb [cited 2020 Aug 24];47(1):37–41. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17261098/
- 109. Lowe WL, Scholtens DM, Lowe LP, Kuang A, Nodzenski M, Talbot O, et al. Association of gestational diabetes with maternal disorders of glucose metabolism and childhood adiposity. JAMA J Am Med Assoc [Internet]. 2018 Sep 11 [cited 2020 Apr 2];320(10):1005–16. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30208453
- 110. Leybovitz-Haleluya N, Wainstock T, Landau D, Sheiner E. Maternal gestational diabetes mellitus and the risk of subsequent pediatric cardiovascular diseases of the offspring: a population-based cohort study with up to 18 years of follow up. Acta Diabetol [Internet].
   2018 Oct 1 [cited 2020 Aug 24];55(10):1037–42. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29936651/
- 111. Kawasaki M, Arata N, Miyazaki C, Mori R, Kikuchi T, Ogawa Y, et al. Obesity and abnormal glucose tolerance in offspring of diabetic mothers: A systematic review and meta-analysis [Internet]. Vol. 13, PLoS ONE. Public Library of Science; 2018 [cited 2020 Aug 24]. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5766126/?report=abstract
- 112. Blotsky AL, Rahme E, Dahhou M, Nakhla M, Dasgupta K. Gestational diabetes associated with incident diabetes in childhood and youth: A retrospective cohort study. CMAJ [Internet]. 2019 Apr 15 [cited 2020 Jun 24];191(15):E410–7. Available from: https://www.cmaj.ca/content/191/15/E410
- 113. American Diabetes Association. 14. Management of diabetes in pregnancy: Standards of medical care in diabetesd2019. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2019 Jan 1 [cited 2020 Apr 2];42(Suppl 1):S165–72. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30559240
- 114. Rowan JA, Hague WM, Gao W, Battin MR, Moore MP. Metformin versus insulin for the treatment of gestational diabetes. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2008 May 8 [cited 2020 Aug 24];358(19):2003–15. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18463376/
- 115. Rowan JA, Rush EC, Obolonkin V, Battin M, Wouldes T, Hague WM. Metformin in gestational

diabetes: The offspring follow-up (MiG TOFU) - Body composition at 2 years of age. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2011 Oct [cited 2020 Aug 24];34(10):2279–84. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21949222/

- 116. Hanem LGE, Salvesen Ø, Juliusson PB, Carlsen SM, Nossum MCF, Vaage MØ, et al. Intrauterine metformin exposure and offspring cardiometabolic risk factors (PedMet study): a 5–10 year follow-up of the PregMet randomised controlled trial. Lancet Child Adolesc Heal [Internet]. 2019 Mar 1 [cited 2020 Apr 2];3(3):166–74. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30704873
- 117. Barbour LA, Scifres C, Valent AM, Friedman JE, Buchanan TA, Coustan D, et al. A cautionary response to SMFM statement: pharmacological treatment of gestational diabetes. Am J Obstet Gynecol [Internet]. 2018 Oct 1 [cited 2020 Aug 24];219(4):367.e1-367.e7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29959933/
- 118. Panagiotopoulou O, Syngelaki A, Georgiopoulos G, Simpson J, Akolekar R, Shehata H, et al. Metformin use in obese mothers is associated with improved cardiovascular profile in the offspring. Am J Obstet Gynecol [Internet]. 2020 Aug 1 [cited 2020 Aug 24];223(2):246.e1-246.e10. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32017923/
- Martis R, Crowther CA, Shepherd E, Alsweiler J, Downie MR, Brown J. Treatments for women with gestational diabetes mellitus: An overview of Cochrane systematic reviews [Internet]. Vol. 2018, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. John Wiley and Sons Ltd; 2018 [cited 2020 Aug 24]. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30103263/
- 120. Langer O, Conway DL, Berkus MD, Xenakis EMJ, Gonzales O. A comparison of glyburide and insulin in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2000 Oct 19 [cited 2020 Aug 24];343(16):1134–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11036118/
- 121. Reynolds RM, Denison FC, Juszczak E, Bell JL, Penneycard J, Strachan MWJ, et al. Glibenclamide and metfoRmin versus stAndard care in gEstational diabeteS (GRACES): a feasibility open label randomised trial. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth [Internet]. 2017 Dec 22 [cited 2020 Aug 24];17(1):316. Available from: http://bmcpregnancychildbirth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12884-017-1505-3
- 122. Balsells M, García-Patterson A, Solà I, Roqué M, Gich I, Corcoy R. Glibenclamide, metformin, and insulin for the treatment of gestational diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Vol. 350, BMJ (Online). BMJ Publishing Group; 2015.
- 123. Landon MB, Rice MM, Varner MW, Casey BM, Reddy UM, Wapner RJ, et al. Mild gestational diabetes mellitus and long-term child health. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2015 Mar 1 [cited 2020 Jun 25];38(3):445–52. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4338507/?report=abstract
- 124. Shou C, Wei Y-M, Wang C, Yang H-X. Updates in Long-term Maternal and Fetal Adverse Effects of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. Matern Med [Internet]. 2019 Oct [cited 2020 Jun 25];1(2):91–4. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/mfm/Fulltext/2019/10000/Updates\_in\_Long\_term\_Maternal\_and\_ Fetal\_Adverse.7.aspx
- 125. Zaborska KE, Cummings BP. Rethinking Bile Acid Metabolism and Signaling for Type 2 Diabetes Treatment [Internet]. Vol. 18, Current Diabetes Reports. Current Medicine Group LLC 1; 2018 [cited 2020 Aug 24]. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30232649/
- 126. Kaur A, Patankar J V., De Haan W, Ruddle P, Wijesekara N, Groen AK, et al. Loss of Cyp8b1 improves glucose homeostasis by increasing GLP-1. Diabetes [Internet]. 2015 Apr 1 [cited

2020 Aug 24];64(4):1168–79. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25338812/

- 127. Majewska A, Godek B, Bomba-Opon D, Wielgos M. Association between intrahepatic cholestasis in pregnancy and gestational diabetes mellitus. A retrospective analysis. Ginekol Pol. 2019;90(8):458–63.
- 128. Arafa A, Dong J-Y. Association between intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy and risk of gestational diabetes and preeclampsia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hypertens Pregnancy. 2020 Apr 24;1–7.
- 129. Gao J, Xu B, Zhang X, Cui Y, Deng L, Shi Z, et al. Association between serum bile acid profiles and gestational diabetes mellitus: A targeted metabolomics study. Clin Chim Acta. 2016 Aug 1;459:63–72.
- 130. Hou W, Meng X, Zhao W, Pan J, Tang J, Huang Y, et al. Elevated first-trimester total bile acid is associated with the risk of subsequent gestational diabetes. Sci Rep. 2016 Sep 26;6(1):1–8.
- 131. Hou W, Meng X, Zhao A, Zhao W, Pan J, Tang J, et al. Development of multimarker diagnostic models from metabolomics analysis for gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). Mol Cell Proteomics. 2018 Mar 1;17(3):431–41.
- 132. Dudzik D, Zorawski M, Skotnicki M, Zarzycki W, Kozlowska G, Bibik-Malinowska K, et al. Metabolic fingerprint of gestational diabetes mellitus. J Proteomics. 2014 May 30;103:57–71.
- 133. Li J, Huo X, Cao YF, Li SN, Du Z, Shao P, et al. Bile acid metabolites in early pregnancy and risk of gestational diabetes in Chinese women: A nested case-control study. EBioMedicine. 2018 Sep 1;35:317–24.
- 134. Bellafante E, McIlvride S, Nikolova V, Fan HM, Manna LB, Chambers J, et al. Maternal glucose homeostasis is impaired in mouse models of gestational cholestasis. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2020 Dec 1 [cited 2020 Aug 24];10(1):11523. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-67968-6
- 135. Mudaliar S, Henry RR, Sanyal AJ, Morrow L, Marschall HU, Kipnes M, et al. Efficacy and safety of the farnesoid x receptor agonist Obeticholic acid in patients with type 2 diabetes and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology. 2013;145(3).
- 136. McIlvride S, Nikolova V, Fan HM, McDonald JAK, Wahlström A, Bellafante E, et al. Obeticholic acid ameliorates dyslipidemia but not glucose tolerance in mouse model of gestational diabetes. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2019 Aug 1;317(2):E399–410.
- 137. Wu WB, Xu YY, Cheng WW, Wang YX, Liu Y, Huang D, et al. Agonist of farnesoid X receptor protects against bile acid induced damage and oxidative stress in mouse placenta A study on maternal cholestasis model. Placenta. 2015 May 1;36(5):545–51.
- Pataia V, McIlvride S, Papacleovoulou G, Ovadia C, McDonald JAK, Wahlström A, et al. Obeticholic acid improves fetal bile acid profile in a mouse model of gestational hypercholanemia. Am J Physiol Liver Physiol [Internet]. 2020 Jun 29 [cited 2020 Jul 2];ajpgi.00126.2020. Available from: https://journals.physiology.org/doi/10.1152/ajpgi.00126.2020
- 139. Rizzo G, Passeri D, De Franco F, Ciaccioli G, Donadio L, Rizzo G, et al. Functional characterization of the semisynthetic bile acid derivative INT-767, a dual farnesoid X receptor and TGR5 agonist. Mol Pharmacol. 2010;78(4):617–30.
- 140. Zambad SP, Tuli D, Mathur A, Ghalsasi SA, Chaudhary AR, Deshpande S, et al. TRC210258, a novel TGR5 agonist, reduces glycemic and dyslipidemic cardiovascular risk in animal models

of diabesity. Diabetes, Metab Syndr Obes Targets Ther. 2013 Dec 21;7.

- 141. Phillips DP, Gao W, Yang Y, Zhang G, Lerario IK, Lau TL, et al. Discovery of trifluoromethyl(pyrimidin-2-yl)azetidine-2-carboxamides as potent, orally bioavailable TGR5 (GPBAR1) agonists: Structure-activity relationships, lead optimization, and chronic in vivo efficacy. J Med Chem. 2014 Apr 24;57(8):3263–82.
- 142. Zheng C, Zhou W, Wang T, You P, Zhao Y, Yang Y, et al. A novel TGR5 activator WB403 promotes GLP-1 secretion and preserves pancreatic β- Cells in type 2 diabetic mice. PLoS One. 2015 Jul 24;10(7).
- 143. Agarwal S, Sasane S, Kumar J, Deshmukh P, Bhayani H, Giri P, et al. Evaluation of novel TGR5 agonist in combination with Sitagliptin for possible treatment of type 2 diabetes. Bioorganic Med Chem Lett. 2018 Jun 1;28(10):1849–52.
- 144. Finn PD, Rodriguez D, Kohler J, Jiang Z, Wan S, Blanco E, et al. Intestinal TGR5 agonism improves hepatic steatosis and insulin sensitivity in western diet-fed mice. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2019 Mar 1;316(3):G412–24.
- 145. Hodge RJ, Lin J, Vasist Johnson LS, Gould EP, Bowers GD, Nunez DJ. Safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamic effects of a selective TGR5 Agonist, SB-756050, in Type 2 Diabetes. Clin Pharmacol Drug Dev. 2013 Jul;2(3):213–22.
- 146. Lasalle M, Hoguet V, Hennuyer N, Leroux F, Piveteau C, Belloy L, et al. Topical Intestinal Aminoimidazole Agonists of G-Protein-Coupled Bile Acid Receptor 1 Promote Glucagon Like Peptide-1 Secretion and Improve Glucose Tolerance. J Med Chem. 2017 May 25;60(10):4185– 211.
- 147. Chen T, Reich NW, Bell N, Finn PD, Rodriguez D, Kohler J, et al. Design of Gut-Restricted Thiazolidine Agonists of G Protein-Coupled Bile Acid Receptor 1 (GPBAR1, TGR5). J Med Chem. 2018 Sep 13;61(17):7589–613.
- 148. Shima KR, Ota T, Kato KI, Takeshita Y, Misu H, Kaneko S, et al. Ursodeoxycholic acid potentiates dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor sitagliptin by enhancing glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion in patients with type 2 diabetes and chronic liver disease: A pilot randomized controlled and add-on study. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care [Internet]. 2018 Mar 1 [cited 2020 Aug 25];6(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29607050/
- 149. Sánchez-García A, Sahebkar A, Simental-Mendía M, Simental-Mendía LE. Effect of ursodeoxycholic acid on glycemic markers: A systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials [Internet]. Vol. 135, Pharmacological Research. Academic Press; 2018 [cited 2020 Aug 25]. p. 144–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30099154/
- 150. Foghsgaard S, Andreasen C, Vedtofte L, Andersen ES, Bahne E, Strandberg C, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is prevalent in women with prior gestational diabetes mellitus and independently associated with insulin resistance and waist circumference. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2017 Jan 1 [cited 2020 Aug 25];40(1):109–16. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27810989/

## **Figure legends**

#### Figure 1: Enterohepatic Circulation of Bile Acids

Schematic detailing the formation and export of bile acids into the intestinal tract. Bile acids are modified from primary to secondary forms by and deconjugation and 7 $\alpha$ -dehydroxylase produced by gut bacteria. The majority of bile acids are reabsorbed through enterocytes (approximately 95%), with the remainder (~5%) excreted in the faeces. Reabsorbed bile acids in the L-cells activate TGR5 on the basolateral side which potentiates GLP-1 release. The reabsorbed bile acids are transported back to the liver via the portal vein, completing the enterohepatic cycle. FXR, Farenesoid X receptor; TGR5, Takeda G-protein coupled receptor 5; GLP-1, Glucagon-like peptide-1; ASBT, Apical sodiumdependent bile acid transporter; OST  $\alpha/\beta$ , Organic solute transporter  $\alpha/\beta$ ; NTCP, Taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide; OATP, Organic anion transporting polypeptides; FGFR4, Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4; CYP7A1, Cholesterol 7 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase; MDR3, Multidrug resistance protein; BSEP, Bile salt export pump; ABCG5/8, ATP-binding cassette transporters G5/G8 heterodimer; FGF19/15, Fibroblast growth factor 19/15.

Figure 2: Bile acid structures

Pathways displaying the formation and structures of primary and secondary bile acids in their unconjugated form, derived from cholesterol.

Figure 3: Order of potency of bile acids for FXR and TGR5

Potency of bile acids to FXR and TGR5. CDCA and LCA most potent to FXR and TGR5 respectively, with CA being least potent for both receptors. 3D structures created using PerkinElmer ChemDraw. EC50 refers to the concentration that gives half-maximal response.



Figure 1: Enterohepatic Circulation of Bile Acids.



Figure 2: Bile acid Structures.

## FXR order of potency



Figure 3: Order of potency of bile acids for FXR and TGR5

## Appendix 2

TRPM3α2 plasmid insert sequence (pcDNA3.1) (<u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nuccore/AJ544534</u>)

1	gaatgggggaa	gaagtggagg	gatgcgggcg	agetggagag	aggttgctct	gaccgcgagg
61	acadedeada	dadccdcadd		acaccaacca	agacagatt	accasatcat
121	qqaaaaqqtt	aagttccaag	caggageegea	ccaagecugeeg	aggeaggeee	geegageege
1 8 1	ggaaaggee	aageteedag	attaaaaaa	catttataa	aggueegeeg	gttcacatca
2/1	taccgageeea	gaaaceeegg	catagatatt	actatagaaca	cctcatagg	carcatatta
2 1 1	ractgagtac	caaagactet		gelgeggaeg	tagaataga	atatagaaaa
261	gaeteactee	caytatetet	tagtatatata	atyayaaaaa	tgagagtege	cicicicicidaa
101	atyacateca	glolgagaag		gcaaacacac	cayettaye	
421 101	tatattta		caaggaggug	gecallecaa	caaayctaty	targiccyag
401 E 4 1	lattillga	Lacyadacci	galdlollgo	lacaccigal	gaccaaggaa	Lygcaactyg
041 CO1	agetteecaa	acticicate	LCCGLGCaCG	gagggctgca	gaactigaa	CLCCayCCCa
601 6.01	aactcaagca	agtetteggg	aagggggctca	tcaaagcagc	catgacaact	ggagcctgga
661 701	tcttcactgg	aggggtcaac	acaggtgtca	ttcgtcatgt	tggagatgcc	ttgaaagacc
/21	atgcatctaa	gtctcgaggg	aagatatgta	ccataggtat	cgccccctgg	ggaattgtgg
181	aaaaccagga	agacctgatt	ggaagagatg	tagtccgacc	ataccagacc	atgtccaatc
841	ctatgagcaa	gctcaccgtt	ctcaatagca	tgcactccca	cttcatcctg	gctgacaatg
901	ggaccacggg	gaaatacgga	gcagaggtga	aactccgcag	acaactggaa	aagcacattt
961	cactccagaa	gataaacaca	agaatcggtc	aaggggttcc	agtggtggct	ctcatcgtgg
1021	aaggaggacc	caatgtgatc	tcaattgttt	tggaatacct	tcgagacacc	cctcctgtac
1081	cagtcgtggt	ctgtgatggg	agtggacggg	catccgacat	cctggcattt	gggcataaat
1141	attcagaaga	aggcggactt	atcaatgaat	ctttgaggga	ccagctgttg	gtgacaatac
1201	agaagacctt	cacgtacact	cgaacccaag	ctcagcacct	gttcatcatc	ctcatggaat
1261	gcatgaagaa	gaaggaactg	atcacagtgt	ttcgaatggg	gtcagaaggc	caccaggaca
1321	ttgatttagc	tatcctgaca	gcattactca	aaggtgccaa	tgcatccgcc	ccagaccaac
1381	tgagcttagc	tttagcctgg	aacagagttg	acatcgctcg	cagccagatc	tttatttacg
1441	ggcagcagtg	gccggtaggg	tccctggagc	aagccatgct	ggatgcccta	gtcctggaca
1501	gagtggattt	tgtgaaatta	ctcatagaaa	atggagtaag	catgcaccgt	tttctcacca
1561	tctccagact	agaggaactg	tacaatacga	gacatgggcc	ctcaaataca	ttgtaccact
1621	tggtcaggga	tgtcaaaaag	cgagagtatc	caggtttcgg	ttggatctat	tttaagggaa
1681	acctgccccc	ggactacaga	atcagcctga	tagacattgg	cctggtgatc	gagtacctga
1741	tgggcggggc	ttaccgctgc	aactacacgc	gcaagcgctt	tcggaccctc	taccacaatc
1801	tctttggccc	caaaaqqqat	gatattccct	tgaggagagg	acqqaaqaca	actaagaagc
1861	gtgaggaaga	ggtggacatc	gacttggatg	atcctgagat	caaccacttt	ccattcccct
1921	tccatgagct	gatggtgtgg	gccgtcctca	tgaagagaca	aaaqatqqcc	ctqttcttct
1981	qqcaacacqq	agaggaggcc	atggccaaag	ccctaataac	ctgcaagete	tgcaaggcca
2041	tggctcacga	ggcttctgag	aatgacatgg	tcgatgacat	ttcccaggag	ctgaaccaca
2101	actccaggga	ctttggccag	ctaactataa	ageteetgga	ccagtcctac	aaacaggatg
2161	agcagetgge	catgaagetg	ctgacgtatg	agetgaagaa	ctggagtaat	accacatacc
2221	tacaactaac	tataactacc	aagcaccgtg	acttcattgc	acacacatac	agccagatgt
2281	tacttactga	catgtggeegee	ageageageg	agatgagaaa	gaactcagge	ctcaaggtaa
2341	ttctqqqaat	tctacttcct	ccttcaattc	tcancttona	attcaagaac	aaaqatqaca
2401	taccctatat	gactcaggcc		atctccaaga	gaaggaggag	gaggaggaga
2461	agaageecacae	aaaqqaaaaa	ratraararr	acatogaact	aacaqcaatq	ttagageeag
2521	agaageeeae	atcatccara	aagaaagatg	aagaagaagt	tcaaagcaag	cacconctaa
2581	tccccataaa	cccaaaaatc	tatgadagatg	acaacqcacc	catcataaaa	ttctggttad
26/1	acactetage	atatattaa	tacquatce	tetteaacta	catcototta	atasaataa
2701	acactergge	ttacactaa	accegatyc	tatatata		gtgaagatgg
2701	agegetgget	accateget	yaalyyally		cattacacac	atapaaatat
2/01	ayaayatyay	ayayateety	atyccyyayc	tastagaat	getycayaay	yıyaayyıyı
2021	ggcttcagga	glaciggaac	glcacagacc			LCGGLGGGGAA
2001	lgalcollog	telleaagat	cagecettea	ggagtgacgg	gagggtCalC	tactgtgtga
2941	acatcattta	LIGGLALALC	cgtttgctgg	acatettegg	cgtgaacaag	Latetgggee
3001	catatgtgat	gatgattggg	aaaatgatga	tagacatgat	gtactttgtc	atcattatgc
3061	tggtggtgct	gatgagcttt	ggggtcgcca	ggcaagccat	TCTCTTTCCC	aatgaggagc
3121	catcttggaa	actggccaag	aatatcttct	acatgcctta	ttggatgatt	tatggggaag
3181	tgtttgctga	ccagatagac	cctccctgtg	gacagaatga	gacccgagag	gatggcaaga
3241	caatccagct	gcccccatgc	aagacaggag	catggattgt	cccggccata	atggcctgct
3301	acctcttggt	ggcgaacatc	cttctggtca	acctccttat	tgccgtcttc	aacaatacat
3361	tttttgaggt	caagtcgata	tccaaccaag	tatggaaatt	tcagaggtac	cagctcatca

3421	tgactttcca	cgagaggccg	gttctgcccc	caccgctcat	catcttcagt	cacatgacca
3481	tgatcttcca	gcatgtgtgc	tgccggtgga	ggaagcatga	gagtgaccag	gacgaaaggg
3541	actacggcct	gaaactcttc	ataactgacg	atgagctcaa	gaaagtacac	gattttgaag
3601	agcagtgcat	agaggaatat	ttccgagaga	aggatgatcg	cttcaattcg	tccaacgatg
3661	agaggatacg	tgttacatca	gaaagggtgg	agaacatgtc	catgaggctg	gaggaagtta
3721	atgagagaga	acattccatg	aaggcttcac	tccagaccgt	ggacatccgg	ctagcacagc
3781	tagaggacct	catcgggcgc	atggccaccg	ccctggagcg	cctgactggt	ctggagcggg
3841	cagagtctaa	caaaatccgc	tcaaggacct	cctcagactg	cacagatgca	gcctacatcg
3901	tccgccagag	cagcttcaac	agccaggaag	ggaacacctt	caaacttcaa	gagagtatag
3961	accctgcagg	tgaggagacc	atatccccaa	cttctccaac	cttaatgccc	cgtatgcgaa
4021	gccattcttt	ctattcagtc	aatgtgaaag	acaaaggtgg	gatagaaaag	ttggaaagca
4081	ttttcaaaga	aaggtccctg	agcttacacc	gagctactag	ctcccactca	gtagccaaag
4141	aacccaaagc	tcctgcagcc	cctgcaaaca	ccttggccat	tgttcctgac	tccagaagac
4201	catcatcttg	catagacatc	tatgtctctg	ccatggacga	gctccactgt	gatatagagc
4261	ctctggataa	ttccatgaac	atccttgggc	tgggtgagcc	aagcttttca	gctctagcac
4321	cttccacaac	cccgtcaagt	agtgcctatg	caacgctcgc	acctacagac	cgacctccca
4381	gtaggagcat	tgattttgaa	gacctcacct	ccatggacac	tagatctttt	tcttcagact
4441	atacacacct	cccagaatgc	caaaacccct	gggacacaga	ccctccaacg	taccatacca
4501	tcgagcgttc	caagagtagc	cgctacctag	ccaccacgcc	ctttcttctg	gaagaggctc
4561	ccattgtaaa	atcccatagc	tttatgtttt	ctccttcaag	gagctactac	gccaactttg
4621	gggtgcccgt	gaaaacggca	gaatacacaa	gtattacaga	ctgtatcgac	acaagatgtg
4681	tcaatgcccc	ccaagcaata	gctgaccgag	ccaccttccc	tggaggtctc	ggagacaaag
4741	tggaagattt	atcttgttgc	caccctgagc	gagaagcaga	gctgagccat	cctagctctg
4801	acagtgagga	aaatgaggcc	agaggccaga	gagctgccaa	tccgatatcc	tctcaggagg
4861	ctgaaaatgc	agacagaacc	ctatccaaca	acatcacagt	tcccaagata	gagcgcgcca
4921	acagctactc	agcagaggag	ccaaacgtgc	catatgcaca	taccagaaag	agcttctcca
4981	tcagtgacaa	gcttgataga	cagaggaaca	cggcgagcct	ccgaaatccc	ttccagagaa
5041	gtaagtcctc	caagccggag	ggccgagggg	acagcctatc	catgaggaga	ctgtctagaa
5101	catcggcctt	tcatagcttt	gaaagcaagc	acaactaaac	cggcttaccg	tgtgttgcag
5161	ga					

Bile acid		Significance					
	FPG ≤ 4.3 mmol/l			FP			
	Median	25%	75%	Median	25%	75%	
ТВА	2.150	1.265	3.540	2.490	1.335	4.130	NS
UDCA	0.000	0.000	0.019	0.000	0.000	0.030	NS
CDCA	0.048	0.000	0.177	0.096	0.022	0.225	NS
DCA	0.516	0.216	1.733	0.634	0.218	1.761	NS
СА	0.145	0.088	0.322	0.156	0.091	0.347	NS
LCA	0.053	0.044	0.063	0.055	0.043	0.064	NS
GUDCA	0.019	0.000	0.038	0.019	0.000	0.040	NS
GCDCA	0.199	0.098	0.341	0.221	0.133	0.453	NS
GDCA	0.121	0.047	0.220	0.149	0.061	0.270	NS
GCA	0.155	0.109	0.258	0.199	0.130	0.355	*
GLCA	0.024	0.000	0.035	0.025	0.000	0.032	NS
TUDCA	0.00	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	NS
TCDCA	0.049	0.023	0.107	0.061	0.031	0.111	NS
TDCA	0.040	0.000	0.080	0.046	0.001	0.102	NS
TCA	0.026	0.000	0.066	0.036	0.005	0.096	NS
TLCA	0.000	0.000	0.023	0.000	0.000	0.004	NS

Supplementary Table 1: Individual and total bile acids in Cohort 1.

Fasting serum samples from cohort 1 (HAPO study) were assayed for bile acids in women from the lowest (n=87) and highest (n=85) quartiles of FPG. Significant differences indicated by: \* P < 0.05, as determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Data expressed as median and interquartile range. NS; no significance, TBA; Total bile acids.

Bile acid		Significance					
	ſ	Non-GDM					
	Median	25%	75%	Median	25%	75%	
ТВА	1.363	0.764	1.860	1.500	0.639	2.509	NS
UDCA	0.010	0.005	0.020	0.020	0.010	0.030	NS
CDCA	0.030	0.013	0.090	0.030	0.016	0.051	NS
DCA	0.120	0.056	0.310	0.135	0.069	0.370	NS
СА	0.040	0.030	0.110	0.050	0.030	0.085	NS
LCA	0.010	0.005	0.020	0.010	0.005	0.020	NS
GUDCA	0.016	0.004	0.030	0.020	0.008	0.035	NS
GCDCA	0.267	0.140	0.450	0.220	0.120	0.470	NS
GDCA	0.110	0.056	0.252	0.140	0.057	0.295	NS
GCA	0.151	0.088	0.301	0.180	0.096	0.345	NS
GLCA	0.000	0.000	0.010	0.010	0.000	0.010	NS
TUDCA	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	NS
TCDCA	0.110	0.056	0. 200	0.100	0.053	0.215	NS
TDCA	0.050	0.020	0.084	0.080	0.022	0.150	NS
TCA	0.070	0.030	0.140	0.100	0.042	0.155	NS
TLCA	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	NS

Supplementary Table 2: Individual and total bile acids in Cohort 2.

Fasting serum samples from cohort 2 were assayed for bile acids in women with non-GDM (n=64) and GDM (n=25). No significant differences were found using Mann-Whitney U tests. Data expressed as median and interquartile range. NS; no significance, TBA; Total bile acids.

Bile acid		Significance					
	ſ	Non-GDM					
	Median	25%	75%	Median	25%	75%	
ТВА	3.143	1.609	4.960	3.132	2.365	4.799	NS
UDCA	0.008	0.003	0.025	0.009	0.003	0.032	NS
CDCA	0.056	0.027	0.101	0.060	0.022	0.122	NS
DCA	0.128	0.062	0.287	0.208	0.120	0.353	NS
СА	0.061	0.036	0.166	0.057	0.035	0.125	NS
LCA	0.014	0.008	0.020	0.015	0.011	0.022	NS
GUDCA	0.060	0.023	0.103	0.057	0.023	0.133	NS
GCDCA	1.131	0.484	1.552	1.046	0.743	1.661	NS
GDCA	0.294	0.086	0.842	0.461	0.283	0.882	NS
GCA	0.320	0.134	0.684	0.342	0.186	0.523	NS
GLCA	0.017	0.007	0.050	0.024	0.002	0.044	NS
TUDCA	0.002	0.000	0.008	0.004	0.000	0.008	NS
TCDCA	0.201	0.086	0.386	0.234	0.163	0.343	NS
TDCA	0.090	0.025	0.184	0.129	0.069	0.255	NS
TCA	0.081	0.032	0.201	0.104	0.054	0.174	NS
TLCA	0.004	0.002	0.013	0.007	0.002	0.013	*

## Supplementary Table 3: Individual and total bile acids in Cohort 3 with BMI ≤25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

Fasting serum samples from cohort 3 (BMI  $\leq$ 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) were assayed for bile acids in women who either developed GDM (n=50) or had uncomplicated pregnancies (n=50). Significant differences indicated by: \* P < 0.05, as determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Data expressed as median and interquartile range. NS; no significance, TBA; Total bile acids.

Bile acid		Significance					
	r	Non-GDM					
	Median	25%	75%	Median	25%	75%	
ТВА	2.717	1.868	4.299	3.144	1.916	4.599	NS
UDCA	0.0148	0.005	0.035	0.019	0.008	0.033	NS
CDCA	0.068	0.034	0.214	0.071	0.040	0.225	NS
DCA	0.193	0.072	0.338	0.134	0.064	0.283	NS
СА	0.066	0.041	0.304	0.090	0.044	0.175	NS
LCA	0.011	0.008	0.015	0.011	0.008	0.018	NS
GUDCA	0.062	0.023	0.115	0.067	0.032	0.122	NS
GCDCA	0.826	0.519	1.380	1.192	0.618	1.929	NS
GDCA	0.277	0.125	0.546	0.312	0.144	0.533	NS
GCA	0.284	0.142	0.509	0.435	0.159	0.636	NS
GLCA	0.011	0.007	0.019	0.012	0.007	0.022	NS
TUDCA	0.004	0.002	0.008	0.002	0.000	0.009	NS
TCDCA	0.177	0.111	0.352	0.189	0.087	0.477	NS
TDCA	0.076	0.034	0.133	0.072	0.028	0.127	NS
TCA	0.082	0.057	0.154	0.103	0.038	0.240	NS
TLCA	0.002	0.000	0.004	0.002	0.000	0.006	NS

Supplementary Table 4: Individual and total bile acids in Cohort 3 with BMI  $\ge$  35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

Fasting serum samples from cohort 3 (BMI  $\geq$  35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) were assayed for bile acids in women who either developed GDM (n=50) or had uncomplicated pregnancies (n=50). No significant differences were found using Mann-Whitney U tests. Data expressed as median and interquartile range. NS; no significance, TBA; Total bile acids.



Supplementary Figure 1: Total conjugated and unconjugated forms of each bile acid in the first 3 cohorts.

The unconjugated and conjugated forms of each bile acid were totalled up and analysed for differences in the first 3 cohorts. (A) cohort 1 containing samples from the lower (n=87) and upper quartile of FPG (n=85). (B) were cohort 2 having women with GDM (n=25) and non-GDM (n=64). Cohort 3, samples from early pregnancy, 11-13 weeks, and were separated according to whether they developed GDM or not in late pregnancy. They were further divided by BMI: (C) were women with BMI ≤25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and (D) were women with BMI ≥35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, n=50 per group. Data expressed as mean ± SEM. Data expressed as mean ± SEM.



## Supplementary Figure 2: Differences in concentrations of conjugated and unconjugated bile acids in cohorts 1 and 2.

Total conjugated and unconjugated bile acids were analysed for changes in all cohorts. **(A)** shows the results from cohort 1 containing samples from the lowest quartile of FPG (n=87) and the upper quartile (n=85). **(B)** were samples from cohort 2 having women with GDM (n=25) and non-GDM (n=64). Data expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



# Supplementary Figure 3: Differences in concentrations of primary and secondary bile acids in cohorts 1 and 2.

Total primary and secondary bile acids were analysed for changes within each of the cohorts. **(A)** displays the results from cohort 1 containing samples from the lowest quartile (n=87) and the upper quartile (n=85). **(B)** were samples from cohort 2 having women with GDM (n=25) and non-GDM (n=64). Data expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



Supplementary Figure 4: Differences in  $12\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids in cohorts 1 and 2.

Total 12 $\alpha$ -hydroxylated bile acids were calculated and analysed for differences in all cohorts. **(A)** were results from cohort 1 containing samples from the lowest quartiles of FPG (n=87) and the upper quartile (n=85). **(B)** were from cohort 2 having women with GDM (n=25) and non-GDM (n=64). Data expressed as mean ± SEM.